Faculty of Business

Determinants of Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model

Ivy Hii Siaw Hung

This thesis is presented for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy of Curtin University

July 2020

DECLARATION

To the best of my knowledge and belief this thesis contains no material previously published by any other person except where due acknowledgment has been made.

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university.

The research presented and reported in this thesis was conducted in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007) – updated March 2014. The proposed research study received human research ethics approval from the Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee (EC00262), Approval Number: HRE2017-0631.

Signature:

Date: 3 July 2020

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to take this opportunity to recognise and thank many who have made this journey possible. First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor, A/P Dr. Yap Ching Seng who has been a great teacher and mentor to me. He has provided me untiring guidance, support and encouragement that have helped me immensely throughout the course of this study. His passion for research and his generosity in sharing his knowledge have motivated me in this research journey. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Abey P. Philip for devoting his time in giving constructive feedbacks as he pored over my thesis with such dedication and meticulous attention. I also owe a debt of gratitude to my former supervisor, A/P Dr. Pauline Ho Poh Ling who has guided me since the early stages of my journey. Thank you for always believing in me and inspiring me to be better. Without her encouragement and support for my conversion application from MPhil to PhD, I would not have been able to embark my doctoral programme. I am deeply obliged to all my supervisors. Without their guidance, the completion of this thesis will not have been possible.

I am sincerely thankful to Curtin University for providing me with full scholarship which has enlightened my financial burden and enabled me to focus on my research. My appreciation extends to Dr. Ramez Abubakr Badeeb for his valuable comments, Dr. Tan Kim Lim for his guidance in my research journey and my HDR colleagues who have given me emotional support and wonderful memories. I would also like to thank my respondents and all who have assisted me in my study.

My loving gratitude goes to my parents and siblings for their unconditional love and support. Also, to Wong Kah Khing, thank you for being there for me all the time. Above all, my honour and praise to God Almighty from whom all my blessings flow. I thank God for leading and sustaining me throughout the years. Although there are ups and downs in this journey, Your grace is sufficient for me and Your power made perfect in weakness.

ABSTRACT

Individuals' participation in the stock market is important not only to the financial well-being of individuals, but also a country's financial market development. Although risky assets investment allows individuals to earn higher returns, many do not participate in the stock market. The objective of this study is to examine the determinants of individuals' risky assets investment in Malaysia. By integrating both the information-motivation-behavioural skills (IMB) model and theory of basic values as theoretical foundation, this study investigates the influence of information (financial literacy, advice-seeking) and motivation (attitude towards investing, personal values including conservation and self-transcendence, social norm) on risky assets investment directly through the mediating role of behavioural skills (financial self-efficacy, FSE).

Using a mix of quota and snowball sampling, a total of 400 responses are collected through web-based questionnaire survey, from Malaysian who aged 18 years old and above. To examine the statistical significance of the proposed relationship between the variables, the Partial Least Square Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) technique is adopted. The results of this study support the validity of the extended IMB model in the context of risky assets investment behaviour. This study demonstrates the positive direct influence of financial literacy, attitude towards investing and FSE on risky assets investment and negative direct influence of conservation on risky assets investment. Meanwhile, advice-seeking, self-transcendence and social norm do not influence risky assets investment directly. Additionally, all informational and motivational components are significantly related to FSE. On the mediating role of FSE, the results reveal that all informational and motivational factors have significant indirect effect on risky assets investment via FSE, thereby confirming FSE's mediation effect in the model.

The findings of this study provide significant theoretical and managerial implications. Theoretically, this study contributes in shedding light on the two cross-disciplinary theories integrated to holistically explain the long-standing investment phenomenon. Being one of the first studies to leverage on the two theories in understanding investment behaviour, the findings validate the suitability of existing social psychological theories in explaining financial behaviour and offer new theoretical perspective for behavioural economics. The integration of both the IMB components and personal values within the same model offers novel evidence on the importance of psychological factors such as attitude and personal values as predictors of investment decisions and also the mediating role of FSE as the missing piece in explaining limited stock market participation. The study refutes financial literacy as the silver bullet for promoting investment behaviour wherein FSE emerges as the most crucial direct predictor and mediator in influencing one's risky assets investment. As such, these findings necessitate not only information, but also motivation and behavioural skills as the core components of any initiates targeted to increase retail participation in the stock market. These findings should be of significant interest to different stakeholders, particularly the government agencies to allow for evaluation and innovation of initiatives targeted at enhancing retail investment; as well as financial intermediaries to adopt theoretical-guided strategies in promoting risky assets more effectively.

Keywords: Risky assets investment, stock market participation, informationmotivation-behavioural skills (IMB) model, basic values

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTii		
iii		
v		
xi		
xiii		
xiv		
1		
1		
9		
. 10		
. 10		
. 11		
. 11		
. 14		
. 15		
. 15 . 17		
15 17 18		
15 17 18 . 18		
15 17 18 . 18 . 18		
15 17 18 18 . 18 . 21		
15 17 18 18 18 . 21 . 22		
15 17 18 18 18 21 . 22 . 25		
15 17 18 18 18 21 22 25 26		
15 17 18 18 18 21 22 25 26 27		
15 17 18 18 18 21 22 25 26 27 27		
15 17 18 18 18 21 22 25 26 27 27 27		
15 17 18 18 18 21 22 25 26 27 27 27 27		

	3.3	Theoretical Considerations	. 36
	3.3.1	Conventional Theory	36
	3.3.2	2 Behavioural Theory	. 37
	3.3.3	Extending IMB Model with Personal Values	. 42
	3.4	Application of Extended IMB Model	. 53
	3.4.1	Financial Information	. 54
	3.	4.1.1 Financial Literacy	. 55
	3.4	4.1.2 Advice-seeking	. 59
	3.4.2	2 Investment Motivation	. 62
	3.4	4.2.1 Attitude Towards Investing	. 63
	3.	4.2.2 Personal Values	. 64
	3.4	4.2.3 Social Norm	. 64
	3.4.3	Investment Behavioural Skills	. 66
	3.4	4.3.1 Financial Self-efficacy	. 66
	3.5	Conceptual Framework	. 67
	3.6	Hypotheses Development	. 68
	3.6.1	Financial Information on Risky Assets (H1a-H2a)	. 69
	3.6.2	2 Investment Motivation on Risky Assets (H3a-H6a)	.74
	3.6.3	Investment Behavioural Skills on Risky Assets (H7)	. 83
	3.6.4	Financial Information on Investment Behavioural Skills (H1b-H2b)	. 86
	3.6.5	5 Investment Motivation on Investment Behavioural Skills (H3b-H6b).	. 89
	3.6.6	5 Investment Behavioural Skills as a Mediator (H8-H13)	. 94
	3.6.7	Summary of Research Hypotheses	. 98
	3.7	Demographics as the Control Variables	100
	3.8	Chapter Summary	101
Cł	HAPTE	R 4 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	102
	4.1	Chapter Overview	102
	4.2	Philosophical Paradigm	102
	4.3	Sampling Procedures	104

4.3.1 Sample Population	. 105
4.3.2 Sampling Unit	. 106
4.3.3 Sampling Technique	. 107
4.3.4 Sample Size	. 110
4.4 Data Collection Method	. 115
4.5 Research Instrument	. 118
4.5.1 Risky Assets Investment	. 119
4.5.2 Financial Information	. 121
4.5.2.1 Financial Literacy Measures	. 121
4.5.2.2 Advice-seeking Measures	. 125
4.5.3 Investment Motivation	. 126
4.5.3.1 Attitude towards Investing Measures	. 126
4.5.3.2 Personal Values Measures	. 129
4.5.3.3 Social Norm Measures	. 133
4.5.4 Investment Behavioural Skills	. 134
4.5.4.1 Financial Self-efficacy Measures	. 134
4.5.5 Socio-demographic and socioeconomic Variables Measures	. 135
4.6 Pre-testing and Pilot Testing	. 137
4.7 Final Questionnaire Design	. 138
4.8 Ethical Considerations	. 141
4.9 Data Analysis Method	. 141
4.9.1 Data Preparation	. 142
4.9.2 Descriptive Analysis	. 143
4.9.3 Multivariate Analysis	. 143
4.9.4 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)	. 145
4.9.5 Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM)	. 149
4.10 Measurement Model Assessment	. 151
4.10.1 Internal Consistency	. 152
4.10.2 Convergent Validity	. 153

4.10.2.	1 Indicator Reliability	153
4.10.2.2	2 Average Variance Extracted (AVE)	154
4.10.3	Discriminant Validity	154
4.10.3.	1 Cross-loading Criterion	155
4.10.3.2	2 Fornell-Larcker Criterion Test	155
4.10.3.	3 Heterotrait-Monotrait Criterion Test (HTMT)	155
4.11 Struc	ctural Model Assessment	157
4.11.1	Collinearity	
4.11.2	Coefficient of Determination (R ²)	158
4.11.3	Effect Size (f ²)	159
4.11.4	Predictive Relevance (Q ²)	
4.12 Нуро	othesis Testing	
4.12.1	Significance and Relevance of Direct Path Coefficients	163
4.12.2	Significance and Relevance of Indirect Path Coefficients.	
4.13 Chap	oter Summary	170
CHAPTER 5 H	RESULTS	171
5.1 Chap	oter Overview	171
5.2 Data	Preparation	171
5.2.1 Da	ata Entry and Coding	
5.2.2 Pr	eliminary Data Screening	
5.2.2.1	Missing Values	
5.2.2.2	Insufficient Effort Responding	175
5.2.2.3	Outliers	177
5.2.2.4	Common Method Variance	179
5.2.2.5	Data Normality	
5.3 Desc	riptive Analysis	
5.3.1 Re	espondent Profile	183
5.3.2 De	escriptive Statistics of Latent Variable	186
5.3.3 De	escriptive Statistics of Manifest Variable	187

5.3.3	3.1 Risky Assets Allocation	
5.3.3	3.2 Financial Literacy	
5.3.3	3.3 Advice-seeking	
5.3.3	3.4 Personal Values	194
5.4 M	easurement Model Assessment	196
5.4.1	Internal Consistency and Convergent Validity	197
5.4.2	Discriminant Validity	199
5.4.2	2.1 Cross-loading Test	199
5.4.2	2.2 Fornell-Larcker Criterion Test	199
5.4.2	2.3 Heterotrait-Monotrait Criterion Test (HTMT)	
5.5 St	ructural Model Assessment	
5.5.1	Collinearity	
5.5.2	Coefficient of Determination (R ²)	
5.5.3	Effect Size (f ²)	
5.5.4	Predictive Relevance (Q ²)	
5.6 H	ypothesis Testing	206
5.6 Н 5.6.1	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects	206 207
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects	
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 St	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings	
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 St 5.8 C	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary	
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 Su 5.8 C CHAPTER	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary	
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 St 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary 6 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION hapter Overview	
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 Su 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C 6.2 R	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary 6 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION hapter Overview ecapitulation of the Study	206 207 213 218 219 220 220 220
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 Su 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C 6.2 R 6.2.1	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary 6 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION hapter Overview ecapitulation of the Study Research Objective	
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 St 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C 6.2 R 6.2.1 6.2.2	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary 6 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION hapter Overview hapter Overview Research Objective Research Findings	206 207 213 218 219 220 220 220 220 221
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 Su 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C 6.2 R 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 D	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary 6 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION hapter Overview ecapitulation of the Study Research Objective Research Findings iscussion of the Findings	206 207 213 218 219 220 220 220 220 221 223
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 Su 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C 6.2 Ru 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 D 6.3.1	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects ummary of Findings hapter Summary	206 207 213 218 219 220 220 220 220 221 223 223
5.6 H 5.6.1 5.6.2 5.7 Su 5.8 C CHAPTER 6.1 C 6.2 R 6.2 R 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 D 6.3.1 Fina	ypothesis Testing Direct Effects Indirect Effects Immary of Findings hapter Summary	206 207 213 218 219 220 220 220 220 221 223 223 224

Inve	estment Behavioural Skills and Risky Assets	. 230
6.3.2	Research Objective 2	. 233
Financial Information and Investment Behavioural Skills (H1b-H2b)		. 233
Inv	estment Motivation and Investment Behavioural Skills (H3b-H6b)	. 236
6.3.3	Research Objective 3	. 239
Inve	estment Behavioural Skills as a Mediator (H8-H13)	. 239
6.4 C	Contributions to Research	. 243
6.4.1	Adoption of Cross-Disciplinary Theories	. 243
6.4.2	Integration of Theories	. 244
6.4.3	Mediating Role of FSE	. 246
6.4.4	Determinants of FSE	. 247
6.4.5	Enrich the SMP Literature	. 248
6.4.6	New Geographical Context	. 249
6.4.7	Financial Literacy versus Financial Advisors	. 250
6.5 I	mplication for Practice	. 251
6.6 L	imitations and Recommendations for Future Research	. 255
6.7 C	Conclusions	. 256
REFEREN	CES	. 259
APPENDE	X A: Quota Tracking for Survey	. 317
APPENDE	X B: Weights for Computing Two Value Dimension from PVQ-21	. 318
APPENDI	X C: Questionnaire Survey	. 319
APPENDE	X D: Ethical Clearance Documents	. 326
APPENDE	X E: Mahanalobis distance (D ²) from SPSS	. 333
APPENDE	X F: Harman's one-factor Test Results from SPSS	. 334
APPENDE	X G: Skewness and Kurtosis Results from Webpower	. 335
APPENDE	X H: Descriptive Statistics Results from SPSS and SmartPLS	. 336
APPENDE	X I: Measurement Model Results from SmartPLS	. 337
APPENDIX J: Structural Model Results from SmartPLS		
APPENDE	X K: Mediation Analysis Results from SmartPLS	. 342

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Determinants of Stock Market Participation	30
Table 3.2 Definition of Two-dimensional Values with Motivational Domains	49
Table 3.3 Summary of Research Hypotheses	98
Table 4.1 Comparison between Positivism and Interpretivism	. 103
Table 4.2 Target Responses	. 109
Table 4.3 Primary Data Sample Size Adopted in Past Studies	. 114
Table 4.4 Summary of Instruments	. 119
Table 4.5 Risky Asset Allocation Question	. 121
Table 4.6 Financial Literacy Questions	. 123
Table 4.7 Advice-seeking Question	. 126
Table 4.8 Attitude towards Investing Items	. 128
Table 4.9 PVQ-21 Items	. 131
Table 4.10 Social Norms Items	. 134
Table 4.11 Financial Self-Efficacy Items	. 135
Table 4.12 Socio-demographic and Socioeconomic Variables	. 136
Table 4.13 Questionnaire Survey Sections	. 139
Table 4.14 Classification of Multivariate Methods	. 144
Table 4.15 Comparison between CB-SEM and PLS-SEM	. 147
Table 4.16 Rules of Thumb for Choosing CB-SEM or PLS-SEM	. 149
Table 4.17 Different Guidelines for Acceptable R ²	. 159
Table 4.18 Summary of Hypothesis	. 162
Table 5.1 Respondent Profile (n=400)	. 184
Table 5.2 Gender, age and income of sample and population (n=400)	. 185
Table 5.3 Descriptive Statistics for Latent Variables	. 186
Table 5.4 Descriptive Statistics for Risky Assets Allocation	. 187
Table 5.5 Extent of Risky Assets Allocation	. 188
Table 5.6 Descriptive Statistics for Risky Assets Allocation by Demographics	. 188
Table 5.7 Descriptive Statistics for Financial Literacy Score	. 190
Table 5.8 Financial Literacy by Question	. 191
Table 5.9 Distribution of Financial Literacy Score	. 192
Table 5.10 Descriptive Statistics for Financial Literacy Score by Demographics .	. 193

Table 5.11 Extent of Advice-seeking
Table 5.12 Descriptive Statistics for Personal Values 195
Table 5.13 Conservation and Self-Transcendence Mean Score by Demographics . 195
Table 5.14 Indicators of All Constructs 197
Table 5.15 Internal Consistency and Convergent Validity of Constructs 198
Table 5.16 Discriminant Validity using Cross-loadings
Table 5.17 Discriminant Validity using Fornell-Larcker Criterion 202
Table 5.18 Discriminant Validity of Constructs using HTMT Criterion 202
Table 5.19 Confidence Intervals for HTMT 203
Table 5.20 Lateral Collinearity Assessment 204
Table 5.21 Structural Model Assessment 212
Table 5.22 Mediation Analysis 217
Table 5.23 Categorisation of Mediation Type 217
Table 6.1 Summary of Hypotheses Testing 221

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Original IMB Model	
Figure 3.2 Theoretical Model of Theory of Basic Values	
Figure 3.3 Conceptual Framework	68
Figure 4.1 G*Power Output	
Figure 4.2 Direct and Indirect Effect	
Figure 4.3 Mediation Analysis Procedure	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AVE	Average variance extracted
BNM	Bank Negara Malaysia (Central Bank of Malaysia)
CB-SEM	Covariance-based structural equation modelling
FSE	Financial self-efficacy
HTMT	Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations
IMB model	Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills model
PLS-SEM	Partial least squares - structural equation modelling
SC	Securities Commission Malaysia
SMP	Stock market participation
TPB	Theory of planned behaviour
TRA	Theory of reasoned action
VIF	Variance inflation factor

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Research Background

The importance of stock market participation (SMP) in individuals' financial lives and the financial development of a country have exacerbated the role of risky assets investment. Especially with the growing uncertainty and insecurity in labour income and income supports, individuals' wealth and asset accumulation is becoming increasingly crucial in determining their financial well-being (Cynamon and Fazzari 2016).

With the expanding variety of financial products, individuals have ample choices in allocating varied portions of their funds into different asset classes. Specifically, one may accumulate income in different form of financial instruments such as short-term saving account, long-term insurance endowment plan or complex investment products in order to ensure their financial stability and also to fulfil financial goals. Among these financial tools, risky assets such as investment in stocks or mutual funds offer higher monetary return. Considering the long-term gains coupled with diversification benefits, these risky assets should appear relatively attractive to individuals, as compared to other financial assets.

Theoretically speaking, all households including those with relatively low risk tolerance or wealth level, should invest in the stock market (Campbell 2006). Yet in reality, many households do not participate or invest in risky assets despite the sizable return and many other potential advantages these assets offer. Numerous studies document a low participation in risky assets investment since decades ago. As highlighted by renowned pioneer studies, the stockholding rate was around 26.7% among the US household (Hong, Kubik and Stein 2004) and 23% in the European household (Guiso, Haliassos and Jappelli 2003). Based on data from China Household Finance Survey (CHFS) of 2011, the direct and indirect stock market participation rates are relatively lower at 7.4% and 9.6% (Rao, Mei and Zhu 2016). Although the participation rate has increased over the year, it continues to be the case where majority of the population does not participate in the stock market (Bricker et al. 2012; Angelini

and Cavapozzi 2017; Bricker et al. 2017; Poterba 2018; Vestman 2019). Furthermore, the participation rates remain relatively low in many other countries and reveal a remarkable variability across the globe (Chu et al. 2017; Thomas and Spataro 2018; Vaarmets, Liivamägi and Talpsepp 2019). Such a phenomenon is widely known as the SMP puzzle (Haliassos and Bertaut 1995). The phrase refers to a thread of well-documented literature regarding the limited participation in the stock market either directly or indirectly through mutual funds, which is at odds with the conventional portfolio theory (Markowitz 1952) and thus is brought into the limelight by many scholars since decades ago (Mankiw and Zeldes 1991; Haliassos and Bertaut 1995; Guiso, Haliassos and Jappelli 2003), even until today (Georgarakos and Pasini 2011; Bonaparte and Kumar 2013; Xia, Wang and Li 2014; Conlin et al. 2015; Beaubrun-Diant and Maury 2016; Rao, Mei and Zhu 2016; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017; Vaarmets, Liivamägi and Talpsepp 2019; Niu et al. 2020).

As explained by Kumar (2014a), the stock market is comprised of primary and secondary stock markets. In the primary market, stock market serves as a platform where listed company can issue shares to the public and raise funds for business expansions. On the other hand, secondary market of stock exchanges enables retail and institutional investors to buy and sell liquid stocks issued by listed companies. The retail investors, defined as individuals who invest for personal account instead of on behalf of companies (NASDAQ 2018) and also referred to as individual investors, form the central focus of this study. Evidently, the limited SMP issue is of substantial scholarly interest due to the vital role of individual investors in the stock market, especially for both an individual's financial well-being and a country's financial market development.

At the micro-level, individuals' investment in risky assets may potentially offer support for the betterment of their financial lives over the long term. Particularly, the risk components in risky assets investment may affect one's finances adversely, but at the same time, may also be rewarding as higher risk accompany higher returns (Lu et al. 2020). According to Mehra (2003), the return from a risky asset in excess to that of earned by a relatively risk-free asset is known as the equity risk premium. Based on historical data, the stock returns have been substantially higher as compared to non-

risky assets for the past centuries, not just in the US but also many other countries (Mehra 2003).

As such, investment in risky assets either directly through stocks or indirectly through mutual funds are important as a vehicle for the creation of individuals' long-term wealth and good source of regular income (Taylor 2017). When one invests in risky assets, he/she can earn a higher passive income, thereby enhancing one's wealth and financial well-being (Xia, Wang and Li 2014). Individuals can generate, accumulate, manage and preserve wealth while further strengthen their position as a customer of the financial services (Ali 2013). Not only individuals are able to pursue their basic needs and desires, they are also less vulnerable during unexpected economic event such as unemployment or illness (Lerman and McKernan 2008). Consequently, it helps in achieving one's financial goals and ensuring future financial security against contingencies, which eventually lead to higher standard of living (Ali 2013), greater financial satisfaction (Joo and Grable 2004) and financial outcome (Perry and Morris 2005).

The importance of individuals' SMP is not only limited to individual level but also to the country as a whole. From a macro-level, previous studies show that limited market participation creates wealth inequality (Guvenen 2006), which in turn affects the consumption of household (Dynan and Maki 2001). The economic implications of not participating in the risky asset market also include substantial welfare losses on an economy (Cocco, Gomes and Maenhout 2005; Michaelides and Zhang 2017). One important question to raise is that why the rich are becoming richer while other segments of the population remain the same in terms of wealth. Studies reveal that the types of financial assets individuals invest in, may explain the wealth inequality. According to Wolff (2017), in the US, top 1% of the wealthiest individuals place 80% of their savings into investments assets such as stocks directly or indirectly owned, bonds, real estate investment and business equity; the next 19% of the wealthy have 41% of wealth in these investments; while the middle class allocate 63% of their assets for their mortgage debt. Similarly in Sweden, Bach, Calvet, and Sodini (2016) find that the wealthy individuals hold a higher proportion of risky assets including risky financial assets, commercial real estate and private equity. These studies collectively

claim that high proportion of wealth in risky assets allows individuals to earn higher potential returns and the wealth gains from asset holdings are the cause of wealth inequality. Based on the argument of these studies, individuals' investment in risky assets plays an important role in bridging the wealth gap.

Furthermore, the participation of retail investors in the stock market plays a prominent role in the financial market growth of any country. In particular, the participation of individuals in the financial market enhances the liquidity and resilience of the financial market. As compared to institutional buy-and-hold investors, retail investors trade more frequently (Kaniel, Saar and Titman 2008) with smaller amounts of money and shorter holding period (Koesrindartoto et al. 2020), and often opt for the opposite side of institutional investors' position when the market is unstable (Barrot, Kaniel and Sraer 2016). In other words, individuals provide liquidity which the institutional investors are not able to supply to the market, especially during times of market instability when conventional liquidity providers are constrained. Moreover, retail investors contribute to a greater depth of the financial market due to their distinct investment criteria as compared to institutional investors (Kok 2019). Hence, developing a critical markets.

Considering the above-mentioned importance of retail participation on market liquidity, the impact of retail participation is even more immense in emerging economies where capital markets are more illiquid and immature. Specifically, the financial markets of many emerging economies remain underdeveloped (e.g. Indonesia, Peru, Egypt etc.) or are even non-existent (World Economic Forum 2016), which further pose constrain for economic growth and market development in these countries. By developing a diversified investor base consisting of both retail and institutional investors, the liquidity in emerging economies can be enhanced, thereby promoting a vibrant and healthy financial market (Wyman and World Federation of Exchanges 2016). For instance, one of the emerging market, the Stock Exchange of Thailand, has maintained a high degree of resilience during volatile periods due to its diversified investors where retail investors accounted for about 60% (World Federation of Exchanges 2017).

Considering the fact that developing countries account for approximately 75% to global growth (International Monetary Fund 2017), represent about 60% of global gross domestic product (GDP) based on Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) and consist of 85% of the world's population (International Monetary Fund 2018), the role of emerging economies in driving the global growth is becoming more important. Tackling the financial market challenges faced by the emerging countries not only boost the country's economy, but more importantly to foster global growth. Taken together, the issue of low SMP among developing countries is of global concern. In view of the above, the presence of retail investors in the emerging stock market is of foremost importance, hence should not be overlooked.

As one of the emerging countries, Malaysia is also pressured with retail participation in the financial market. Among emerging economies, Malaysia is ranked 13th place on the Inclusive Development Index by World Economic Forum (2018) and categorised as an upper middle-income country by World Bank (2020). The Malaysian capital market has the largest number of public listed companies in ASEAN (The Star 2017a) and is 2.4 times the size of Malaysia's GDP, placing the Malaysian capital market at the fifth largest in Asia on a GDP adjusted basis (Rosli 2018). Besides, Malaysia as an emerging or Islamic country has a relatively high equity risk premium (Erbas and Mirakhor 2010), thereby indicating that the stock market returns exceed safe asset returns remarkably over the years.

Despite being one of the fastest growing markets both in Asia and among emerging economies, at present, the retail participation in the Malaysian capital market does not commensurate with the growth of the capital market. As noted by World Federation of Exchanges (2017), Bursa Malaysia's retail trading value is 21% in year 2016, which is among one of the lowest as compared to other 14 exchanges in the emerging economies such as Taiwan, Thailand and Indonesia. Even up till recently, data from Bursa Malaysia indicates only 21.6% of retail investors' participation as of July 2019, which remains relatively lower as compared to other Asian countries such as Thailand, Singapore and Hong Kong (Kok 2019). In the "What's Your Goal" campaign organised by Bursa Malaysia, there are only 4% out of 853 respondents who choose

to invest in stocks (New Straits Times 2017). It appears that individuals in emerging markets tend to avoid risky investment and prefer holding savings in the form of physical assets such as gold and real estate, and bank deposits (McKinsey & Company 2017).

As such, individuals may not reap the full benefits of the explosive growth in the financial market. Statistics show that Malaysians generally have low awareness of asset diversification (Asian Institute of Finance 2015), minimal savings (Khazanah Research Institute 2016) and income (Department of Statistics Malaysia 2017b), but high household indebtedness (Bank Negara Malaysia 2017). More strikingly, data show rising wealth inequality despite the declined Gini index reported (Lee and Khalid 2016). In other words, there is a growing gap between the rich and poor. This might drift Malaysia further away from achieving the Shared Prosperity Vision 2030 (Government of Malaysia 2020) which seeks to close the wealth disparity and achieve fair distribution of wealth (Tan 2019a). Taken together, it seems that the financial situation and well-being of the Malaysians are at stake. In fact, although the economic outlook in Malaysia appears optimistic, customer sentiments are contradictorily pessimistic (Mahdzan, Mohd-Any and Chan 2017). Dr Muhammed Abdul Khalid, a Malaysian economist, argues that the effects of economic growth on the citizen's wellbeing matters more than just the GDP figures (Bhattacharjee and Ho 2017). As Oswald (1997) puts, "economic things matter only in so far as they make people happier" (1815). As a whole, the economic growth of the country does not translate into a rise in individuals' standard of living and well-being.

While many developing countries are still struggling with the accessibility of financial products and services, Malaysia has prevailed over this complication. Under the Central Bank Act of Malaysia 2009, financial inclusion agenda is legislated as one of the core functions of the Central Bank of Malaysia or Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) in order to ensure access to and provision of affordable and quality financial products and services to all Malaysians. Greater accessibility and inclusion will eventually lead to sustainable economic growth (Bank Negara Malaysia 2015). With the implementations of the Financial Sector Blueprint by BNM, the financial inclusion level in Malaysia has gained recognition and global attention. The World Bank, in

their report, has highlighted Malaysia's achievement as one of the highest financial inclusion levels in Southeast Asia with 92% of adults having at least a savings account in year 2015 as compared to the global rate of 61% (De Luna-Martinez 2017). It is further noted that the current challenge faced by Malaysia is the actual use of financial products and services by individuals who own accounts. This is obvious in the Malaysian stock market where there are 2.5 million registered investors in Bursa Malaysia yet only 25,000 are active investors (Kok 2019). Having said that, the high accessibility to financial products and services has yet to be translated into greater financial market participation, thereby indicating that the root cause of low involvement in SMP does not lie in the access of these products. The long-term strategies and continuous efforts undertaken by the Malaysian Government, Bursa Malaysia and Securities Commissions (SC) over the years, as detailed in the subsequent chapter, have stressed the importance of individuals' participations in the nation.

By and large, scholarly studies support that the key predictor for investing revolves around individuals' financial literacy (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017). Following that, interventions to promote better financial decisionmaking and greater SMP are heavily-focused on improving one's financial literacy (Willis 2011; Hastings, Madrian and Skimmyhorn 2013; Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014; Alsemgeest 2015; Tang and Peter 2015; Stolper and Walter 2017). Similarly, in Malaysia, government agencies and regulatory bodies constantly launch a great deal of financial education initiatives (Bursa Malaysia 2018b; Securities Commission 2018c; Yusof 2018) and repeatedly call for greater emphasis on financial literacy in effort to boost retail participation (The Edge 2014; New Straits Times 2017; Kok 2019). Despite ample efforts to encourage SMP over the years, individuals are still hesitant and reluctant to invest in risky assets (Surendran and Fong 2018; Kok 2019; Tan 2019b). With that, it seems that the availability of financial information does not directly or sufficiently explain individuals' decision to invest. For that reason, it is necessary to further examine the determinants that affect individuals' decision to invest in risky assets.

To better understand the factors that affect SMP, at the same time to promote higher participation in the stock market, a theoretical-based approach is much needed. Prior studies collectively suggest that interventions based upon theoretical grounding are shown to be more effective in promoting behaviours than those without clear theories (Glanz and Bishop 2010; Rothman, Klein and Cameron 2013; Klein et al. 2015; Kelly and Barker 2016; Sheeran, Klein and Rothman 2017; Johnson and Acabchuk 2018; Michie et al. 2018). Furthermore, researchers also highlight the importance of psychological factors in linking knowing and doing in the area of personal finance (Greenberg 2001; De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Kliger and Levy 2009; Hira 2012; Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014). As this study is positioned in the field of behavioural economics where psychology and sociology are assimilated into economics to understand human decision, it is therefore highly relevant to adopt social psychological theories in understanding the phenomenon under investigation. Among several well-established theories, the Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills (IMB) model (Fisher and Fisher 1992) is deemed appropriate for this study because it focuses on individual-level determinants and includes information construct as core element. Prior empirical studies demonstrate that three core components of the IMB model including information, motivation and behavioural skills are significant in explaining a wide range of human behaviour. Despite being well-established and highly relevant, the IMB model is rarely tested in the context of financial behaviour, let alone risky assets investing behaviour.

Further to the above discussion, this study suggests an additional element to complement the motivational constructs in the IMB model: a more holistic and unifying concept of human motivations grounded in Schwartz (1992)'s theory of basic values from the social psychology field. Likewise, in line with the IMB model where motivation drives behaviour, these values are crucial motivational drivers that influence behaviours (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). This study argues that theory of basic values complements well with the IMB model and may shed light to the role of personal value in one's financial behaviour. In light of the above, this study employs a combined perspective of IMB model and theory of basic values, which explains the influence of information, motivation and behavioural skills on individuals' decision to invest in the stock market in Malaysia. The extended IMB model provides a promising

explanation through incorporating personal values as additional predictor and having behavioural skills as the core and central predictor of the financial behaviour.

The preceding discussions present the background and context of this study. The subsequent sections are dedicated to outlining the problem statement, which then leads to the formulation of research questions and research objectives. Following that, the potential theoretical and practical significances, alongside the definitions of key terms used throughout the study are outlined. This chapter ends with an overview of the thesis structure.

1.2 Problem Statement

Individuals' participation in the stock market either directly or indirectly through mutual funds is important not only to the financial well-being of individuals, but also a country's financial market development. The role of retail participation is even more crucial in emerging economies where the financial markets are more illiquid and immature. However, research has shown that many individuals do not invest in these risky assets. As one of the emerging countries, Malaysia is also pressured with the global phenomenon where the retail participation in financial market is one of the lowest among other emerging economies (World Federation of Exchanges 2017; Kok 2019). The retail investors' participation rate hovering at around 20% does not commensurate with the growth of the capital market over the years. From the burgeoning amount of studies, it has been argued that individuals' financial literacy may be the key solution to the long-standing puzzle of limited participation in the stock market (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020). As such, ample resources are allocated to government initiatives targeted at enhancing the level of financial literacy as a means to boost SMP in both developed and emerging countries over the years (Willis 2011; Hastings, Madrian and Skimmyhorn 2013; Alsemgeest 2015; Stolper and Walter 2017). Nevertheless, prior relevant studies collectively divulge that the existing interventions introduced thus far are of mediocre effect (Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014; Goedde-Menke, Erner and Oberste 2017), whereby retail participation rate remains rather unsatisfactory. Considering the imperative need to increase SMP alongside the deficiencies in current initiatives, it is evident that this research area warrants further investigation. Furthermore, to effectively drive behaviour change, researchers clearly point to the desirability of interventions guided by theoretical underpinning (Kelly and Barker 2016; Sheeran, Klein and Rothman 2017; Michie et al. 2018) and echo the need to account for individuals' psychological attributes such as attitudes, self-efficacy and values (Hira 2012; Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014). The paucity of studies in these areas call for further research on the adoption of an appropriate theoretical model with psychological factors in order to enhance individuals' participation rate in the stock market. As such, the purpose of this study is to examine the determinants of individuals' risky assets investment through integrating the theoretical lens of IMB and theory of basic values.

1.3 Research Questions

With regard to the aforementioned background and problem statement of the research, this study seeks to ask: To what extent the constructs of IMB model and theory of basic values explain the determinants of individual's risky asset investment? As such, three specific research questions are posed as follows:

1. What are the influences of financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills on individuals' risky assets investment?

2. What are the influences of financial information and investment motivation on investment behavioural skills?

3. How does investment behavioural skills mediate the relationships between financial information, investment motivation and risky assets investment?

1.4 Research Objectives

In seeking to address the research questions, the general objective of this study is to examine the determinants of individuals' risky assets investment by integrating the theoretical lens of IMB and theory of basic values. Specifically, the research seeks to investigate the following:

1. the influence of financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills on individuals' risky assets investment.

2. the influence of financial information and investment motivation on investment behavioural skills.

3. the role of investment behavioural skills as a mediator on the relationships between financial information, investment motivation and risky assets investment.

1.5 Significance of the Study

The phenomenon of interest is examined to better understand the determinants that affect individuals' risky assets investment. This study is expected to have original and significant contribution by filling in the gaps in both theory and practice. Following that, this study proposes to make several contributions, both theoretically and practically.

1.5.1 Theoretical Significance

In terms of theoretical significance, this study could potentially contribute to the existing literature in five areas. First, it may offer theoretical framework for future personal finance research through the adoption of alternative theories and perspectives from different disciplines. Multiple review studies have denoted that personal finance literature is often empirically-based (Kliger and Levy 2009; Danes and Yang 2014), where most are not guided by a priori theoretical or conceptual grounding. However, increasing evidence indicates the importance of social and behavioural theories, whereby interventions based upon these theories are shown to be more effective in promoting behaviours, as compared to those without clear theoretical underpinnings (Glanz and Bishop 2010; Rothman, Klein and Cameron 2013; Klein et al. 2015; Kelly and Barker 2016; Sheeran, Klein and Rothman 2017; Johnson and Acabchuk 2018; Michie et al. 2018). As suggested by Hair et al. (2017c) and Ramayah et al. (2018), theory should always be the foundation of empirical analyses. This study responds to the call by incorporating two cross-disciplinary theories from social psychological

field, namely the IMB model and theory of basic values in understanding investing behaviour. The findings of this study would be helpful not only in assessing the rigour of existing social psychological theories in explaining financial behaviour, but more importantly, in offering new theoretical perspective for an emerging field such as behavioural economics. As only few studies investigate the limited SMP phenomenon through a theoretical lens, a study on the determinants of investing from social psychological perspective is potentially rewarding and insightful. The results are expected to unveil the suitability of these theories in explaining investment decisions, and open an avenue for future studies to understand the determinants of other financial behaviours.

Second, this study is expected to have novel theoretical contribution as it enhances the understanding of SMP through integrating two theories in explaining individuals' risky assets investment. Drawing on the theoretical lenses of social psychology field in the finance discipline, this study seeks to assess the applicability of the two integrated theories in explaining financial behaviour. As far as this study is concerned, this serves as one of the first few studies to apply the IMB model in exploring SMP, to examine the previously unexplored relationship between theory of basic values and financial behaviour, and to adapt the combined perspective of these two theories. Hence, the integration of both the IMB components and personal values within the same model is likely to generate new insights and enrich the existing literature. Consequently, the integration will constitute a theoretical contribution (Crane et al. 2016; Shaw et al. 2018) where it offers new ways of seeing a long-standing SMP phenomenon and add nuance to the discussion of how individuals make investment decision.

Third, based on the extended IMB model, this study integrates the IMB components in terms of information, motivation and behavioural skills, and theory of basic values elements in terms of personal basic values. These predictors are tested jointly in a single model to assess their combined influence on individuals' decision to invest in risky assets investment. This is in contrary to past studies where these constructs are frequently analysed independently in personal finance literature. Resultantly, the assessment of interrelationships among the constructs may reflect a more holistic and comprehensive picture of the determinants of risky assets investment. Moreover, this study employs Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) as the inferential analysis approach to test the research hypotheses. With SEM, the joint effect of these determinants and mediating variables are able to be captured jointly.

The fourth theoretical significance revolves around making contribution to the empirical literature. This study attempts to enrich the literature by assessing unexplored relationships and potential predictors in order to further address the stock holding puzzle (Haliassos and Bertaut 1995). Specifically, it offers empirical evidence by assessing the mediating role of financial self-efficacy (FSE) as being the potential missing piece in investment decision. Additionally, this study responds to scholar's call to extend understanding pertaining to the role and antecedents that FSE plays. Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016) highlight the need "for future research to closely identify" the determinants of FSE" (98). Assessing FSE as a mediator and endogenous variable could potentially add value to the limited literature on FSE. Moreover, psychological factors, particularly personal value is shown to be influential on behaviour (Bardi and Schwartz 2003; Borg, Hermann and Bilsky 2017; Lopes, Sela and Shackelford 2017; Sharma and Jha 2017), yet little is known about its association with investment behaviour. By incorporating personal values variables, this study extends the body of knowledge on personal values and SMP as to whether personal values could be an additional explaining factor. In short, this study advances knowledge and offers novelty to the personal finance literature on investment behaviour by providing empirical evidence, at the same time contributes in solving the stock holding puzzle.

Lastly, the theoretical significance of this study also lies in the extension of theories and empirical research in a new geographical region and different cultural orientation. This study extends the combined IMB model and theory of basic values, both of which are developed in the western context, to understand the behaviour in a non-western context of Malaysia. In doing so, it may advance the generalisability and applicability of these theories in a non-western or emerging context. Similarly, most prior studies on the determinants of risky assets investment have been conducted in the western context, particularly among the developed countries (Brown et al. 2008; Guiso and Jappelli 2008; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Von Gaudecker 2015) (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Barasinska, Schäfer and Stephan 2012; Zhang 2014; León and Pfeifer 2017). The findings from these studies may only reflect the case of a western, developed countries where the culture is characterised by individualism. As a result, it may not be applicable to non-western contexts or emerging countries, and to cultures characterised as collectivistic and high power distance such as Malaysia (Hofstede Insight 2018). Hence, this study expands the SMP research in a new research context in expectation to shed light on the determinants that influence individuals to invest in risky assets. With the growing importance of emerging economies in the global context, the findings provide rich insights to address the issues of low participation in risky assets market in an emerging country.

1.5.2 Practical Significance

The outcome of this study could indicate factors that lead individuals to participate in the stock market. Having this knowledge, coupled with the adoption of extended IMB model that is intervention-oriented, this study is likely to advance the implementation of any initiatives targeted to solve limited SMP issue. Therefore, the findings of this study would seem to be of value in practice.

In terms of practical significance, the research findings of this study should be of substantial interest to a group of audience. For instance, this study should be relevant and significant to government agencies and regulatory bodies such as BNM, Bursa Malaysia and SC as they constantly reiterate the importance of retail participation over the years. Similarly, the findings may be beneficial to the financial service providers such as banks, brokerage firms, mutual funds, financial advisory companies and insurance companies that have difficulties in selling risky financial products.

In specific, this study is important as it generates rich insights that may inform the government and policy makers regarding the existing SMP issues. It may accentuate the existing gaps to the Ministry of Finance and its federal agencies including BNM, Bursa Malaysia and SC, to allow for re-evaluation and innovation of current public policies relevant to the promotion of individuals' risky assets investment. Furthermore, the findings will inform determinants that are particularly crucial in encouraging one's

decision to invest in risky assets, at the same time suggest timely solution to improve the SMP among individuals. The extended IMB model, may be useful to guide the design and implementation of effective, theoretical-based intervention program targeted at increasing retail participation in investment. It is believed that these efforts may eventually enhance the financial well-being of the nation and inclusiveness of the economy, thereby minimising the wealth gap that is outlined as priority in the Shared Prosperity Vision 2030 in Malaysia.

Moreover, this study is also of significant to the financial service providers and financial intermediaries. The insights provided will assist these group of audience to better understand the key reason behind individuals' allocation in risky assets investment, thereby allowing them to better design suitable marketing strategies, convey financial product information more effectively, and deliver financial products and services that can accommodate the local needs. Lastly, the results of this study can inform the public of their current financial competency level and foster personal initiatives to achieve effective financial decision-making, particularly in the area of investing.

1.6 Key Definitions

The definitions of key terminologies used throughout this study are presented below.

Risky assets:

Investment in stocks or mutual funds (Rosen and Wu 2004; Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Calcagno and Monticone 2015; Tang and Baker 2016; Angelini and Cavapozzi 2017; Chu et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2020; Cupák et al. 2020).

Financial literacy:

Financial knowledge (understanding) and the application of financial knowledge (use) (Huston 2010).

Advice-seeking:

Seeking financial advice from financial advisor. Financial advisor is someone who

offers professional advice pertaining to financial matters to individuals, in exchange for a specified remuneration (Cruciani 2017).

Attitudes towards investing:

Attitude towards behaviour refers to one's perceptions of the outcome of behaviour and evaluations of such outcomes (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). In the context of this study, attitude towards investing is defined as one's perceptions of the outcome of investing and one's evaluation of these outcome.

Personal values:

Concepts pertaining to desirable, trans-situational goals, varying in importance, that serve as guiding principles of actions or behaviour, in the life of a person or other social entity (Schwartz 1992).

Openness to change:

Controlling one's own impulses and behaviour, according to social norms and expectations (Schwartz 2012).

Conservation:

Preserving stability and security in relations with one's surroundings, with the emphasis on subservient self-repression, the preservation of traditional practices and protecting stability (Schwartz 2012).

Self-enhancement:

Promoting self-interest at the expense of others, emphasising the search for personal success and dominance over others (Schwartz 2012).

Self-transcendence:

Promoting the wellbeing of society and nature above one's own interests, highlighting the acceptance of others as equals, as well as a concern for their wellbeing (Schwartz 2012).

Social norm:

Social norm is the perception of social pressures or social support to perform or not to perform a behaviour (Ajzen 1991; Fisher and Fisher 1992). In the context of this study, social norm refers to the perception of social support to invest in risky assets.

Financial self-efficacy (FSE):

Self-efficacy, in general, is defined as individuals' beliefs in their capability to accomplish a given task required for achieving a goal (Bandura 1997). This study defines FSE in risky assets investment as individuals' beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets for achieving their financial goals.

1.7 Thesis Structure

This thesis comprises six chapters with its structure indicated as follows. The current chapter introduces the background and context of this study wherein the problem statement, objectives and significance of the study are discussed. The remainder of this thesis is organised as follows:

Chapter 2 presents an overview of the retail investment in Malaysia. Chapter 3 reviews the existing literature on relevant theoretical underpinning and empirical studies, leading to the formulation of research hypothesis. Chapter 4 outlines the research design and methodology adopted for this study, covering the sampling procedures, development of instruments, questionnaire design and data analysis method. In Chapter 5, the descriptive statistics and PLS-SEM results are demonstrated. The last chapter, Chapter 6, concludes the thesis with discussion and implications of the findings, at the same time presents the limitations and avenues for future studies.

CHAPTER 2 RETAIL INVESTMENT IN MALAYSIA

2.1 Chapter Overview

This chapter presents the financial market and retail investment in Malaysia. First, a brief overview of the Malaysian capital market and also the stock exchange, Bursa Malaysia is provided. This is followed by a discourse on the retail investors' participation in the Malaysian financial market. Thereafter, the chapter presents several initiatives and efforts by the government and authorities aiming at enhancing individuals' participation in the financial market. The personal financial situation among the individuals in Malaysia is covered, followed by a chapter summary in the last section.

2.2 An Overview of Malaysian Financial Market

A capital market is a platform where both equity and debt securities such as stocks and bonds are issued in order to raise capital for businesses and also traded by investors to earn potential profits. Since year 2013, the Malaysian capital market is classified as an advanced emerging market in the Financial Times Stock Exchange (FTSE) Global Equity Index Series (Financial Times Stock Exchange 2020). The SC is the regulatory authority responsible of regulating the Malaysian capital market.

The Malaysian stock exchange, Bursa Malaysia, or previously known as Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE), was established around year 1960 and the public trading of shares started hereafter (Bursa Malaysia 2018a). In year 2009, the Main and Second Boards were merged to form Main Market, whereas the Malaysian Exchange of Securities Dealing and Automated Quotation (MESDAQ) was replaced by the Access, Certainty, Efficiency (ACE) Market. Currently, Bursa Malaysia consists of the Main Market for the funding of established companies with sizable business, ACE Market for all business entities with outstanding growth potential, and Leading Entrepreneur Accelerator Platform (LEAP) Market which was introduced in July 2017 for emerging companies (Bursa Malaysia 2018a).

In the mid-1990s, the capital market in Malaysia was comparatively narrow. The 18

banking system was dominating the capital market as the primary provider of funding, which was subsequently identified as the major source of systematic risk during the 1997-1998 Asian Financial Crisis (Securities Commission 2011). Consequently, as to formulate strategies towards the recovery of financial market and to redirect further development of the capital market, the first Capital Market Master Plan Blueprint was launched by SC in year 2001. It envisaged to lay strong foundation for the Malaysian capital market within 10 years period, specifically in addressing the country's financing and investment needs, as well as achieving its long-term economic objectives, efficiently channelling the allocation of funds and providing facilitative regulatory framework that supports full functionality of the capital market (Securities Commission 2001).

Following the recommendations in the Masterplan, the capital market has grown tremendously (Securities Commission 2011). From year 2001 to 2010, the stock market capitalisation expanded triple in volume, from RM444.4 billion in year 2000 to RM1.3 trillion in year 2010, with an average growth of 11% per annum. In addition, the bond market grew 10.8% annually, with debt securities of RM273.1 billion in 2000 to RM758.6 billion in 2010. By end of year 2016, the number of listed stocks was 903 (Sustainable Stock Exchanges Initiative 2017) and overall capital market size of RM2.9 trillion (Securities Commission 2016). A recent statistics as per May 2018 from Securities Commission (2018b) reports that the capital market grew 12.6% to RM3.2 trillion with stock market capitalisation expanded 14.4% to RM1.9 trillion and an increase of 10.1% to RM1.3 trillion in the bond market last year. This places Malaysia at the fifth largest capital market based on GDP adjust basis among other Asian countries (Rosli 2018). Recent report indicates that there are 2.5 million registered individual investors in Bursa Malaysia (Kok 2019).

The role of mutual funds as an investment instrument has also become increasingly prominent in the Malaysian financial market. This was evidenced by the fund management industry being the fastest growing market segment in Malaysia, mainly driven by the exceptional growth in the mutual fund industry. At the end of year 2014, mutual funds' net asset value (NAV) was reported as consistently growing at averagely 14.7% per annum over the past ten years (Securities Commission 2015). The NAV of

mutual funds growth is maintained following the next few year. As per end of year 2017, the NAV was equivalent to 22.39% of the stock market capitalisation and was also accompanied by an increasing number of mutual funds being offered to individuals (Securities Commission 2018d). Likewise, the mutual funds net sales stood at RM45.2 billion, which exhibited an increment of RM26 billion compared to year 2016 (Securities Commission 2018b). In a similar vein, the NAV of mutual funds was 25% as at end of year 2018 (Securities Commission 2019) and 29.08% as at 31 January 2020 (Securities Commission 2020b). Based on the latest unit trust statistics, there are a total of 20,069,838 unit trust accounts (Securities Commission 2020b).

With the expanding of capital market, a wide variety of other financial services that support the market have also emerged including the advisory services, financial planning companies and stock brokerages. To achieve higher retail participation in the capital market, several intervention are introduced by SC in effort to strengthen the roles of financial planners, remisiers and unit trust agents since year 2011 (Securities Commission 2011). As per December 2017, there are 679 licensed financial planners, exhibiting a growth of 43% in relative to beginning of year 2015 (Securities Commission 2018a). The number of licensed financial planners increase each year, with the latest report showing 977 financial planners in year 2019 (Securities Commission 2020a). Constant supports are given by Bursa Malaysia to the financial intermediary professionals through the CPE Accredited Product Workshop, engagement sessions and awareness sessions on new financial planning roducts and services (Bursa Malaysia 2018b). On the other hand, the SC organises annual conferences, training programmes and "mystery shopping" to gauge financial planning's professional standards (Securities Commission 2018a).

Conclusively, the financial industry in Malaysia, as an emerging country, has grown in leaps and bounds over the past decades. Spurred by the financial market development, there exists a wider range of financial products available to individuals, thereby enabling greater access and participation in the financial market. Such financial environment positions individuals with increased opportunities to effectively manage and allocate their own savings.

2.3 Retail Participation in Malaysian Financial Market

Since years ago, the Malaysian authorities have focused on expanding individuals' participation in the financial market. In year 2010, the then Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Bursa Malaysia, Dato' Yusli Mohamed Yusoff, has reiterated the significance of retail participation to the growth of capital market and encouraged greater retail investor participation (Bursa Malaysia 2010). He added that the Bursa Malaysia desires a 40% of market volume by retail investors in near future as compared to 20% at that time (Yap 2010).

Nevertheless, the retail participation rate hovered at around 20% over the past ten years, with institutional investors dominating the capital market (Surendran and Fong 2018). Seven years later, in November 2017, the previous CEO, Dato' Seri Tajuddin Atan similarly claimed that the Bursa Malaysia aims to boost retail investors' participation from 23.3% to 25% in near term (New Straits Times 2017). He strongly recommended the public to shift from traditional savings instrument such as fixed deposits to capital market investments to diversify portfolio and gain higher return. Yet until today, the phenomenon of low retail participation persists. Recent data from Bursa Malaysia reveals 21.6% of retail investors' participation as of July 2019 (Kok 2019). This figure is relatively lower as compared to other Asian countries such as Thailand, Singapore and Hong Kong (Kok 2019). Additionally, Malaysia has the highest level of fixed deposit among the regional neighbours including Singapore, Thailand and Indonesia (Yusof 2018). This is an indication that Malaysians save most of their money in fixed deposit account with lower interest rate, thereby forging the opportunity to create wealth through investment. According to Datuk Muhamad Umar Swift, the current CEO of Bursa Malaysia, Bursa Malaysia is currently aiming to lift retail investor participation to 30% over the long run (Tan 2019b).

Furthermore, as underlined in the SC's recent annual report, facilitating greater investor participation in the capital market is listed as one of the five key thrusts in developing an inclusive and sustainable market (Securities Commission 2018a). According to the latest annual report by Bursa Malaysia, two out of the four identified Business Pillars are also related to enhancing retail investors' participation in the capital market:
- "Developing and growing a diverse investor base Facilitate the participation of a diverse mix of institutional, retail, local and foreign investors to enhance liquidity, by promoting easy access and removing barriers to entry for every investor profile;
- (2) Improving and providing an enabling ecosystem Develop an ecosystem which facilitates the offering of new products and entry of new investor segments. The ecosystem is also benchmarked against developed markets." (Bursa Malaysia 2018b)

As the local retail investor segment only accounted for a small proportion of the investor base in relative to institutional investors, to diversify participating members is to increase the extent of retail participation. Besides, the ecosystem pillar is intended to attract more issuers and investors, which also involves more individual investors. Likewise, one of Bursa Malaysia's current priority is to increase trading activities from the segment of retail investors, thereby ensuring the attractiveness and vibrancy of Malaysian financial market (Bursa Malaysia 2018b).

Collectively speaking, current statistics clearly point towards a low level of individuals' participation in the Malaysian stock market. As promoting retail participation augurs well with the country's agenda, this issue has received substantial attention over the years. It is apparent that boosting retail participation in the stock market continues to be the main focus for Bursa Malaysia at this point in time (Tan 2019b). This is further evidenced by the numerous endeavours from the Malaysian authorities to accentuate the importance of investments for the benefits of both personal and the country's financial performance. The initiatives by the Malaysian government are further detailed in the following section.

2.4 Government Initiatives

Acknowledging the growing need for retail participation in the financial market has spurred the government to lend support for interventions targeted at improving SMP. Statistics show that a great deal of initiatives that are implemented by the government over the years in effort to entice financial market participation by individuals. This includes enhanced investor protection, introduction of new funds catering public needs (Securities Commission 2016) and tax exemptions on investment profits (Securities Commission 2015).

Furthermore, in the World Capital Markets Symposium 2018 hosted by the SC, the then Malaysian Prime Minister, Datuk Seri Najib Tun Razak in his keynotes address has introduced new measures to enhance liquidity and vibrancy of the Malaysian capital market, as well as to encourage greater retail investor participation (New Straits Times 2018). These measures include the opening of intraday short selling to all investors, liberalisation of margin financing rules, three-year stamp duty waiver for trades involving small-cap and mid-cap stocks, six-month waiver on trading and clearing fees for new retail investors and a volume-based incentive programme (Bursa Malaysia 2018d; Securities Commission 2018c). Additionally, SC has announced that the bond and sukuk (Islamic bond) market will be liberalised for retail investors in year 2018 (Securities Commission 2017), aiming to enable greater market participation by individuals.

Moreover, the SC and Bursa Malaysia have also launched various digital platforms to serve as an education and information hub, aiming to outreach potential retail investors. In order to widen individuals' exposure to the mid-cap and small-cap market, the Bursa MidS portal¹ is launched in year 2017 under the Mid and Small Cap Research Scheme (Bursa MidS) where the reports of companies' financial results and updates are provided. In the same year, another centralised information platform on bonds, known as the Bond+Sukuk Information Exchange (BIX)² is also created in order to instil public interest and knowledge on the Malaysian bond market. The website consolidates bond prices and credits information.

Besides, Bursa Malaysia also provides online learning platforms for stock market, which is the BursaMKTPLC³ and an official Facebook page that aims to equip investors with information on stock investing, market updates, upcoming events and

¹ The Bursa MidS website is accessible at: http://bursamids.com

² The BIX website is accessible at: https://www.bixmalaysia.com/

³ The BursaMKTPLC website is accessible at: http://www.bursamarketplace.com/

useful tools. Recently, the BursaMKTPLC has also launched an interactive virtual education programme – Mirror, Learn & Trade (MLT) Platform, that allows individuals to learn how to invest in the stock market through mirroring strategy (Tan 2019b). Specifically, registered participants can invest using virtual cash by viewing and mirroring the stock portfolio of the professional analysts. These analysts are to share their reasons for their buy and sell decision, and provide latest stock market updates to the participants. Another website by SC, the InvestSmart⁴ portal also provides comprehensive information on the Malaysian capital market investment. These online portals provide easy access and comprehensive information to enable informed retail participation and help individuals make better investment decision in the capital market.

Other than that, many education initiatives and marketing efforts are also facilitated continuously, with the aim of creating public awareness on risky assets investment and stimulate inclusive retail participation by individuals. In year 2017, Bursa Malaysia, in collaboration with trading partners, have conducted over 600 investor engagements that have outreached at least 94,000 individuals. Some notable programmes by the Bursa Malaysia include the inaugural "Jom Labur Shariah" Shariah Investing Fair, a three-month 'What's Your Goal' campaign, Bursa Investor Education Workshop, Workshop@Bursa sessions, Market Awareness visits, Shariah Trader Challenge, the Bursa Young Investor Clubs (BYICs) and "Invest Bursa, Invest in You" (Bursa Malaysia 2018b; Yusof 2018). Similarly, the SC also conducts several seminars such as InvestSmart Unit Trust Seminars, InvestSmart Stock Market Seminars, InvestSmart Cash@Campus and programmes including InvestSmart Kids & Cash and InvestSmart Teens & Cash (Securities Commission 2018a).

Taken together, in recognition of the substantial value that retail investor offers towards financial market, several initiatives have been introduced and launched by the government. These measures are implemented not only to encourage more retail participation in the stock market and stimulate economic growth, but at the same time, to allow individuals to diversify their investment, earn higher income and ultimately

⁴ The InvestSmart website is accessible at: https://www.investsmartsc.my/

raise their standard of living.

2.5 Personal Financial Situation in Malaysia

The current personal financial situation in Malaysia similarly underlines the need to promote SMP at individual level. Studies demonstrate that Malaysians generally have a low level of awareness on the benefit of asset allocation and diversification. Atkinson and Messy (2012) claim that Malaysia scored the second lowest among 14 countries across 4 continents in literacy test regarding portfolio diversification, where only 43% of the population understands the need to diversify their asset. In the same vein, Janor et al. (2016) reveals that only 43% of respondents in Malaysia provide correct answers on asset diversification questions. As reported by Asian Institute of Finance (2015), a joint initiative by BNM and the SC, only 41% of young Malaysians diversify their investment into different investment products.

Furthermore, based on the statistics from Bank Negara Malaysia (2017), the ratio of Malaysia's household debt to gross domestic product (GDP) is 88.4% in 2016. This figure, as reported by Standard & Poor's, is the highest among 14 other Asian economies (Chow 2015). Moreover, report from Asian Institute of Finance (2015) reveals that the young Malaysian are accruing debts at earlier age and experiencing financial stress in which 75% of the Gen Y's have at least one long-term debt obligation for instance car loan, education loan or mortgage loan, 70% of those who own credit card pay only the minimum payment and 40% of them spent more than they can afford. Additionally, as noted by the Malaysia Department of Insolvency (2016) (MDI), there are a total of 101,958 bankruptcy cases from year 2012 to 2016. Despite all measures taken to curb the complication, figures show no decrement compared to five years ago (19,575 in 2012; 19,588 in 2016), with an average of 54 bankruptcy cases per day in year 2016. Besides, about 58% of those involved fall under the age group of 25 to 44 years. The BNM's debt counselling agency, Credit Counselling and Debt Management Agency (AKPK), has also reported that the prominent reason that individuals face financial issue and unmanageable debts are largely due to poor financial planning as this comprises around 45% of all cases handled by the organization (The Star 2017b).

As a whole, the issues of low awareness in asset diversification and high household indebtedness reflect that many Malaysians do not understand the benefit of investing and financial planning. If these issues persist, the financial security and well-being of the Malaysians will be at stake, which may further threaten the financial stability of the country. Following that, the BNM calls for more evidence-based research to support for future policies, particularly on factors that influence individuals' financial behaviour, how they decide on financial products and their preferences in learning and assessing financial education (Ali 2013).

2.6 Chapter Summary

In sum, the growth of financial industry in Malaysia has given individuals with increased opportunities to invest in the stock market. Nonetheless, it can be seen that individuals' participation in the capital market is not up to satisfactory level. Having retail participation as one of the nation's priority call for government and authorities' continuous initiatives to encourage greater participation in the stock market over the years. Besides, the personal financial situation amongst Malaysians reveals low awareness on financial planning. These statistics collectively underline the prevailing need for more retail participation in the stock market to meet the needs of a diversifying investor base for a healthy financial market.

CHAPTER 3 LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Chapter Overview

This chapter presents the theoretical rationale and review of empirical literature relating to risky assets investment. Particularly, the chapter begins with a discussion on the background and determinants of risky assets investment, followed by the choice of theoretical framework that is appropriate for this study. The subsequent sections in the chapter encompasses the application of the chosen theories in the context of risky assets investment. A conceptual framework and hypotheses are proposed based on theoretical grounding and empirical evidence, followed by a chapter summary in the last section.

3.2 Risky Assets Investment

By and large, financial behaviour is referred to as any human behaviours related to money management (Xiao 2008; Xiao 2015). Some common research topics on financial behaviour revolve around spending and savings, borrowing, payments, asset allocation and insurance (Beshears et al. 2018). This study focuses specifically on risky asset allocation. This section outlines the definition of risky assets and reviews the literature on determinants of risky assets investment in prior studies. The research gap in the body of research are discussed.

3.2.1 Definition

In the extant literature, the term risky assets, is variably defined. Despite the wellestablished topic area focusing on different financial products, none classifies a list of financial assets that is standardised, comprehensive, non-exhaustive and universally accepted.

In this study, risky assets investment refers to investment in stocks or mutual funds. Stocks, also known as shares, are equity investments which represents ownership in a corporation. The return of stocks is potentially higher and normally comes in two forms: dividends and capital gains. The higher rate of return in stocks is accompanied by higher risk exposure. Other than directly investing in the stock market, stocks can also be held indirectly through mutual funds. Mutual funds, also referred to as unit trusts or managed funds, are investment vehicle comprises securities and other assets that are professionally managed by fund managers. As it is diversified with a wide range of different securities such as stocks and bonds, it helps lower risk for a given level of return.

This study focuses only on the two risky assets for several reasons. First, stocks and mutual funds are the two largest categories of risky financial assets (Alessie, Hochguertel and Soest 2004) and are generally the most held among risky financial assets. Based on the data from BNM (Bank Negara Malaysia 2019), more than 60% of Malaysian households' liquid financial assets (LFA) are held in non-risky assets such as bank deposits while investment in stocks and mutual funds account for approximately 29% of LFA. This reflects that Malaysians primarily participate in risky assets investment by holding stocks and mutual funds. Considering the above, the risky assets investment examined in this study are to do with investing in stocks and mutual funds. This is consistent with past studies (Chu et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2020) where the two assets have also been the most prevalent choice among risky financial products. The popularity of the two risky assets are also evident in the personal finance literature as studies typically only consider these two risky assets in the broadly defined assets groups (Rosen and Wu 2004; Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Tang and Baker 2016; Angelini and Cavapozzi 2017; Chu et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2020; Cupák et al. 2020).

Second, this study aims to understand and solve the long-standing limited SMP phenomenon. In the SMP literature, the standard measure of SMP involves direct participation through the ownership of shares and/or indirect ownership of shares in mutual funds (Grinblatt, Keloharju and Linnainmaa 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Conlin et al. 2015; Beaubrun-Diant and Maury 2016; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017; Vaarmets, Liivamägi and Talpsepp 2019; Niu et al. 2020).

Lastly, there are important differences between various risky assets such as the level of risk, costs or information intensiveness (Alessie, Hochguertel and Soest 2004). That being said, individuals' level of information, motivation and behavioural skills may differ between different the types of risky assets. For instance, the information needed to invest in stocks or mutual funds are different from those of derivatives or options. The inclusion of other assets is in violation to the high level of specificity required by the IMB model (Fisher and Fisher 1992; Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). Therefore, these assets must be distinguished and treated separately.

On a side note, there are past studies which include bonds as one of the risky assets, including Barasinska, Schäfer, and Stephan (2012), Duasa and Yusof (2013), León and Pfeifer (2017), Kramer (2016), Von Gaudecker (2015), Becker and Dimpfl (2016). Generally, bonds such as corporate bonds, Government savings bonds and bank savings bonds fall under fixed-income securities. Corporate bonds are debt issued by companies that offer an agreed interest return (coupon) over a specified time period and fixed amount of principal repayment at the maturity (Taylor 2017), thus is less risky as compared to stocks and mutual funds. Moreover, the risk for government bonds or bank savings bonds are even lower than corporate bonds as they are issued by government or semi-government bodies. For these reasons, this study excludes bonds as part of risky assets.

Additionally, it is also note-worthy that the fixed-price unit trust funds from Amanah Saham Nasional Berhad (ASNB) are considered as non-risky assets. These funds are recognised by the World Bank as a popular long-term saving instrument in Malaysia (De Luna-Martinez 2017). The exclusion is mainly due to their product features that differentiate them from the other mutual funds, including the fixed pricing, zero subscription fee and high liquidity as it can be withdrawn anytime. These fixed-price ASNB funds including ASB, ASB 2, ASB 3 Didik, ASM, ASM 2 Wawasan, ASM 3 (Amanah Saham Nasional Berhad 2020) are specifically listed as exclusion of risky assets in the questionnaire due to their unique characteristics that may easily be confused as risky assets.

Likewise, Employee Provident Fund (EPF), the mandatory employer-based retirement

savings in Malaysia (similar to superannuation in Australia) and insurance policies are also categorised as non-risky assets in this study. The portfolio allocation of individuals' EPF savings are largely managed by government affiliated institutions, with a guaranteed minimum dividend rate of 2.5% per annum on member's savings (Employees' Provident Fund 2019a). Although eligible individuals have the option to invest part of their EPF in specified mutual funds, only individuals above 55 years old can access the savings, thereby limiting the fund liquidity. In that sense, EPF savings invested in mutual funds by individuals is also excluded from the list of risky assets due to its guaranteed return, illiquidity and mandatory nature. In a similar way, insurance policy is excluded because it offers guaranteed payments, with termination of policies before maturity resulting in substantially lower return or even capital losses as per contract clause.

3.2.2 Determinants and Research Gap

Since the inception of limited SMP puzzle (Haliassos and Bertaut 1995), research interests in solving the participation puzzle have flourished over the years. These studies reveal factors acting as barriers to investing in risky assets as documented in Table 3.1 below.

Determinants	Sources
Academic achievement	(Vaarmets, Liivamägi and Talpsepp 2019)
Awareness	(Guiso and Jappelli 2005)
Changes in marital status	(Love 2009)
Cognitive skills	(Christelis, Jappelli and Padula 2010; Benjamin, Brown and Shapiro 2013)
Demographic variables including age, gender, number of sibling and marital status of the household head	(Bertocchi, Brunetti and Torricelli 2011; Christelis, Georgarakos and Haliassos 2011; Halko, Kaustia and Alanko 2012;

Table 3.1 Determinants of Stock Market Participation

	Niu et al. 2020)
Education	(Christiansen, Joensen and Rangvid 2007)
Financial literacy	(Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Xia, Wang and Li 2014; Liao et al. 2017)
Financial literacy overconfidence	(Xia, Wang and Li 2014)
Genetics	(Barnea, Cronqvist and Siegel 2010)
Happiness	(Rao, Mei and Zhu 2016)
Intelligence quotient	(Grinblatt, Keloharju and Linnainmaa 2011)
Optimism	(Puri and Robinson 2007)
Personality traits	(Conlin et al. 2015; Bucciol and Zarri 2017)
Political preference	(Kaustia and Torstila 2011)
Social interactions	(Hong, Kubik and Stein 2004; Bönte and Filipiak 2012)
Trust in financial markets	(Guiso, Sapienza and Zingales 2008; Georgarakos and Pasini 2011)

While SMP measures whether or not one invests in risky assets, it is also equally crucial to assess the proportion of risky assets (Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017). Reason being that by holding a low level of risky assets, one is unlikely to gain the advantages of investing in the stock market. Yet, when compared to the plethora of studies on participation in the stock market within the existing literature, there seems to be relatively less studies on the determinants of risky assets allocation. Moreover, some studies show that the factors affecting one's decision to participate in the stock market may not always be applicable to one's decision on the level of investment (Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Arrondel, Debbich and Savignac 2015; Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020), thereby further validating the need to also examine the

proportion of risky assets.

Prior studies indicate an association between health status and the proportion of risky assets (Rosen and Wu 2004; Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Fan and Zhao 2009; Atella, Brunetti and Maestas 2012), where poor health status prompts individuals to hold less risky portfolios and significantly reduce the allocation in risky assets. Studies also show that risky assets proportion is affected by factors such as home ownership (Heaton and Lucas 2000; Yamashita 2003; Beaubrun-Diant and Maury 2016; Chetty, Sándor and Szeidl 2017), financial literacy (Liao et al. 2017; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), and demographic factors such as age, income, education and net worth (Shum and Faig 2006; Cardak and Wilkins 2009). In addition, more recent studies demonstrate the influence of behavioural and psychological factors on individuals' allocation decision, including trust, self-confidence and time preference (Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014), perception of past portfolio, optimism and personal investment optimism (Khan, Tan and Chong 2017), financial well-being (Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), and happiness (Rao, Mei and Zhu 2016), among others.

However, several gaps warrant additional investigation. First, though the determinants of risky assets investment are vast, it was not until recently that financial literacy is valued as important in influencing one's decision making in terms of risky assets investment (Liao et al. 2017). In fact, financial literacy is often cited by many scholars as the key predictor of risky assets investment ever since its emergence. In a study of portfolio allocation decisions in Australia, Cardak and Wilkins (2009) note that a unifying theme emerge from various of their empirical findings, which is the importance of financial awareness and knowledge in determining risky assets investment. In the same vein, Van Rooij, Lusardi, and Alessie (2011) reveal that financial literacy plays a pivotal role in understanding SMP, whereby households with low financial literacy are significantly less likely to hold risky assets. As Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava, and Rastogi (2017) put it, financial literacy is one of the "strong recurrent predictors found in literature" among the large number of determinants influencing SMP (820). Likewise, Balloch, Nicolae, and Philip (2014) indicate that "stock market literacy remains a key characteristic for stock market

participation" even after accounting for sociability, trust and a large set of behavioural variables (1928). Despite these findings, the authors claim that the mechanism through which financial literacy affects stock ownership decisions is still unclear. As such, the link between financial literacy and risky assets investment still needs to be further examined.

In addition, financial literacy, though important, is deemed inadequate because intervention targeted specifically to enhance financial literacy often lead to mediocre outcome in changing financial behaviour (De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Holzmann 2010; Hira 2012; Remmele and Seeber 2012; Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014). Despite the well-established connection between financial knowledge and financial behaviour (Hilgert, Hogarth and Beverly 2003), there are still inconsistencies between what individuals know and what they do. There are individuals who are well-aware and knowledgeable about the investment products and concepts yet they do not invest (Guiso and Jappelli 2005). In the context of health literacy, highly educated individuals still continue smoking, not wearing helmet when cycling or avoid health examinations even if they are well-informed of health-related knowledge (Greenberg 2001). That is to say, knowing is not enough as it may not necessarily translate into behaviour. Likewise, Tang and Baker (2016) shows that financial literacy is an important but inadequate driver for desirable financial behaviour. Also noted by Bay, Catasús, and Johed (2014), financial literacy does not naturally influence one's financial practices. Knowing about important investment concepts may not be sufficient for an adequate functioning of their investing behaviour. As such, this possibly points to a missing link between financial literacy (knowing) and risky assets behaviour (doing) in both the literature and practice. Failure to account for such factors alongside with financial literacy may be the main reason for ineffective intervention.

There are several studies that attempt to understand the shortcoming of current intervention programmes and the missing link between knowing and doing. Most revolves around the importance of psychological factors. For instance, Greenberg (2001) indicates a number of cognitive factors in predicting behaviour, such as self-efficacy, values and outcome expectations alongside with knowledge, as posited by

the social cognitive theory. He further adds that literacy and knowledge are still the core component to behavioural change and thus should not be ignored, yet it may not be adequate to stimulate behaviour change. In the same manner, Hira (2012) argues that most educational initiatives focusing on financial literacy do not sufficiently address the personal aspect including attitudes, personal values and beliefs. He further echoes the need for value-based education and "increased emphasis on personal values" in promoting sustainable financial behaviour. Some scholars even assert that psychological traits may be the key driver of financial behaviour rather than knowledge (Holzmann 2010). Drawing on a multitude of consumer behaviour literature, De Meza, Irlenbusch, and Reyniers (2008) argue that financial decisionmaking is more to do with psychological attributes rather than informational differences. They further conclude that financial programme targeted to educate should reap positive but modest impact. Likewise, the effects of financial literacy on financial behaviour diminish drastically upon controlling for psychological factors that have been neglected in prior studies (Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014). Kliger and Levy (2009) further validate the influence of investor psychology in security markets and call for the inclusion of behavioural variables. Taken together, these studies highlight the importance of psychological factors in linking knowing and doing in the area of personal finance. However, to date, there is a dearth of studies which consider these psychological traits simultaneously with financial literacy. Consequently, not much is known as to what extent these psychological traits and financial literacy interact when explaining risky assets investment.

In addition, most prior studies are not guided by a priori theoretical or conceptual grounding in understanding risky assets investment. A review of past literature in the area of financial decision-making by Danes and Yang (2014) reveals the absence of theoretical support as most studies (61% of them) based their studies on experimental evidence. Similarly, as noted by Kliger and Levy (2009), personal finance literature has mostly been empirical based, instead of explicitly guided by theoretical underpinning when explaining financial behaviour. Nonetheless, interventions based on theoretical grounding are shown to be more effective in promoting behaviours, than those without a clear theory (Glanz and Bishop 2010; Rothman, Klein and Cameron 2013; Klein et al. 2015; Kelly and Barker 2016; Sheeran, Klein and Rothman 2017;

Johnson and Acabchuk 2018; Michie et al. 2018). Although such empirical studies are vital for understanding the phenomenon of low SMP, they do not provide a clear framework to guide intervention targeted at increasing risky assets investment. Moreover, adopting a theory-based framework, whereby a set of core components are specified and validated as factors of behaviours, to explain investing can provide a more holistic understanding of low participation rate in risky assets, as well as a model for increasing investing behaviour (Glasford 2008). The importance of theories as the building block of empirical analyses is also emphasised by Hair et al. (2017c) and Ramayah et al. (2018).

Last but not least, most studies in the area of risky assets investment are conducted within the context of western, developed countries such as the US (Brown et al. 2008), Italy (Guiso and Jappelli 2008), the Netherlands (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Von Gaudecker 2015), Germany (Barasinska, Schäfer and Stephan 2012; León and Pfeifer 2017), Australia (Cardak and Wilkins 2009) and New Zealand (Zhang 2014) where the financial markets are well developed and sophisticated. Given the considerable differences in structural constraints, financial development histories and political backgrounds across countries (World Economic Forum 2016), the findings from these studies may not be generalisable to emerging countries such as Malaysia. Take the pension system for example, the mandatory retirement scheme in Malaysia, which is the EPF, is largely managed by government affiliated institutions. Different from most western countries, individuals in Malaysia do not manage the portfolio allocation of their retirement funds. Only until recently, EPF members with sufficient savings have the option and flexibility to transfer a small portion of their EPF savings for investment in mutual funds through Members Investment Scheme (MIS). The amount of savings that are allowed for investment is 30% of the amount in excess of the basic savings in EPF Account 1 (Employees' Provident Fund 2019b). Such arrangements constraint the allocation of investable wealth in risky assets.

Taken together, the above-mentioned gaps identified in the current literature form the focus of this study. To fill the noticeable literature gap in the understanding of factors affecting risky assets investment, this study attempts to develop a conceptual framework that incorporates financial literacy and other psychological factors such as

attitudes, self-efficacy and personal values as suggested by the literature, in the context of Malaysia.

3.3 Theoretical Considerations

This section is dedicated to discussing the choice of theories that are appropriate for this study. The first part presents conventional theory in the field of economics and finance, with emphasis on empirical regularities that indicate inconsistency with the classical theory. With that, it leads to the choice of behavioural economics where individuals' financial behaviour can be more accurately accounted for. A number of different behavioural models are reviewed, with the choice of theories being justified.

3.3.1 Conventional Theory

In the classical and neoclassical economics and finance theory, human is often referred to as *homo economicus*, or economic man, which portrays human as fully rational, well informed, not affected by emotions and are in an ideal environment that will allow them to make optimal decision (Fromlet 2001).

Being one of the important primitive theory for rational decision making under uncertainty, the expected utility theory developed by Von Neumann and Morgenstern (1947) accounts for how individuals should make rational decision without knowing the outcomes of the decision. As posited by the theory, individuals are assumed rational and risk adverse, whereby their choice prioritises the maximisation of expected utility, instead of maximisation of expected cash value. Moreover, another well-established conventional theory, Markowitz (1952)'s modern portfolio theory is widely used to determine the investment risk and return relationship in the capital markets, which also extends to individuals' asset allocation. This theory postulates that individuals' decision on whether to accept risks is solely based on risk aversion and investment returns. One can construct an optimal portfolio that is perfectly diversified with maximised expected return for a given level of risk and wealth maximisation is based on the final wealth position. These conventional theories, though focusing on different economic behaviours, are all evidently grounded in the concept of *homo economicus*.

Nevertheless, the growing empirical evidence of the discrepancies between traditional theories and individuals' actual behaviour cast serious doubt on the conventional paradigm. For instance, Cooper, Gulen, and Rau (2005) examine the influence of mutual fund name changes on the funds inflows. Findings indicate that the amendment of fund name to match a current popular investment strategy leads to an abnormal increment of inflow, even without improvement in fund performance. In contrary to conventional theories, the study portrays individuals' inability to act rationally as they are easily affected by cosmetic effects. Similarly, Elton, Gruber, and Busse (2004) assess investors' rational behaviour in choosing index funds. With identical investment strategies and different charges of index funds, the returns are easily predictable. Yet surprisingly, findings show otherwise as many investors opt for high charges funds that yield inferior performances, indicating that individuals fail to behave rationally even in a simple situation. Besides, individuals' irrational and biased investment behaviour are also validated by a great deal of past studies, including Kahneman and Tversky (1979), Thaler (1980)_ENREF_29, Campbell (2006), Guiso, Haliassos, and Jappelli (2002), Benartzi and Thaler (2002), Barber and Odean (2002), De Bondt, Mayoral, and Vallelado (2013), among others.

In short, it is evident that behaviours observed in reality, as demonstrated by these empirical studies, are frequently inconsistent with conventional theories. These theories fail to capture financial behaviour accurately because the ideal situation does not hold in real life (Barberis and Thaler 2003). Human is, in fact, incapable of behaving rationally in decision-making. This gap in conventional theories lead to the emergence of behavioural economics in the last decades (Thaler 2016).

3.3.2 Behavioural Theory

Behavioural economics is a subfield that studies how individuals and organisations make economic decisions (Goodwin et al. 2014) through the integration of findings from psychology and sociology into its theories (Glaser, Nöth and Weber 2004). Being an emerging field based on individuals' ingrained biases and irrationality in human judgement and decision-making (Kahneman et al. 1982), it refutes the notion of

conventional theory where individuals behave rationally and are fully informed (Wärneryd 2001; Akerlof and Shiller 2010; Altman 2012). As noted by Thaler (2016), the behavioural approach opens avenue for the development of better models of economic behaviour through assimilating insights from other social sciences disciplines.

From the perspective of behavioural economics, humans are prone to behavioural biases which affects their financial decisions from being fully rational (West 2012). Given the overloading of information, constraints in time, intellectual capacities and so-forth, individuals may not be equipped with sufficient information and knowledge (Goodwin et al. 2014). In addition, the environment in which financial decisions take place are often complicated and uncertain (Lieber and Skimmyhorn 2018). As a result, individuals tend to decide using rules of thumb and rely upon preferences and beliefs, which biased their financial investment decision (Sahi, Arora and Dhameja 2013). Some other commonly known biases include overconfidence, mental accounting, regret aversion, loss aversion, anchoring biases, representativeness bias, among others (Jain, Walia and Gupta 2019). These psychological biases challenge individuals' abilities of making optimal choice that maximises their utility or wealth. With various forms of biases sourced from different aspects of constraints, it is evident that individuals are incapable of behaving in the rational, efficient and unbiased way assumed by conventional finance models.

Similarly, individuals are subjected to the abovementioned biases when they invest (James 2002). In fact, the most direct evidence can be seen through the focus of this study – limited SMP (Haliassos and Bertaut 1995), which is one of the four puzzles in individuals' asset allocation, apart from under-diversification, poor trading performance, and investment in actively managed and costly mutual funds (Beshears et al. 2018). Conventional finance theory holds that individuals will engage in rational behaviour based on full information without constraints and emphasises mainly individuals' risk-taking preference. In the context of risky assets investment, the theory predicts that all individuals will participate in the risky financial market (Merton 1969) because such investment strategy gives superior returns and diversification benefits. That is, even household with low risk tolerance or wealth level should participate in

the stock market (Campbell 2006). Conventional theory also diminishes the role of financial education and information in enhancing financial behaviour because individuals are assumed fully rational and knowledgeable (Altman 2012). However, in reality, many households do not participate in risky assets market, which is a phenomenon known as SMP puzzle. This phenomenon suggests that individuals' investment behaviour in risky assets investment is not fully rational. Thus, as this study attempts to understand individuals' financial behaviour in investing, the behavioural approach is deemed appropriate.

Nonetheless, the theoretical framework for behavioural determinants of financial behaviours is not yet established. To date, there is a lack of complete and integrated theory of behavioural finance (Fromlet 2001) as research in this area are extensively empirical based. Also, behavioural finance theories are built upon individuals. Yet, it has been argued that the empirical studies in typical behavioural finance papers often lose sight of these individuals (Durand et al. 2013). Rather, they focus on the behaviour of the market as an aggregate and infers the determinants motivating the market participants (Durand et al. 2013). Overall, these studies call for the adoption of well-established behavioural theories that focuses on individual-level factors.

According to Thaler (2016), behavioural economic theory should be evidence-based theory where these evidences can be from psychology, other social sciences or even homemade. To recapitulate, behavioural economics, as defined earlier in this section, involves the assimilation of psychology and sociology into economics to understand economic decision. With that, it is highly relevant and potentially appropriate to incorporate social psychological theories in explaining financial behaviours such as risky assets investment. Moreover, the application of social psychological theories fulfils the need to refocus on individual-level predictors through well-established theoretical model in behavioural field. There are a number of social psychological theoretical conceptualisations that are developed by different theorists to explain, predict and understand the factors of various human behaviours. Some of these include Health Belief Model (Hochbaum 1958), Transtheoretical Model (Prochaska and Velicer 1997), Risk Reduction Model (Catania, Kegeles and Coates 1990), Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975), Theory of Planned Behaviour

(TPB) (Ajzen 1991), Social-Cognitive Theory (Bandura 1990), Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills (IMB) model (Fisher and Fisher 1992), to name a few. Although these theories are formulated in context other than financial behaviour, the adoption of theories outside disciplines is recommended in cases where phenomena or observations are inexplicable with the existing theories in its own field (Shaw et al. 2018). In fact, there exists a need to more effectively incorporate psychological theories in understanding how personal financial behaviours are formed (Xiao 2008), so as to create a more holistic view on the determinants contributing to the financial outcomes (Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016).

Among these theories, the most influential and commonly used model for understanding financial behaviour is the TPB (Xiao 2015). Several studies apply TPB to examine a wide range of financial behaviour such as investment decision (East 1993), mortgage use (Bansal and Taylor 2002), credit counselling (Xiao and Wu 2008), and cash, credit and savings management (Shim et al. 2009; Xiao et al. 2011). Generally, past studies adopting TPB posits that individuals' financial behaviour is determined by their intention to engage in that targeted financial behaviour, and their intention to engage in financial behaviours are greatest when they feel positive towards performing the act, perceive support from their social environment and perceive low level of difficulties involved. However, one of the key variables, perceived self-control is deemed to have less predictive power than self-efficacy (Xiao 2015). More importantly, TPB as with most of the above-mentioned theories, does not include constructs relevant to knowledge or information in the model, except for the IMB model. The inclusion of financial information construct is particularly crucial as financial literacy has always been identified as the key predictor of financial behaviour in existing empirical studies.

These issues might be overcome by the IMB model. Generally, IMB model postulates that information, motivation and behavioural skills are influential on one's behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 2002). The conceptualisations of IMB model are based upon a critical review and combination of constructs in prior social psychological theories (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). Conceptually, the IMB model shares similar elements with some of the theoretical models. For instance, attitude and social norm

are similar to those of TPB. On the other hand, IMB contains two distinctively unique elements to other theories, namely information and behavioural skills. The unique conceptualisation of IMB model eliminates the limitation of existing theories through the inclusion of self-efficacy as behavioural skills construct and inclusion of information as key construct of its model.

In fact, the conceptualisation of IMB model is initiated to address the shortcomings of prior theories in social and health psychology (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Some of these include the absence of specification of the relationship among constructs; lack of predictive validity in key constructs; lack of conceptual parsimony; absence of constructs central to understanding behaviour (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). With that, the IMB model surpasses prior theories as it integrates the key strengths of several behaviour models and addresses their limitations with the inclusion of better constructs. The predictive adequacy of IMB model is further validated empirically. In comparison with TPB, IMB model frequently accounts for an equal or higher proportion of variance in explaining Human Immunodeficiency Viruses (HIV) preventive behaviours (Fisher and Fisher 2000). Similarly, it is found that IMB model is widely adopted to examine a wide range of health and also non-health behaviours (Seacat and Northrup 2010; Bahrami and Zarani 2015; Nelson et al. 2018; Farooq, Jeske and Isoaho 2019; Fleary, Joseph and Chang 2020)

Taken together, the IMB model seems more appropriate for this study, as compared to other social psychological theories. It is a social psychological theory in behavioural field focusing on individual-level determinants and it includes information construct which is the major predictor of financial behaviour. Despite being well-established and highly relevant, IMB model is rarely tested in the context of financial behaviour, let alone risky assets investing behaviour. This leads to the final choice of IMB model as the guiding theoretical basis for this study where its suitability and applicability in understanding risky assets investment are assessed. Further details on IMB model are discussed in the following subsection.

3.3.3 Extending IMB Model with Personal Values

The IMB model is first developed by Fisher and Fisher (1992) to predict Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) preventive behaviour. As presented in Figure 3.1, it is based on the concept where behaviour is driven by three fundamental components, namely information, motivation and behavioural skills. The IMB model postulates that individuals are more likely to involve in a targeted behaviour when they have accurate and relevant information; personal motivation and social support for performing the act; and the behavioural skills required to confidently and effectively engage in the behaviour. Likewise, individuals with deficiencies in any of the aspect of information, motivation or behavioural skills may result in the disengagement of specific behaviour. In general, the IMB model predicts that informational and motivational factors will influence behavioural skills, which ultimately lead to engagement of behaviour. It further specifies the potential direct influence of information and motivation on behaviour in instances where complicated behavioural skills are not required in accomplishing the targeted behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 2002).

According to the IMB model, information relevant to the participation of a desired behaviour is a crucial determinant of consistent and correct performance of the behaviour (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). The information component includes both accurate information that helps in facilitating the behaviour and inaccurate information (e.g. heuristics) that misinforms and hinders the behaviour. Though important, information alone is insufficient to facilitate a behaviour. In addition to information, the IMB model specifies motivation as the second prerequisite for promoting behaviour. Based on the model, motivation involves personal motivation and social motivation. Specifically, personal motivation involves one's attitude towards performing the behaviour, whereas social motivation involves one's perceived social support from their significant others concerning the behaviour.

Last but not least, the final critical component to engaging in a desired behaviour is behavioural skills. The IMB model identifies behavioural skills as the critical core determinants of whether well-informed and well-motivated individuals are capable of effectively engage in the targeted behaviour. The behavioural skills in IMB model focuses on individuals' skills and self-efficacy in performing the given behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992). For complex behaviour, information and motivation works primarily through the activation of necessary behavioural skills to affect the targeted behaviour. That is, the influence of information and motivation are seen largely as a consequence of the presence of behavioural skills to initiation of behaviour. Without behavioural skills, individuals may not be able to engage in the targeted behaviour even if they are well-informed and highly motivated. In exceptional cases where complicated or novel behavioural skills are not needed, the model posits that information and motivation may exert direct influence on the behaviour (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). It is also worth to note that the model regards information and motivated to participate in the behaviour and vice versa. These constructs should be highly specific and relevant to the behaviour of interest (Fisher and Fisher 1992; Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003).



Figure 3.1 Original IMB Model

Source: Fisher and Fisher (2002)

The choice of IMB model in comparison to other social psychological theories is justified in previous subsection. In addition to that, the IMB model may be relevant and appropriate to the prediction of financial behaviour for several other reasons. First, desirable financial behaviour is similar to health behaviours in their conceptualisation. Desirable health behaviour is driven by both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, which means the behaviour are beneficial at the personal and social-normative level, such as improving general state of health (personal benefit) and imposing less burden on family and medical system (social benefit) (Nisbet and Gick 2008). Similarly, in the context of this study, individuals engage in desirable financial behaviour with the expectation of generating monetary rewards (personal benefit) and enhancing one's public recognition, social status, well-being of family as a whole and also to stimulate the economic growth (social benefit). Given these similarities, it is apparent that desirable financial behaviour is very similar to desirable health behaviour addressed by the IMB model. Recognising this commonality lead this study to choose IMB model in understanding the drivers of desirable financial behaviour.

Second, applying the IMB model from health and social psychology field in explaining financial behaviour may provide rich insights and novelty. According to Fisher and Fisher (1992), IMB model is a parsimonious, conceptually based and highly generalisable model, hence may also be extended to predict a diverse range of behaviours other than health behaviour. A broad range of behaviours are examined using the IMB model, with the majority of them targeting on health behaviours such as diabetes medication adherence (Nelson et al. 2018), HIV risk behaviour (Kalichman, Picciano and Roffman 2008), diabetes self-care (Osborn and Egede 2010), risky sexual behaviour (Bahrami and Zarani 2015), breast self-examination (Misovich et al. 2003), among others. Due to its high generalisability, the model is later utilised to also predict other non-health behaviour including security behaviour (Farooq, Jeske and Isoaho 2019), curbside recycling behaviour (Seacat and Northrup 2010), fruit and vegetable intake (Mita, Li and Goodell 2013; Fleary, Joseph and Chang 2020), voting behaviour (Glasford 2008), child sweetened beverage consumption (Goodell et al. 2012), sunlight exposure behaviour (Leung, Cheung and Chi 2015) and so-forth. As suggested by Crane et al. (2016), there is a high potential for theoretical contributions in drawing theory from outside discipline. Nevertheless, in spite of its generalisability and rich potential of contribution, there is a lack of research assessing the elements of IMB model in financial behaviour. Hence, more research needs to be done in attempt to bridge the theoretical gap.

Third, adopting the IMB model in a financial context may be useful for designing effective intervention strategies to encourage the financial behaviour at focus. The IMB model is initially developed not merely to understand the determinants of health behaviour, but more importantly to formulate interventions that targets at promoting health behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992). It conceptualises the social psychological

factors required for the promotion of behaviour and provides a general framework to guide the increment of the specific behaviour (Glasford 2008). As a result, the design of IMB model enables easy translation into intervention where the strategies are theoretically-based and empirically targeted (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). Moreover, intervention strategies that are designed based on the IMB model are effective through successful promotion of a range of behaviours (Fisher and Fisher 2002; Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003; Cornman et al. 2007). Yet, to date, no published financial behaviour intervention effort has adopted the IMB model in guiding the implementation. With this study, the model may serve as a blueprint for the financial services practitioners to effectively execute interventions targeted at encouraging investment in risky assets.

Lastly, the IMB model is appropriate to understand financial behaviour because it includes the key predictors that are claimed as being related to financial behaviour in prior literature, which is financial literacy. However, the components in IMB model are frequently dealt with in isolation with each other in the extant personal finance literature. To date, within the context of financial behaviour, only one existing study (Limbu 2017) is known to have assessed and confirmed the applicability of the IMB model in predicting credit card misuse behaviour among college students. As mentioned earlier, the key predictor for investing revolves around financial literacy in existing empirical studies (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), yet studies also show how intervention focusing on financial literacy alone are not adequate to promote financial behaviour (De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Holzmann 2010; Hira 2012; Remmele and Seeber 2012). In the same manner, the IMB model asserts that information is necessary but insufficient by itself. The model specifies behavioural skills as the core and central determinants for any complex behaviour. Irrefutably, financial decision-making is complicated and risky at the same time (Lim et al. 2018). These studies hint at the mediating effect of behavioural skills being the possible missing piece within the extant financial behaviour literature. This further justifies the need to explore the interrelationship between the IMB components, particularly the mediating effect of behavioural skills, in the context of financial behaviour.

Other than the lack of prior use in financial behaviour, another limitation of the IMB theoretical framework involves one of its key constructs, which is the motivation component. The conceptualisation of the motivational construct in the IMB model is based on two elements adopted from Fishbein and Ajzen (1975)'s theory of reasoned action (TRA), which includes individuals' attitude towards behaviour (representing personal motivation) and behaviour-related social norm (representing social motivation). According to Fisher and Fisher (1992), despite the vast array of factors that may potentially influence motivation, this approach is taken due to the absence of a unified conceptual framework on motivational determinants and that the adoption of a well-articulated social psychological conceptualisation from TRA can remedy the issue. However, in doing so, it may have overlooked another theory that fulfils its criteria of a good remedy: the commonly used and tested unifying theory of human motivation (Schwartz 2012) that also embraces both social and psychological perspective (Giménez and Tamajón 2019). Moreover, the existing elements in motivation constructs may not be sufficiently representative because attitude and social norm are rather different from motivation (Schwartz 2012). With respect to this, this study suggests an additional element to complement the attitude construct categorised under personal motivation: a more holistic and unifying concept of human motivations grounded in Schwartz (1992)'s theory of basic values from the social psychology field.

The theory of basic values is also known as theory of basic human values, theory of human motivation or motivational types of values (Schwartz 2012). According to Schwartz (1992), values are regarded as trans-situational goals which vary in importance and serve as guiding principles in the life of a person or group. This theory adopts the concept of values implicit by many theorists where six main features are identified (Schwartz 2012). First, values are beliefs that are linked to feelings. In situation where the values are activated, individuals become infused with feelings. Those for whom security is a significant value will be aroused if their security is threated, upset if they are incapable of protecting it and are happy if they are able to enjoy it. Second, values are regarded as desirable goals which motivate behaviour. One who has pleasure, enjoyable life and self-indulgent as important values will be

motivated in pursuing these goals. Third, values transcend specific situations, actions or objects. For instance, those who take honesty value as important, will act accordance to this value in workplace or school, in business or politics, with family or strangers. With that, value is distinguished from attitudes and norms which refer to a specific actions or objects. Fourthly, values serve as one's standards. Individuals evaluate actions, people or situations based on their values, whether it is good or bad, justified or illegitimate. The fifth feature is that values are ordered by importance in relative to one another. An ordered system of priorities is formed from one's values based on the importance of one value over another. Lastly, the relative importance of multiple values will ultimately guide behaviour. For instance, travelling solo may express hedonism and stimulation values, at the expense of tradition and conformity values. In situation where values are relevant to context, they will be activated and the trade-off among competing values will guide actions.

The theory of basic values identifies ten types of values reflecting distinct yet related motivational goals which form a continuum of related motivations in a circular framework (Schwartz 2012). As shown in Figure 3.2, the circumplex model distinguishes the values into two bipolar value dimensions that capture the congruity and conflicts among values. The first value dimension, Openness to change versus Conservation, captures the oppositions between openness to change (consist of selfdirection and stimulation values) and conservation values (consist of security, conformity and tradition values). The second value dimension, Self-enhancement versus Self-transcendence, contrasts the self-enhancement (consist of power and achievements values) and self-transcendence values (consist of universalism and benevolence values). The 10th basic value, hedonism, belong to both selftranscendence and conservation values (Gorgievski et al. 2018) because it shares the elements of both higher-order values (Schwartz 2003). Similar value types are nearer to each other, while contradicting value types are positioned at the opposite sides. As this study focuses on two-dimensional basic values, the refined version of this theory which includes 19 more narrowly defined, conceptually precise, discrete personal values (Schwartz et al. 2012) will not be discussed.

These values are distinguished from one another based upon the types of motivation it

expresses. That is, the ten values by this theory are defined according to the motivation that underlies each of them (Schwartz 2012). These values are universal as they are derived from the three basic requirements of human existence (Schwartz and Bilsky 1987) that applies to all individuals and societies, which include: (1) needs of individuals as biological organisms; (2) requisites of coordinated social interaction; and (3) survival and welfare needs of groups. While there are other values uniquely observed in different individuals, the values that are common and universal will be of greatest importance and influence among most individuals (Ralston, Russell and Egri 2018).



Figure 3.2 Theoretical Model of Theory of Basic Values

Table 3.2 presents definition of the two-dimensional values with their motivational domains (Schwartz 2012; Giménez and Tamajón 2019). Generally, openness to change is characterised by independence, novelty-seeking and readiness for new experiences and challenges. It is important for those who value openness to change to be independent in action and thought, creative and free, and have a daring, exciting and enjoyable life. This is in contrary to conservation values, which focus on maintaining traditions, socially imposed expectations and security in society. As for self-enhancement, it emphasises having control over people and resources with desire for social status and prestige, as well as achieving personal success and life satisfaction. In contrast, self-transcendence values concerns being understanding and

Source: Schwartz (2012)

tolerance, seeking for the welfare of others and the nature, and promote cooperative and supportive relationship. Overall, this study focuses on the two bipolar value dimensions, namely Openness to change versus Conservation dimension and Selfenhancement versus Self-transcendence dimension. Each value dimensions capture the conflicts between the two competing values (Schwartz 2012), thereby indicating individuals' relative preference for one value over the other value in the particular dimension. For instance, individuals with greater emphasis on conservation values over openness to change values are referred to as being more conservative for the Openness to change versus Conservation dimension.

Two-dimensional Values	Ten Basic Values with Motivational Goals
Openness to change	Self-Direction
Definition: Controlling one's own	Defining goal: independent thought and
impulses and behaviour, according	actionchoosing, creating, exploring.
to social norms and expectations.	Stimulation
	Defining goal: excitement, novelty, and
	challenge in life.
	Hedonism*
	Defining goal: pleasure or sensuous
	gratification for oneself.
Conservation	Security
Definition: Preserving stability	Defining goal: safety, harmony, and stability
and security in relations with one's	of society, of relationships, and of self.
surroundings, with the emphasis	Conformity
on subservient self-repression, the	Defining goal: restraint of actions,
preservation of traditional	inclinations, and impulses likely to upset or
practices and protecting stability.	harm others
	and violate social expectations or norms.

 Table 3.2 Definition of Two-dimensional Values with Motivational Domains

Tradition

Achievement

Defining goal: respect, commitment, and acceptance of the customs and ideas that one's

culture or religion provides.

Self-enhancement

Definition: Promoting self-interest at the expense of others, emphasising the search for personal success and dominance over others. Defining goal: personal success through demonstrating competence according to social standards.

Power

Defining goal: social status and prestige, control or dominance over people and resources.

Hedonism*

Defining goal: pleasure or sensuous gratification for oneself.

Self-transcendence

Definition: Promoting the wellbeing of society and nature above one's own interests, highlighting the acceptance of others as equals, as well as a concern for their wellbeing.

Benevolence

Defining goal: preserving and enhancing the welfare of those with whom one is in frequent personal contact (the 'in-group').

Universalism

Defining goal: understanding, appreciation, tolerance, and protection for the welfare of all people and for nature.

*Hedonism value belongs to both self-transcendence and conservation value *Sources:* Schwartz (2012), Giménez and Tamajón (2019)

The integration of theory of basic values with the IMB model to propose an extended

IMB model, is appropriate and rewarding for several reasons. First and foremost, as mentioned earlier, the IMB model adopted its motivation construct from TRA because there is an absence of a unified conceptual framework on motivational determinants during the time study was conducted (Schwartz 1992). In doing so, it seems to disregard the comprehensively elaborated, empirically grounded and widely used (Cieciuch, Schwartz and Vecchione 2013) "motivational theory" which is the theory of basic values. This theory, being referred to as unifying theory of human motivation (Schwartz 2012), are grounded in motivations. With that, it satisfies the need of IMB model which search for a unified framework that provides understanding on the determinants of motivation. Furthermore, the features wherein values transcend the specificity of situations and are ordered by importance, set values apart from attitudes and social norms (motivation construct from TRA) (Schwartz 2012). Hence, when including values as an additional component in the original motivation constructs, the concern of redundancy which may later lead to multicollinearity, will not be an issue.

Second, in line with the IMB model where motivation drives behaviour, these basic values are critical motivational drivers that affect behaviours (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). Generally, there is a need for individuals to align their behaviour with their thoughts and values (Bardi and Schwartz 2003). When a higher priority is placed on a value, individuals are more likely to formulate goals and action plans that eventually result in the expression of this value in behaviour (Gorgievski et al. 2018). As individual engage in behaviour that is consistent with their values, they experience it as rewarding and satisfying (Gorgievski et al. 2018). These highly prioritised values steer individuals to go in pursuit of value-relevant aspect of a situation (Schwartz, Sagiv and Boehnke 2000). Similarly, individuals are likely to disengage or avoid any actions that are contradicting to their values. Due to its universality that is appropriate for cross-cultural studies (Schwartz 1994), this theory has received growing attention from different fields such as consumer behaviour (De Boer, Hoogland and Boersema 2007; Botonaki and Mattas 2010; Kitsawad and Guinard 2014), environmental friendly behaviour (Thøgersen and Ölander 2002; Sharma and Jha 2017) or delinquent behaviour (Bilsky and Hermann 2016; Borg, Hermann and Bilsky 2017; Seddig and Davidov 2018), whereby the linkage between values and behaviours are further validated.

Third, the theory of basic values overlaps with the IMB model in several aspects. While findings of prior studies validate that values motivate behaviour, it is further suggested that the association between values and behaviours is, to some extent, obscured by social norms (Bardi and Schwartz 2003). This follows a similar line of argument with the IMB model wherein both personal and social factors are accounted for when explaining behaviour. In addition, recall that desirable health behaviour is guided by both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation (Nisbet and Gick 2008). By the same token, these values in the theory form primarily two polarities: one between the personal and social focuses; and another between intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivations (Schwartz et al. 2012; Giménez and Tamajón 2019).

Lastly, the integration of these two theories may provide a better understanding and explanations on the low SMP phenomenon, as compared to before, which constitutes a theoretical contribution (Crane et al. 2016), particularly in the personal finance field. The comprehensiveness of this theory and its compatibility with the IMB model substantiates that the IMB model could be complemented by the theory of basic values to better explain behaviours than the original IMB model. This cross-disciplinary theory integration can be effective of making significant, novel and bold theoretical contribution (Shaw et al. 2018). Nevertheless, to date, no studies are framed from the combined perspective of both the IMB model and theory of basic values.

Taken together, the integration of IMB model with theory of basic values offer a holistic view on individuals' investment behaviour in risky assets. To summarise the theoretical consideration section, upon reviewing the risky assets investment literature, it is revealed that most previous studies are not guided by a priori theories about how each predictor might relate to the limited SMP phenomenon. In this situation, the application of theoretical perspective from matured disciplines with long-standing interest in conceptualising the behavioural elements in research is particularly useful. Given that, this study opts for the social psychological approach as theoretical underpinning of this study in understanding individuals' risky assets investment. Contrary to the tenets of classical theories, this study investigates individuals' investment behaviour through the integrated lens of IMB model and theory of basic

values. It extends the original IMB model by including theory of basic values as part of the motivation constructs.

Drawing on the integration of IMB model and theory of basic values, this study borrows theories from other social sciences beyond the economics and finance discipline to explain financial behaviour. The same limited SMP phenomenon, when viewed from a different angle through a combined theoretical lens, may generate new perspectives that are not known previously and enable better understanding than before. The findings of the study are expected to generate new insights and constitute a theoretical contribution in two ways: (1) to the theories - the adaptation of an extended IMB model so that it can be generalised to financial behaviour; and (2) to the personal finance literature - the components of IMB model and theory of basic values in explaining risky assets investment.

With that, the research hypotheses are formulated from the combined theoretical premises of both IMB model and theory of basic values. The application of the combined theoretical framework in this study is further discussed in the subsequent section.

3.4 Application of Extended IMB Model

In understanding the SMP phenomenon, this study employs the extended IMB model where the IMB model is combined with theory of basic values. Guided by the chosen theoretical framework, this study predicts that financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills are the core determinants of individuals' risky assets investment. Particularly, when an individual is financially well-informed, motivated to invest and possesses the necessary behavioural skills to engage in risky assets investment, they are more likely to invest a higher amount in risky assets. More importantly, it is posited that investment behavioural skills act as a mediator for the relationship between financial information and risky assets investment, and also the relationship between investment motivation and risky assets investment, thereby positioning investment behavioural skills as the central of the study. The determinants of interest chosen for this study are a judicious mix of strong predictors and unexplored variables based on theoretical and empirical groundings.

3.4.1 Financial Information

The IMB model postulates that informational factor is influential to the engagement of a behaviour at focus. Articulated to investment behaviour, the information component would include accurate information and knowledge about investing in risky assets. Following the IMB model, financial information is expected to be one of the key determinants of individuals' financial behaviour.

Generally, financial decision makers are incapable of acting rationally as they are restricted by the availability of complete information regarding the financial products. In the context of this study, such phenomenon is rather common as one may not be aware of the existence and features of all available financial assets in the market (Abreu and Mendes 2010). As a results, individuals invest only in assets they are familiar with (Grinblatt and Keloharju 2001; Kiymaz, Öztürkkal and Akkemik 2016) or assets which they have superior information about (Coval and Moskowitz 2001; Hau 2001).

Additionally, as mentioned in earlier section, individuals are prone to behavioural biases that deviate their financial decision-making from rational choices. As financial products in the financial market are increasing in number and complexity, financial decision making are becoming highly complicated and even more susceptible to behavioural biases (Sjöberg and Engelberg 2009; Sahi, Arora and Dhameja 2013). This is because individuals are not capable of analytically evaluating the overload of information, thus they rather depend on their preferences and beliefs, which eventually lead to biased decisions (James 2002). Although these biases cannot be entirely eliminated, prior research findings show that less biased decision-making are exhibited in individuals with higher financial literacy (Dhar and Zhu 2006) and financial market professionals (Kaustia, Alho and Puttonen 2008). That is, individuals who are less informed are more prone to experience behavioural biases that affect their financial decisions. When well-informed, investors are able to avoid harmful effects of these biases (Pompian 2012).

In brief, both insufficient access to complete and relevant information, and human's inability to assimilate information provided lead to issue of asymmetric information (Clifton, Fernández-Gutiérrez and García-Olalla 2017). Therefore, in this study, financial information is represented by two variables, which are (1) financial literacy; and (2) advice-seeking. The two variables involve two different types of information search, wherein financial literacy is a form of internal information search and advice-seeking is considered as an external information search (Fan and Swarn 2020). In accordance with the IMB model, this study proposes that individuals with a higher level of financial literacy or those who consult financial advisors for financial advice are more well-informed and financially competent, thus are more likely to make sound financial decisions and engage in risky assets investment. The subsequent sections provide the discussions on the two informational factors.

3.4.1.1 Financial Literacy

In the extant literature, the term financial literacy, is variably defined. Several definitions of financial literacy are proposed in past studies but none is universally accepted (Hung, Parker and Yoong 2009; Huston 2010; Remund 2010). Indeed, its very definition (Faulkner 2015) and also its relation to, or distinction from other similar terms such as financial knowledge or financial education (Abdullah and Chong 2014) are still debatable and seemingly confusing, considering the similarities between them. A majority of prior studies use these terms interchangeably or even fail to provide definition for the concept (Huston 2010). Despite many attempts by different scholars and practitioners to define financial literacy, there is no consensus definition for the term. Likewise, there seems to be no common ground for the operationalisation and measurement of financial literacy.

The President's Advisory Council on Financial Literacy, also known as Jump\$tart Coalition for Personal Financial Literacy to some, define financial literacy as "the ability to use knowledge and skills to manage financial resources effectively for a lifetime of financial well-being" (President's Advisory Council on Financial Literacy (PACFL) 2008, 7), wherein this definition is later adopted by the US government (Huston 2010). Meanwhile, in Canada, financial literacy represents "having the knowledge, skills and confidence to make responsible financial decisions" (Task Force on Financial Literacy 2011, 4). On the other hand, the OECD defines the term as "knowledge and understanding of financial concepts and risks, and the skills, motivation and confidence to apply such knowledge and understanding in order to make effective decisions across a range of financial contexts, to improve financial well-being of individuals and society, and to enable participation in economic life" (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 2017b, 87). Still others, such as Lusardi and Mitchell (2014) define financial literacy as people's ability to process economic information and make informed personal financial decisions. From the multitude of definitions, it is apparent that the existing financial literacy definitions encompass varying elements, such as knowledge, skills and confidence.

Following that, a few studies have attempted to examine the commonality among existing definitions and explicate the concept of financial literacy through detailed review of related literature. Based upon a review of studies from 2000 to 2010, Remund (2010) proposes that "financial literacy is a measure of the degree to which one understands key financial concepts and possesses the ability and confidence to manage personal finances through appropriate, short-term decision-making and sound, long-range financial planning, while mindful of life events and changing economic conditions" (285). Likewise, Huston (2010), after reviewing 71 studies on financial literacy, conceptualises financial literacy as having two different dimensions, namely understanding and use of financial information. With that, she further concludes that financial literacy could be defined as how well one can understand and use personal finance-related information. Following the literature review, this study adopts the view of Huston (2010) to define financial literacy as financial knowledge (understanding) and the application of financial knowledge (use). Reason being that this definition is not in contradiction to existing financial literacy definition in the literature and is generally in consonant with standardised literacy constructs (Huston 2010). This definition is also adopted by Jia et al. (2019) in studying portfolio choice. Altman (2012) similarly deduces that financial literacy is the knowledge and skills set that enable individuals to make effective financial decisions. More importantly, it aligns with the key tenets within IMB model that information concept involve accurate information which is directly relevant to targeted behaviour and can be readily

translated into the performance of the behaviour (Fisher et al. 2006).

With the rapid growth of new and complicated financial products, including savings, investment, retirement funds, credit card, loans, and insurance, individuals are increasingly thrusted with the responsibilities to make important financial decisions. Nonetheless, prior studies indicate that financial illiteracy is widespread in both developed and emerging countries alike. Using data from the US, Lusardi and Mitchell (2011a) show that majority of the respondents lack of basic financial knowledge whereby most cannot perform simple interest-rate calculations and are unfamiliar with the concepts of inflation and risk diversification. Moreover, Lusardi (2015) also documents low level of advanced financial literacy involving more complicated financial concepts such as bonds, stocks and mutual funds. Similarly in the UK, financial capability baseline survey indicates that 40% of those with stocks and shares are unaware of their exposure to the stock market risk, 70% make no provision for sudden drop in income and are generally poor at financial planning (Financial Services Authority 2006). Findings of widespread low financial literacy are also documented in studies from other countries including emerging countries such as the OECD or OECD-partner countries, European countries, Russia, Australia and Japan (Bucher-Koenen and Lusardi 2011; Klapper and Panos 2011; Lusardi and Mitchell 2011b; Atkinson and Messy 2012; Bumcrot, Lin and Lusardi 2013). Additionally, some studies further discover a lower level of financial literacy in emerging markets as compared to developed countries (Cole, Sampson and Zia 2011; Klapper and Panos 2011; Beckmann 2013).

Likewise, several studies also investigate the financial literacy level in Malaysia. Counterintuitively, findings from majority of the studies indicate a moderate literacy level. Ali, Rahman, and Bakar (2015), in a study of working adults attending a financial programme, report a moderately high basic financial literacy level at 66.7%. In the same manner, Janor et al. (2016) record an average score of 51% and similarly, Atkinson and Messy (2012) also report 51% of knowledge score in a pilot survey by OECD, both indicating moderate level of basic financial literacy in Malaysia. Several other studies further assess advanced financial concepts covering knowledge on investment products and financial market. With sample comprising young employees,
Sabri and Zakaria (2015) indicate that a high percentage of respondents (64%) score a moderate level of financial literacy. The finding is similar with Khan, Tan, and Gan (2019) and Boon, Yee, and Ting (2011) which report a medium level of financial literacy, respectively. Still others, such as Loke (2015), Boon, Yee, and Ting (2011) and Kimiyaghalam and Yap (2017) further claim that individuals generally show a lower level of advanced financial literacy as compared to basic financial literacy. Particularly for advanced financial concepts, prior research findings reveal that many of the respondents do not possess adequate understanding on risks and investment (Mokhtar et al. 2018) and are relatively weak in knowledge relating to investments and financial market (Loke 2015), function of bonds and stocks and diversification (Kimiyaghalam and Yap 2017). In contrasts, there are relatively few studies that document low financial literacy score in Malaysia (Ibrahim, Harun and Isa 2010; Sabri and MacDonald 2010; Yew et al. 2017).

While the above-mentioned body of research mostly indicates a moderate level of financial literacy in Malaysia, it is note-worthy that these studies differ in the measures of financial literacy, hence comparison between results should be taken with cautious interpretations. Furthermore, these existing studies only target on specific groups of the Malaysian population such as college students (Ibrahim, Harun and Isa 2010; Sabri and MacDonald 2010; Yew et al. 2017), government officers (Tan and Singaravelloo 2019), women civil servants (Sabri and Juen 2014), young employees (Idris, Krishnan and Azmi 2013; Sabri and Zakaria 2015), Gen Y (Khan, Tan and Gan 2019); are mostly conducted in Peninsular Malaysia only, including center zone of Peninsular Malaysia (Sabri and Zakaria 2015), Klang Valley (Boon, Yee and Ting 2011; Loke 2015; Kimiyaghalam and Yap 2017), Penang (Loke 2015); and only consider basic financial concepts where knowledge on investment products such as stocks and bonds are disregarded (Ali, Rahman and Bakar 2015; Janor et al. 2016). As the study by Ali, Rahman, and Bakar (2015) covers both West and East Malaysia, it does not explore advanced financial literacy. Whereas another study by Khan, Tan, and Gan (2019) covers advanced knowledge relating to investment, yet the sample only includes Gen Y. From the plethora of studies available, it appears that research on basic and advanced financial literacy among general population covering both West and East Malaysia are largely missing. Hence, this study gauging both basic and advanced financial literacy, targeting population from both West and East Malaysia is expected to fill the existing gap and provide more comprehensive insight into the financial literacy level in Malaysia.

3.4.1.2 Advice-seeking

Another alternate way of dealing with complex financial products is to delegate the decision to professional financial advisors. As defined by Cruciani (2017), financial advisor is characterised by someone who offers professional advice pertaining to financial matters to individuals, in exchange for a specified remuneration. By professional, it means that financial advisors are licensed through fulfilling specific qualification requirements and obligations that are regulated (Cruciani 2017), thereby authorising them to provide advice and sell financial products. Generally, financial advisors work within controlled licensees such multi-business financial institutions, banks, insurance companies (Taylor 2017) to advise individuals on financial concepts and products. The extent to which individuals demand for advice determines the influence of financial advisors exerts on individuals' financial decisions. In particular, individuals who rely on financial advice can choose to consult financial advisors before they make decisions, or to delegate all of their decisions to their financial advisors (Stolper 2018), both at an affordable fee.

With the growing array of advanced and complicated financial products, the role of financial advisors in providing professional and comprehensive financial information has become increasingly vital. While individuals who are less financially literate may rely on financial advisors as substitution for autonomous investment, financial sophisticated individuals may seek advice as another information source before they make decisions (Stolper 2018). Additionally, prior studies show that seeking advice from financial advisors is advantageous towards investment portfolio. Particularly, individuals who rely on professionals for financial advice often achieve reasonable investment outcomes (Von Gaudecker 2015), exhibit less disposition effect bias (Shapira and Venezia 2001) and have portfolio that are better diversified with less idiosyncratic risk (Kramer 2012). Given the great relevance of financial advice for financial advisors as part of the interventions to effectively disseminate financial

information.

Despite emerging literature revolving the influence of advice-seeking, several gaps are identified. To date, the empirical evidence as to whether financial advice is able to substitute for financial literacy remains inconclusive. For financial advice to serve as a substitute for financial literacy, the condition must first be fulfilled that individuals who are less financially literate must seek advice from professional financial advisors. Since low financial literacy individuals face more difficulty in comprehending complicated financial products (Hung and Yoong 2010), seeking financial advice may help alleviate the issue rather than acquiring financial literacy. However, as highlighted by Stolper and Walter (2017), the relationship between financial literacy and financial advice is hitherto inconsistent and ambiguous.

Some studies clearly point towards a substitutability of financial literacy and financial advice. For instance, Disney, Gathergood, and Weber (2015) investigate the demand of financial advice in terms of credit counselling by the indebted individuals in the UK and report that advice serves as a good substitute for financial literacy. Likewise, Hung and Yoong (2010) support the view of substitutability as they document that individuals with lower financial literacy level are more likely to approach financial advisors in the US. These findings are reaffirmed by Chalmers and Reuter (2012) who show that younger, lower educational level and lower income university employees are more likely to seek financial advice on retirement planning. That is, those who are economically vulnerable and financially disadvantaged due to a lack of financial knowledge are more likely to demand for financial advice. Hence, the empirical evidence supports that financial advice and financial literacy are substitutes.

On the other hand, various other studies find contradictory evidence and argue about the complementary relationship between the two constructs instead. Calcagno and Monticone (2015) claim that individuals with lower financial literacy are less likely to seek financial advice, arguing that financial advisors cannot substitute the role of financial literacy in financial decision making. Often, people who choose to obtain advice are among the most financially competent (Bhattacharya et al. 2012) or investment competent individuals (Bachmann and Hens 2015) and older, wealthier, more experienced individuals, instead of poorer and uninformed ones (Hackethal, Haliassos and Jappelli 2012). In the same vein, studies show that households with low financial literacy tend to rely on informal source of information such as family and friends, whereas households with higher financial literacy are more likely to seek information from professional financial advisors in both retirement planning (Lusardi and Mitchell 2011a) and SMP (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011). Furthermore, not only the less informed individuals receive less financial information from advisor as compared to those who are more experienced (Bucher-Koenen and Lusardi 2011; Calcagno and Monticone 2015), it seems that they are also relatively undervaluing financial advice (Chauhan and Dey 2020). As noted by Pan, Wu, and Zhang (2020), the influence of financial advice is concentrated on those with higher financial literacy, thereby suggesting that those lacking financial literacy are unable to comprehend financial advice. Similarly, drawing on the data from 2009 FINRA Financial Capability Survey in the US, Collins (2012) argues that professional advice is more of a complement to financial competency instead of a substitute. To sum up, financial advice does not reach those who need it the most, thus refuting its role as a financial literacy substitute. Meanwhile, Kramer (2012) find no relationship between financial literacy and advice seeking.

In addition to the inconclusive findings, existing research on financial advisors and their influence are mainly based upon data from developed countries including the US, the UK., New Zealand, Germany, the Netherlands, Italy or the European region. Different from the well-established financial markets in developed or western countries, the advisory system of financial industry in emerging countries are less sophisticated and relatively new (Chu et al. 2017). As such, these findings may not generalise in the context of Asian developing countries including Malaysia.

Collectively speaking, prior literature yields inconclusive findings and mostly focuses on developing markets, which warrant further investigation. The question on the adequacy for one to seek financial advice rather than enhance own financial literacy remains open. By filling the abovementioned identified gaps, this study may contribute to the literature on the substitutability versus the complementarity of financial literacy and financial advice. More importantly, in the context of policy making, it is less resource-intensive and time-consuming to increase financial advice as compared to enhance financial literacy nationwide (Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020). The intervention effort should focus on supplying quality and affordable financial advice if financial advice can in itself increase stock market participation (Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020). Besides, this study may supplement the existing literature by providing evidence from a developing country, while at the same time revealing the current state of Malaysia's advisory industry.

3.4.2 Investment Motivation

Other than information, the IMB model also asserts that one must be highly motivated to initiate and maintain health behaviours (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Motivation, as framed by the IMB model, comprises two forms: personal and social with both levels of motivation being driven differently. In relative to the personal motivation, it is based upon individuals' perspective that the behaviour will lead to outcome that is beneficial and rewarding to oneself. As for social level, motivation is based on: (1) individuals' perception that their significant others are supportive towards investing in risky assets; (2) perception of what their significant others do regarding risky assets investment; and (3) individuals' motivation to behave in accordance to them.

In the context of this study, personal motivation is conceptualised by attitude towards investing and personal values. Specifically, an individual's personal motivation to invest in risky assets is determined by their feelings on whether investing in risky assets is beneficial and by their personal values that influences how they value risky assets investment. On the other hand, at the social level, social norm acts as crucial motivation to facilitate the engagement in investing behaviour. Social motivation is based on individuals' perception of risky assets investment by their significant others, perception of what their significant others think should be done regarding risky assets investment and individuals' motivation to behave in accordance to them.

To sum up, in this study, investment motivation consists of three variables, which are (1) attitude towards investing; (2) personal values; and (3) social norm. Based upon the extended IMB model, individuals tend to have higher motivation to invest in risky

assets as their attitude towards investing in risky assets becomes more positive, are equipped with higher value priorities associated with investing and their significant others provide greater social support for investing in these assets. Consequently, they are more likely to participate and invest a higher amount in risky assets investment. An introduction of the three variables are provided in the subsequent sections.

3.4.2.1 Attitude Towards Investing

The conceptualisation of the motivational construct in the IMB model is based upon two elements adopted from Fishbein and Ajzen (1975)'s theory of reasoned action (TRA), which includes individuals' attitude towards behaviour (representing personal motivation) and behaviour-related social norm (representing social motivation). Fishbein and Ajzen (1975) initially classify attitude into two components namely attitude towards the object and attitude towards specific behaviour. The construct of attitude was later included in the TPB where it refers only to attitude towards the behaviour, instead of attitude towards the object (Ajzen 1991; Yuzhanin and Fisher 2016). Similarly, as the IMB model was first introduced, attitude refers only to one's attitude towards performing the act in question. Hence, rather than assessing attitude towards risky assets (object), this study focuses only on attitude towards investing in risky assets (behaviour).

Specifically, attitude towards the behaviour is defined as the perceived consequences of performing the behaviour and the subjective evaluation of the consequences (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975). It is the extent to which one has a favourable or unfavourable evaluation or appraisal of the targeted behaviour (Ajzen 1991). Likewise, from an IMB model perspective, Fisher, Fisher, and Harman (2003) states that attitude towards behaviour is based upon one's perceptions of the outcome of behaviour and evaluations of such outcomes. Positive attitudes are formed as individuals positively evaluates salient attributes related to the behaviour under investigation (Ajzen 1991). Articulated to the context of this study, attitude towards investing in risky assets refers to one's perceptions of the outcome of investing in risky assets would improve my wealth) and one's evaluation of these outcome (e.g. wealth accumulation is important to me).

3.4.2.2 Personal Values

The theory of basic values is also known as theory of basic human values, theory of human motivation or motivational types of values (Schwartz 2012). Values, as defined by Schwartz (1992), are concepts pertaining to desirable, trans-situational goals, varying in importance, that serve as guiding principles of actions or behaviour, in the life of a person or other social entities. This study focuses on the two-dimensional structure of personal values, which are Openness to change versus Conservation and Self-enhancement versus Self-transcendence dimension. A detailed discussion of the theory of basic values and definitions of each values are provided in Section 3.3.3.

As mentioned earlier, this study includes personal values in the original IMB model as an additional component to the motivation construct. According to Schwartz, Sagiv, and Boehnke (2000), these highly prioritised values steer individuals to go in pursuit of value-relevant aspect of a situation (Schwartz, Sagiv and Boehnke 2000). In other words, individuals are likely to engage in behaviour that aligns their values and avoid any actions contradicting to their values in situation where the values are relevant (Schwartz 2012).

Although there also exists a number of different concepts in assessing individual-level values, such as the Rokeach's values model (Rokeach 1973), basic values of the Chinese (East Asian) culture (Chinese Culture Connection 1987), Schwartz's basic values (Schwartz 1992) and functional theory of human values (Gouveia, Milfont and Guerra 2014b), the Schwartz's values model is deemed as the theory on values that is most comprehensively elaborated, empirically grounded and widely used (Cieciuch, Schwartz and Vecchione 2013) by a large number of studies across different societies (Ralston, Russell and Egri 2018). Notwithstanding the differences between these concepts, there is a unanimous consensus that values guide individuals' behaviour and actions (Rokeach 1973; Schwartz 1992; Gouveia, Milfont and Guerra 2014b).

3.4.2.3 Social Norm

Social norm is the perception of social pressures or social support to perform or not to perform a behaviour (Ajzen 1991; Fisher and Fisher 1992). It is what individuals in some group perceive to be normal in their social group, that is, believed to be either a

typical behaviour, an appropriate behaviour, or both (Paluck and Ball 2010). It may influence and force one to perform a certain behaviour because most of those in the social group of the individual engage in that behaviour and one may feel isolated or belittled for not doing so. The influence of the social environment is greater in situation whereby the participation of a specific behaviour leads to rewards or punishment by the given significant others of the individual (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975). Significant others, also known as referent to some researchers, are the group of people whose opinion and expectation matters to the individual, those to whom the individual refers to (Mackie et al. 2015).

The same conceptualisation is also employed by well-known theories including TRA, theory of planned behaviour (TPB), reasoned action approach (RAA) and extended technology acceptance model (TAM2). As IMB model adopts the social norm construct from TRA, the conceptual definition follows that of referred by the TRA. It is posited that individuals' motivation is influenced by perceived normative support from significant others such as family and friends for performing such acts (normative belief), and individuals' motivation to comply with such referents (motivation to comply) (Fisher and Fisher 1992).

However, Fishbein and Ajzen (2011) recently claim that the initial conceptualisation of normative belief represents only one source of social pressure. In contrast with the previous formulation of normative belief, which refers only to injunctive norms, they introduce an additional component: the descriptive norms. In particular, injunctive norm refers to the perception of what important others would approve or disapprove in regard to the behaviour, while descriptive norm is the perception that important others are or are not performing the behaviour (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011; Ajzen 2015). With the addition of descriptive norm, the construct accounts for the total social pressure one experience when engaging in the targeted behaviour. This definition is similar with the work by Cialdini and colleagues (Cialdini, Reno and Kallgren 1990; Cialdini et al. 2006; Goldstein, Cialdini and Griskevicius 2008), who also refer social norm as individual's belief about what others in one's group do (descriptive norms) and what they approve or disapprove (injunctive norms). Taken together, this study defines social norm to invest as individuals' perception of social support to invest in risky assets. Guided by the latest concept of social norm by Fishbein and Ajzen (2011), the current study operationalises social norm as encompassing three main elements: (1) individuals' perception that their significant others are supportive towards investing in risky assets; (2) perception of what their significant others do regarding risky assets investment; and (3) individuals' motivation to behave in accordance to them.

3.4.3 Investment Behavioural Skills

Other than information and motivation, the IMB model posits that behavioural skills are influential to the performance of targeted behaviour. Articulated to the context of investing, behavioural skills for the engagement of risky assets investment are an additional critical determinant of whether well-informed and well-motivated individuals will invest in risky assets. Within the existing IMB model literature, behavioural skills component is most frequently represented by one's sense of self-efficacy pertaining to the performance of targeted behaviour (Glasford 2008; Bazargan et al. 2010; Senn et al. 2010; Fisher 2011; Zhang et al. 2011; Fisher 2012; Eggers et al. 2014; Pitpitan et al. 2015; John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017; Limbu 2017). As guided by the model and empirical studies, the construct of behavioural skills is thus represented by financial self-efficacy (FSE) in this study. The subsequent section provides an introduction on FSE.

3.4.3.1 Financial Self-efficacy

Self-efficacy, in general, is defined as individuals' beliefs in their capability to accomplish a given task required for achieving a goal (Bandura 1997). That is, one's perceived ability to perform a particular behaviour. It is related to one's personal control over the behaviour which dictates if a person focuses on potential failure instead of success (Bandura and Wood 1989). As such, the perception of self-efficacy is crucial in determining how an individual approaches challenge. As noted by Bandura (1997), those with higher level of self-efficacy are more likely to accept rather than avoid challenges. They tend to engage in that behaviour, have greater goal-setting, cope with adversity, resilient in the face of barriers, recover from setbacks,

demonstrate a positive valuation of the duty at hand and be less susceptible to negative psychological consequences such as stress, anxiety, depression induced by negative events (Bandura 2001).

Self-efficacy can be exhibited through distinct and diverse range of behaviours. Yet, it is not a global trait because it differs across distinct domains of functioning (Bandura 2006). For instance, one may have a high computer self-efficacy but low cooking selfefficacy. For these reasons, individuals' perception of particular abilities needs to be assessed separately from other abilities' perception. The concept of self-efficacy in the domain of personal finance is relatively new. Most frequently referred to as financial self-efficacy (FSE), it is defined as the belief in one's capability in achieving one's ultimate financial goals (Forbes and Kara 2010). In the same vein, some scholars refer FSE as "individual's sense of their capacity to successfully manage their finances and accomplish their financial goals" (Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016, 86) or the "confidence that individual financial consumers require to use the formal financial services available to them to make their lives better" (Mindra et al. 2017, 339). Individuals with higher FSE perceive themselves as capable of controlling and managing their financial situation, regardless of their actual control over their finances in reality (Asebedo and Payne 2019). Based upon the literature reviewed, this study defines FSE in risky assets investment as individuals' beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets for achieving their financial goals.

3.5 Conceptual Framework

Figure 3.3 presents the conceptual framework developed and examined in this study. It depicts the proposed relationship among financial information, investment motivation, investment behavioural skills and risky assets investment. As shown, risky assets investment is influenced by financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills. Additionally, investment behavioural skills are influenced by financial information and investment motivation; while investment behavioural skills mediate the influences of financial information and investment motivation on risky assets investment. The relationships between variables in the conceptual framework are proposed based on: (1) theoretical grounding through the

integration of IMB model and theory of basic values as discussed in the previous section; and (2) the empirical evidence which are presented in the subsequent sections.



Figure 3.3 Conceptual Framework

3.6 Hypotheses Development

The main focus of this study is to examine the determinants of risky assets investment. The variables of this study are selected based upon the constructs in the extended IMB model. The hypotheses are framed from the combined perspective of both IMB model and theory of basic values, and formulated based on the interrelationship of the constructs postulated by the model. In addition to theoretical support, this study also considers prior empirical studies to tailor the hypotheses to the financial context. To establish justification for the proposed relationships, the following sections review the theoretical and empirical evidence relevant to informational, motivational and behavioural skills as the potential determinants of risky assets investment. Nonetheless, in aspects where there is a lack of past studies, reference will also be made to evidence from reviews on other desirable human behaviours, given the similarities between these desirable behaviours in general. This section first establishes the potential direct relationship between all the variables (13 hypotheses), followed by the indirect (mediating) effect of FSE (6 hypotheses).

3.6.1 Financial Information on Risky Assets (H1a-H2a)

The IMB model provides support for the positive relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment. Specifically, the model posits that information relevant to the participation of a targeted behaviour is influential to the consistent performance of such behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992). In the same manner, this study proposes, in accordance with the IMB model, that higher level of financial literacy leads to higher risky assets investment. That is, the degree to which one understands and uses personal finance-related information can exert a positive influence on the proportion of his/her risky assets investment. When individuals are equipped with sufficient knowledge and information regarding the financial market, they are capable of making rational assets allocation decisions to which eventually expand their short term and long-term wealth (Hamada, Sherris and Van der Hoek 2006).

Besides theoretical justification, empirical studies also support the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment. A great deal of studies examines the influence of financial literacy on financial behaviour. In particular, financial literacy has been linked to desirable financial behaviour, for instance, the use of sophisticated financial products (Grohmann 2018), participation in insurance (Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017), participation in derivatives market (Hsiao and Tsai 2018), better retirement planning (Lusardi and Mitchell 2007; Bucher-Koenen and Lusardi 2011; Lusardi and Mitchell 2011a; Agnew, Bateman and Thorp 2013; Boisclair, Lusardi and Michaud 2017), better savings account returns (Deuflhard, Georgarakos and Inderst 2018), wealth accumulation (Jappelli and Padula 2013), financial well-being (Xue et al. 2019), better debt management (Lusardi and Tufano 2015), among others. By the same token, studies focusing on emerging countries also demonstrate a positive relationship between financial literacy and financial behaviour, such as increased savings (Mahdzan and Tabiani 2013), better retirement planning (Klapper and Panos 2011; Yoong, See and Baronovich 2012; Tan and Singaravelloo 2019; Niu, Zhou and Gan 2020), use of financial services and products (Cole, Sampson and Zia 2011), positive investment decision (Janor et al. 2016), better financial planning (Boon, Yee and Ting 2011; Agarwal et al. 2015; Ali, Rahman and Bakar 2015), reduced financial distress (Idris, Krishnan and Azmi 2013), greater financial well-being (Sabri 2011) and greater use of formal sources of borrowing (Klapper, Lusardi and Panos 2013).

Likewise, a substantial body of empirical research on the relationship between financial literacy and asset allocation in different countries show similar results. Hilgert, Hogarth, and Beverly (2003) demonstrate that higher financial literacy is associated with diversified portfolio. By using the 1997 National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, Letkiewicz and Fox (2014) examine the relationship between the financial literacy and asset allocation in the US. The results indicate that one-standard-deviation increment in financial literacy is correlated with a 60% increase in illiquid asset holdings and a 30% increase in liquid asset holdings, thereby validating the positive influence of financial literacy on individuals' savings and asset-building. Abreu and Mendes (2010), in a study of individual investors as disclosed by the Portuguese Securities Commission (CMVM), and Von Gaudecker (2015) using data from the Dutch household survey CentERpanel consistently claim that financial literacy is positively related to the degree of portfolio diversification. In the same vein, prior studies also examine the financial literacy level and portfolio diversification in Singapore (Koh, Mitchell and Rohwedder 2018) and Tunisia (Mouna and Anis 2015), whereby findings also show that individuals with higher financial literacy level tend to hold more diversified and complex portfolios. Putting these together, a higher level of financial literacy contributes to a higher level of asset diversification.

As for individuals' decision on whether to hold risky assets, Van Rooij, Lusardi, and Alessie (2011) concur that financial literacy increases the likelihood of stock market investment and those who have low financial literacy are significantly less likely to invest directly or indirectly in stocks. Likewise, Xia, Wang, and Li (2014), with data from a nationwide online household consumption and finance survey in China, present a positive association between financial literacy and SMP. Using the data from the 2014 Chinese Survey of Consumer Finance, Chu et al. (2017) also find that individuals with higher financial literacy are more likely to engage in stocks and mutual funds investment. In the Tunisian context, Mouna and Anis (2017) examine the implication of financial literacy on investment behaviour and report that a low financial literacy level is associated with a lower likelihood of SMP. It is due to the limited investment knowledge and skills that non-participating household tend to withdraw from investing in risky markets (Campbell 2006). As for allocation in risky assets investment, Cardak and Wilkins (2009) indicate that low risky assets holdings is associated with a lack of financial literacy. Besides, Clark, Lusardi, and Mitchell (2017) and Mahdzan, Mohd-Any, and Chan (2017) identify that those who have adequate financial knowledge have a higher retirement portfolio allocation in stocks than their less knowledgeable counterparts. Similarly, Cupák et al. (2020), Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava, and Rastogi (2017), Liao et al. (2017) and Jia et al. (2019) find that individuals with higher financial literacy hold a larger proportion of risky financial assets. Likewise, Balloch, Nicolae, and Philip (2014) document a highly significant and positive relationship between stock market literacy and the proportion of wealth invested in stock market.

On the other hand, there are seemingly contradictory findings in the literature. Among the urban middle-class population in a developing Asian country, Grohmann (2018) find no support for the expected positive link between financial literacy and stock market participation. Similarly, Arrondel, Debbich, and Savignac (2015) reveal that basic financial literacy is non-significant in explaining the proportion of risky assets among investors. Some studies indicate that improvement in financial literacy have weak and minimal effect on financial behaviour (Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014; Cole, Paulson and Shastry 2016). These studies collectively point towards the insignificance of financial literacy in explaining their financial decision. As noted by Chu et al. (2017), there is a competing perspective on portfolio choice based on the

famous saying that "the more wit, the less courage", whereby individuals with a higher financial literacy are actually more careful about their direct investment in stocks. Likewise, it is possible that some individuals do not understand the financial market and its potential risks, thus participate naively and aggressively in the risky assets market to earn a higher return. For instance, there are 40% of individuals in the UK who invest in stocks and shares but are unaware of the risk involved (Financial Services Authority 2006). Von Gaudecker (2015) also documents that individuals with below-median financial literacy yet trust their own capability in decision-making tend to invest in stocks and lose an expected 50 basis point averagely.

Given the inconclusive findings on the role of financial literacy in financial behaviour, there is a pressing need to further investigate more evidence for the influence of financial literacy. Moreover, as highlighted by Balloch, Nicolae, and Philip (2014), the mechanism through which financial literacy affects stock ownership decisions is still unclear. Considering financial literacy alongside with other psychological factors unravel fresh perspective that may bear important implication on current policies and intervention which heavily focused on financial literacy. Based on the theoretical support and empirical evidence, this study takes the strand that a higher level of financial literacy leads to a higher proportion of risky assets. Hence, the following hypothesis is proposed:

H1a: Financial literacy positively influences risky assets investment.

The IMB model also provides justification for the positive relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment. As mentioned, the model predicts that information relevant to the participation of a targeted behaviour is influential to the performing of behaviour. When investing in risky assets, individuals who seek advice from financial advisors tend to receive financial information relevant to investing. Hence, based upon the theoretical model, this study posits that seeking personal finance-related information from financial advisors can have a positive influence on the proportion of risky assets investment.

In terms of the empirical evidence pertaining to the influence of financial advice on

asset allocation, the literature is rather limited and inconclusive. As noted by Mullainathan, Noeth, and Schoar (2012), individuals who receive financial advice are more likely to invest in assets with higher risks such as equity and property related assets. Likewise, using proprietary dataset for KiwiSaver in the New Zealand, Zhang (2014) demonstrates that advised investors hold a significantly lower proportion of cash and a higher proportion of equity assets. The author derives a significant and positive relationship between financial advice and risky assets as those who seek advice invest riskier assets as compared to non-advice seekers. When individuals rely on financial advisors, it enables them to consistently learn from credible sources, thereby promoting higher allocation in risky assets investment (Bachmann and Hens 2015).

In contrast, some researchers offer contradicting views regarding the effect of financial advice on the level of risky assets investment. Using data from the Netherlands, Kramer (2012) argues that individuals who seek financial advice hold substantially less equity and more fixed income securities. On the other hand, Abreu and Mendes (2010) show that the extent of portfolio diversification are similar for those who seek information and do not seek information from professionals. The similar finding is reaffirmed by Karabulut (2013) who report that financial advice does not affect stock market participation and Zhang et al. (2018) who claim that financial advice has a rather negligible impact on asset allocation.

Given the contradicting views on both the role of financial advisors and its substitutability with financial literacy as another channel of financial information, it necessitates further research to close the identified gap. The findings may inform the potential effect of financial advice on investment, at the same time, to gauge if financial advice is a good substitute for financial literacy. Guided by theoretical perspective of the IMB model and empirical justification, this study takes the notion that financial advice leads to a higher exposure of financial information which eventually increases the proportion of risky assets investment. Therefore, this study proposes the following hypothesis:

H2a: Advice-seeking positively influences risky assets investment.

3.6.2 Investment Motivation on Risky Assets (H3a-H6a)

Other than informational factors, the IMB model also predicts that behaviour is directly influenced by motivational determinants. In the current study, motivational factors consist of personal motivation and social motivation. Specifically, personal motivation involves attitude towards investing in risky assets and personal values; whereas social motivation is represented by social norm. As such, the IMB model provides theoretical justification for the relationship between these constructs and risky assets investment.

Attitude towards investing in risky assets is the first component representing motivation construct in the IMB model. In particular, the model offers support for the positive relationship between attitude towards investing in risky assets and risky assets investment. Based upon the theoretical model, attitude towards a behaviour represents an individual's personal motivation to perform that behaviour such that favourable attitude is influential towards the performance of such behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Guided by the theoretical model, this study posits that when individual's attitude towards investing in risky assets – perceptions of the outcome of investing in risky assets and evaluation of these outcome become more positive, they are more motivated to invest in risky assets, and hence more likely to engage in risky assets investment. A high motivation level and positive attitude towards investing is based on the belief that one can successfully participate in investing and that the outcome of investing will be rewarding to oneself. If individuals believe that investing in risky assets is unsafe or too risky and evaluates the consequences as negative, they might have negative attitude towards investing in risky assets, and as a result withdraw from investing.

Despite the plethora of research on the well-established attitude – behaviour link (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011), it is surprising that the relationship between these two constructs are rarely tested in the domain of financial and economic behavioural studies (Fünfgeld and Wang 2009; Phan, Rieger and Wang 2019), let alone investing in risky assets. The limited research may be attributed to the reason that behavioural

economics has only gained attention in recent years (Thaler 2016). In the domain of financial behaviour, the literature often revolves around attitude-related constructs such as risk attitude or financial attitude, rather than specifically on individuals' attitude towards investing in risky assets.

Risk attitude, also known as risk tolerance, is the maximum amount of uncertainty an individual is willing to accept when engaging in financial decisions in which the outcome is uncertain (Grable and Joo 2004). As such, the construct represents individuals' attitude towards financial risk. Studies indicate that risk tolerance is crucial in explaining individuals' financial behaviour, including wealth accumulation, retirement planning, portfolio allocation, insurance and investment decisions (Hanna, Gutter and Fan 2001). As individuals' attitude towards financial risk becomes more positive, it seems that they are also more receptive towards assets with higher risk. The positive relationship is further supported by empirical studies on risk tolerance and risky assets. Specifically, individuals with higher risk tolerance tend to invest a higher proportion of risky assets (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Duasa and Yusof 2013; Agarwal et al. 2015) and are more likely to participate in the stock market (Xia, Wang and Li 2014) (Rosen and Wu 2004; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Rahim, Jusoh and Samad 2012).

This study is also aware of several other studies involving attitude-related constructs. For instance, Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava, and Rastogi (2017) indicate the intention to invest in risky assets is affected by the attitude to investment behaviour which includes three first-order constructs namely risk avoidance, hassle factor and perception of regulator. These findings corroborated with Lim et al. (2018), where the authors argue that attitude towards financial investment is related to intention to invest. In the same vein, Khan, Tan, and Chong (2017) claim that positive belief about their investment lead to higher risk taking and risky assets allocation. Other than that, Arceo-Gomez and Villagomez (2017) espouse that positive financial attitude is significantly related to positive financial behaviour, where the former represents attitude towards money and future, and the latter represents saving behaviour. The significant role of attitude is also noted by Muradoglu and Harvey (2012) as their findings illustrate that attitude towards credit is positively related to the use of credit

card or point-of-sale lending. Putting these together, one may induce that positive attitude towards investing in risky assets leads to engagement in risky assets investment based upon the strong evidence of attitude – behaviour link in other domain, combined with the empirical studies in the attitude-related constructs within the financial context.

These limited research in relevance to attitude not only define the term differently, these terms are also measured on a rather broad and general level. As mentioned earlier, the construct of attitude in the theoretical framework (of TPB and IMB model) should refer only to attitude towards the behaviour, instead of attitude towards the object (Ajzen 1991; Fisher and Fisher 2002; Yuzhanin and Fisher 2016). Yet some of the abovementioned studies focus on attitude towards object such as money, financial investment or credit (Muradoglu and Harvey 2012; Arceo-Gomez and Villagomez 2017; Lim et al. 2018). Additionally, general attitudes focus merely on the target element without specifying the particular behaviour or context (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011). Based on the IMB model, the conceptualisation of attitudes should be specifically relevant to the domain or behaviour of interest (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Fishbein and Ajzen (2011) have similarly highlighted that attitude should be treated as a specific construct in respect to the behaviour, rather than a general construct. Broad construct such as risk attitude or financial attitude may only be considered as background factor wherein its influence on behaviour may or may not exist (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011).

By and large, there are limited empirical studies that operationalise the hitherto unexplored construct – attitude towards investing in risky assets, and much lesser that elucidate the attitude – behaviour link in the domain of risky assets investment. Given the centrality of attitudes to a variety of behaviour, coupled with its proven relevance within the field of social science (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011) and the noticeable literature gaps, there is a pressing need for detailed assessment on the relationship between attitude towards investing in risky assets and the targeted behaviour – risky assets investment. Demonstrated by theoretical framework and prior related empirical studies, this study argues that one's attitude towards investing in risky assets is likely to increase his/her risky assets investment. Therefore, the following hypothesis is suggested:

H3a: Attitude towards investing positively influences risky assets investment.

The theory of basic values is also known as theory of basic human values, theory of human motivation or motivational types of values (Schwartz 2012). The current study integrates IMB model and theory of basic values, whereby the two-dimensional personal values of conservation and self-transcendence represent the second aspect of motivation construct in the IMB model. Building on the theoretical relationship posited by the IMB model, personal values as part of the motivation construct, comprise one's personal motivation to engage in the targeted behaviour such that these value priorities are influential to the performance of the behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992).

Prior empirical research also examine the relationship between theory of basic values and a wide range of behaviour. Bardi and Schwartz (2003) examine the valuebehaviour relations using three types of studies including self-rating, partner rating and peer rating of behaviour, and conclude that most values and their corresponding behaviours are significantly correlated. Prior studies also reveal the importance of the motivational type personal values in both general and specific behaviours. For instance, Schwartz and Butenko (2014) find linkage between each value and everyday behaviours. Likewise, the role of personal values are also validated in behaviours that are more specific including food choice (De Boer, Hoogland and Boersema 2007; Botonaki and Mattas 2010; Kitsawad and Guinard 2014), organic food purchase (Krystallis, Vassallo and Chryssohoidis 2012) and sustainable consumption (Thøgersen and Ölander 2002; Sharma and Jha 2017), among others. Furthermore, scholarly studies also offer validation for the association between these values and a widely varying behaviours such as purchasing behaviour (Krystallis, Vassallo and Chryssohoidis 2012), social entrepreneurial intention (Kruse et al. 2019), interpersonal violent or delinquent behaviour (Bilsky and Hermann 2016; Borg, Hermann and Bilsky 2017; Seddig and Davidov 2018), political choice (Caprara et al. 2006) and mate retention behaviours (Lopes, Sela and Shackelford 2017). There also exists study that assesses a single aspect of personal values such as Blekesaune (2015) who reviews

the extent of Schwartz's self-enhancement values in explaining retirement behaviour. His findings suggest that achievement and hedonism discourage disability retirement. As a whole, these studies validate the robustness of the values taxonomy and its ability in adapting itself to different human behavioural contexts.

Despite the well-established values taxonomy and its role having been identified as a source of explanation for behaviour, the influence of theory of basic values on financial behaviour has received relatively scant attention. Several existing studies in the financial context take on a general human value approach or some closely related concepts in exploring the value-behaviour link. Using individuals' political preferences as a measure of personal values, Kaustia and Torstila (2011) find a strong and negative relationship between left-wing political preferences and participation in the stock market, whereas Hong and Kostovetsky (2012) report that political values affects the investment of fund managers in socially irresponsible (e.g. tobacco, guns, defence) stocks. Additionally, Pasewark and Riley (2010) assess individuals' feelings towards socially responsible investing as personal values and suggest that personal values affect investment decisions. The similar conclusion is echoed by Agyemang and Ansong (2016) whereby value such as honesty, comfortable life and family security are significant in affecting their stock investment decisions. Other related studies include patriotism and portfolio choice (Morse and Shive 2011), materialism and financial assets (Watson 2003), optimism and stocks investment (Angelini and Cavapozzi 2017), and sensation-seeking and stock trading frequency (Grinblatt and Keloharju 2009).

The above-mentioned body of research unanimously supports the strand that personal values may be a possible determinant of investment decisions. As such, the basis for formulating hypotheses for this study is substantiated. On a side note, although there is a high extent of overlap in the way these concepts capture values, some studies mix up values with other predictors such as opinions, feelings, beliefs or adopt value concept without relying on any systematic consideration of the comprehensive value theory (Seddig and Davidov 2018). Hence, these gaps warrant further research into the effect of personal values on investment decisions based on theory of basic values. As highlighted by Agyemang and Ansong (2016), traditional methods focusing merely on

wealth-maximisation have neglected the significance of personal values, thereby ruling out germane predictor of investment decisions. Undoubtedly, individuals often invest for the monetary returns. However, to say that money is at the core of investment decision is seemingly only part of the story. To unearth the entire picture of what incentivises individuals to invest, it is imperative to account for the values that individuals possess (Agyemang and Ansong 2016).

Generally, individuals do not merely invest their money, they do so in order to attain their personal goals (Sevdalis and Harvey 2007). Guided by basic values theory, people of different values emphasise goals and rewards from investment differently – some focus on economic or material rewards, others prioritise security and stability, and still others emphasise pleasure and challenges in the process of investing. These motivational values are vital goals in life an individual makes every attempt to achieve (Chiu 2016). They act as guiding principles that motivate and drive individuals to behave accordingly in different area of lives. As individuals invest, they seek investment in consistent with their values (Pasewark and Riley 2010) and invest in a way that is more closely aligned to their values and goals (Inglehart and Baker 2001; Pasewark and Riley 2010). As noted by Cieciuch, Schwartz, and Davidov (2015), when individuals prioritise a value, that person is more likely to perform a behaviour that realises the motivation behind that value.

The two bipolar value dimensions, which are Openness to change versus Conservation and Self-enhancement versus Self-transcendence, signifies distinct motivational goals of the ten basic values. In the context of this study, risky assets investment is likely to be in alignment with openness to change and self-enhancement values, over and above their competing values. Openness to change and self-enhancement values, both categorised as personal focus, includes self-directions, stimulation, hedonism, achievement and power (Schwartz 2012). As discussed earlier, risky assets investment is of higher risk yet accompanied by higher potential financial returns. Hence, investing in risky assets, as opposed to conventional and low-risk financial assets, is expected to associate with these underlying goals.

Particularly, the risky component may attract individuals who enjoy challenges and

excitement, are willing to take the risk and switch from traditional assets with an openmind. This is in line with the greater preference of openness to change over conservation values that appreciates independent actions, novelty, challenge and pleasure, rather than security, stability and maintaining status quo (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). Furthermore, risky assets come with higher return as compared to other assets, whereby the monetary rewards may eventually lead to a successful, wealthy life that fulfils the needs for pleasure and prestige. This is consistent with greater preference for self-enhancement over self-transcendence values as it emphasises wealth, social status, personal success, power and dominance over people, rather than tolerance, social justice and welfare of others (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). Likewise, it implies that risky assets investment contradicts the motivational goals of conservation and self-transcendence values.

In short, individuals who are highly motivated by these goals believe that the outcome of participating in risky assets will be beneficial and are aligned with their personal values, thus are more likely to invest in risky assets. Based on theoretical and empirical justifications, this study argues that openness to change and self-enhancement are positively related to risky assets investment. In other words, conservation and self-transcendence are expected to decrease one's risky assets investment. Preference for conservation over openness to change values and preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values represents low motivation, and vice versa. With that, the following hypotheses are considered:

H4a: Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences risky assets investment.

H5a: Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences risky assets investment.

Last but not least, the third aspects of motivation constructs in the IMB model comprise social norm related to investing in risky assets. The model predicts that social norm, representing one's social motivation to engage in the targeted behaviour, is influential to the performance of such behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Hence, this study suggests, in accordance with IMB model, that the extent to which individuals

perceive greater social support to invest in risky assets can exert a positive effect on risky assets investment. In the context of risky assets investment, social motivation is based on individuals' belief that: (1) they perceive their significant others such as peers and family members invest in risky assets; (2) they perceive their significant others expect or support them to invest in risky assets; and (3) they are motivated to act in accordance to these. Upon perceiving strong social support for investing, one is more likely to invest.

Besides theoretical justification, the plethora of scholarly studies support social influence as an important antecedent of financial behaviour, thereby inferring a positive relationship between social norm and risky assets investment. Using field experiment in the Brazilian context, Bursztyn et al. (2014) show that peer effects significantly influences individuals' investment decision, particularly on the possession of assets. Their study reveals that 93% investors choose to purchase a financial asset upon knowing that their household peers purchase this asset, in contrast to merely 42% investors that choose to buy the asset when no peer information are provided. Likewise, evidence from Pool, Stoffman, and Yonker (2015) also report that fund managers living in the same neighbourhood have more similar holdings in their mutual fund portfolios than managers who live in different neighbourhoods. Brown et al. (2008) show that an increase in community stock ownership causes an increase in the likelihood of an individual to own stocks. Similarly, Hong, Kubik, and Stein (2004) document that socially active households – those who interact with their neighbours or attend church, are significantly more likely to participate in the stock market as compared to those who are less social, and the likelihood further increases if they are residing in area with high SMP.

In the same manner, Zhang et al. (2018) claim that both household and workplace peer effects are influential to assets allocation. Duflo and Saez (2002) suggest that peer effects play an important role in affecting savings decision too. They find significant differences in savings participation rates between librarians working in different building, in which one is 73% yet the other 14%. As librarians are homogeneous group with similar education and income level, the study concludes that peer effects in workplace is an important driver for individuals' financial decisions. Besides, some

other studies focus particularly on parental influence on one's financial behaviour. For instance, Yew et al. (2017) explore the Malaysian's financial socialisation factors and claim that parental guide leads to positive financial practices. Parental influence (Brounen, Koedijk and Pownall 2016) and financial expectations of the parent (Brown and Taylor 2016) are also associated with individuals' saving behaviour. These findings are in line with Li (2014) who asserts that individuals' probability of investing in stocks within the ensuing five years is approximately 20 to 30% higher if their parents or children invested in the stock market during the previous five years. In sum, these studies indicate the possibility of a positive association between individuals' social motivation and financial behaviour.

Nevertheless, there are also studies that document the non-significant direct effect of social factors towards financial decisions. Lieber and Skimmyhorn (2018) claim that peer effects appear to play significant role only in charitable giving programmes but not in retirement savings and life insurance purchase. Brown and Taylor (2016) similarly suggest that the saving behaviour of parents do not have influence on their offspring's saving decisions. According to Balloch, Nicolae, and Philip (2014), there is no association between sociability and participation in the stock market when stock market literacy is accounted for. Other than that, studies that adopted IMB model also similarly document mixed evidence with regard to the influence of social norm on behaviour in several different domains. Particularly, there are empirical studies that establish positive linkage between social motivation and behaviours such as voting behaviour (John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017) and cancer screening (Kim, Jo and Lee 2015); yet there also exist studies that fail to relate the two constructs including exercise behaviour (Osborn et al. 2010) and the use of credit card (Limbu 2017).

Besides the inconclusive findings on the role of social motivation, other gaps are also identified from the literature. Most available studies revolve around social factors but not specifically on social motivation or social norm. As noted by Zhang et al. (2018), social factors comprise household, workplace, and neighbourhood factors, which is also known as peer effects, social interaction, community effects, word-of-mouth communication by those who are in close contact with each other due to residing in

the same house or neighbourhood, or working in the same workplace. It is apparent that the definition differs from that of social norm where the referent group refers only to those of which individuals consider significant. Furthermore, the measurement of social factors is often based upon identical street addresses, matching workplace names and locations or postal codes (Zhang et al. 2018). Hence, the mechanism as to how people of the same groups influence each other, remains unclear. Taken together, these research gaps necessitate further examination on the role of social norm.

From these studies, one can deduce that investment decisions might be affected by social norms or beliefs about the social norms. When their peers choose to purchase an asset, it is likely that they will also purchase the asset, both because they learn from peers' decision and because they want to "keep up with the Joneses" (Bursztyn et al. 2014). By observing their significant others, individuals learn about the proper behaviour of their social group and may want to conform to the same behaviour as what is commonly accepted among their social group (Duflo and Saez 2002). In addition, the cultural background of Malaysia is high in power distance, collectivism and uncertainty avoidance (Hofstede Insight 2018). Considering that social norm are often highly valued in collectivist culture (Ramayah et al. 2009) and complying to these norm may be viewed as action of higher certainty, the proposed rationale may even be further supported. Consistent with the IMB model and empirical support, this study proposes that individuals who perceive greater social support to invest in risky assets are more likely to invest in risky assets. As such, this study proposes the following hypothesis:

H6a: Social norm positively influences risky assets investment.

3.6.3 Investment Behavioural Skills on Risky Assets (H7)

The IMB model provides support for the positive link between FSE and risky assets investment. In particular, the model postulate that behavioural skills related to the performance of certain behaviour is influential towards the performance of such behaviour. As such, this study proposes that individuals' beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets may be influential to the proportion of risky assets investment. Also suggested by the concept of self-efficacy by Bandura (1986), individuals are more likely to engage in behaviour that they deem themselves as capable and confident; and are more likely to refrain from such behaviour when they perceive themselves as incompetent in dealing with it. By and large, risky assets offer higher return that is accompanied by higher risk, as compared to other financial products. As guided by Bandura and Wood (1989) and Bandura (2001), this study argues that individuals with higher level of self-efficacy in risky assets investment tend to focus on the potential gains instead of potential losses, and are better at handling the stress and emotions induced by stock market fluctuations as they invest. Similarly, they are more likely to demonstrate a positive valuation of investing in risky assets and are often more optimistic about the outcome of investing. As noted by Asebedo and Payne (2019), those with higher FSE tend to view themselves as capable in controlling and managing of their own financial situation. For these reasons, people with higher FSE are more likely to invest in risky assets.

Apart from theoretical justification, empirical evidence also reveals the importance of FSE in influencing on a wide array of financial behaviour. In recent financial behaviour studies, FSE is shown to have positive influence on individuals' financial satisfaction (Xiao, Chen and Chen 2014; Asebedo and Payne 2019), financial planning for retirement (Topa, Lunceford and Boyatzis 2018), usage of formal financial services Mindra et al. (2017), loan repayment (Shim, Serido and Lee 2019) and responsible use of credit card (Limbu 2017). Similarly, in terms of investment-related behaviour, Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016) document that women who possess higher FSE are more likely to own investment and savings products and less likely to have debt-related products. As noted by Cupák et al. (2020), individuals with higher confidence in own financial skills are more likely to invest in risky assets. Using the general self-efficacy, Chatterjee, Finke, and Harness (2011) find that self-efficacy is a significant determinant of wealth creation and investment in financial assets such as stocks, mutual funds and bonds. Besides, Montford and Goldsmith (2016) assess the relationship between individuals' investing self-efficacy and risky assets investment. Their findings show that FSE is positively associated with risk taking in investment, specifically in relation to the proportion of stocks investment. These findings corroborate views from the theoretical perspective, highlighting that FSE plays an

important and pervasive role within financial decision-making.

Despite the handful of literature on FSE, several gaps are identified. First, studies pertaining to the role of FSE on financial behaviour generate mixed results. As mentioned, a heightened FSE level is often associated with positive financial behaviour and financial outcome (Xiao, Chen and Chen 2014; Limbu 2017; Mindra et al. 2017; Topa, Lunceford and Boyatzis 2018; Asebedo and Payne 2019; Shim, Serido and Lee 2019). Nevertheless, there are also studies that show otherwise. For instance, Ismail et al. (2017) report that FSE is not associated with financial behaviour such as financial planning, savings and investment. In a related vein, (Dietz, Carrozza and Ritchey 2003) argue that individuals' level of FSE is unrelated to the use of retirement plans. Given these inconsistencies in findings, additional research is needed to further one's understanding of the relationship between FSE and financial behaviour.

Second, this study surmises that the existing studies pertaining to FSE is scarce particularly in the area of risky assets investment. Generally, self-efficacy is widely adopted across different domain in many disciplines due to its vital role in influencing behaviour directly (Bandura 1986; Dzewaltowski, Noble and Shaw 1990; Ajzen 1991; Fisher and Fisher 1992; Armitage and Conner 2001). However, within the literature of IMB model, the role of behavioural skills and its association with investment behaviour are rather lacking. According to Lown (2011), the confidence level in one's ability to handle a financial situation without being overwhelmed, is one of the key factors that affects individuals' financial behaviour. Yet in comparison to other domains, the concept of FSE is relatively new and its influence on financial behaviour are under-researched (Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016).

Although scholars such as Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016) and Chatterjee, Finke, and Harness (2011) have investigated how FSE is influential to investing, these studies gravitate towards more on the ownership of different financial products or general self-efficacy. As highlighted earlier, the effect of self-efficacy is domain specific (Bandura 2006) such that only those with domain specific self-efficacy are likely to initiate action in that particular domain. Moreover, investing in risky assets involves higher risk of incurring loses than that of other financial assets. Hence, having FSE is

relatively important as compared to products with minimal risks. As such, these findings may not be representative in the context of risky assets investment. In addition, while Montford and Goldsmith (2016) suggest a significant and positive relationship between FSE and risky assets investment, adopting undergraduate students as sample poses limitation in terms of its representativeness and generalisability of its findings to the general population. Students are considered homogenous sample and research suggests that they vary from the general population, hence generalising from students to the general public within personal and social psychology is problematic (Sears 1986; Henrich, Heine and Norenzayan 2010; Hanel and Vione 2016).

Taken together, prior literature linking FSE and financial behaviour yield inconsistent findings, and more importantly there exists limited studies assessing the relationship between FSE and risky assets investment. Collectively, these research gaps necessitate further examination on the role of FSE on risky assets investment. Guided by the theoretical grounding and empirical support, this study argues that FSE can have a positive effect on risky assets investment. Hence, this study formulates the following hypothesis:

H7: Financial self-efficacy positively influences risky assets investment.

3.6.4 Financial Information on Investment Behavioural Skills (H1b-H2b)

According to the IMB model, informational factors affect not only behaviour but also behavioural skills based upon the information and knowledge possessed. Specifically, the model proposes that information relevant to the participation of a targeted behaviour is influential towards the behavioural skills of such behaviour. In this study, informational factors comprise financial literacy and advice-seeking. Hence, the IMB model offers justification for the positive relationship between financial literacy and FSE. Guided by the model, this study postulates that the degree to which individuals understand and use personal finance-related information can exert a positive influence on their belief in own capability of investing in risky assets. Likewise, align with the above, this study also proposes a positive relationship between advice-seeking and FSE. Individuals who seek advice from financial advisors regarding risky assets investment is expected to exhibit greater beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets for achieving their financial goals.

The empirical evidence through the application of IMB model in other domains also validate the association between information and behavioural skills. For instance, Seacat and Northrup (2010) report that recycling information is significantly associated with recycling behavioural skills. Individuals with higher level of correct recycling information are found to have greater recycling behavioural skills. Likewise, other authors also find significant and positive relationship between behaviour-specific information and behavioural skills related to behaviour including diet behaviour (Osborn et al. 2010), self-care behaviour (Chang et al. 2018), rational drug use behaviour (Bian et al. 2015), sexual risk behaviour (John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017) and sweetened beverage consumption (Goodell et al. 2012), among others. As demonstrated by the existing literature, one can induce that better knowledge results in higher level of self-efficacy when performing the behaviour under investigation.

However, there is a paucity of literature available that assess specifically the relationship between knowledge and self-efficacy in the domain of financial behaviour, let alone risky assets investment. Considering the notable importance of financial literacy and advice-seeking in the current literature, it is surprising that their association with FSE remains scarce. To the best of this study's knowledge, only one study by Limbu (2017) establishes an association between knowledge and selfefficacy in the context of financial behaviour. Specifically, the author, by adopting the IMB model, reveals that knowledge on credit card is significantly and positively associated with credit card self-efficacy. While this study is aware of a small number of prior studies that involve financial knowledge and FSE, such as Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016) who document a positive association between FSE and financial product while controlling for financial literacy, Xiao and O'Neill (2016) who find that financial education is positively associated with both financial literacy and perceived financial capability, where perceived financial capability is proxied by FSE; and Forbes and Kara (2010) who espouse that individual's confidence on their investment knowledge mediates how investment knowledge influences investing self-efficacy, yet these

studies do not establish the direct linkage between financial knowledge and FSE. Furthermore, as noted by Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016), there is a lack of studies seeking to distinguish the significance of FSE from that of financial literacy. Taken together, studies examining the significance of financial literacy and advice-seeking with respect to an individual's FSE in the domain of risky assets investment, are hitherto not found in the literature. As such, this study can only infer interactions between variables according to theoretical framework and currently available literature.

Building on the theoretical justification and scholarly studies, this study argues that financial information either through one's own knowledge or advices from financial advisors, can have a positive effect on their FSE in risky assets investing. In particular, having a higher financial literacy can increase one's understanding of financial products and the financial market, thereby enhances their financial competency. As they know better about investments, they are more likely to feel equipped and confident in their abilities to make sound investment decisions. Besides, in times of stock market fluctuations, these individuals may better handle their emotions as they understand the mechanism of the stock market.

In the same manner, some individuals who turn to professional advisors for information and advice may also achieve the same level of FSE. Despite not having sufficient financial knowledge, individuals can obtain reliable and accurate information from financial advisors. As financial advisors are financially more mature and competent than individual investors (Kramer 2012), they are able to educate and assist either through running the investment account on behalf of individual investors or by encouraging individuals to behave appropriately (Hackethal, Haliassos and Jappelli 2012). With such delegation or consultation, one who entrusts advisors with their investment decisions is likely to have a heighten FSE in investing.

In brief, this is the first few studies assessing the interplay between financial literacy and FSE; and between advice-seeking and FSE. In view of the limited empirical evidence on the relationship between financial information and FSE, this study intends to fill the noticeable research gap. The ability to draw associations between these variables allow individuals and financial service providers to identify if one's financial literacy or advice by financial advisors can be leveraged to enhance individuals' belief in their own capability to invest in risky assets. Given the theoretical support coupled with empirical evidence, one can infer that there might be a positive relationship between financial information and FSE. Hence, this study hypothesises that:

H1b: Financial literacy positively influences financial self-efficacy.H2b: Advice-seeking positively influences financial self-efficacy.

3.6.5 Investment Motivation on Investment Behavioural Skills (H3b-H6b)

Other than informational factors, the IMB model also posits motivation as an additional prerequisite for behavioural skills (Fisher and Fisher 1992). In particular, motivation to perform a behaviour is expected to influence the behavioural skills of such behaviour. In this study, motivational factors consist of personal motivation and social motivation. Personal motivation involves attitude towards investing in risky assets and personal values; whereas social motivation is represented by social norm. As such, the IMB model provides theoretical justification for the relationship between these variables and FSE.

A great deal of empirical studies through the application of IMB model in different domains also indicate that motivation plays a crucial role in enhancing individuals' behavioural skills. For example, Seacat and Northrup (2010) indicate that recycling motivation, at both personal and social level, is significantly associated with recycling behavioural skills. Those who have higher motivation to recycle tend to have higher behavioural skills in recycling. Similarly, Goodell et al. (2012) also document a significant positive relationship between motivation and behavioural skills in the domain of sweetened beverage consumption. Many other authors also report significant and positive relationship between behaviour-specific motivation and behaviour (Osborn et al. 2010), fruit and vegetable intake (Sinley and Albrecht 2016), and sexual risk behaviour (John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017). Additionally, some studies also specifically capture the interactions between personal motivation and behavioural

skills that result in similar effects for behaviours such as exercise behaviour (Osborn et al. 2010), self-care behaviour (Chang et al. 2018) and cancer screening (Kim, Jo and Lee 2015). Meanwhile, the role of social motivation on behavioural skills are endorsed in studies involving behaviours such as diabetes medication adherence (Nelson et al. 2018) and credit card misuse (Limbu 2017). Putting these together, it appears that individuals with higher level of motivation tend to display higher level of self-efficacy when performing the behaviour under investigation.

Nonetheless, there are limited scholarly studies assessing the relationship between motivation and behavioural skills in the context of financial behaviour, or more specifically, the effect of attitude, personal values and social norm on FSE. To date, only one study by Limbu (2017) explores the interaction between motivation and selfefficacy in the context of financial behaviour. Another research gap identified in the literature revolves around the operationalisation of motivation construct. Some studies assess motivational factors separately at both personal and social level (Osborn et al. 2010; Kim, Jo and Lee 2015; Chang et al. 2018), whereas some measure the factor as a whole without distinguishing between the two levels (Osborn et al. 2010; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Goodell et al. 2012; Sinley and Albrecht 2016; John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017). Nevertheless, as the literature is viewed in combination, there appears inconsistency in results. Particularly, studies where motivation is measured as one collectively document significant and positive relationship with behavioural skills. In contrast, for those that distinguish between the two motivational components, it seems that only personal motivation displays evidence of significant relationship with behavioural skills. This is an indication that the two components have varied direct effect on behavioural skills, which signals the need to unravel the motivational components. Hence, unlike past studies that focus on motivation as a whole, this study decomposes motivation construct and measure the three components (including personal values) separately. All components are considered independent representations of diverse aspects of the motivation construct. By doing so, it is expected to provide important insights about each of the components, at the same time, to avoid loss of information, both of which may inform intervention effort more specifically.

Guided by the IMB model, this study suggests that favourable attitude towards investing in risky assets is positively related to one's FSE in investing in risky assets. Particularly, individuals develop positive attitudes as they positively evaluate salient attributes related to investing in risky assets (Ajzen 1991). As with the concept of selfefficacy by Bandura (1997), those with high FSE also tend to have positive valuation about investing in risky assets, at the same time, are more optimistic about the outcome. These individuals are also more likely to focus on potential success rather than failure when they invest in risky assets. Besides, they are better at managing anxiety and emotions induced by variation in the stock market performance. Hence, positive evaluation of the expected rewards of the related investing is likely to increase one's belief in their own capability of investing in risky assets and that the outcome of investing will be rewarding to themselves. If individuals have negative attitude towards investing in risky assets, they will believe that investing in risky assets is unsafe or too risky and evaluate the consequences as negative. Consequently, they may be more pessimistic about the outcome and easily triggered by the fluctuations of stock market performance, exhibiting the characteristic of low FSE. Hence, this study proposes that attitude towards investing positively influences FSE.

Likewise, align with the above, this study also proposes a positive relationship between values and FSE. Despite the well-established theory of basic values, the influence of personal values on self-efficacy in general, has remained scarce. This lack of research attention on the role of personal values represents a noticeable gap in the current literature on self-efficacy (Sousa, Coelho and Guillamon-Saorin 2012), which extends to FSE literature in the behavioural finance context. Generally, values motivate skills acquisitions, which in turn boost self-efficacy in value-congruent domain (Gorgievski et al. 2018). As such, values consistent with investing will motivate the acquisition of investing-related skills, which are reflected in higher confidence and self-efficacy in their investing skills. Individuals with high conservation score appreciate stability and certainty in life whereby their motivation revolves around preserving the status quo, restraint of actions, acceptance of traditions and customs (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). Such individuals avoid taking risks and trying new things as they emphasise safe and predictable outcome. In contrast, openness to change value dimension, which is the counterpart of conservation, focuses on independent actions, novelty, challenge and pleasure (Schwartz 1992). People with high openness to change are more willing to cope with challenges and take risks in dealing with problems (Schwartz 2007). As FSE concerns individuals' beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets for achieving their financial goals, openness to change converges with self-efficacy concept (Bandura 1997) in which both embraces challenges, goal-setting, cope with adversity and setbacks. Hence, openness to change should promote FSE. Similarly, conservation restraints the development of novel approaches and new skills (Sousa, Coelho and Guillamon-Saorin 2012), which appears to curtail FSE. The concept of FSE is also in consistent with self-enhancement values. Those with high self-enhancement score emphasise wealth, social status, self-esteem, personal success, power and dominance over people (Schwartz 1992). With good financial planning, people gain greater wealth alongside higher social status and recognition. Hence, such individuals are more motivated to perform well in their finances in order to achieve their financial goals. Likewise, the opposing value, self-transcendence should render the opposing tendencies.

In essence, individuals who are highly motivated by openness to change and selfenhancement goals believe that the outcome of participating in risky assets will be beneficial to themselves and are aligned with their personal values, thus are potentially more likely to demonstrate higher level of FSE. Consistent with the above, empirical findings similarly infer that personal values are related to self-efficacy. Sousa, Coelho, and Guillamon-Saorin (2012), in a study of frontline service employees, claim that both openness to change and self-enhancement values are positively associated with self-efficacy in selling products. Gorgievski et al. (2018) also document the direct influence of both value dimensions on entrepreneurial self-efficacy. Francescato et al. (2020), on the other hand, indicate that only self-transcendence is significant in predicting political career self-efficacy. In the same vein, Barni, Danioni, and Benevene (2019) report that conservation is positively related teachers' self-efficacy in teaching, whereas openness to change and self-transcendence is indirectly related to self-efficacy via the moderating effect of motivations. As the relationship between personal values and self-efficacy are completely ignored in the financial domain, this study intends to fill this gap by proposing that conservation and self-transcendence negatively influence FSE.

Lastly, previous studies also show that social motivation is related to self-efficacy. For instance, Nelson et al. (2018) find that social motivation barriers have a significant and positive effect on behavioural skills barriers when assessing barriers to diabetes medication adherence. Also as noted by Limbu (2017), when individuals receive a higher level of social motivation, their credit card self-efficacy is also higher. In contrast, there are also studies that fail to establish an association between social motivation and behavioural skills (Osborn et al. 2010; Kim, Jo and Lee 2015; Chang et al. 2018). The negligible influence is possibly attributed to issue of measurement or definition for social motivation construct (Osborn et al. 2010). To mitigate that, this study is guided by the latest conceptualisation and operationalisation of social norm by Fishbein and Ajzen (2011). Guided by the IMB model and scholarly studies, this study argues that if individuals perceive participation and social support of their significant others on risky assets investment, they are more confident to hold risky assets. In establishing the relationship between social norm and FSE, this study proposes that individuals have higher FSE if: (1) they perceive their significant others such as peers and family members invest in risky assets; (2) they perceive their significant others expect or support them to invest in risky assets; and (3) they are motivated to act in accordance to these. Having known that significant others such as friends and family invest in risky assets and received the support from them, individuals may exhibit higher receptiveness towards investing in the risky assets. Besides, it may be that individuals learn from their social circle pertaining to the historical high returns from the stock market and hence are confident and assured on the rewards of taking the investment risk. As social norm of investing in risky assets increases, individuals are more motivated to participate in risky assets investment. Additionally, given that the cultural background of Malaysia is high in collectivism (Hofstede Insight 2018) and that high collectivism population values social norm highly (Ramayah et al. 2009), social motivation is expected to play an important role compared to those of the western context.

Supported by the IMB model and empirical studies, this study argues that investment motivation is crucial in explaining behavioural skills related to investing in risky assets. This study intends to fill the research gaps by being the first few to explore the
possible interplay between the constructs, at the same time, to decompose the motivation construct in order to capture the varied effect of personal and social motivation in a collectivist culture. In essence, this study is one of the first that investigate the interaction between investment motivation and investment behavioural skills by testing the following hypothesis:

H3b: Attitude towards investing positively influences financial self-efficacy.H4b: Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences financial self-efficacy.

H5b: Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences financial self-efficacy.

H6b: Social norm positively influences financial self-efficacy.

3.6.6 Investment Behavioural Skills as a Mediator (H8-H13)

Mediation models are commonly adopted in social science research (Memon et al. 2018; Ramayah et al. 2018). Generally, a mediator variable can be referred as an intervening variable that changes that the significance or direction of the relationship between the exogenous and endogenous variables (Hair et al. 2017c). In order to explore meaningful mediation, a strong priori theoretical or conceptual support must first present (Preacher and Hayes 2008; Ramayah et al. 2018). In the present study, the mediating role of FSE as a behavioural skills construct, is supported by the IMB model.

Based on the IMB model, behavioural skills are the core and mediating factors as to whether well-informed and well-motivated individuals are capable of effectively perform a targeted behaviour. Particularly for complex behaviour, information and motivation works primarily via the activation of necessary behavioural skills to influence the targeted behaviour. Irrefutably, financial decision-making is complex and risky (Lim et al. 2018). Hence, guided by the IMB model, this study positions FSE in investing in risky assets as the mediator in the current model. Specifically, the present study proposes that FSE mediates the relationship between financial information and risky assets investment, whereby financial literacy and advice-seeking

are indirectly related to risky assets investment via FSE. Likewise, this study argues that FSE mediates the relationship between the components of investment motivation and risky assets investment, whereby attitude towards investing, conservation, selftranscendence and social norm are indirectly linked to risky assets investment through FSE as mediator. As such, the effect of financial information and investment motivation are seen largely as a consequence of the presence of FSE to initiation of investment behaviour. Without FSE, individuals may not invest in risky assets even if they are financially well-informed and highly motivated to invest.

Other than theoretical justification, empirical studies in the IMB literature also validates the mediating role of behavioural skills. Often, behavioural skills or selfefficacy is deployed as a mediator in studies that apply IMB model in different domains. For instance, Limbu (2017) demonstrate that credit card self-efficacy mediates the effect of information and social motivation on credit card use. Chang et al. (2018) also report that both self-care information and personal motivation are positively related with self-care self-efficacy, which in turn positively influenced selfcare behaviour. Besides, as noted by Osborn et al. (2010), there are indirect effects of both diet-related information and motivation on diet behaviour through the mediating effect of self-efficacy. At the same time, it is validated as a mediator on the influence of information and motivation to different behaviour such as recycling (Seacat and Northrup 2010), sweetened beverage consumption (Goodell et al. 2012) and sexual risk behaviour (John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017), among others. Based on these studies, it can be inferred that FSE may act as a mediator for the effects of financial information and motivation in the context of risky assets investment. On a side note, as and when the direct effect of financial information and motivation to FSE (H1b-H6b) and the direct effect of FSE to risky assets (H7) are justified in earlier discussion, the mediating effect of FSE will also be equally established.

Nevertheless, thus far, there is a dearth of studies exploring the role of FSE as a mediator in the context of risky assets investment. Scholarly support that specifically draw relationship among these constructs via the mediating effect of FSE are either not found or rather fragmented in the literature. In addition, as much as financial information is crucial in promoting desirable financial behaviour, evidences reveal that

relying on information alone is insufficient to drive behaviour. Specifically, the key predictor for investing often revolves around financial literacy (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), but studies also demonstrate how intervention heavily-focused on financial literacy alone are not effective in stimulating financial behaviour (De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Holzmann 2010; Hira 2012; Remmele and Seeber 2012). In a meta-analysis by Fernandes, Lynch Jr, and Netemeyer (2014)_ENREF_185, findings reveal that intervention intended at improving financial literacy explain only 0.1% of the variance in financial behaviour. Cole, Paulson, and Shastry (2016) also argue that high school personal finance courses have no effects on asset accumulation. It is apparent that information and education-only interventions are not always effective in promoting targeted behaviour as discussed earlier by Fisher and Fisher (1992).

These hint to the possibility of an intervening variable that might have mediating effect for the relationship between financial information and financial behaviour. As the association between financial knowledge and financial behaviour is complex (Perry and Morris 2005), it is possible that self-efficacy may be the missing link between financial knowledge and financial behaviour. This is further evident according to Bandura (1997) who asserts self-efficacy as the final common pathway for the effects of various personal and social influences on behaviour. Furthermore, it is imperative to note that the mediating role of FSE is established by a few studies in the finance context. For instance, Lapp (2010) highlight that FSE is the missing piece between knowledge and effective action. Mindra and Moya (2017) assert the mediating effect of FSE for the relationship between financial literacy and the use of financial products and services. Also, Limbu (2017) indicates that credit card knowledge is indirectly associated with credit card use through credit card self-efficacy. Besides, Perry and Morris (2005) claim that individuals' perceived control over own financial destiny mediates the effect of financial knowledge on their probability to save, budget and spend responsibly. In the same vein, Rothwell, Khan, and Cherney (2016) also find that FSE fully mediates the association between financial knowledge and postsecondary-education savings. These results suggest that financial information

operates primarily via FSE to affect financial behaviour positively. As much as financial knowledge is important in influencing financial behaviour, such knowledge alone may not necessarily increase individuals' propensity to invest in risky assets.

Similarly, the above argument also applies to motivational constructs. Although FSE is more frequently linked to financial literacy, it is not influenced solely by financial literacy alone (Montford and Goldsmith 2016). Rather, determinants such as personality, social influences and cultural norms (Hira 2012) may also independently or collectively affect one's FSE. As emphasised by Bandura (1997), self-efficacy is the ultimate common pathway for the effects of many personal and social factors on behaviour. It is likely that personal and social motivational factors alone are inadequate to encourage engagement in financial behaviour. In line with the argument, Mindra and Moya (2017) claim that FSE fully mediates the relationship between financial attitudes and the use of financial products and services. This point is highlighted in several studies within the IMB literature. In detail, Limbu (2017) document that social motivation is associated with behaviour indirectly through self-efficacy as his findings reveal credit card self-efficacy fully mediates the association between social motivation and misuse of credit card. In the same manner, Seacat and Northrup (2010) find that the direct effects of information and motivation on recycling behaviour are non-significant yet the non-direct paths are significant in the full mediational IMB model. They further claim that the effects of both variables are fully mediated by behavioural skills. Goodell et al. (2012) also argue that sweetened beverage consumption motivation is only indirectly related to sweetened beverage consumption through the mediating effect of behavioural skills. As such, it is evident that highly motivated individuals may not necessarily perform a behaviour provided they perceive a lack of required behavioural skills.

Taken together, information and motivation may be indirectly related to investment behaviour through FSE. However, no known studies have yet jointly explored such a mediation model. Hence, little is known about the mediating mechanisms through which these information and motivation constructs relate to risky assets investment. As such, further investigation is needed to gain a more comprehensive picture of these relationships, particularly in the financial behaviour context. Following that, this study intends to fill this gap in the literature. Based on the theoretical grounding and empirical evidence, the present study extends the existing research by assessing the role of FSE as a mediator. This study posits that FSE mediates the relationship between each component of informational factor and risky assets investment; and the relationship between each component of motivational factor and risky assets investment. With that, the following hypotheses are formulated:

H8: Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment.

H9: Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment.

H10: Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment.

H11: Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment.

H12: Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment.

H13: Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between social norm and risky assets investment.

3.6.7 Summary of Research Hypotheses

Guided by both empirical evidence and theoretical underpinning, 19 hypotheses are formulated to address the research questions of this study. A summary of the research hypotheses is presented in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3 Summary of Research Hypotheses

	Hypothesis		
Information and Motivation on Risky Assets			
H1a	Financial literacy positively influences risky assets investment.		
H2a	Advice-seeking positively influences risky assets investment.		

- H3a Attitude towards investing positively influences risky assets investment.
- **H4a** Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences risky assets investment.
- **H5a** Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences risky assets investment.
- H6a Social norm positively influences risky assets investment.

Behavioural Skills on Risky Assets

H7 Financial self-efficacy positively influences risky assets investment.

Information and Motivation on Behavioural Skills

- H1b Financial literacy positively influences financial self-efficacy.
- H2b Advice-seeking positively influences financial self-efficacy.
- H3b Attitude towards investing positively influences financial self-efficacy.
- **H4b** Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences financial self-efficacy.
- **H5b** Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences financial self-efficacy.
- **H6b** Social norm positively influences financial self-efficacy.

Behavioural Skills as a Mediator

- **H8** Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment.
- **H9** Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment.
- **H10** Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment.
- **H11** Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment.
- H12 Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment.

3.7 Demographics as the Control Variables

Socioeconomic characteristics also act as important determinants of individual asset allocation (Campbell 2006). Prior empirical findings indicate that age, income, education level and number of dependents are associated with asset allocation decision. Hence, these socioeconomic variables are included as control variables.

First, age plays a crucial role in financial asset selection. Ackert, Church, and Englis (2002) find that choice of risky assets is influenced by age. Likewise, Zhang et al. (2018) claim the importance of age in asset allocation decision. Younger individuals tend to hold non-risky assets compared to older individuals (Duasa and Yusof 2013) and that SMP increases with age alike (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011). Besides, Riley Jr and Chow (1992) suggest that young individuals hold little in risky assets, under-21 and 65-and-older individuals hold more bonds and equity investment increases with age until the age of 65, then falls. The hump-shaped age effect is consistent with Campbell (2006), Guiso, Haliassos, and Jappelli (2002) and Milligan (2005).

In terms of income, Campbell (2006) indicates that the low-income households own more liquid asset and wealthier households are the main participants in equity investment. Prominent studies show that those with a higher income level tend to also have a higher participation rate in risky assets (Riley Jr and Chow 1992; Brunnermeier and Nagel 2008; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Duasa and Yusof 2013; Heo, Grable and O'Neill 2017).

Meanwhile, for educational attainment, Van Rooij, Lusardi, and Alessie (2011) report that stock ownership increases tremendously with education levels and that individuals with lower education level are unlikely to hold stocks. The finding is consistent with prior studies (Duasa and Yusof 2013; Heo, Grable and O'Neill 2017; Mouna and Anis 2017). Hence, it is posited that education is positively related to risky asset holdings.

Last but not least, empirical evidence shows that larger household are less likely to invest in risky financial assets (Guiso, Haliassos and Jappelli 2002), the number of children has a significant positive association with having saving habit (Mahdzan and Tabiani 2013) and married individuals are less likely to participate in retirement savings plans (Sunden and Surette 1998). It appears that individuals with higher number of dependents are likely to develop financial plans and own savings for family members' future expenses but are also more reluctant to involve in high risk assets due to preference over liquid, safer assets as family's emergency funds. For these reasons, number of dependents is expected to have significant negative effect on individual's choice in allocating assets.

3.8 Chapter Summary

This chapter first sets out the classification of financial assets into three distinct classes based on their risk exposure, namely low risk, moderate risk and high-risk assets. With that, risky assets include both stocks and mutual funds. The chapter also reviews literature revolving around risky assets investment and its determinants, with the research gaps subsequently highlighted. Following that, this chapter discusses the inadequacy of conventional finance theories in explaining financial behaviour and suggests the integration of two cross-disciplinary theories, namely IMB model and theory of basic values as the theoretical underpinning of the present study. The factors influencing individuals' risky assets investment are explored through the lens of IMB model and theory of basic values, which includes financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills components. As such, the proposed predictors include financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing, personal values, social norm and FSE. A detailed discussion on the relationships between the constructs are reviewed. Guided by the theoretical foundation and empirical evidence, 19 hypotheses are postulated.

CHAPTER 4 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

4.1 Chapter Overview

This chapter discusses the research design and methodology adopted for this study in order to answer the research questions and to test the proposed hypotheses. Specifically, this study employs the empirical research method in assessing the determinants of individuals' risky assets investment in Malaysia through the integration of IMB model and theory of basic values. This chapter begins with the selection of research paradigm, descriptions of sampling procedures, followed by the development of research instrument where the measures of dependent, independent and control variables are presented. The subsequent sections in the chapter encompass the pre-testing and pilot testing of the questionnaire, final questionnaire design, and ethical consideration. Lastly, the data collection method and data analysis techniques are discussed.

4.2 Philosophical Paradigm

A research philosophy is a system of beliefs and assumptions regarding the development of knowledge (Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019). That is, these research philosophies contain assumptions that delineate fundamentally distinct perspectives or ways of seeing the world. As such, these assumptions serve as the research foundation where all aspects of the study are shaped following the chosen philosophy. Such philosophy not only underpins the methodological choice and research strategy of a research, but also defends and justifies the data collection techniques and data analysis procedures of the study (Crossan 2003; Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019). As such, before dwelling into the selection of research methodologies, it is essential to identify the philosophical grounding where the current study is positioned.

Generally, there are two major research paradigms that have been identified within business research: (1) positivism; and (2) interpretivism. For the philosophy of positivism, objective reality exists and the goal of research is to discover it (Corry, Porter and McKenna 2019). To do so, hypotheses are developed based upon existing 102 theories, which are to be examined, and later confirmed or refuted as whole or in parts (Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019). Researchers are to objectively collect and analyse observable and measurable facts using scientific methods that involves large amounts of empirical data (Crossan 2003; Weber 2004; Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019). Ultimately, the study should identify explanation and laws that explain behaviour.

In contrast, the philosophy of interpretivism, as described by Saunders, Lewis, and Thornhill (2019), emphasises that reality is not rigid as individuals with different cultural backgrounds, under different circumstances and at different times develop different meanings towards certain objects. As a result, these people would experience different realities, thereby refuting the positivist attempts to determine universal laws that generalise to everyone (Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019). The aim of interpretivist studies is to understand the subjective experience involving feelings, thinking or actions, to identify patterns of meaning, and to provide novel, richer interpretations of the world (Weber 2004; Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019). Table 4.1 summarises the detailed differences between positivism and interpretivism in terms of different metatheoretical assumptions.

Metatheoretical Assumption on	Positivism	Interpretivism
Ontology (nature of reality or being)	Researcher and reality are separate	Researcher and reality are inseparable (life-world)
Epistemology (what constitutes acceptable knowledge)	Objective reality exists beyond the human mind	Knowledge of the world is intentionally constituted through a person's lived experience
Axiology (role of values)	Value-free research, researcher is detached, neutral and independent of what is researched, researcher maintains objective stance	Value-bound research, researchers are part of what is researched, subjective researcher interpretations key to contribution, researcher reflexive
Research Object	Research object has inherent qualities that exist independently of the researcher	Research object is interpreted in light of meaning structure of researcher's lived experience

Table 4.1 Comparison between Positivism and Interpretivism

Typical Methods	Quantitative (statistics, content analysis), deductive, large samples, highly structured	Qualitative (hermeneutics, phenomenology), inductive, small samples, in-depth investigations
Theory of Truth	Correspondence theory of truth: one-to-one mapping between research statements and reality	Truth as intentional fulfilment: interpretations of research object match lived experience of object
Validity	Certainty: data truly measures reality	Defensible knowledge claims
Reliability	Replicability: research results can be reproduced	Interpretive awareness: researchers recognise and address implications of their subjectivity
Contribution	Causal explanation and prediction as contribution	New understandings and worldviews as contribution

Sources: Weber (2004), Saunders, Lewis, and Thornhill (2019)

As highlighted by Tsoukas and Knudsen (2003), business and management researchers do not agree about one best philosophy. Evidently, both positivist and interpretive approaches to research are of substantial value (Weber 2004). The selection of approach should rely upon the research objective. It should be guided by questions pertaining to which methods tend to yield better and more comprehensive answer to the research questions initially posed (Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2019).

In light of the above, this study adopts the positivist approach as its philosophical stance. Particularly, this research is concerned primarily with identifying explanations and laws that predict investment behaviour, which is equated with the positivism perspective (Crossan 2003). Working within a positivist paradigm, this study involves the testing of hypotheses guided by existing theories. It involves uncovering the relationship between the information, motivation and behavioural skills variables and also the predictive ability of the extended IMB model in explaining individuals' risky assets investment.

4.3 Sampling Procedures

Sampling is defined as the process where a few (sample) from a larger group (population) is identified and selected in order to estimate or predict the prevalence of an unknown situation concerning the larger group (Kumar 2014b). This section is dedicated to the discussion of sampling procedures employed for the study, namely

the sample population, sampling unit, sampling technique and sample size.

4.3.1 Sample Population

The first stage in sampling procedures involves defining the target population of the study. Population is defined as the group of units about which researcher is interested to make inferences, depending on the goal of the research (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). Identifying the population that is pertinent to the study is essentially crucial (Zikmund et al. 2009). The sample of this thesis is drawn from the Malaysian population who aged 18 years old and above.

The study focuses on individuals within this age group mainly because they have or had a steady source of income, will need to manage their finances from time to time, are the main contributor of funds into different asset classes and are more representative of a nationwide population. This is further justified by the definition of an employed person from official sources, whereby the basic indicator for employment are those who aged between 15 to 64 years (working age) and worked for at least one hour for pay, profit or family gain, or have a job but temporarily not working due to leave, illness, bad weather, labour dispute (Institute of Labour Market Information and Analysis 2015; Department of Statistics Malaysia 2017a; Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 2017a).

The exclusion of individuals who aged between 15 to 17 years old from the target population of this study is because one must be 18 years old or above to be eligible for being the primary account holder of saving and current accounts (Bank Negara Malaysia 2005), and to trade in Bursa Malaysia, which is the Malaysian stock market (Bursa Malaysia 2018c). In other words, 18 years old is the legal age for individuals to make independent financial decision. Those who aged within the age group of 15 to 17 are not able to invest in any form of risky financial assets by their own, therefore is not pertinent to this study. On a side note, the inclusion of young individuals within the age group of 18 to 25 is also justifiable. Based upon data from Bursa Malaysia, active accounts of those within this age group increase tremendously by 50.9% to 40,962 accounts as at December 2017, which made up 22.5% of Bursa Malaysia's total

retail participation along with those 26 to 35 years old in that year (Ismail 2018). As at September 2019, they constitute for 23% of active accounts and 47% of total new accounts opened (Bursa Malaysia 2019). The stock market participation rate of this age group is also identified as the fastest-growing among the account holders (Aruna 2017). Considering the escalating participation of young investors in the stock market, it is therefore imperative to include this age group in the sample.

The sample population age group chosen in this study is similar to, and deemed as appropriate by extant literature, both in the context of Malaysia (Loke 2015; Bakar and Yi 2016; Murugiah 2016b; Murugiah 2016a; Sabri 2016) and other countries (Hackethal, Haliassos and Jappelli 2012; Mimura et al. 2015; Mouna and Anis 2015; Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016; Warsame and Ireri 2016; Mindra et al. 2017; Mouna and Anis 2017; Murendo and Mutsonziwa 2017; Xiao and Porto 2017; Sekścińska, Rudzinska-Wojciechowska and Maison 2018), regardless of other demographic characteristics. Hence, in order to be eligible to participate in this study, a respondent must meet the following inclusion criteria: (1) a Malaysian; and (2) aged 18 years old and above.

4.3.2 Sampling Unit

Sampling unit, also referred to as unit of analysis, forms the basis for selecting the sample (Kumar 2014b). The level at which the variable is measured varies from individuals, stores, companies or countries (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). In pursuit of understanding economic behaviour, past studies generally consider household as the principal unit of analysis. It is derived from the household theory and Unitary models that is pioneered by Samuelson (1956) and Becker (1976), whereby a household is treated as a single unit based on the assumption that all members of the household share common preferences. That is, in the context of this study, individuals within a household earn, spend, save and borrow in a collective manner, and they invest in different types of resources jointly (Babu, Gajanan and Hallam 2017).

However, assuming households as an individual unit is misleading as it fails to depict a complete picture of living standards, particularly in understanding human behaviour (Chiappori and Meghir 2015). Besides, it is rather unrealistic to assume that all members have the same preferences (Babu, Gajanan and Hallam 2017) as households constitute of individuals who may have different and potentially conflicting interest with different well-being outcomes (Nelson 2001). As highlighted by Durand et al. (2013), behavioural studies are built upon individuals and hence should not lose sight of individuals. All in all, household-level information often fails to inform regarding individual situation within the households (Ponthieux and Meurs 2015).

Similarly, this study attempts to capture one's literacy, attitude, personal values, social norm and self-efficacy which are individual level variables that are unlikely to be similar across members in the same household. As noted by Sarstedt and Mooi (2014), using data at the lowest possible level is recommended because it reveals much richer detail as compared to aggregated data. Likewise, this study examines financial decisions through the lens of behavioural economics where the focus normally lies upon individuals and how they behave as a single unit.

Hence, considering the objective of this study, Malaysian individuals who aged 18 years old and above is chosen as the sampling unit. This is congruent with prior studies of similar nature whereby individual member is considered as the sampling unit (Jappelli and Padula 2013; Xiao, Chen and Chen 2014; Agarwal et al. 2015; Bachmann and Hens 2015; Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016; Khan, Tan and Chong 2017; Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017; Mouna and Anis 2017; Xiao and Porto 2017; Hsiao and Tsai 2018; Lim et al. 2018). Such information collected at individual level helps in understanding the implications of individual level variables on their financial behaviour. Ultimately, understanding these individual level decisions can aid in designing interventions targeted at enhancing one's asset allocation and personal finance decision.

4.3.3 Sampling Technique

Sampling technique is the method in which the sampling unit is selected from the target population. In quantitative studies, the primary objective of sampling technique is to maximise precision in estimates within the given sample size and to avoid bias in the selection of sample (Kumar 2014b). Sampling techniques can be distinguished

between probability and non-probability sampling methods. Historically, probability sampling is deemed ideal in research due to its sampling generalisability (Memon et al. 2017), and thus has long been the main paradigm (Sarstedt et al. 2017). Nevertheless, in social science research, the actual usage is more skewed towards non-probability sampling (Rowley 2014). Similarly, this cross-sectional study adopts a non-probability sampling in selecting respondents due to several reasons.

Apart from the prohibitively high cost in adopting probability sampling (Cooke 2017), the prerequisite involves identifying the sampling frame of the population, by which the complete list of all the elements in the target population must be acquired (Kumar 2014b). Unfortunately, this requirement seems impracticable and can easily be compromised in exploratory research and also in studies involving the Malaysian population. Specifically, the sampling frame could not be established in exploratory study due to the lack of concrete information regarding the population (McGivern 2009). Likewise, in Malaysia, the challenges lie in obtaining a complete list of subjects that is relevant and updated, and collecting data that provides equal chance of selection to every element in a wide geographical area (Memon et al. 2017). In fact, non-probability sampling is more often adopted and more likely suitable in fieldwork research (Bryman and Bell 2015). Moreover, as noted by Polit and Beck (2010), when humans are the main subject of research, it is unlikely to involve non-probability samples.

In addition, the representative samples drawn from probability sampling is, in many occasions, inappropriate and unnecessary (Memon et al. 2017; Sarstedt et al. 2017). As advocated by Calder, Phillips, and Tybout (1981), sample representativeness is unimportant, or even inappropriate if the research goal is rigorous theory testing. The authors further accentuate that homogenous samples are preferred in such situation. This is because for study intending to adopt theories in explaining a phenomenon under different context, it falls under theory generalisation, instead of sampling generalisation (Memon et al. 2017). As such, a non-probability sample is deemed more fitting for study that aims to generalise the theoretical explanation (Hulland, Baumgartner and Smith 2018). Furthermore, it is important to note that adopting probability sampling may not guarantee global or specific representativeness owing to

issues such as systematic non-response (Assael and Keon 1982).

In retrospect of the research objective of this study, the main intention is to assess the integration of IMB model and theory of basic values, and to examine if the extended IMB model that is originally used to predict health behaviour, can be generalised to explain individuals' financial behaviour. Hence, the use of non-probability samples in this study is deemed appropriate where the sampling frame is not accessible, and it aims to build theory for generalisation purpose. Among various non-probability sampling methods, a combination of quota sampling and snowball sampling method are chosen.

In quota sampling, respondents are selected according to a pre-determined quota that represents some visible characteristics of the population that is of interest to the researcher (Kumar 2014b). To ensure that the proportions of the sample in terms of demographic characteristics closely matches the respective composition in the Malaysian population, this study employs the proportional quota sampling whereby the sample mimics the actual proportion of the subgroups in the population (Nishishiba, Jones and Kraner 2013). The quota is determined based on gender, age group and income group as shown in Table 4.2. Besides, the sample are selected from various location in both West Malaysia and East Malaysia. These pre-determined quotas and selection criterion yield a higher degree of representativeness of the local population (Kumar 2014b).

	Dopulation $(9/)$	Tangat Dagnangag
	Population (%)	Target Responses
Gender		
Male	51.9	202
Female	48.1	198
Age		
Below 35 years old	61.7	247
35 - 44 years old	14.5	58
45 - 54 years old	11.6	46
55 years old and above	12.2	49

Table 4.2 Target Responses

Monthly income (RM)			
Less than 4,000	55.0	220	
4,000 - 9,999	34.5	138	
10,000 and above	10.5	42	

As for snowball sampling, a few individuals are first identified and the required information are collected from them. Subsequent respondents are selected by requesting personal contacts who possess the selection requirement from first group of participants (Nishishiba, Jones and Kraner 2013). In selecting participants for this study, respondents are first approached based on the sampling criteria through quota sampling procedures. Respondents who complete the questionnaire are then invited to identify other potential respondents to be part of the study. To ensure the demographics quota are met, the required quota for the sample are controlled using the feature available in online survey platform as shown in Appendix A.

Given the time and financial limitations of the study, these sampling approaches are selected. Furthermore, quota sampling is useful in collecting samples that mimic the sample population while snowball sampling can help reaching out to groups who are hard to reach and increase the number of respondents. Despite the sample generalisability issue that may arise due to the adoption of non-probability sampling methods, quota sampling, to a certain degree, can actually lead to specific representativeness (Sarstedt et al. 2017), as compared to other non-probability methods. Additionally, the advantages of using mixed techniques in research designs is the complementary strengths of different methods that can assist in overcoming inherent limitations of certain data (Abowitz and Toole 2009). This mixed sampling approach is in line with other quantitative studies in the area of personal financial behaviour, such as Magendans, Gutteling, and Zebel (2017), Hancock, Jorgensen, and Swanson (2013), Fünfgeld and Wang (2009), Ming-Yen Teoh, Chong, and Mid Yong (2013) and Bakar and Yi (2016).

4.3.4 Sample Size

Sample size is the number of units from whom one collects the required data (Kumar 2014b). With very small sample size, the results may not be able to generalised to the

population and contain sampling error that large effect is improbable (insensitive); yet having very large sample size can magnify biases and may result in all effects being statistically significant when in fact there is no practical relevance (oversensitive) (Hair et al. 2006). To determine the adequacy of sample size, a number of approaches are considered, including: (1) the confidence level and margin of error; (2) statistical analysis requirement; (3) power analysis; and (4) practice in previous studies from the similar context.

First, in calculating an appropriate sample size using the level of confidence approach, the formula employed by this study is based on the work of Krejcie and Morgan (1970) as shown below:

 $s = X^2 NP (1-P) \div d^2 (N-1) + X^2 P (1-P);$

where,

s = required sample size

 X^2 = table value of chi-square for 1 degree of freedom at the desired confidence level (commonly adopted a 95% confidence level, whereby $X^2 = 1.96^2 = 3.841$) N = population size

P = population proportion (generally assumed to be 0.50 to provide the maximum sample size)

d = degree of accuracy conveyed as proportion (0.05)

Most studies conventionally base their studies at confidence interval of 95% and sampling error of 0.05 for sample values (Bartlett, Kotrlik and Higgins 2001). Based on Krejcie and Morgan (1970)'s sample size determination table with confidence level of 95% and sampling error of 0.05, the required sample size is 384 respondents.

Second, in terms of the sample size required for statistical analysis, Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2011) suggest that the minimum sample size for PLS-SEM should be equal to either ten times the largest number of formative indicators used to measure one construct or ten times the largest number of structural paths directed at a particular latent variable in the structural model, whichever the larger. Based on the given guideline, FSE is identified as the latent variable with the maximum number of

predictors (6 predictors) in the model. Given that, the minimum sample size required by PLS-SEM is 60. While the recommended rule of thumbs based on the abovementioned 1:10 ratio may serve as a rough guideline, Hair et al. (2017c) highlight that power analysis should also be considered when determining the minimum sample size.

This leads to the discussion on the third approach involving power analysis. To ensure rigor in PLS modelling, adequate sample size is essential to achieve statistical power. Power $(1 - \beta)$ is the probability of correctly rejecting the null when it should be rejected, by which statistical significance will be indicated if present (Hair et al. 2006). Hence, having inadequate power lead to Type II error where relationships that are shown statistically significant when they are non-significant in actual. Power analysis involves three parameters, which are the significance level of the test (alpha), the sample size of the study and the effect size of the population (Cohen 1988). In this study, the power analysis is conducted using G*Power software (Lipsey 1990; Faul et al. 2013) based on the part of the model with the largest number of predictors (Hair et al. 2017c). Particularly, the sample size is determined in G*Power according to the pre-designed effect size at three levels where 0.02, 0.15 and 0.35 are classified as small, medium and large respectively (Cohen 1992). Generally, the acceptable and commonly used parameters are power of 80%, significance level of 0.05 (Cohen 1988) and effect size of 0.15 (Kock and Hadaya 2018). The largest number of predictors in this study is seven. In specific, the proposed model involves seven independent variables as predictors to risky assets investment, which includes financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing, self-transcendence, conservation, social norm and financial self-efficacy. As shown in Figure 4.1, by using the G*power software, to achieve at least a medium effect size of 0.15 at the minimum acceptable level of statistical power at 0.05 and power of 0.80, with the largest number of seven predictors, the desired sample size is 103. This is determined by the power analysis using F-tests and linear multiple regression for fixed model.

Figure 4.1 G*Power Output



The last approach considers the sample size adopted by previous studies in similar field. Prior studies in the area of personal finance resorts to a wide diversity of sample sizes regardless of the total population of the research. Some studies based their research on large sample size due to the availability of large-scale, nationwide survey census, for instance: a sample size of N= 2,000 from De Nederlandsche Bank's Household Survey (DHS) (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011); N= 2,472 from Taiwan Supervisory Commission (FSC) Survey (Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017); N=1581 from Italy's Unicredit Customers' Survey (UCS) (Calcagno and Monticone 2015); N= 8855 from US National Survey of Families and Households (NSFH) (Plagnol 2011); N= 3906 from Chinese Survey of Consumer Finance by China Center for Financial Research (Chu et al. 2017); N= 1185 from Korean National Financial Literacy Test Survey (Sohn et al. 2012). However, in many other countries including Malaysia, there is a lack of nationwide financial-related survey that is recent and relevant, hence all

required data have to be collected by the research team.

The sample size of past studies with primary data are generally smaller, possibly due to time and budget constraints, low responses rate or refusal by respondents in providing financial information. Table 4.3 summarises the sample size used by various literature in different context. In spite of the readily available and accessible secondary financial data in many developed countries, primary data collection is still adopted by some studies including in the US (Agnew and Szykman 2005; Mandell and Klein 2009) with sample size ranging from N = 79 to N = 198 and in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) (Hassan Al-Tamimi and Anood Bin Kalli 2009) with sample size of N= 290. In emerging economies, such as Tunisia (Mouna and Anis 2015; Mouna and Anis 2017) and Turkey (Kiymaz, Öztürkkal and Akkemik 2016), sample size used is in the range of N= 206 to N= 256. Meanwhile, in Malaysia, the sample size ranges from N= 133 to N= 200 (Ibrahim, Harun and Isa 2010; Boon, Yee and Ting 2011; Mahdzan and Tabiani 2013; Ming-Yen Teoh, Chong and Mid Yong 2013; Bakar and Yi 2016). Through the review of sample size in the personal finance literature, it is seen that a minimum sample size of approximately 200 is widely accepted and adopted in the field of personal finance.

Context	Sample Size (N)	Topic on Personal Finance	Author
US	198	Asset allocation and information overload	Agnew and Szykman (2005)
US	79	The impact of financial literacy education on subsequent financial behaviour	Mandell and Klein (2009)
UAE	290	Financial literacy and investment decisions of UAE investors	Hassan Al-Tamimi and Anood Bin Kalli (2009)
Tunisia	214	Financial literacy in Tunisia: Its determinants and its implications on investment behaviour	Mouna and Anis (2015)

Table 4.3 Primary Data Sample Size Adopted in Past Studies.

Tunisia	256	Financial literacy and portfolio diversification: An observation from the Tunisian stock market	Mouna and Anis (2017)
Turkey	206	Behavioural biases of finance professionals: Turkish evidence	Kiymaz, Öztürkkal, and Akkemik (2016)
Malaysia	150	Exploring the factors influencing credit card spending behaviour among Malaysians	Ming-Yen Teoh, Chong, and Mid Yong (2013)
Malaysia	200	The impact of psychological factors on investors' decision making in Malaysian stock market: A case of Klang valley and Pahang	Bakar and Yi (2016)
Malaysia	133	A study on financial literacy of Malaysian degree students	Ibrahim, Harun, and Isa (2010)
Malaysia	192	The impact of financial literacy on individual saving: An exploratory study in the Malaysian context	Mahdzan and Tabiani (2013)
Malaysia	200	Financial literacy and personal financial planning in Klang Valley, Malaysia	Boon, Yee, and Ting (2011)

Taken together, according to the aforementioned guidelines, this study requires a minimum sample size of 384 respondents to fulfil the sample requirement by confidence level and margin of error (N= 384), PLS-SEM analysis requirement (N= 60), power analysis (N= 103) and past literature in the area of personal finance (N= 200).

4.4 Data Collection Method

In general, data can be distinguished between two different forms, namely primary data and secondary data. Particularly, data that is collected for a specific purpose is categorised as primary data, whereas data collected by another researcher for another purpose is considered as secondary data (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). Due to the unavailability of recent and relevant secondary data, all the information in this study is captured through primary data collection. With that, the data collected are recent, proprietary and specific for purpose of the study (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014).

Among various ways of gathering primary data, this study relies upon self-report data through the administration of questionnaire survey. Survey is a research tool that provides a quantitative or numeric description of trends, attitudes or opinions of a target population through studying the sample of that population (Creswell 2014). This study adopts questionnaire survey as the preferred type of data collection for several reasons. First, this study aims to establish relationships between financial information, investment motivation, investment behavioural skills and financial behaviour through the integration of IMB model and theory of basic values. In doing so, the responses have to be quantified and coded into measurable variables for the required statistical analysis (Gray 2004), which justifies the suitability of questionnaire survey method. Second, questionnaire survey permits wider geographical coverage at minimal expense of effort and cost (Singh 2006), thereby allowing the selection of a large and more representative sample throughout Malaysia at relatively little cost and time. Third, as this study involves enquiring one's personal and sensitive information such as their financial assets and income, the confidentially and anonymity of respondents is of high importance. Through questionnaire survey, the respondents' identity can remain anonymous (Gray 2004). Other advantages of using questionnaire survey involves rapid turnaround in collecting the data (Creswell 2014) which ensures quick inflow of data.

As with all questionnaire survey, this study relies on self-report data where it assumes that all respondents will provide accurate, honest and truthful responses. As such, self-reporting bias may possibly exist because participants might respond strategically, conceal their financial decisions, or respond without understanding the questions (Khan, Tan and Chong 2017). With that, measures such as anonymity of responses and voluntary participation in the survey are put in place to address any form of self-reporting bias, if present. Nonetheless, as this survey is conducted solely for academic purpose, respondents are less likely to distort their responses or provide strategic answers (Menkhoff, Schmeling and Schmidt 2010). Besides, respondents consist only those who voluntarily take part in the survey, thereby suggesting their interest in financial market research and motivation to provide honest answers (Menkhoff, Schmeling and Schmidt 2010; Egan, Merkle and Weber 2014). Hence, there is no

apparent reason that respondents disguise their information level, motivation, selfefficacy and risky assets investment. In reality, self-report data are ubiquitous in behavioural research (Stone and Shiffman 2002). Evidence also shows that the largest, most reputable and popular national surveys commonly depend on self-report data, which affirms the validity and effectiveness of this methodology (Turrentine 2001).

In administering the questionnaire survey, this study opts for web-based survey, rather than paper-based survey. The web-based survey, Qualtrics Survey is chosen as the platform because Curtin University owns a site license which is accessible by all students and staff for free. Other than that, Qualtrics offers comprehensive features that is user-friendly. As mentioned earlier, the questionnaire of this study involves obtaining sensitive data from respondents. An online survey would permit individuals to attempt the survey at a time and place that is suitable and comfortable to them (Gray 2004), thereby enabling them to provide their information accurately without the fear of revealing their identity or personal information during the answering process. Due to the absence of an interviewer or administrator, interviewer bias can be eliminated, and respondents are less likely to respond with socially desirable behaviour and less exposed to evaluation apprehension in web-based survey (Grimm 2010; Sarstedt and Mooi 2014).

Furthermore, web-based survey supports survey designs with branching, skip patterns (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014) and many other build-in features that are required in this study. For instance, at the beginning of the survey, there exists option to channel respondents either to the first question or the end of survey depending on their responses on willingness to participate in the survey. The automatic summing feature in Qualtrics is particularly useful for question regarding the proportion of risky assets investment. The duration to complete the entire survey is recorded for each respondent, thereby allowing the detection of potential straight-lining behaviour or respondents who answer without reading the questions. Additionally, the "prevent ballot-box-stuffing" option is enabled to prevent respondents from taking the survey more than once. For respondents who are not able to complete the survey in one go, they are allowed to close the web browser and resume their questionnaire within the allotted time frame, without having to restart the survey again. All questions are made

compulsory where respondents are required to input responses. Despite so, as mentioned in the participant information statement, they are allowed to exit the survey as and when they want to discontinue. Lastly, the web-based survey provides file containing the survey responses that is recoded, available in multiple formats, and is compatible and readily accessible in different software. This reduces the time needed to enter the data manually and minimises any human error that may occur in the process of transferring the data.

Through cross-sectional, web-based survey, the primary data of this study are garnered from Malaysians who are 18 years old and above in both West Malaysia and East Malaysia by using a combination of quota sampling and snowball sampling procedures. The survey link is distributed to potential respondents who fulfil the inclusion criteria through email and social media platforms such as WhatsApp, WeChat or Facebook. An invitation message with brief information on research purpose, researchers' details and participating requirement are sent together with the survey link. At the end of the invitation message, a statement is included to seek favour from recipients in forwarding the survey invitation among their acquaintances. Besides, respondents are also asked for referral on potential participants. The questionnaire takes approximately 15 minutes to complete. Some respondents spend longer time to finish, potentially due to their limited familiarity with finance related questionnaire survey.

The quota for age, gender and income group are monitored through the online survey platform to ensure the distribution of survey respondents do not distinct much from the pre-specified demographics quota (see Appendix A). The data collection takes around a period of three months, commencing from December 2018 until February 2019. As a result, a total of 420 responses are collected through the questionnaire survey. The final amount of usable and valid responses is congruent with the sample size guidelines and is also sufficient for the sample requirement of statistical test.

4.5 Research Instrument

This study adopts questionnaire survey as the primary method for collection of data.

The focus of this study lies in identifying the determinants of individuals' risky asset investment through the integration of IMB model and theory of basic values. As such, the predictors of risky assets investment, which are selected based on the theoretical reasoning, empirical evidence and practical relevance, include three main categories: (1) financial information; (2) investment motivation; and (3) investment behavioural skills. The measurement of each variables is summarised in Table 4.4 and the details are further elaborated in the following subsections.

Variable	Description
Dependent Variable	
Risky assets investment (RA)	Continuous variable:
	ranging from 0-100%
Independent Variables	
Financial Information	
Financial literacy (FL)	Continuous variable:
	Number of correct responses ranging from 0-10
Advise-seeking (ADV)	Continuous variable:
	Reliance on professional financial advisor ranging from 1-5
Investment Motivation	
Attitude towards investing (ATT)	Latent variable:
	Consists of 6 items
Personal values:	Linear combination of each response on
Sell-transcendence (TRANS)	items using the weights
Conservation (CON)	items using the weights
Social norm (SN)	Latent variable:
	Consists of 4 items
Investment Behavioural Skills	
Financial self-efficacy (FSE)	Latent variable: Consists of 5 items

Table 4.4 Summary of Instruments

4.5.1 Risky Assets Investment

Individuals' financial behaviour, particularly risky assets investment, is the dependent

variable of this study. In prior literature, some commonly used asset measurement in the area of personal financial behaviour includes: (1) diversification of assets (how many different types of assets one holds) (Abreu and Mendes 2010; Mariotti, Mumford and Pena - Boquete 2015; Mouna and Anis 2015; Von Gaudecker 2015); (2) ownership of assets (whether one holds the specified type of assets) (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016; Chu et al. 2017; León and Pfeifer 2017; Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017; Hsiao and Tsai 2018); and (3) allocation of assets (what proportion or amount of wealth one allocates to the assets) (Riley Jr and Chow 1992; Gilliam, Chatterjee and Grable 2010; Duasa and Yusof 2013; Ehm, Kaufmann and Weber 2014; Agarwal et al. 2015; Khan, Tan and Chong 2017; Liao et al. 2017; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017).

The pivot of this study revolves around the extent to which individual is involved in the risky investment market, rather than mere ownership. As such, the outcome of interest lies in risky assets allocation in assessing individuals' risky assets investment. Specifically, the dependent variable is represented by the proportion of risky assets allocation. This study adopts the measurement from Khan, Tan, and Chong (2017), which is a modification of the questionnaire by Ehm, Kaufmann, and Weber (2014) to suit the Malaysian context. This instrument is selected as it is tested in the context of this study. Furthermore, it captures not only the allocation of risky assets, but also safe assets and other form of assets such as savings or current account, fixed deposits, bonds or derivatives. As the two risky assets, stocks and mutual funds are the sole interest of this study, inclusion of other financial assets in the question ensures that respondents will not confuse risky assets with other financial assets such as bonds or derivatives.

As shown in Table 4.5, the measurement consists of one question on risky assets allocation to gauge the proportion of risky assets owned by the respondents. In particular, respondents are required to allocate the proportion of their wealth between safe assets, risky assets and other assets, with 0% being the lowest possible allocation, 100% being the highest and the total proportion of three assets must sum up to 100%. Individuals' risky asset allocation is assessed based on the percentage of risky assets allocated, ranging from 0 to 100%. The variable of risky assets investment, is thus a

continuous variable which is expressed in percentage form, demonstrating the extent to which respondents are involved in risky financial assets.

Table 4.5 Risky Asset Allocation Question

Risky Asset Allocation Question Q: Assume you have RM 100,000 to invest into different types of financial assets. How would you allocate this money between safe assets, risky assets and other assets? Please allocate 100%. Financial assets (%) 1. Safe assets (e.g. savings or current account/ Fixed deposit etc.)

Total

- 2. Risky assets (e.g. stocks/ mutual funds)
- 3. Other assets (e.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.)

100%

4.5.2 Financial Information

Financial information is represented by: (1) financial literacy; and (2) advice-seeking. Section 4.5.2.1 discusses the measures of financial literacy, followed by Section 4.5.2.2 on advice-seeking measures.

4.5.2.1 Financial Literacy Measures

To evaluate financial literacy, a total of ten questions on financial literacy are included in the questionnaire. The first three questions are developed by Lusardi and Mitchell (2008) for one of the US national surveys, 2004 Health and Retirement Study (HRS) to gauge respondent's fundamental economic concepts and basic numeracy knowledge, including compounding interest, inflation and risk diversification. These questions, also known as the Big Three, are widely used in national surveys across various countries (Lusardi and Mitchell 2011b) and are adopted by past studies, including Beckmann (2013) in Romania, Van Rooij, Lusardi, and Alessie (2011) in the Netherlands, Agnew, Bateman, and Thorp (2013) in Australia, Bucher-Koenen and Lusardi (2011) in Germany, Sekita (2011) in Japan, Brown and Graf (2013) in Switzerland and Agarwal et al. (2015) in India. The adoption of these three questions by various studies in different geographical context ratify its universal usability and ease comparison between countries. Nonetheless, Huston (2010) argues that the initial instruments with only three items may not be sufficient to capture the level of financial literacy and the reliability of the measures may be questionable. Additionally, according to the IMB model, the information should be directly relevant to the targeted behaviour and readily translated into the performance of the behaviour (Fisher et al. 2006). The three questions covering mere basic financial concept are not able to quantify how knowledgeable individuals are in the area of investing, as required by the IMB model. As suggested by Lusardi (2015), sound savings and investment decision-making require knowledge beyond the Big Three questions.

As such, seven additional questions gauging respondents' advanced financial literacy are adopted from Lusardi and Mitchell (2007). Specifically, these questions assess one's knowledge on financial assets which cover the stock market function, knowledge on mutual funds, stocks and bonds, and asset diversification. As such, the advanced financial literacy questions are more complicated as compared to the basic Big Three questions. They are devised particularly to examine more advanced financial knowledge related to investment and portfolio choice (Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011). As noted by Khan, Tan, and Gan (2019), the advanced financial literacy items gauging knowledge of stocks, mutual funds and bonds are the most relevant to investment decisions. Similarly, Liao et al. (2017) claim that the advanced financial literacy involves financial concepts closely related to risky assets investment, thereby exerting greater influence on one's decision to invest in risky assets than would the basic financial literacy. Putting these together, the relevancy, appropriateness and sufficiency of the questions as required by the IMB model is validated. The advanced financial literacy questions is also employed by past studies, alongside with basic financial literacy questions (Boon, Yee and Ting 2011; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Almenberg and Dreber 2015; Lusardi 2015; Chu et al. 2017; Mouna and Anis 2017; Niu, Zhou and Gan 2020).

Following that, this study adopts the two sets of questions to provide a more comprehensive measure of financial literacy. It comprises three questions on basic financial literacy (such as compound interest, inflation, diversification), whereas the other seven questions on advanced financial literacy (such as riskiness of stocks and mutual funds, risk diversification). As risky financial assets are the prime focus of this study, the advanced financial literacy questions covering the aspect on financial assets such as savings accounts, mutual funds, bonds and stocks, and the return and riskiness of different assets, are of high relevance and may give additional insights. Some questions are modified to suit the context of the study, such as Ringgit Malaysia (RM) is used as the basis of currency. Furthermore, the option of "Refusal" is removed to minimise unusable responses. Table 4.6 presents the financial literacy questions for this study.

Financial Literacy	Questions
Basic	
Q1. Interest	Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the
compounding	interest rate was 2 percent per year. After 5 years, how
	much do you think you would have in the account if you
	left the money to grow?
	(More than RM102; Exactly RM102; Less than
	RM102; Do not know)
Q2. Inflation	Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account
	was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1
	year, you would be able to buy
	(More than today; Exactly the same; Less than today;
	Do not know)
Q3. Diversification	Do you think the following statement is true or false:
	Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer
	return than a stock mutual fund?
	(True; False; Do not know)

Table 4.6 Financial Literacy Question	e 4.6 Financial Literacy Ques	tions
---------------------------------------	-------------------------------	-------

Advanced

Q4. Stock market	Which of the following statements describes the main
function	function of the stock market?
	(The stock market helps to predict stock earnings; The
	stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks;
	The stock market brings people who want to buy
	stocks together with those who want to sell stocks;
	None of the above; Do not know)
Q5. Mutual fund	Which of the following statements is correct?
knowledge	(Once one invests in a mutual fund, one cannot withdraw
	the money in the first year; Mutual funds can invest in
	several assets, for example, invest in both stocks and
	bonds; Mutual funds pay a guaranteed rate of return
	which depends on their past performance; None of the
	above; Do not know)
Q6. Bond prices and	If the interest rate falls, what should happen to bond
interest rates	prices?
	(Rise; Fall; Stay the same; None of the above; Do not
	know)
Q7. Stock and bond	True or false? Stocks are normally riskier than bonds.
risk	(True ; False; Do not know)
Q8. Long term asset	Considering a long time period (for example 10 or 20
return	years), which asset normally gives the highest return?
	(Savings accounts; Bonds; Stocks; Do not know)
Q9. Highest	Normally, which asset displays the highest fluctuations
fluctuations (Asset	over time?
risk)	(Savings accounts; Bonds; Stocks; Do not know)
Q10. Risk	When an investor spreads his money among different
diversification	assets, does the risk of losing money:
	(Increase; Decrease; Stay the same; Do not know)

Note: Options are provided in parentheses, correct answer is in bold.

For financial literacy measures, no standardised method are established to date, as a broad range of different means are used by prior studies (Huston 2010). Studies by

Lin, Hsiao, and Yeh (2017), Lusardi and Mitchell (2007) and Van Rooij, Lusardi, and Alessie (2011) apply the factor analysis to construct financial literacy index. On the other hand, some authors capture financial literacy as a categorical variable where respondents are categorised into different group according to their level of financial literacy. For instance, referring to Boon, Yee, and Ting (2011), individuals with more than 60% correct answers are categorised as the "High Financial Literacy Group"; less than 60% correct answers and less than four "do-not-know" responses are under the "Moderate Financial Literacy Group"; while more than four "do-not-know" responses are the "Low Financial Literacy Group".

This study takes another approach whereby the level of financial literacy is measured as an index represented by the total number of correct answers out of the ten questions. For this, every correct response is given one point. The score ranges from 0 (all wrong) to 10 (all correct), with higher scores indicating higher level of financial literacy. In an attempt to explore alternative means for financial literacy index construction, Behrman et al. (2012) indicate that even more sophisticated approaches perform nearly as well as the simple additive method. This measure is frequently used in a great deal of studies including Hastings and Mitchell (2020), Mouna and Anis (2017), Chu et al. (2017), Calcagno and Monticone (2015), Ali, Rahman, and Bakar (2015), (Bumcrot, Lin and Lusardi 2013), Klapper, Lusardi, and Panos (2013) and Guiso and Jappelli (2008).

4.5.2.2 Advice-seeking Measures

Generally, in measuring the influence of financial advisors, some studies adopt a binary approach while others offer multiple options. Hackethal, Haliassos, and Jappelli (2012) construct a dummy variable for financial advisors use based on data following respondents' consultation with financial advisors or without such consultation. Similarly, Zhang (2014) captures financial advice as a dummy variable, where value of one represents respondent who received financial advice. Likewise, this approach of measuring advice-seeking as a dichotomous variables is widely adopted in past studies (Lusardi and Mitchell 2011a; Kramer 2016; Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017). On the other hand, Calcagno and Monticone (2015) assess the demand of financial advice by allowing five alternative answers from "letting advisors to decide everything" to

"decide completely by themselves". Bachmann and Hens (2015) also adopt a similar method with six options to evaluate respondents' willingness to delegate financial decisions to a financial advisor when they are making financial decisions.

The focus of this study is to capture the intervention of financial advisors in providing financial information. The main concern lies in individuals' behaviour in consulting financial advisors, rather than whether or not respondent consult a financial advisor. Hence, the single-item measure method is deemed insufficient. With that, this study adopts the measurement from Calcagno and Monticone (2015) to capture the extent to which individuals rely on financial advisors in acquiring financial information. As shown in Table 4.7, respondents are asked on their behaviour in consulting financial advisors when deciding how to invest in risky assets. The variable takes a value of 1 to 5, with 1 being the least reliant on financial advisors.

Table 4.7 Advice-seeking Question

Advice-seeking Question

Q: Which of these statements best describes your behaviour in consulting

financial advisors when deciding how to invest in risky assets?

- 1. I decide completely by myself, and the advisors simply execute my decisions.
- 2. I tell the advisors how I intend to invest and ask their opinion before deciding.
- 3. I consider advisors' proposals before deciding.
- 4. I rely mainly on advisors for my investment decisions.
- 5. I let my advisors decide everything.

4.5.3 Investment Motivation

Investment motivation is conceptualised by: (1) attitude towards investing; (2) personal values; and (3) social norm. Section 4.5.3.1 describes the measures on risk attitude, followed by Section 4.5.3.2 on personal values and 4.5.3.3 on social norm.

4.5.3.1 Attitude towards Investing Measures

In the financial behaviour research area, the literature often revolves around attitude-

related constructs such as risk attitude or financial attitude, and not specifically on individuals' attitude towards investing in risky assets.

Generally, attitude is a domain-specific measure (Ehm, Kaufmann and Weber 2014), whereby willingness to take risk in one domain (e.g. career) may be different from risk attitude in another domain (e.g. finance). Dohmen et al. (2011) reviewed the measurement of risk in different context (such as health, sports and leisure, driving, finance, career). The results suggest that hypothetical financial lotteries question regarding willingness to take risks in financial matters are better in predicting individual's financial decisions, specifically stocks investment, as compared to the general risk question. Another widely-used risk attitude measure is developed by Barsky et al. (1997) to assess individual's willingness in accepting gambles that offer higher but uncertain payoffs. It is adopted by many studies including Van Rooij, Lusardi, and Alessie (2011) and other nationwide surveys such as the US Health and Retirement Study, Panel Study of Income Dynamics, National Longitudinal Study, Surveys of Consumers, Dutch CentERpanel, and Chilean Social Protection Survey (Kimball, Sahm and Shapiro 2008).

Furthermore, other instruments with simple scale are also available, such as the 4-point scale by Dorn and Huberman (2005) and Dorn and Huberman (2010) or 7-point scale by Ehm, Kaufmann, and Weber (2014). Respondents are to indicate their willingness to take financial risk when they save or invest on a simple scale and are differentiated into four categories based on their responses. This instrument is similar with the 1989 Survey of Consumer Finances (SCF89) (Schooley and Worden 1996), and is also consistent with Angelini and Cavapozzi (2017), Mariotti, Mumford, and Pena-Boquete (2015), Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016), Jianakoplos and Bernasek (1998), Hariharan, Chapman, and Domian (2000) and Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey (Mariotti, Mumford and Pena-Boquete 2015) in measuring risk attitude.

Nevertheless, these instruments are not in line with the IMB model. They assess individuals' general risk appetite in the finance domain, rather than their specific attitude towards investing in risky assets, particularly stocks and mutual funds. Whereas the IMB model asserts that the underlying variables should have specific content which is relevant to the particular act of interest (Fisher et al. 2006). As discussed earlier, the motivation aspects (including attitude and social norm) of IMB model originates from the social psychological conceptualisation of TRA and TPB. The construct of attitude in TPB refers to attitude towards the behaviour, instead of attitude towards the object (Ajzen 1991; Yuzhanin and Fisher 2016). That is, one should not assess the attitude towards financial products (object). Rather, the attitude towards investing in the financial products (behaviour) should be measured. Hence, it is evident that the aforementioned measures are inappropriate.

Unlike other variables, instruments that gauge attitude towards investing remain limited because this is one of the first studies to adopt the IMB model in predicting financial behaviour. Fortunately, the questionnaires for IMB model and TPB are designed such that deliberate modification are allowed to suit different research context. Moreover, as highlighted by Valois and Godin (1991) and Batra and Ahtola (1991), the selection of evaluative terms (e.g., useful/valuable/beneficial/pleasant) for items under attitude construct is particularly crucial and should be chosen based on their relevance to the behaviour. Following that, this study adapts a reflective six-item scale from TPB (Ajzen and Fishbein 1972) and IMB model (Fisher et al. 2006) to examine respondents' overall evaluation towards investing in risky assets. The evaluative items are adapted from Ajzen and Fishbein (1972) because it is developed originally by the theorist for the investment context, hence they are deemed highly relevant. The evaluative terms include wise, good, beneficial and rewarding. The latent variable employs a 5-point Likert scale with options anchored by (1) "strongly disagree" to (5) "strongly agree" and the items are outlined in Table 4.8. This approach is congruent with prior studies (Lee 2009; Ramayah et al. 2009; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Warsame and Ireri 2016; Lim et al. 2018).

Item code	Item
ATT_1	Investing in risky assets is wise.
ATT_2	Investing in risky assets is good.

Table 4.8	Attitude	towards	Investing Items
-----------	----------	---------	------------------------

ATT_3	Investing in risky assets is beneficial.
ATT_4	Investing in risky assets is rewarding.
ATT_5	Investing in risky assets would improve my wealth
ATT_6	Wealth accumulation is important to me.

4.5.3.2 Personal Values Measures

In assessing personal basic values, the Portrait Values Questionnaire (PVQ) is one of the most widely utilised instruments (Gorgievski et al. 2018). The PVQ is an alternative to the Schwartz Value Survey (SVS), which is the first instrument developed to measure values with regard to the theory of basic values. Different from SVS, the PVQ is designed for respondents who are not educated in the Western schools (Schwartz 2012). Hence, the PVQ is more suitable for the context of this study. Specifically, the PVQ includes short verbal descriptions of different people in measuring the ten basic values orientations. There are several versions of PVQ questionnaire such as 21-item, 29-item and 40-item PVQ (Schwartz 2003).

In this study, a short, 21-item version of the Portrait Values Questionnaire (PVQ-21) is employed to measure the two bipolar value dimensions, which are Openness to change versus Conservation value dimension and Self-enhancement versus Self-transcendence value dimension. The preference for conservation over openness to change values is represented by the variable named conservation, whereby a higher score represents a higher relative importance of conservation values over openness to change values. In the same manner, the preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values is represented by the variables referred as self-transcendence. A higher score represents a higher relative importance of self-transcendence values over self-enhancement values. The details are further discussed in the following paragraphs.

There are several rationales for choosing PVQ-21 over other versions of the PVQ questionnaire. First, PVQ-21 is a shorter version of the questionnaire which is estimated to take approximately five to six minutes in completing all 21 items (Schwartz 2003). As compared to PVQ which consists of more items, PVQ-21 has a shorter survey length that is useful in reducing respondent fatigue. Due to the reduction of items as compared to other versions, it seems that the reliability of the measure may 129
be compromised (Schwartz 2003). However, validation studies demonstrate that the instrument reveals considerable predictive validity, with reasonable meaning equivalence across cultures (Davidov, Schmidt and Schwartz 2008; Schwartz 2012). Moreover, the reliability of PVQ-21 is only of concern when it is used to measure all 10 basic values (Verkasalo et al. 2009). This is because each value is derived from only two items (except for universalism with three items) to cover a board conceptual component of the values. Whereas for studies that collapse the 10 values into two values dimensions, the PVQ-21 is otherwise proven suitable and sufficient (Schwartz 2003). Specifically, the reliabilities of self-transcendence and conservation scales are high at 0.70 and 0.74, respectively (Verkasalo et al. 2009) as compared to individual values. Additionally, the PVQ-21 questionnaire is developed by the theorist, Schwartz (2003) for the use of European Social Survey (ESS) every two years and is administered by various studies in different cultural contexts (Verkasalo et al. 2009; Gouveia, Milfont and Guerra 2014a; Simón et al. 2017; Tulviste, Kall and Rämmer 2017; Lönnqvist, Leikas and Verkasalo 2018). Therefore, the cross-culturally validated PVQ-21 is appropriate and reliable for the study.

The PVQ-21 comprises short portraits of 21 different person. Each portrait states the descriptions on a person's goals, aspirations or wishes in life. It refers implicitly to the significance of a value without explicitly identifying values as the focus (Schwartz 2012). Respondents are required to compare themselves with each portrait and rate "How much is this person like you" on a 6-point rating scale of (1) "very much like me" to (6) "not like me at all". If the person portrayed in the description is "very much like the respondent", it corresponds with that specific value being important to the respondent. Self-transcendence values consist of benevolence and universalism values that are opposing with power and achievement values. On the other hand, for conservation values, it involves tradition, conformity and security values that are against self-direction and simulation. The 10th basic value, hedonism, belong to both self-transcendence and conservation values (Gorgievski et al. 2018) as it shares elements of both conservation and self-enhancement (Schwartz 2003). The items in PVQ-21 are listed in Table 4.9.

Table 4.9 PVQ-21 Items

Basic values	Items	
Self-Direction	Thinking up new ideas and being creative is important to him. He likes to do things in his own original way.	
Power	It is important to him to be rich. He wants to have a lot of money and expensive things.	
Universalism	He thinks it is important that every person in the world should be treated equally. He believes everyone should have equal	
Achievement	It's important to him to show his abilities. He wants people to admire what he does.	
Security	It is important to him to live in secure surroundings. He avoids anything that might endanger his safety.	
Stimulation	He likes surprises and is always looking for new things to do. He thinks it is important to do lots of different things in life.	
Conformity	He believes that people should do what they are told. He thinks people should follow rules at all times, even when no-one is watching.	
Universalism	It is important to him to listen to people who are different from him. Even when he disagrees with them, he still wants to understand them.	
Tradition	It is important to him to be humble and modest. He tries not to draw attention to himself.	
Hedonism	Having a good time is important to him. He likes to "spoil" himself.	
Self-Direction	It is important to him to make his own decisions about what he does. He likes to be free and not depend on others.	
Benevolence	It's very important to him to help the people around him. He wants to care for their well-being.	
Achievement	Being very successful is important to him. He hopes people will recognise his achievements.	
Security	It is important to him that the government ensures his safety against all threats. He wants the state to be strong so it can defend its citizens.	
Stimulation	He looks for adventures and likes to take risks. He wants to have an exciting life.	
Conformity	It is important to him always to behave properly. He wants to avoid doing anything people would say is wrong.	
Power	It is important to him to get respect from others. He wants people to do what he says.	

Benevolence	It is important to him to be loyal to his friends. He wants to	
	devote himself to people close to him.	
Universalism	He strongly believes that people should care for nature. Looking	
	after the environment is important to him.	
Tradition	Tradition is important to him. He tries to follow the customs	
	handed down by his religion or his family.	
Hedonism	He seeks every chance he can to have fun. It is important to him	
	to do things that give him pleasure.	

Subsequently, all responses on the items are reversed scored. In the measurement of values, the scale should measure the relative importance of a value to a person, that is, their value priorities (Schwartz 2012). However, respondents differ in their tendencies to use response scale, whereby some may use the upper part of the scale more yet others tend to use middle or lower part. To measure values priorities more accurately, individual differences in response scale use is corrected following the guidelines by Schwartz (2012). Specifically, each person's responses are centred on their own mean rating of the 21 items by subtracting the mean response from their response to each item. This correction approach is frequently practised in measuring basic values (Vecchione et al. 2012) as it removes the differences in using the scale, thereby converting the response into relative importance scores for each of the person's values.

The score of the two value dimensions is computed using the equations provided by Verkasalo et al. (2009) (see Appendix B). Referring to the given equations, respondents' scores on conservation and self-transcendence are derived as a linear combination of each respondents' answer on the items based on the weights. As mentioned earlier in this section, a high conservation score signifies that respondents have a higher relative importance of conservation values over openness to change values. Similarly, a high self-transcendence score represents relative importance of self-transcendence values over self-enhancement values. This measure and equation are elaborately validated by Verkasalo et al. (2009) across different countries using the ESS data. According to Verkasalo et al. (2009), the PVQ-21 questionnaire is highly robust and reliable in measuring the two-dimensional values, which is also the main focus of this study. Besides, this computation method is also adopted by other studies in measuring two-dimensional values (Roets, Cornelis and Van Hiel 2014; Zenker, Gollan and Van Quaquebeke 2014; Lönnqvist and Itkonen 2016; Roccato et al. 2017;

Lönnqvist, Leikas and Verkasalo 2018; Ahola 2020).

4.5.3.3 Social Norm Measures

With respect to social norm, the IMB model asserts that it is a function of normative belief and motivation to comply. As mentioned earlier, the two motivation aspects (including attitude and social norm) of IMB model originates from the social psychological conceptualisation of TRA and TPB. Social norm involves an individual's perception of what specific referent others think should be done regarding the specified behaviour (normative belief) and also the individual's motivation to comply with the referents (motivation to comply) (Fisher and Fisher 1992).

However, differing from the initial formulation of TRA and TPB, the definition of normative belief is recently redefined where it includes injunctive and descriptive normative beliefs (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011). Injunctive norm is defined as the perception of what important others would approve or disapprove in regard to the behaviour, whereas descriptive norms refer to the perception that important others are or are not performing the behaviour (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011; Ajzen 2015). In contrary to the original use of the term social norm, which regarded only to injunctive norms, the newly added descriptive norms in the current definition considers the total social pressure one experience when performing the targeted behaviour.

Guided by the updated conceptual definition of social norm, this study therefore measures social norm as the perception that people who are important to respondents are supportive towards investing in risky assets, their important others are engaged in investing in risky assets and they are motivated to conform to their important others' opinion regarding investment. The latent variable, as shown in Table 4.10, is operationalized using four items adapted from Fishbein and Ajzen (2011). These questions assess respondents' injunctive norms, descriptive norms and their motivation to comply with referent in risky assets investment. Scoring of each item is based upon a 5-point scale ranging from (1) "strongly disagree" to (5) "strongly agree".

This instrument is chosen to measure social norm for several reasons. First, the instrument is regarded as updated, comprehensive and relevant as it is developed by 133

the theorist, Fishbein and Ajzen (2011) wherein the measures incorporates all important elements as per latest definition. Second, it is well-tested and represents a robust and reliable means of capturing social norm in a great deal of studies across different contexts over the last few decades (Mackie et al. 2015). Likewise, this instrument is also deployed in financial behaviour studies (Ramayah et al. 2009; Limbu 2017; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), which once again proven its robustness and generalisability for adaptation in the context of this study.

Item code	Item	
SN_1	Most people who are important to me (e.g. friends/family) invest in	
	risky assets.	
SN_2	Most people who are important to me think I should invest in risky	
	assets.	
SN_3	Most people who are important to me would support my	
	investment in risky assets.	
SN_4	When it comes to risky assets investment, I want to do what most	
	people who are important to me think I should do.	

Table 4.10 Social Norms Items

4.5.4 Investment Behavioural Skills

Investment behavioural skills is represented by financial self-efficacy and the measures of the variable is discussed in the section below.

4.5.4.1 Financial Self-efficacy Measures

As the concept of FSE is relatively recent, the methodology to measure FSE is also at infancy stage (Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016). A small number of studies have adapted the domain specific scale from the general self-efficacy scale, such as Dietz, Carrozza, and Ritchey (2003) who adapt items from the Pearlin Global Mastery Scale in assessing financial self-efficacy. Meanwhile, some studies have developed the FSE scale. For instance, the financial self-efficacy scale by Lown (2011), a single-item investment self-efficacy measure by Forbes and Kara (2010), and a multiple-item

investing self-efficacy scale by Montford and Goldsmith (2016).

The present study adapts and applies the reflective five-item scale developed and validated by Montford and Goldsmith (2016) that assesses respondents' self-efficacy in their ability to make personal investment decision. Reason being that this instrument consists of multiple items, with Cronbach's alpha ranged between 0.67 and 0.88 as reported in prior studies (Montford and Goldsmith 2016; Tang et al. 2019). Besides, it is developed based on established study particularly in the domain of stock investing. These features and psychometric properties, which differentiate it from other instruments, allows for high specificity and validity of FSE as required by the IMB model (Fisher and Fisher 1992; Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003), in comparison to other alternative instruments. As this study attempts to further add specificity to the questionnaire, respondents are asked specifically on their self-efficacy in making risky assets investment decision. The items are listed in Table 4.11. Respondents are required to rate each of the five statements on a 5-point scale with options anchored by (1) "strongly disagree" to (5) "strongly agree".

Item code	Item	
FSE_1	I am fully capable of making risky assets investment decisions.	
FSE_2	I am confident in my ability to make risky assets investment	
	decisions.	
FSE_3R	I do not feel I am qualified for the task of making risky assets	
	investment decisions.	
FSE_4	Using investment information available is well within the scope of	
	my abilities.	
FSE_5	My past experiences increase my confidence that I will be able to	
	successfully make risky assets investment decisions.	

Table 4.11 Financial Self-Efficacy Items

4.5.5 Socio-demographic and socioeconomic Variables Measures

Last but not least, the socio-demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of respondents are collected. In this study, the socio-demographic indicators are

described by gender, age and number of dependents. The respondent's gender is classified between male and female. Age group is categorised into five groups: 18 - 24 years old, 25 - 34 years old, 35 - 44 years old, 45 - 54 years old, and 55 years old and above. Marital status is indicated identification with one of the following groups: married, never married, widowed, divorced, or separated. The responses of widowed, divorced, or separated are collapsed into one, under "others" to improve distribution. With regard to number of dependents, respondents are to indicate their number of dependents by choosing either one of the options provided: none, 1, 2, 3, or 4 and above.

Indicators of socioeconomic status include monthly income, employment status and highest educational attainment. Respondents are to report their monthly income based on the following eight categories: (1) less than RM2,500; (2) RM2,500 - 3,999; (3) RM 4,000 - 5,499; (4) RM5,500 - 6,999; (5) RM7,000 - 8,499; (6) RM8,500 - 9,999; (7) RM10,000 - 12,999; or (8) RM13,000 and above. To capture employment status, respondents are asked to indicate their current status between employed, self-employed or others. Finally, a respondent's highest educational attainment is classified into primary school, secondary school, Sijil Tinggi Persekolahan Malaysia (STPM), Diploma, Bachelor's degree, Master's degree, or Doctorate degree.

The questionnaire for acquiring respondent's socio-demographic and socioeconomic information are adapted from Duasa and Yusof (2013) and Mouna and Anis (2017). The summary of these variables is shown in Table 4.12. Socio-demographic and socioeconomic variables that are measured as ordinal variable are included in the model as control variables, including age, income, education level and number of dependents.

Socio-demographic and Socioeconomic Variables		
Gender	Monthly income (RM)	
Male	Less than 2,500	
Female	2,500 - 3,999	
	4,000 - 5,499	
Age	5,500 - 6,999	

Table 4.12 Socio-demographic and Socioeconomic Variables

4.6 **Pre-testing and Pilot Testing**

Prior to the commencement of main data collection, this study implements both pretesting and pilot testing of the questionnaire. These two types of testing are nonredundant as they serve distinctive purposes (Memon et al. 2017), hence are both recommended as a means to test the questions (De Leeuw 2001).

The main purpose of pre-testing a questionnaire is to ensure that the questions are clear and easy to understand, with the correct wording and sequence (Kumar, Talib and Ramayah 2013). Through this process, one can rest assure that the questions are free from ambiguity and that the respondents are able to comprehend the questions as they are designed and intended by the researcher (Sekaran 2003). Although this study adopts questions from a thorough review of existing literature, they should also be pretested to reassure their accuracy in a new context with the new survey participants (Kumar, Talib and Ramayah 2013). With regard to the sample size requirement for pre-testing, there is a lack of clear guidance wherein the desirable number of respondents range from 5 to 50 individuals (Memon et al. 2017). This study invites eight individuals to participate in the pre-testing of questionnaire. The participants are chosen from the target population of the main data collection as suggested (Kumar, Talib and Ramayah 2013). Particularly, the respondents consist of three lecturers from the Faculty of Business, two experts from the finance and banking industry, and three others from non-banking and non-academic background. During the pre-test, participants are informed to identify if there are issues such as unclear questions, ambiguous terms, lack of response options or other difficulties that may require alteration of the questionnaire. The pre-testing does not reveal any major problems, except for some spelling mistakes and formatting of survey layout. With the given feedback, the questionnaire is modified accordingly, yielding the final questionnaire that is ready to be distributed.

Following the pre-testing, a pilot testing of the questionnaire is conducted thereafter. In contrary to pre-testing, pilot testing aims to ensure the adequacy of instrument, feasibility of study, effectiveness of sampling frame and technique, suitability of research protocol and logistics arrangement (Van Teijlingen and Hundley 2001). Thus, this process typically mimics a full-fledged study whereby sampling, inviting respondents, collecting data, coding and editing data are taken into consideration (De Leeuw 2001). Following the Central Limit Theorem, the desirable sample size for a pilot test is 30 individuals as also advocated by Memon et al. (2017). As recommended, the pilot test is implemented similar to the procedures necessary for the main study, but on a smaller scale (De Leeuw 2001). Hence, for the pilot test, a total of 30 complete survey responses are garnered using convenience sampling. To verify the inter-item consistency reliability of the instrument, the Cronbach's Alpha Coefficient is computed (Memon et al. 2017) using SPSS. The findings from pilot testing demonstrate that Cronbach's alpha values for all the variables range from 0.624 to 0.930, which are sufficiently above the acceptable threshold of 0.6 (Hair et al. 2006). Overall, the pilot testing does not reveal any major issues that may arise during the main data collection in later phase.

4.7 Final Questionnaire Design

Based on the feedbacks given during pre-testing and preliminary result of pilot testing, the questionnaire is then finalised (see Appendix C). The final questionnaire consists of a cover page, followed by eight sections of questionnaire gauging different variables

as shown in Table 4.13. The questions included in the survey are adapted from past literature with proven reliability and validity, and is presented in the same order to all survey respondents.

Section	Questionnaire		
	Cover Page		
1	Attitude towards investing		
2	Financial self-efficacy		
3	Social norm		
4	Advice-seeking		
5	Risky assets investment		
6	Financial literacy		
7	Personal values		
8	Socio-demographic and socioeconomic Information		

 Table 4.13 Questionnaire Survey Sections

This study administers the questionnaire survey through an online survey platform, Qualtrics. Upon clicking the survey link, respondents are navigated to the cover page of the survey. The cover page provides the purpose of the study and an overview of the instrument. As discussed earlier, the sample population adopted for this study is restricted to Malaysian who aged 18 years old and above. To ensure that the participating respondents meet the requirement of this study, the inclusion criteria of eligible participants are also presented in the cover page. Furthermore, this section also informs respondents the expected time to complete the entire questionnaire survey and that their participation is on a voluntary basis.

The topic of the study, as highlighted at the beginning of the cover page, is related to personal finance. Hence, respondents are fully aware that the information required from them might be highly sensitive. This may discourage survey participation or willingness to reveal truthful information. To safeguard this, further measures are taken. Other than the survey being self-administered, respondents are assured the confidentiality and anonymity of their responses in the cover page. As noted by Podsakoff et al. (2003), such procedures are helpful in avoiding high evaluation 139

apprehension and respondent's tendency to provide answers that are more socially desirable and lenient.

In addition, respondents are required to read the attached participant information statement. All necessary information regarding the survey are provided in the participant information statement for the perusal of potential respondents. The information includes the nature and purpose of the study, researchers involved, respondents' rights to voluntarily take part or withdraw from the survey, potential benefits and risks associated with participating in the study and how respondents' information would be handled and stored.

Following that, respondents are to acknowledge their consent, eligibility and willingness to take part in the survey. Those who are not eligible or unwilling to participate in the survey may opt for "No, I disagree" in the consent form where they are subsequently directed to the end of survey. On the other hand, by clicking the "Yes, I agree" checkbox, they can proceed with filling in the questionnaire thereafter.

The first section of the questionnaire involves 6 items for the measurement of respondents' attitude towards investing in risky assets. The next section assesses respondents' FSE level based on five items, followed by social norm that is measured using 4 items. In these three sections, respondents are required to indicate their responses on a 5-point scale, from (1) "strongly disagree" to (5) "strongly agree". The subsequent section focuses on one's extent of advice-seeking, where five options describing different level of advice-seeking are offered. Next, respondents are to input the proportion of wealth into risky assets, safe assets and other assets that would ultimately sum up to 100%. Following that, financial literacy is examined using 10 multiple choice questions and personal values is assesses based on 21 items, on a 6-point of (1) "very much like me" to (6) "not like me at all". The socio-demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of respondents are collected in the last section.

Other than participant information statement, the survey invitation text also highlights to respondent regarding the survey confidentiality, non-identifiability, anonymity and that only the research team and Ethics Committee will have access to the raw data collected. Respondent's name or any identifying details are not collected. These techniques are proven to consistently reduce socially desirable responses and promote candid reporting in sensitive questions (Tourangeau and Yan 2007). Moreover, potentially sensitive and personal topics such as their asset holdings and socioeconomic details are positioned towards the end of the questionnaire. This is can reduce the risk of non-response (Sudman and Bradburn 1983). For socioeconomic questions, respondents are asked to choose in the form of category ranges instead of providing specific figures.

4.8 Ethical Considerations

As the research involves human participants, ethics clearance is sought before commencement of data collection. The application is approved by Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee under project number HRE2017-0631 (see Appendix D-iii) for a year, from 13 September 2017 to 12 September 2018. This ethics clearance application is later extended for another year (see Appendix D-iv), until 11 September 2019. Besides, the Curtin Research Integrity Professional Development programme is also completed within the required duration. Throughout the data collection process, all practices are conducted in adherence with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Research 2007.

Participant information statement is made available to all respondents (see Appendix D-i and D-ii) through an embedded link, before they decide whether to participate in the survey. Specifically, the participant information statement provides respondents with information outlining nature and purpose of the research project, researchers involved, their rights to voluntarily participate or withdraw, potential benefits and risks associated with taking part in the study and how their information would be handled and stored. For participants who are willing to take part in the survey, they are to inform their voluntary consent in the consent statement at the beginning of the survey.

4.9 Data Analysis Method

After garnering the targeted amount of survey responses during data collection phase, the subsequent step is to start analysing the data. This study utilises various analysis techniques in testing the research hypotheses proposed in the earlier chapters. Specifically, in analysing the collected data, there are three main stages involved, namely data preparation, descriptive analysis and inferential analysis using PLS-SEM method. The details of each stages of data analysis are discussed in the following subsections. This study employs Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23, WebPower and SmartPLS 3.0 (Ringle, Wende and Becker 2015) to perform the required data analysis.

4.9.1 Data Preparation

Before delving into data analysis, it is essentially important to prepare the collected data (Nishishiba, Jones and Kraner 2013). The first stage of data analysis involves preparing the data, whereby the raw data is transformed into a version that is ready to be used for statistical analysis. The data preparation stage comprises entering, coding, transforming and checking the data, followed by preliminary data screening. This stage aims to verify the collected data to be reliable and valid for the intended descriptive statistics and inferential statistics.

Upon the completion of data collection, the raw data collected through Qualtrics are first coded into numbers accordingly and exported to excel. This procedure ensures that the data are readable by the chosen statistical software. Next, some variables are formed through recoding or computation of a new score based on the responses given. The data are then screened using frequencies table and descriptive statistics to minimise error cause by data input thereafter.

Next, a series of preliminary analyses are conducted to eliminate low-quality data and also to validate the data fulfil the requirements of statistical analyses. The five different types of issues that are scrutinised during preliminary testing include missing values, insufficient effort responding, presence of potential outliers, common method variance and the normality of data. These analyses are deemed necessary as the abovementioned data issues can affect the quality and validity of the research findings (Hair et al. 2017c). The implementation and outcome of data entry, coding and preliminary analysis are reported in Chapter 5.

4.9.2 Descriptive Analysis

Upon validating the completeness and accuracy of data, with all the variables ready for the subsequent analysis, the statistical analysis is then carried out. There are two forms of statistical analysis, which are descriptive statistics and inferential statistics. This sub-section is dedicated to the discussion of descriptive analysis, whereas inferential statistics is detailed in the following sub-section. The purpose of descriptive statistics is to organise and describe the characteristics of the data for a better comprehension of sample population, and the detection of data patterns and unexpected congruities (Nishishiba, Jones and Kraner 2013).

In the second stage of data analysis, the data are organised with descriptive statistics to provide an overview of the respondents' profile and the overall characteristics of the data. In particular, SPSS version 23 is utilised to assess the frequency, mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum value for both latent and manifest variables. These variables include respondents' basic demographic variables, level of financial information, investment motivation, investment behavioural skills and extent of risky assets investment.

4.9.3 Multivariate Analysis

The third stage of analysing the data comprises inferential statistics, whereby the postulated relationships between variables are tested (Nishishiba, Jones and Kraner 2013). In particular, it involves uncovering the significance, strength and direction of the relationship between the variables, and also the predictive ability of the extended IMB model in explaining individuals' risky assets investment. With the advent of rapid technological advances, coupled with widely available and easily accessible analytical software, the application of multivariate data analysis methods in establishing hypothesised relationships has become increasingly essential.

Multivariate analysis refers to any simultaneous analysis of more than two variables (Hair et al. 2006). Generally, it can be classified into first-generation techniques and second-generation techniques as shown in Table 4.14. Various first-generation 143

techniques such as exploratory factor analysis (EFA), confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) or multiple regression are widely applied by social scientists. However, there exists several limitations for these first-generation techniques such as the vague differentiation between EFA and CFA (Hair et al. 2017c) and the assumption of perfectly reliable predictors where there is no allowance for measurement error (Kline 2016). With that, the more well-established and emerging second-generation techniques, also referred to as structural equation modelling (SEM), are often adopted as a better alternative (Hair et al. 2017c).

	Primarily Exploratory	Primarily Confirmatory
First-Generation	1. Cluster Analysis	1. Analysis of Variance
Techniques	2. Exploratory Factor	2. Logistics Regression
	Analysis (EFA)	3. Multiple Regression
	3. Multidimensional	4. Confirmatory Factor
	Scaling	Analysis (CFA)
Second-Generation	Partial Least Squares	Covariance-based
Techniques	Structural Equation	Structural Equation
	Modelling (PLS-SEM)	Modelling (CB-SEM)

Table 4.14 Classification of Multivariate Methods

Source: Hair et al. (2017c)

SEM is a statistical technique that combines factor analysis and multiple regressions to simultaneously estimate a series of interrelated relationships (Hair et al. 2006). In contrary to first-generation techniques where multiple regression models are tested one at a time, the second-generation analyses are able to examine multiple regression models or equations simultaneously (Ramayah et al. 2018) with multiple predictors, criterion variables, latent variables (Nitzl 2016). Additionally, SEM allows for holistic testing of multi-staged models such as mediating relationship that is not possible in first-generation techniques where the model is tested one at a time (Lowry and Gaskin 2014). Likewise, in representing latent variables, first-generation techniques require generating summated score through averaging or summing the score of observed variables (Hair et al. 2006). Whereas for SEM, both latent and observed variables can be captured in the analysis, thereby permitting the specification of measurement error

(Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015). Furthermore, confirmatory analysis and exploratory analysis are clearly differentiated in SEM depending on the establishment of priori theories (Ramayah et al. 2018).

In short, SEM provides the flexibility that enables one to: (1) model relationships with multiple predictor and criterion variables; (2) include unobserved latent variables; (3) account for measurement errors; (4) model mediating relationships; and (5) distinguish between confirmatory and exploratory analysis. Apparently, SEM overcomes the shortcomings of first-generation techniques, thereby justifying the wide-spread adoption of SEM as a choice of statistical method. Furthermore, the IMB model and all the hypothesised relationships among the constructs are tested using SEM, thereby justifying the use of SEM in this study (Fisher and Fisher 1992; Fisher and Fisher 2002). In view of the suitability and superior features offered by SEM, this study opts for SEM as the inferential analysis approach to test the research hypotheses.

4.9.4 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

There are two estimation approaches in SEM: (1) Covariance-based SEM (CB-SEM); and (2) Variance-based SEM, better known as partial least squares SEM (PLS-SEM). The former represents unobserved variables through factors, whereas the latter considers unobserved variables through composites (Lowry and Gaskin 2014). The common factors in CB-SEM and the composites in PLS-SEM are both classified as "proxy variables" (Wickens 1972; Wooldridge 2009; Rigdon 2016), which represent variables that are unobservable or simply unavailable through the observed variables in the data (Rigdon 2016). Both CB-SEM and PLS-SEM function as a tool to model and measure the relationships among multiple variables and items (Hair et al. 2017b). Nonetheless, both are distinctive with regards to their objectives, model estimation procedures, distributional assumptions, sample size requirements, efficacy for estimating reflective and formative measurement models, and treatment of construct measures (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011; Rigdon 2012; Henseler, Hubona and Ray 2016; Sarstedt et al. 2016; Hair et al. 2017c; Hair et al. 2017b; Ramayah et al. 2018).

In particular, the estimation process for CB-SEM is the maximum likelihood method

(Ramayah et al. 2018), whereby the aim is to reproduce the theoretical covariance matrix without focusing on the explained variance (Hair et al. 2017c). That is, CB-SEM focuses on minimizing the differences between the estimated theoretical matrix (theoretical model) and empirical covariance matrix (the data). Hence, it is especially suitable for study revolving theory testing, theory confirmation (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011), or comparison of alternative theories (Memon et al. 2017; Ramayah et al. 2018). Different from CB-SEM, the estimation procedure for PLS-SEM is an ordinary least square (OLS) regression-based method (Ramayah et al. 2018), in which the objective is to estimate coefficient that maximizes the explained variance of the endogenous variables. The primary focus of PLS-SEM approach is to predict and explain the key driver constructs (Rigdon 2012; Hair et al. 2017c), which is also particularly useful for developing theories in exploratory research (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011).

In contrary to CB-SEM, PLS-SEM approach is less restrictive on the distributional assumption of the data (Rigdon 2016) and the constructs' measurement properties (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011), thereby allowing non-normality in data and constructs with less than three items that are otherwise required in CB-SEM. Likewise, PLS-SEM also offers greater statistical power than that of CB-SEM due to the higher efficiency in estimating the parameter (Hair et al. 2017c). Furthermore, PLS-SEM has the ability to accommodate smaller sample size with complex model (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2013; Rigdon 2016) involving many constructs and items, and readily incorporates both reflective and formative constructs (Rigdon 2014; Nitzl 2016). In that same situation, however, CB-SEM often does not converge or generates inadmissible solutions (Hair et al. 2017b). Besides, CB-SEM draws on common variance in estimating the parameters, which conforms to the measurement philosophy underlying reflective measurement models (Hair et al. 2017b), thereby limiting the estimation of formatively specified variables (Lee and Cadogan 2013). Additionally, the pursuit of satisfactory model fit in CB-SEM often drives researchers to modify their model, add or discard parameter, or worse, to remove items or the entire variables (Hair et al. 2017d; Memon et al. 2017; Rigdon, Sarstedt and Ringle 2017). Such post modification often does not correspond well with the true model, hence may not reflect the reality (Hair et al. 2017c) and is deemed irrelevant to the real-world phenomenon

(Rigdon, Sarstedt and Ringle 2017).

These justifies why PLS-SEM is regarded as one of the most fully developed and general system (McDonald 1996) and is honoured with the "silver bullet" title (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011). At the same time, these features also triggered heated debates among scholars, whereby the relaxed assumptions and sample capabilities are claimed to be abused by some researchers, as noted by Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2013). Some other limitations of PLS-SEM include its inability to accommodate structural model with non-recursive relationship and its goodness-of-fit indexes that are still at infancy stage (Ramayah et al. 2018). Notably, another widely discusses issue, the PLS bias, which refers to parameter estimates that are not optimal regarding bias and consistency, is refuted (Sarstedt et al. 2016; Ramayah et al. 2018) and claimed as being minor relevance for practical application (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011; Hair et al. 2017c). Table 4.15 summarises the differences between CB-SEM and PLS-SEM in terms of model estimation, model specification and data requisite.

Criterion	CB-SEM	PLS-SEM	
Model estimation			
Estimation process	Estimates model parameters so that the discrepancy between the estimated and sample covariance matrices is minimized	Estimates model parameters so that the explained variance of the endogenous constructs / indicators is being maximized	
Convergence	Defines convergence as the increase / decrease in the function value beyond a certain threshold	Defines convergence as the point at which no substantial difference occurs in the model estimations from one iteration to the next	
Estimation objective	Explanatory modeling	Predictive modeling	
Treatment of construct measures	Treats constructs as common factors—only common variance is used to estimate model parameters	Treats constructs as composites-the total variance is used to estimate model parameters	

Table 4.15 Comparison between CB-	SEM and	PLS-SEM
-----------------------------------	---------	---------

Latent variable scores	Indeterminate	Explicitly Estimated
Model specification		
Model complexity	Requires models of small to moderate complexity	Accommodates all kinds of model complexity including large models with many constructs and indicators
Measurement model specification	Handles reflectively specified constructs;	Handles reflectively and formatively specified
	limitations in handling formatively specified constructs	constructs
Data		
Distributional	Standard maximum	Non-parametric; makes no
assumption	likelihood estimation requires multivariate normality but numerous robust estimators exist	distributional assumptions
Sample size	Requires relatively high	Produces parameter
	sample sizes to produce	estimates with small sample
	(robust) parameter estimates	sizes
Fit measure	Offers goodness-of-fit	Several goodness-of-fit
	statistics	criteria have been proposed
		but their adequacy and
		interpretation remain subject
		ioi iuture research

Source: Hair et al. (2017b)

This study takes the stance that both CB-SEM and PLS-SEM are complementary, rather than being interchangeable, as advocated by Hair et al. (2017b). Neither of the approach is suitable for all types of research and neither of them is more superior than the other (Hair et al. 2017c). In fact, CB-SEM and PLS-SEM generally yield comparable results, particularly when the measurement properties are correctly set up (Reinartz, Haenlein and Henseler 2009). To determine between the two SEM techniques, the key lies in identifying the most appropriate method that fulfil the data characteristics and objectives of the research (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011; Hair et al. 2017b; Memon et al. 2017). Hence, this study follows the rules of thumb listed in Table 4.16 in deciding between CB-SEM or PLS-SEM as the analysis technique.

Criterion	CB-SEM	PLS-SEM
Objective	Theory testing, theory	Predicting key target constructs,
	confirmation, comparison of	identifying key "driver"
	alternative theories	constructs
		Exploratory or an extension of an
		existing structural theory
Model	Structural model has circular	Structural model is complex
	relationships (non-recursive)	(many constructs and many
		indicators)
	Error terms require additional	Formatively measured constructs
	specification, such as covariation	included
	Requires a global goodness-of-fit criterion	Latent variable scores needed in subsequent analyses
Data		Sample size is small (PLS-SEM works very well with large sample sizes)
		Data are non-normally distributed
		Secondary (archival) data/
		Single-item measures
		Non-metric data (ordinal,
		nominal)
		Continuous moderators

Table 4.16 Rules of Thumb for Choosing CB-SEM or PLS-SEM

Sources: Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2011), Hair et al. (2017c)

4.9.5 Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM)

Following the above guidelines, PLS-SEM is more appropriate for this study due to several reasons. First, the main focus of this study is theory development and prediction, which matches the exploratory objective and predictive ability offered by PLS-SEM. This study intends to extend the IMB model by incorporating new elements, which is the theory of basic values into the existing model. Hence, the emphasis of the study is more on exploration of the newly integrated model, rather

than confirmation of the existing theory. By using PLS-SEM, the explained variance $(R^2 \text{ value})$ in the endogenous variables, which is risky assets investment in this study, is maximised. Thus, in this situation where prediction is crucial in answering the research question, PLS-SEM is particularly useful (Henseler, Ringle and Sinkovics 2009; Reinartz, Haenlein and Henseler 2009; Hair et al. 2017c) while CB-SEM is unreliable and inappropriate due to indeterminacy issue (Rigdon 2012; Rigdon 2014; Sarstedt, Ringle and Hair 2014). Likewise, PLS-SEM can provide advantages over CB-SEM for preliminary theory building (Lowry and Gaskin 2014) and exploration of new theories through inclusion of other theories into the model (Ramayah et al. 2018). Similarly, this study aims to assess if the extended IMB model fits well in the emerging field of personal finance and behavioural finance where theoretical support is often lacking (Kliger and Levy 2009; Danes and Yang 2014). Seemingly, the present situation in these fields are largely on an explorative stage that signals for further theory development. As highlighted by Wold (1985), PLS-SEM is useful for data-rich but theory-primitive situation. The finding of this study is expected to enhance the understanding as to whether the extended IMB model can hold in the area and the context of this study.

Second, the preliminary analysis in Section 5.2.2.5 indicates that the collected data lacks normality, which further justify the selection of PLS-SEM for this study. It is noteworthy that in social science, the collected data often do not fulfil multivariate normality (Sarstedt, Ringle and Hair 2014; Hair et al. 2017d; Ramayah et al. 2018). PLS-SEM is regarded as soft-modelling due to its flexibility in accommodating distributional assumptions (Hair et al. 2017c). Unlike CB-SEM, PLS-SEM is a non-parametric technique that does not need to assume that the variables conform to any particular distributions (Lowry and Gaskin 2014). Additionally, the two techniques in PLS, namely the bootstrapping and blindfolding techniques, are also non-parametric. As a result, the outcome of PLS-SEM demonstrates higher robustness when multivariate normality is violated (Sarstedt et al. 2016). As noted by Hair et al. (2017c), when data does not fulfil the CB-SEM assumptions in terms of normality of distribution, minimum sample size, maximum model complexity or other relevant methodological matters, PLS-SEM is indeed a good methodological alternative.

Lastly, the structural model of this study is rather complex as it comprises a mediator and many variables. As per guideline by Kumar, Talib, and Ramayah (2013), a model is regarded as complex when it contains 6 or more constructs, and/or 50 or more indicators. This study involves six exogenous variables, one mediating variable, one endogenous variable and four control variables, summing up to a total of 12 variables in the model. These variables consist of both latent variables and manifest variables, with some measured on ordinal scales while some are single-item measured. As PLS-SEM is not constrained by identification and other technical issues, it is useful in accommodating all types of model complexity, including large models with many different constructs and indicators (Rigdon 2014; Nitzl 2016; Hair et al. 2017b), as well as permitting the use of single-item constructs and ordinal data (Hair et al. 2017c; Hair et al. 2019). Additionally, PLS-SEM is superior in assessing mediation due to its ability in reducing measurement error and bias (Hair, Sarstedt and Ringle 2019).

Following Anderson and Gerbing (1988), the PLS-SEM results are evaluated using a systematic two-step model-building process that comprises two conceptually different models: first, the assessment of measurement model, followed by the assessment of structural model. The measurement model specifies the linkage between observed variables underlying the latent variables, whereas the structural model specifies the linkage among the latent variables based on the theory (Schumacker and Lomax 2016). In other words, the measurement model represents the association between the latent variable and its indicators, with assessment involving validity and reliability of the latent variable. As for the structural model, it specifies the association between the latent variables, which is assessed according to the significance and strength of these associations. The details of each evaluative measures for both measurement and structural models are discussed in the following sections.

4.10 Measurement Model Assessment

A thorough assessment of the measurement model in the proposed conceptual model is imperative to ensure the reliability and validity of the constructs. This is because failure to substantiate a valid and reliable measurement model leads to potentially flawed measure that could result in misleading and improper conclusions from the model. To do so, reflectively measured and formatively measured constructs should first be differentiated. This is because two of these approaches have different forms of criterion for assessing their measurement model (Hair et al. 2017c). In this study, all the endogenous and exogenous variables are reflectively specified. These reflective measurement models are evaluated using three criteria, which are internal consistency, convergent validity and discriminant validity. The relevant criteria and its recommended threshold are reviewed in the following subsections.

4.10.1 Internal Consistency

In assessing reflective measurement model, the first step involves evaluating the internal consistency reliability of the constructs. Internal consistency reliability specifies the extent to which results are consistent across indicators using the same test and also determines if the indicators of a construct are correlated (Hair et al. 2017c). A low internal consistency score indicates that the items are possibly too heterogenous (Kline 2016).

Traditionally, the internal consistency reliability measure that is predominantly used in the literature is coefficient alpha, which is also referred as Cronbach's alpha (Kline 2016). When the Cronbach's alpha value is high in a construct, it means the indicators contain similar range and meaning (Cronbach 1971). Despite its prevalent use, studies have shown the deficiencies of this approach. Specifically, with Cronbach's alpha, the items are unweighted as it assumes all items are equally loaded to the construct (Werts, Linn and Jöreskog 1974). As PLS-SEM emphasises individual reliability (Hair et al. 2017c), the use of Cronbach's alpha is inappropriate (Ramayah et al. 2018). In addition, it typically underestimates the internal consistency reliability because of its sensitivity to the number of indicators in the construct (Hair et al. 2017c).

Due to these drawbacks, another metric that is highly recommended (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011) for evaluating a construct's internal consistency is Jöreskog (1971) composite reliability. In contrast with Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability measures the indicators based on their individual loadings (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011), hence the reliability is higher than Cronbach's alpha. The composite reliability

value ranges between 0 to 1 and the acceptable values differ based on the research context. For instance, values between 0.6 to 0.7 are acceptable in exploratory research and values between 0.7 to 0.9 are regarded as satisfactory to good (Hair et al. 2017c). However, values of 0.95 and above are considered problematic because it is an indication of redundant items, thereby reducing content validity (Hair et al. 2019).

Therefore, this study adopts the composite reliability as a measure of internal consistency.

4.10.2 Convergent Validity

The second criterion to be assessed is the convergent validity of the construct. Convergent validity involves the degree to which an item correlates positively with alternative items within the same construct (Hair et al. 2017c). The two criteria used for determining the convergent validity includes the indicator reliability (outer loadings) and the average variance extracted (AVE).

4.10.2.1 Indicator Reliability

Indicator reliability represents the amount of variation in an item or a set of items that is explained by the construct (Hair et al. 2017c). The aim of reviewing indicator reliability is to ensure that the indicator is consistent on what it intends to assess (Ramayah et al. 2018). Indicator reliability can be evaluated by using the indicator loadings of the items with respect to their construct. It is recommended to have outer loadings higher than 0.708 as this signifies the ability of the construct in explaining at least 50% of the variance in each indicator (Hair et al. 2017c), hence substantiating acceptable indicator reliability.

Nonetheless, it is common where the indicator loadings are lower than 0.708 for social sciences studies (Hulland 1999). Instead of omitting all these indicators, it is important to carefully review them. The decision should depend on the influence of item removal on composite reliability and content validity. The elimination of an indicator is justifiable only when the indicator's reliability is weak (Henseler, Ringle and Sinkovics 2009). A general rule of thumb is that indicator with an outer loading of less

than 0.40 should always be dropped (Bagozzi, Yi and Phillips 1991; Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011). Indicators with loadings of between 0.4 to 0.708 are acceptable when the composite reliability and AVE of the constructs have achieved the cut-off values of 0.70 and 0.50 respectively (Hair et al. 2017c). The items should only be considered for removal from the latent variable if omitting them leads to an improved composite reliability and AVE above the threshold value (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011). Besides, items with lower loadings can also be retained when they contribute to the domain content of the constructs (Hair et al. 2017c).

4.10.2.2 Average Variance Extracted (AVE)

Another measure that are used for establishing the convergent validity is the AVE. AVE is the grand mean value of the squared loadings of all items in the associated constructs, which assesses the extent a construct is able to explain the variance of its items (Hair et al. 2017c). In other words, it is the amount of variance that a construct captures from its indicators relative to the amount of variance due to measurement error (Urbach and Ahlemann 2010). Similar to indicator reliability, the construct should explain at least 50% of indicators' variance, thus the recommended threshold for AVE should be above the value of 0.5 (Hair et al. 2017c; Ramayah et al. 2018). When AVE has a value below 0.5, it indicates that more than half of the variance remains in the error of the items rather than in the variance accounted by the measurement construct.

4.10.3 Discriminant Validity

The third step of the reflective measurement model assessment addresses the discriminant validity of each construct measure. It is one of the most crucial aspects in measurement model evaluation (Anderson and Gerbing 1988) as it ensures that the construct is empirically unique and captures a phenomenon not represented by other constructs (Hair et al. 2017c). When discriminant validity is not sufficiently substantiated, the results of structural model are questionable as it can be true or merely due to statistical discrepancies (Farrell 2010). The property of discriminant validity can be examined using cross-loading criterion test, Fornell-Larcker criterion test and Heterotrait-Monotrait criterion test (HTMT).

4.10.3.1 Cross-loading Criterion

Typically, researchers first assess the discriminant validity of items using the crossloadings method. Cross-loadings is the correlation of an indicator with other constructs in the proposed model (Hair et al. 2017c). The loadings of indicators on the associated construct should be greater than all its cross-loadings on other latent variables (Ramayah et al. 2018). Furthermore, the difference of loadings across the constructs should not be lower than 0.1 (Chin 1998). Having cross-loadings that exceed the items' loading indicates a lack of discriminant validity.

4.10.3.2 Fornell-Larcker Criterion Test

The second approach to assessing discriminant validity is the Fornell-Larcker criterion test, which is proposed by Fornell and Larcker (1981). This method, also known as the average variance extracted versus shared variance (AVE-SV) method, compares the AVE of each construct with its shared variance (squared correlation) with all other constructs in the model (Voorhees et al. 2016). Alternatively, one can also compare the squared root of AVE values with its correlations with any other constructs (Hair et al. 2017c). This criterion is fulfilled if a construct's AVE (shared variance within) is greater than the squared correlation between constructs (shared variance between). This signifies that indicators share more variance with their underlying latent variable as compared to the individual constructs share with another construct.

4.10.3.3 Heterotrait-Monotrait Criterion Test (HTMT)

Crossing-loadings and the Fornell-Larcker criterion test are predominantly employed to check for discriminant validity, especially in PLS-SEM. According to the previous guidelines by Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2013), the two criteria can adequately evaluate discriminant validity. Specifically, for the Fornell-Larcker criterion, researchers using PLS-SEM typically rely on it (Hair, Sarstedt and Ringle 2019) because it has been widely recognised as "the most stringent" means of detecting discriminant validity violations (Wang and Netemeyer 2002) in the past. The popularity of this criterion is also confirmed in other studies (Voorhees et al. 2016; Franke and Sarstedt 2019).

Contrary to the endorsement of the cross-loadings and Fornell-Larcker criterion by previous studies, there has been criticism on the appropriateness of these criteria for discriminant validity assessment. According to Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2015), "both the Fornell-Larcker criterion and the assessment of the cross-loadings are insufficiently sensitive to detect discriminant validity problems" (120). Specifically, the cross-loadings method is unable to detect a lack of discriminant validity if two constructs are perfectly correlated and Fornell-Larcker criterion fail to perform when the indicator loadings on a construct differ only slightly. Recent research also raises concern about the reliability of the two commonly used tests (Hair et al. 2017c; Franke and Sarstedt 2019; Hair et al. 2019; Hair, Sarstedt and Ringle 2019).

As such, an alternative technique, the Heterotrait–Monotrait (HTMT) ratio of correlations is proposed by Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2015). HTMT refers to the ratio of correlations within the constructs to the correlations between the constructs (Ramayah et al. 2018). It is an estimate of what the true correlation between two constructs would be if they were perfectly measured, whereby a true correlation close to 1 signifies a lack of discriminant validity (Hair et al. 2017c). A Monte Carlo simulation revealed that the HTMT has higher specificity and sensitivity rate in detecting discriminant validity, as compared to cross-loadings and Fornell-Larcker criterion (Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015).

There are two methods of adopting the HTMT to assess discriminant validity, which includes using it as a criterion or as a statistical test. To assess the HTMT as a criterion, one is required to compare it to a predefined threshold. The threshold level is debatable as some propose a threshold of 0.85 (Kline 2016), whereas others indicate a value of 0.90 (Gold, Malhotra and Segars 2001). Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2015) suggest that the choice of acceptable threshold depends on the conceptual similarity of the constructs in the model and the conservation level of the researcher. The HTMT cut-off value should be set at 0.9 for constructs that are conceptually similar and 0.85 when constructs are conceptually more different (Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015). If HTMT is higher than the threshold, one can conclude that there is a lack of discriminant validity.

The second approach of using HTMT as a statistical test can be done through bootstrapping procedure. Bootstrapping draws subsamples from the original dataset and assess if coefficient is statistically significant based on the confidence interval where the true HTMT population will fall (Hair et al. 2017c). When HTMT value is significantly lower than unity (1.00), the confidence interval of the construct does not contain the value of one, indicating the establishment of discriminant validity. While the threshold of 1.0 recommended by Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2015) have a high power to detect discriminant validity, it may falsely reject discriminant validity if the true HTMT population value matches the threshold value (Franke and Sarstedt 2019). As a remedy, Franke and Sarstedt (2019) suggest a lower threshold value of 0.85 or 0.90 instead, depending on the study context. Put differently, the bootstrapbased confidence interval for HTMT value should not include the threshold value of 0.85 or 0.90. The HTMT statistic can be used for reflectively-measured constructs and also between reflective multi-item construct and a single-item construct to substantiate discriminant validity (Hair, Sarstedt and Ringle 2019).

Taken together, the HTMT criterion is an appropriate assessment for discriminant validity in PLS-SEM (Hair et al. 2019; Hair, Sarstedt and Ringle 2019). Meanwhile, Voorhees et al. (2016) recommend both the Fornell-Larcker criterion and HTMT method as the standard for discriminant validity testing. Despite the limitations of cross-loadings and the Fornell-Larcker criterion, they are still the standard approach for discriminant validity assessment (Hair et al. 2017c; Ramayah et al. 2018). Therefore, this study will adopt all three criteria, namely cross-loadings, Fornell-Larcker criterion and HTMT criterion in evaluating the discriminant validity of the measurement model.

4.11 Structural Model Assessment

After establishing the reliability and validity of the measurement model, the next step in evaluating the PLS-SEM results is to assess the structural model. The standard structural model assessment considers collinearity, followed by the coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2), effect size (f^2), predictive relevance (\mathbb{Q}^2) and lastly the statistical significance and relevance of the relationship in the structural model.

4.11.1 Collinearity

The preliminary step in assessing the structural model is to address the lateral collinearity issue. Lateral collinearity refers to the high correlation between two or more predictor constructs at structural level. It is present when two variables that are hypothesised to be related, are measuring the same construct (Ramayah et al. 2018). The presence of lateral collinearity would easily mislead the results as it tricks through the strong causal effect in the model (Kock and Lynn 2012). As the relationship between the constructs in the structural model are derived from estimating a series of regression equation, it is crucial to assess such collinearity issue to ensure unbiased regression results (Hair et al. 2019). More specifically, high correlation between explanatory variables is problematic as it often produces high standard errors of the coefficient and unstable coefficient estimates (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013).

In evaluating collinearity issue, each set of predictors are assessed separately and the inner Variance Inflator Factor (VIF) values are calculated using the latent variable scores of constructs. The VIF value is the inverse of Tolerance value (VIF = 1/Tolerance), it quantifies the variability of the specified predictor constructs that is explained by the other predictor constructs in the model (Pallant 2013). A high VIF is indicative of high correlation with other variables, suggesting multicollinearity issue. As a rule of thumb, a VIF value greater than 5 in the predictor constructs is an indication of critical collinearity issues among the constructs (Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011). However, at lower VIF values of 3 to 5, collinearity problems can also occur (Mason and Perreault Jr 1991; Becker et al. 2015). For this reason, Garson (2016) suggests that the VIF should not be higher than 4 while Diamantopoulos and Siguaw (2006) propose a more stringent threshold, where the VIF value should stay below 3.3. Additionally, Hair et al. (2019) suggests that an ideal cut-off value of VIF should be close to 3 and lower.

4.11.2 Coefficient of Determination (**R**²)

The succeeding step is to examine the coefficient of determination, which is the R^2 158

value of the endogenous constructs. The R^2 value is a measure of the model's predictive power (Shmueli and Koppius 2011) or in-sample explanatory power (Rigdon 2012), which ranges from 0 to 1, with higher value signifying greater predictive accuracy (Hair et al. 2017c). It captures the amount of variance in the endogenous constructs accounted by all the exogenous constructs related to it, and is therefore viewed as the overall effect of exogenous variables on endogenous variables (Ramayah et al. 2018). In assessing the R^2 values, there exist different benchmark as listed in Table 4.17.

Literature Support	Level of Acceptance
Cohen (1988)	Substantial (0.26), Moderate (0.13), Weak (0.02)
Chin (1998)	Substantial (0.67), Moderate (0.33), Weak (0.19)
Hair et al. (2017c)	Substantial (0.75), Moderate (0.50), Weak (0.25)

 Table 4.17 Different Guidelines for Acceptable R²

As highlighted by Hair et al. (2019), the choice of R^2 values classification is dependent on the context and the research discipline. In the area of this study, which fall under consumer behaviour, R² values of 0.20 are considered substantial (Hair et al. 2017c). In view of the above, this study adopts the acceptable R^2 values guidelines by Cohen (1988), whereby R^2 of 0.26 implies substantial level; R^2 of 0.13 implies moderate level; and R^2 of 0.02 implies weak level of predictive accuracy.

4.11.3 Effect Size (f²)

In addition to the R^2 values, one can also assess the R^2 change effect (Garson 2016) through Cohen's f^2 effect size (Cohen 1988). The f^2 effect size determines the impact (weak, moderate or substantial) of exogenous constructs on endogenous constructs (Gefen, Rigdon and Straub 2011). It estimates the changes in endogenous construct's R^2 value upon the removal of a predictor constructs in order to determine if the omitted construct has a substantial effect on the endogenous constructs (Hair et al. 2017c). Put differently, it is a measure of how strongly a specified exogenous construct contributes in explaining the endogenous constructs in terms of R^2 values (Ramayah et al. 2018). As some might expect, this metric is considered rather redundant to the size of the path

coefficients. More specifically, when comparing the size of f^2 effect size and path coefficients on a ranking basis, the rank order of the predictor constructs' relevance in explaining the endogenous variables will often be the same (Hair et al. 2019). As such, Hair et al. (2019) suggest that reporting of the f^2 effect size is only necessary under either one of the following condition: (1) upon request by reviewer or editors; or (2) when the rank order of constructs' relevance differs between f^2 effect size and path coefficients. In fact, situation where f^2 effect size and path coefficients differ, is indicative of partial or full mediation (Nitzl, Roldan and Cepeda 2016) in the model. Following Cohen (1988), the rule of thumb for evaluating f^2 effect size is based on the threshold values of 0.02, 0.15, and 0.35, which denote small, medium, and large effects of the exogenous latent variable.

4.11.4 Predictive Relevance (Q²)

Following the assessment of R² statistics, Stone-Geisser's Q² value (Stone 1974) offers additional means to assess the predictive accuracy of certain constructs in the model. While R² measures the in-sample predictive power of the model (Rigdon 2012), Stone-Geisser's Q² value combines both aspects of in-sample explanatory ability and out-ofsample prediction (Shmueli et al. 2019). Through the blindfolding procedure, Q^2 removes the data points, estimates the parameters with the remaining data points and uses the resulting estimates to predict the omitted data points (Hair et al. 2017c). The omission distance will set to determine the pattern of data point elimination and prediction during the blindfolding. The smaller the differences between the predicted and the original values, the higher the Q^2 value, thereby indicating a higher predictive relevance (Hair et al. 2019). The proposed threshold for assessing Q^2 value is to have a value larger than zero, which confirms that the predictor constructs have predictive relevance for the endogenous construct (Hair et al. 2017c; Ramayah et al. 2018). A Q^2 value of less than zero indicates the lack of predictive relevance of the PLS-path model. Recently, Hair et al. (2019) further consider Q² values of higher than 0 as small, 0.25 as medium and 0.50 as large predictive relevance. In the context of this study, having a higher Q² value signify that the extended IMB model has a higher predictive accuracy of risky assets investment for both in-sample and out-of-sample prediction.

4.12 Hypothesis Testing

After establishing the structural model's explanatory power and predictive ability, the last step is to examine the significance and relevance of the path coefficients as proposed in earlier chapter (Hair et al. 2019). This study hypothesises a total of 19 relationships based on the integration of IMB model and theory of basic values. Specifically, the hypotheses consist of 13 direct relationships (H1a-H6a, H7, H1b-H6b) to examine the relationship between variables and 6 indirect relationships (H8-H13) to explore the mediating effect of FSE.

These hypotheses are generated according to the segmentation approach and the guidelines provided by Rungtusanatham, Miller, and Boyer (2014), Ramayah et al. (2018) and Memon et al. (2018). In particular, when constructing hypotheses involving mediating relationships, Rungtusanatham, Miller, and Boyer (2014) proposes two approach: (1) segmentation approach; and (2) transmittal approach. Referring to Figure 4.2, segmentation approach involves a minimum of three hypotheses: (1) X on M (path a); (2) M on Y (path b); and (3) X on Y through M (path a x b). As for transmittal approach, the focus lies mainly on the indirect effect, thus is sufficient to hypothesise M mediates the effect of X on Y (path a x b), without having to formulate hypotheses relating X to M and M to Y. The segmentation approach is chosen because the intent of this study is not only to investigate the mediating effect of FSE but also to disentangle the relationship between all the variables according to the underpinning theoretical model. Furthermore, Rungtusanatham, Miller, and Boyer (2014) recommends the inclusion of the direct effect of X on Y when holding M constant (path c'), regardless of the choice of approach. The omission of testing c' indicates that the mediating variables are exhaustively captured by the given model (Zhao, Lynch Jr and Chen 2010), which is theoretically hard to defend (Rungtusanatham, Miller and Boyer 2014).

In sum, this study hypothesises and tests for the effect of:

- (1) X on M (path a);
- (2) M on Y (path b);
- (3) X on Y through M (path a x b); and
- (4) X on Y when holding M constant (path c')

Figure 4.2 Direct and Indirect Effect



Table 4.18 summarises the hypotheses articulated for this study. The method in assessing the proposed direct and indirect relationships are presented in the following sub-sections.

Hypothesis		
X -> Y (c'): Information and Motivation on Risky Assets		
H1a	Financial literacy positively influences risky assets investment.	
H2a	Advice-seeking positively influences risky assets investment.	
H3a	Attitude towards investing positively influences risky assets	
	investment.	
H4a	Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively	
	influences risky assets investment.	
H5a	Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values	
	negatively influences risky assets investment.	
H6a	Social norm positively influences risky assets investment.	
M -> Y (b): Behavioural Skills on Risky Assets		
H7	FSE positively influences risky assets investment.	

Table 4.18 Summary of Hypothesis

X -> M (a): Information and Motivation on Behavioural Skills

- H1b Financial literacy positively influences FSE.
- H₂b Advice-seeking positively influences FSE.
- H₃b Attitude towards investing positively influences FSE.
- H4b Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences FSE.
- H5b Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences FSE.
- H6b Social norm positively influences FSE.

X -> M -> Y (a x b): Behavioural Skills as Mediator

H8	FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between financial
	literacy and risky assets investment.
H9	FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between advice-seeking
	and risky assets investment.
H10	FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between attitude towards
	investing and risky assets investment.
H11	FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for
	conservation values and risky assets investment.
H12	FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for
	self-transcendence values and risky assets investment.
H13	FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between social norm and
	risky assets investment.

4.12.1 Significance and Relevance of Direct Path Coefficients

In order to assess the strength and direction of the proposed relationships, the path coefficients are examined. The path coefficients (beta) represent the hypothesised relationships in the proposed model. Its standardised value ranges between -1 to +1, with value closer to +1 indicating strong, positive relationship and value closer to -1 indicating strong, negative relationship (Ramayah et al. 2018). The strength of relationship is weaker when the coefficient is closer to zero. That is, the direction of relationship is determined by the coefficient sign, whereas the strength of the relationship depends on the value of path coefficient. If the path coefficient is statistically significant, its value signifies the extent to which the predictor construct is associated with the endogenous construct (Hair et al. 2017c). A larger coefficient indicates a greater effect it exerts on the endogenous variable.

In line with the data's distribution-free nature, PLS-SEM depends on bootstrapping procedure to establish statistical inference (Streukens and Leroi-Werelds 2016). There are three methods in evaluating the significance of the relationship, which includes the *t*-value, *p*-value and bootstrap confidence interval (Hair et al. 2017c). First, by using the *t*-value, the coefficient is proven statistically significant when the empirical *t*-value is larger than the pre-destined critical value at a specified significance level (alpha). Second, the path coefficient is regarded as significant if the *p*-value is below the pre-determined level of alpha (Henseler, Hubona and Ray 2016). Third, the relationship is significant if the bootstrap confidence interval does not contain the value of zero.

The choice of significance level is subjective to the field and objective of the research (Hair et al. 2017c). Although significance level of 10% is acceptable and also common in prior reputable studies in the context of financial decisions and behavioural finance (Jin 2011; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Xia, Wang and Li 2014; Agarwal et al. 2015; Calcagno and Monticone 2015; Brown and Gray 2016; Farrell, Fry and Risse 2016; Chu et al. 2017; Khan, Tan and Chong 2017; Liao et al. 2017; Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017; Hsiao and Tsai 2018; Lim et al. 2018; Stolper 2018), this study once again opts for a more conservative and stringent significance level of 5%. By this, it reduces the occurrence of Type 1 error that ultimately leads to false positive results. This study assumes a significance level of 5%, where p-value must be smaller than 0.05 and tvalue must be larger than 1.645 for one-tailed test or 1.960 for two-tailed test to substantiate significant path coefficients (Hair et al. 2017c). To choose between onetailed and two-tailed test in PLS-SEM, Kock (2015b) recommends to refer to the hypothesised path coefficient, whereby coefficient assumed to be positive or negative should use a one-tailed test while coefficient without assumption about the direction should adopt a two-tailed test. As the hypotheses which examine the direct effect of predictor constructs to risky assets investment are directional, one-tailed testing is deemed more appropriate (Kock 2015b; Ramayah et al. 2018). Lastly, for the bootstrap confidence interval, a relationship is significant if its confidence interval at 95% does not include the value of zero. In PLS-SEM bootstrapping, it is strongly recommended

to adopt the bias-corrected and accelerated (BCa) bootstrap confidence intervals (Streukens and Leroi-Werelds 2016) with 5,000 bootstrap samples, size of bootstrap sample equal to original sample and no sign change option (Hair et al. 2017c).

Of the three methods, the calculation of *t*-value and *p*-value are more extensively and commonly used for testing the hypothesis in PLS-SEM (Hair et al. 2017c; Kock 2018). Nonetheless, confidence intervals are less prone to misinterpretation and provide information regarding the effect size, hence is more preferred to *p*-values (Wood 2005; Ramayah et al. 2018). Specifically, potential issue surrounding the reliance of *p*-value for statistical test are associated with larger sample size that lead to unstable *p*-value (Lin, Lucas Jr. and Shmueli 2013; Kock 2018). Whereas the confidence interval provides the range in which the true parameter lies (Hair et al. 2017c), whereby the interval narrows and becomes more precise as sample size increases (Lin, Lucas Jr. and Shmueli 2013). In spite of the strong pleas for the use of confidence intervals as a substitute of *p*-value (Cohen 1994; Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015), its reporting frequency remains small (Hair et al. 2017a), and reporting *p*-values and *t*-values still seems to be the solid foundation in research and publication (Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015; Streukens and Leroi-Werelds 2016).

In light of the above, this study will assess the path coefficients based on the bootstrap confidence interval method, at the same time, report the *t*-value and *p*-value to complement the interpretation of statistical significance. These criteria usually yield the same conclusion for the significance of path coefficients. In rare situation where there exist discrepancies between the outcome of *t*-value, *p*-value and confidence interval, the significance testing will rely solely on confidence interval (Hair et al. 2017c).

4.12.2 Significance and Relevance of Indirect Path Coefficients

Other than assessing the direct paths in the model, it is also crucial to evaluate the significance and relevance of the indirect paths via any intervening construct, which is known as the mediator. Mediation happens when the mediating construct governs the association between the exogenous variables and the endogenous variables (Hair
et al. 2017c), in a way that the significance or direction of the relationship between the exogenous and endogenous variables changes with the inclusion of mediator. To explore meaningful mediation effects, the key lies in the underlying theoretical or conceptual support (Preacher and Hayes 2008; Ramayah et al. 2018). Hence, in accordance to the IMB model, this study assesses the mediating effect of behavioural skills which includes financial self-efficacy in engaging risky assets investment.

To test for mediation effects, Baron and Kenny (1986)'s causal procedures remains the most popular means over the past decades, even until today. However, this approach has been widely criticised for several conceptual and methodological shortcomings. More precisely, this approach has low statistical power (MacKinnon, Fairchild and Fritz 2007), increase the probability of making Type 1 error and also fail to measure the magnitude of the mediation effect (Rungtusanatham, Miller and Boyer 2014).

In addition, the prerequisite of causal procedures for substantiating a direct effect between the independent and dependent variable without conceptual groundings remains questionable (Aguinis, Edwards and Bradley 2017), and is deemed misleading (Zhao, Lynch Jr and Chen 2010; Nitzl, Roldan and Cepeda 2016), outdated and unnecessarily restrictive (Memon et al. 2018). In situation of small sample size, insufficient power or extraneous factors such as moderation, a significant direct effect that actually present may not be detected (Ramayah et al. 2018). With that, scholars claim that the direct effect does not have to be significant in establishing mediation and argue to consider waiving the examination of direct effect on the basis that significant indirect effect is what matters (Shrout and Bolger 2002; Preacher and Hayes 2004; Hayes 2009; Zhao, Lynch Jr and Chen 2010; Rungtusanatham, Miller and Boyer 2014).

In the field of PLS-SEM, Nitzl, Roldan, and Cepeda (2016) have also shown the misapplication of Baron and Kenny (1986) method in assessing the mediation effect. Succinctly, this method may mislead findings, refute associations that are potentially significant and pose hindrance to future theory development (Rungtusanatham, Miller and Boyer 2014). Considering these consequences and the underlying limitations, it is

evident that the causal procedures by Baron and Kenny (1986) is not recommended.

Another method that is highly employed is the Sobel (1982)'s test. This method requires only one significance test instead of several as proposed by Baron and Kenny (1986), which makes it less susceptible to Type 1 error (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013). Nonetheless, this test relies on the normal distributional assumptions (Hayes 2009) that usually do not hold in social science studies (Ringle et al. 2018) and is inconsistent with the nonparametric PLS-SEM technique (Hair et al. 2017c). Hence, the Sobel test is not appropriate in testing mediation for this study (Hair et al. 2017c; Ramayah et al. 2018).

Against this background, Preacher and Hayes (2004) and Preacher and Hayes (2008) introduce the regression-based approach which is known as "bootstrapping the indirect effect" method. By using the bootstrapping procedure, the indirect effect is assessed for the mediation analysis. Similar to testing the significance of direct effect using confidence interval, the indirect effect is significant if neither the confidence intervals include zero. This approach overcomes previous limitations of the Baron and Kenny and also Sobel's test in several aspects, such as ruling out the unnecessary requirement of significant direct relationship (Ramayah et al. 2018), making no assumptions of the sampling distribution, highly applicable to small sample sizes and yielding higher statistical power (Hair et al. 2017c). In view of the above, this study adopts the approach by Preacher and Hayes (2004) and Preacher and Hayes (2008) as it is advocated by Hair et al. (2017c) as a method suited for PLS-SEM.

To analyse the results of PLS-SEM mediation analysis, Hair et al. (2017c), Carrión, Nitzl, and Roldán (2017) and Ramayah et al. (2018) highlight the advantages of explaining the mediation types for deliverance of more in-depth results, and further recommend the guidelines provided by Zhao, Lynch Jr, and Chen (2010). This latest mediation guidelines is adopted by many studies (Coriale et al. 2012; Jiménez and Mendoza 2013; Hollebeek, Glynn and Brodie 2014; Labrecque 2014; Alden et al. 2016; Busse, Mahlendorf and Bode 2016; Tsai, Chang and Peng 2016; Akhgari et al. 2018; Rosique-Blasco, Madrid-Guijarro and García-Pérez-de-Lema 2018), including those related to financial behaviour (Hadar, Sood and Fox 2013; Li et al. 2013; Huang

et al. 2014; Aspara, Chakravarti and Hoffmann 2015; Akhgari et al. 2018; Rai and Lin 2019; Ward and Lynch Jr 2019).

Figure 4.3 summarises the series of analysis required for testing mediation effect in the model. First, the significance of indirect effect via the mediating construct (a x b or p1 x p2 as shown in figure) is examined. If results yield non-significant indirect effect, it is conclusive that there is no empirical support for the proposed mediating relationship (no mediation). Then, the next step is to address the significance of direct effects (c' or p3) to distinguish between the two different types of non-mediation. If c' is significant, direct-only non-mediation is achieved; whereas if c' is non-significant, it can be concluded that there is a no-effect non-mediation.

On the other hand, if the indirect effect is significant, it provides support for the hypothesised mediating relationship (mediation) and the subsequent step is with the significance of direct effects. With significant indirect effect, a non-significant direct effect suggests a full mediation while a significant direct effect will lead to the examination of the sign of the product for indirect and direct effect to differentiate between the two different types of partial mediation. If the sign of the product is positive, complementary partial mediation is concluded; on the hand if the sign is negative, competitive mediation is achieved.





Note: p1 represents the path from X to M (also referred as a); p2 represents the path from M to Y (also referred as b); p1 x p2 (also referred as a x b) is the indirect effect of X to Y through M. p3 (also referred as c') represents the direct effect of X to Y, while holding M constant.

Source: Hair et al. (2017c)

Hence, building on Zhao, Lynch Jr, and Chen (2010), this study categorises the mediation analysis results into two types of non-mediation and three types of mediation, which includes the following: (1) direct-only non-mediation, in which the direct effect is significant but not the indirect effect; (2) no-effect non-mediation, in which both direct and indirect effect are non-significant; (3) complementary mediation, in which both direct and indirect relationships are significant and in the same direction; (4) competitive mediation, in which both direct and indirect relationships are significant but in the opposite direction; and (5) indirect-only mediation, in which the indirect effect is significant but not the direct effect.

According to Zhao, Lynch Jr, and Chen (2010), in the case of non-mediation, a directonly non-mediation signifies a possibility of omitted mediator while no-effect nonmediation is indicative of a flawed theoretical framework. As for the case of mediation, both complementary and competitive mediation represent partial mediation, whereby the effect of independent variable on dependent variable is mediated through the mediating construct, but the independent variable still explains a portion of the dependent variable that is independent of the mediator (Ramayah et al. 2018). While for indirect-only mediation, it is a representation of full mediation. As expected, indirect-only mediation is the best-case scenario whereby the mediator fully complies with the proposed model (Hair et al. 2017c).

It is worth noting that the classification of mediation type using Variance Accounted For (VAF) approach is not conducted in this study. VAF is the ratio of indirect-to-total effect which indicates the proportion of mediation in explaining the endogenous variable (Ramayah et al. 2018). This approach is commonly used to conclude the types of mediation in the past. However, due to its shortcomings, the latest guidelines for testing mediating effect (Zhao, Lynch Jr and Chen 2010; Nitzl, Roldan and Cepeda 2016; Hair et al. 2017c) no longer include the assessment of VAF as a standard procedure. Specifically, in the case of competitive partial mediation where both paths are significant yet are of opposite signs, the suppressor effect may lead to erroneous findings. Hence, this study omits the calculation of VAF in the mediation analysis.

4.13 Chapter Summary

To summarise, this chapter discusses the design of the research and methodology employed for this study. The chapter illustrates the sampling procedure, in which it justifies the selection of Malaysian who aged 18 years old and above as sample population, individual as the sampling unit, a mix of quota sampling and snowball sampling as sampling technique, and a targeted sample size of 384 respondents. This chapter also provides details on the development of research instrument, design and administration of questionnaire, process of data collection and data analysis technique. The primary data is collected through web-based questionnaire survey and the research instrument is adopted and adapted from reliable sources with proven validity. The dependent variable, risky assets investment, is measured by the proportion of risky assets. The independent variables include financial literacy, advice-seeking (financial information); attitude towards investing, personal values, social norm (investment motivation); and FSE (investment behavioural skills), where FSE also acts as the mediator in the model. Socio-demographic and socioeconomic variables such as age, gender, income, highest educational attainment and number of dependents are included as control variables. To examine the statistical significance of the proposed association between variables, the PLS-SEM technique is adopted.

CHAPTER 5 RESULTS

5.1 Chapter Overview

This chapter presents the analysis results of all three data analysis stages involving data preparation, descriptive analysis and inferential analysis using PLS-SEM method. In particular, the chapter begins with the preparation of data where it involves data cleaning procedure, followed by preliminary data screening. Whereas in the second section, the respondents' profile and the descriptive statistics of both latent and manifest variables are discussed. This is then followed by the PLS-SEM analysis which entails the measurement model assessment, structural model assessment and mediation analysis.

5.2 Data Preparation

The data preparation process involves data entry and coding, followed by a number of preliminary data screening to facilitate the correction of potential data issues or errors. This section presents the preparation of data, in which the raw survey data collected are screened and transformed into data that is appropriate and valid for further statistical analyses such as descriptive statistics and inferential statistics.

5.2.1 Data Entry and Coding

The data collection period encompasses approximately three months, from December 2018 until February 2019, where 420 complete responses are garnered. Following the completion of data collection process, the raw data from questionnaire survey are then transformed into numerical codes using Qualtrics. This is to ensure the readability of all data by the chosen statistical software such as SPSS and SmartPLS. Specifically, each of the items is assigned a number based on their categories, except for continuous variables. Some questions such as item FSE3 for financial self-efficacy construct and all items for personal values are reversed-coded as required. Furthermore, all the individual value scores are centred on respondents' mean of the 21 value scales, thereby adjusting for social desirability and systematic response sets as commonly done. The score for personal values, including both self-transcendence and

conservation score are calculated in Excel spreadsheet using the given formula as detailed in Section 4.5.3.2. As for financial literacy construct, the total score is computed automatically by Qualtrics based on the number of correctly answered questions by the respondent. The operationalisation and description of the variables are detailed in Section 4.4.

After coding and exporting the dataset, the data are further screened for data input errors. This procedure is mandatory because even minor errors can distort the results of analysis. The data is checked using frequencies table and descriptive statistics. No data entry errors are anticipated or found as the coded data are imported directly from the online platform, whereby human-generated errors are at minimal. The screened data file is presented in Excel format, ready to be exported into software for preliminary analysis.

5.2.2 Preliminary Data Screening

Data in survey-based research are often faced with the challenges of low-quality data arising from data issues such as out of range data, presence of missing values, suspicious response patterns and data distribution (Hair et al. 2017c). As such, in effort to ensure the empirical validity of the research model and precision of results, the dataset is screened and verified using different preliminary analyses prior to statistical analysis. This step is strongly recommended, whereby problematic observations are identified and treated before further analysis and hypothesis testing (Huang et al. 2012). The following sub-sections are dedicated to the discourse of data issues regarding missing values, insufficient effort responding, presence of potential outliers, common method variance and the normality of data.

5.2.2.1 Missing Values

Due to the nature of this study involving human participants, the issue of missing data is inevitable and common. Missing data is a statistical problem that occurs when one or more respondents do not respond to one or more survey items (Newman 2014). It comes under a more general concept of "coarsened data" that includes numbers which are grouped, aggregated, rounded, censored or truncated, thereby lead to partial loss

of information (Schafer and Graham 2002). Generally, missing data can be distinguished between the three categories, namely: (1) unit non-response, (2) item non-response; and (3) wave non-response. Unit non-response occurs when data collection fails entirely, which happens when individual refuses to participate in the survey or is unreachable (Schafer and Graham 2002). Item non-response refers to a situation when respondent completes only part of the survey while leaving some questions unanswered (Graham 2012). Whereas for wave non-response, it applies only to longitudinal studies whereby participants are present for some waves of data collection but absent for others (Schafer and Graham 2002; Graham 2012). Given the nature of this study, this section is devoted to the discussion on item non-response.

Multiple factors attribute to explain the occurrence of item non-response missing data, including human errors in data entry and data collection, or technical errors caused equipment such as online survey platform or computer malfunction (Newman 2014). Besides, it can be respondents' reluctance in answering some questions out of fatigue and boredom (Schlomer, Bauman and Card 2010) or especially when items involve sensitive information, confusing wordings, are placed at the end of a rather lengthy questionnaire (Newman 2014). The issue of missing data is recognised as one of the most pervasive issues in data analysis (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013). Its presence not only lead to information loss, less efficient estimates and lower power statistical test, but also cause biased results due to systematic differences between the group who responded to an item and those who fail to respond (De Leeuw 2001). For the acceptable percentage of missing data, there is still no consensus to date. Specifically, there are recommendation on adopting 5% (Schafer 1999), 10% (Bennett 2001) or 20% (Peng et al. 2006) as the cut-off. In contrast, some scholars argue that the pattern of missingness (Schlomer, Bauman and Card 2010; Tabachnick and Fidell 2013) and the statistical power adequacy (Schlomer, Bauman and Card 2010) is more of a concern than the amount of missing data.

In view of the possible detrimental impacts of missing data, a number of precautionary steps are taken to minimise its occurrence. First, the definition of any potentially ambiguous or unfamiliar terms are provided before respondent can commence with answering the questionnaire. This is to enhance respondents' understanding towards the items in order to avoid any confusion that will lead to non-response (Newman 2014) or abandonment. Second, the online survey is formulated in a way that respondents who fail to complete all questions at the present section are given a reminder before proceeding to the next page. Third, the survey is displayed in a multiple screen design instead of presenting the entire survey in single screen. This layout renders respondents' impression on the length of survey to appear shorter, thereby is useful in lowering non-response (Toepoel, Das and Van Soest 2009). Lastly, a progress bar is displayed on each page of the survey to inform respondents about their progress through the survey. By that, respondents are aware of how far they have progressed and how much is left to be answered. This strategy reduces survey abandonments and increase the completion rate (Couper 2000; Crawford, Couper and Lamias 2001).

With the extra measures taken to curb the foreseeable issue, only a minimal of one case is identified with missing data among the 420 responses collected. The Little's Missing Completely at Random Test is conducted using SPSS to examine the pattern of missing data. Subsequently, the results indicate that the data is missing completely at random, which means the data is missing without any systematic reason (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). To deal with this type of missing data, the listwise deletion method is recommended (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). By this, it means only cases with full data on all the variables are included for analysis, while cases with missing data on any of the variables are omitted from the computation (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). One of the disadvantages of this method is that the sample size may reduce substantially. Nonetheless, the listwise deletion method is deemed appropriate for this study due to the following reasons: (1) pattern of data missingness is missing completely at random (MCAR); (2) small amount of cases with missing data downplays the disadvantage of sacrificing sample size; (3) sample size can be equal across all analyses; (4) simplicity of the method compared to others. In addition, according to Garson (2015) and Tabachnick and Fidell (2013), if the missing data consists of less than 5% of all cases, the most efficient method is to delete those cases. Hence, that one observation containing missing data is discarded from the final data set before further analysis, reducing the observation from 420 to 419 cases.

5.2.2.2 Insufficient Effort Responding

Insufficient effort responding (IER) occurs when survey respondent is not sufficiently motivated to provide answers in accordance to the survey instructions, interpret item content correctly and provide responses accurately (Huang et al. 2012). IER subsumes either random (Hough et al. 1990) or non-random responding (Costa and McCrae 2008), alongside with both intentional "speeding-through" responding and unintentional occasional careless responding (Huang et al. 2012) to surveys (Schmitt and Stuits 1985). Some examples of IER behaviours includes selecting responses randomly, endorsing the same response option repeatedly, misinterpreting items or responding without regard to item content (Huang et al. 2012; Huang et al. 2015).

There are several factors to be concerned about IER. First, and perhaps most intuitively, IER is potentially undesirable as it deviates the data from being a clean and quality data as commonly required in data analysis (Meade and Craig 2012). Furthermore, the inclusion of IER responses in the data can attenuate scale reliability, internal consistency and SEM fit (Huang et al. 2012), affect the factor structure of constructs including reversed-coded items (Woods 2006), and produce biasing effect that may deflate or inflate the association among variables, causing an inflated Type I error or Type II error rate (Huang, Liu and Bowling 2015). Taken as a whole, evidences delineate that IER poses threat on data quality that may eventually influence hypothesis testing and survey findings. Thus, the employment of various methods to detect and address issues pertaining to IER is essentially crucial and mandatory.

In identifying IER behaviour, this study adopts three major unobtrusive screening approaches as proposed by DeSimone and Harms (2018), namely: (1) response time approach; (2) response pattern approach using long string; and (3) individual response variability approach. The three screening techniques are particularly useful for this study because each are proven appropriate for web-based survey (DeSimone and Harms 2018), survey that contains large number of items (Huang et al. 2015), reverse-scored items and items with ordinal, interval or ratio data including Likert-scale (DeSimone and Harms 2018). Additionally, these approaches are generally not detectable by respondents, relatively straightforward to adopt and most importantly, are able to sufficiently (DeSimone and Harms 2018) and effectively detect IER (Huang

et al. 2012; Meade and Craig 2012) without modifying the survey. Besides, the use of multiple screening methods is advisable as they are non-redundant and are helpful in enhancing the efficiency of screening process (Meade and Craig 2012).

The response time approach assumes that a minimal amount of time is needed for one to provide valid responses to survey questions, wherein excessively short survey completion time is an indication of IER (Huang et al. 2015) resulting from the absence of cognitive processing (Huang et al. 2012). In other words, respondents who complete the survey too quickly may be a sign that they answer without actually reading the questions. This technique is incorporated in the online survey by enabling the timing feature on Qualtrics. With this, the time spent on each page and the total duration to complete the entire survey by each respondent are tracked and provided by the software. The cut-off score for total response time, as proposed by DeSimone and Harms (2018) and Huang et al. (2012), is a minimum of 2 seconds per item. That is, any respondent who answer the questions quicker than the average rate of 2 seconds per item are flagged as IER. With 78 items in the survey, respondents who complete the entire survey in less than 156 seconds are flagged.

The second detection technique employed is the response pattern approach, whereby IER is detected through the suspicious pattern of response options provided by respondent. Specifically, it involves respondent who repeatedly select the same response category for a large number of consecutive questions (Costa and McCrae 2008), which for some scholars, is referred to as straight-lining behaviour (Herzog and Bachman 1981; Hair et al. 2017c; Kim et al. 2019) or non-differentiation (Yan 2008). To check for suspicious response pattern in the data, this study adopts the long string index as recommended by Costa and McCrae (2008). The long string index is retrieved from the maximum number of consecutive invariant response option in the survey, with higher score representing longer sequence of same responses, and thus more straight-lining. As for the associated cut-off score, respondents who invariantly respond to at least nine items (DeSimone and Harms 2018) in any scale set are flagged as IER. For instance, respondents who indicate at least one string of nine "strongly agree" in a row will be identified as IER.

Last but not least, the individual response variability approach is a measure of variation in responses (Kim et al. 2019), whereby the standard deviation of the responses for each respondent is calculated (DeSimone and Harms 2018). Different from longstring, this approach is able to detect not only straight-lining, but also diagonal lining and alternating extreme pole responses. That is, on a scale of 5, respondents who select 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 or 1, 5, 1, 5, 1 consecutively also raises the red flag. A lower individual response variability score indicates less variance across the responses, signalling more IER behaviour. As this approach is relatively new, the threshold value is not specified to date. Therefore, this study flags respondents who fall within the lowest standard deviation of zero as a more conservative means.

Of the 419 complete observations collected, there are a total of 19 cases (approximately 5%) being flagged as IER by response time (1 case), long string (14 cases) and individual response variability approach (19 cases). Following the suggestion by Hair et al. (2017c), these suspicious cases are removed from the dataset, thereby reducing the final sample to 400 respondents. This finding is consistent with previous literature in which one should anticipate about 5 to 10% of the sample being detected as IER if unobtrusive screening techniques are used (DeSimone and Harms 2018).

5.2.2.3 Outliers

Outlier represents an extreme response to a specific question or to all questions (Hair et al. 2017c). There are several reasons to justify why outliers can be problematic. First, outliers can be detrimental as it distorts statistics (such as mean) and have substantial influence on the coefficients of the model. Besides, it produces both Type I and Type II errors, and generate findings that only generalise to another sample with the same type of outlier (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013). With that, the detection and treatment of outliers is deemed crucial.

Generally, outlier can be categorised into two types: (1) univariate outliers, whereby the extreme value is found on one variable; and (2) multivariate outliers, whereby the combination of two or more variables are unusual and extreme (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013). The presence of a univariate outlier can occur as a result of data collection or

entry errors (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014), for instance coding of "66" instead of "6" on a 6-point Likert-scale. Having respondent that is not a member of the intended sample population can also lead to outlier (Kline 2016). Besides, it may also occur as exceptionally high or low values are a part of reality (Hair et al. 2017c). As for multivariate outlier, it is typically found in combination of variables which are rare (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014), such as spending 90% of income on vacation. For data with outliers, the treatment depends on the types of outliers identified. When there is no clear explanation for the extreme values, the outlier should be retained (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). Deletion or correction of the outlier should only be done as a remedy when the outliers are caused by error in data entry (Hair et al. 2017c), do not fit the research objective or influence the results severely (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014).

The outliers in this study is identified using both univariate and multivariate detections. The univariate detection examines distribution of observation of each variable in order to detect out-of-range value (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). The data is inspected for potential univariate outliers by observing the box plots, standardised z-score and descriptive statistics of each variable. The standardised z-score, alongside with the mean, median, minimum, maximum and range of each variable are computed in SPSS. As a rule of thumb, standardised z-score greater than a value of 4 (Hair et al. 2006) or out-of-range observations in box plots and descriptive statistics (Hair et al. 2017c) may be an indication of outlier. Results reveal that none of the observations contain univariate outlier.

Next, for the multivariate detection, two or more variables are simultaneously considered to identify multivariate outlier (Sarstedt and Mooi 2014). The Mahanalobis distance (D^2) is adopted as the multivariate detection approach. The D^2 values for each variable are assessed using SPSS, with p < 0.001 (Kline 2016) and degree of freedom equal to the number of variables. Following guidelines provided by Hair et al. (2006), any cases with D^2 /df greater than 4 signifies potential multivariate outlier for larger sample size. With that, none of the observations are noted as multivariate outlier in the examination of D^2 values (see Appendix E). As a whole, the data of this study is not affected by outliers.

5.2.2.4 Common Method Variance

The assessment of the presence of common method variance has often been required for behavioural studies where the data collected are generally self-reported. As with all survey-based data, this study faces the same issue whereby all data are self-reported, hence introducing common method variance. According to Podsakoff et al. (2003), common method variance is attributed to the measurement method instead of the constructs of interest. In the context of PLS-SEM, it means that the variation in responses is caused by the instrument rather than the construct that the instrument attempts to measure.

The most likely sources of this phenomenon result from self-report bias in which the responses for both predictor and criterion variables (endogenous and exogenous variables in PLS-SEM) are provided by the same respondent, whereas other sources of bias involve the measurement item themselves (Podsakoff et al. 2003). Consequently, as noted by Kock (2015a), the path coefficient could be inflated or deflated, leading to Type I and Type II errors that will ultimately mislead the research findings. Given these serious threats underlying common method variance, the adoption of remedies that can help mitigate or reduce the level of method variance is of immerse importance. By this, the most commonly applied procedures (Hair et al. 2017a) proposed by Podsakoff et al. (2003) are considered for this study.

According to Podsakoff et al. (2003), all procedural remedies associated with questionnaire and item design should be implemented, for instance eliminating social desirability and item ambiguity. Following this, it is also recommended that additional procedural and statistical remedies tailored to match the specific research settings are put in place to further control for common method variance. Under circumstances where the endogenous and exogenous constructs cannot be obtained from different sources, the measurement context cannot be separated and the source of method bias cannot be identified, this study implemented a combination of procedural and statistical remedies in accordance to the Podsakoff et al. (2003)'s guideline in order to minimise common method biases.

First, separation of measurement, including temporal and methodological separation,

is introduced in the online survey to separate the measurement of predictor and criterion variables. When attempting to interpret and respond to a given question, respondents usually draw on the context of surrounding questions (Dillman, Smyth and Christian 2014). Temporal separation, which refers to the physical proximity of questions on the screen or page, is accomplished in this study by presenting the survey in multiple screens. This renders the measurement of predictor and criterion variables to appear in different pages instead of having the entire survey displayed on one page. As for methodological separation, this study adopts different response format for the measurement of predictor and criterion variables, whereby predictors are measured on close-ended, ordinal scale questions while the criterion variable measured using open-ended question. By implementing the separation of measurement, it diminishes the influence of earlier questions on responses to later questions (Dillman, Smyth and Christian 2014) as earlier responses become less salient, available and relevant to respondent, thus reducing common method bias (Podsakoff et al. 2003).

Second, respondents are rest assured that their responses are anonymous, confidential and non-identifiable as noted in earlier section. All identifying information such as respondent's name and email address are not collected. This information is repeatedly highlighted in the invitation text, participant information statement and the online survey. Furthermore, respondents are also informed through the invitation text that there are no right or wrong to the questions and thus they could respond to all questions truthfully. Podsakoff et al. (2003) espouses that such procedures often help to prevent high evaluation apprehension and respondent's tendency to provide answers that are more socially desirable and lenient.

Third, the scale items are improved by avoiding item ambiguity and adopting different scales endpoints for the predictor and criterion variables. The definition of any potentially ambiguous or unfamiliar financial terms are provided before respondent can proceed to the first question. Examples for these terms are also provided throughout the questionnaire. Tourangeau, Rips, and Rasinski (2000) note that these steps would aid respondents in comprehending the questions and items in the way researcher would like them to. Also, the scale endpoint among all the variables differs from each other, hence minimising common method biases resulted from

commonalities in the scale endpoint (Podsakoff et al. 2003).

Lastly, this study also controls for method biases using statistical remedies. Some available statistical techniques include Harman's one factor test, partial correlation procedure, controlling for the effects of a directly measured latent methods factor, controlling for the effects of unmeasured latent methods factor and multiple factors (Podsakoff et al. 2003). Among these method, the Harman's one-factor test is chosen and applied to the data. This study is aware of the criticisms that the test is more of a diagnostic technique to determine the extent to which common method bias might be an issue, rather than a technique to partial off bias and it lacks sensitivity in detecting common method bias (Podsakoff et al. 2003). However, the remedy for minimising common method bias is best performed before data collection, not after (Conway and Lance 2010). Thus, the objective of post-hoc analysis should not target at reducing method bias, but rather to assess if the data is affected by common method bias after procedural remedies are put in place. In addition, the issue of common method bias is not present nearly as often as previously thought (Babin, Griffin and Hair 2016; Fuller et al. 2016) and is likely overstated (Conway and Lance 2010; Lance et al. 2010). With this, Babin, Griffin, and Hair (2016) argue that Harman's test is powerful diagnostically and indeed sufficient to detect method bias. In relation to the criticism on its lack of sensitivity, as noted by Fuller et al. (2016), Harman's test is able to capture the level of method bias which is common in survey-based studies. The authors further claim that the inaccuracy of the test, if present, more often lies in suggesting common method bias when there is actually none. Furthermore, this technique is widely-used (Podsakoff et al. 2003) and is in fact an acceptable procedure for assessing common method bias (Babin, Griffin and Hair 2016; Fuller et al. 2016), particularly in the context PLS-SEM (Hair et al. 2017a).

Thus, Harman's one-factor test is conducted, whereby the eigenvalue unrotated factor analysis results unveil that the highest portion of the total variance explained by a single factor being 24.58% (see Appendix F), which is far below the threshold of 50% (Podsakoff and Organ 1986) or 40% more conservatively (Babin, Griffin and Hair 2016). This suggests that none of the factor accounts for the majority of the variance, indicating that the data is unlikely to be influenced by common method bias. In

addition, Kock (2015a) advocates to examine the VIF in which the presence of a VIF larger than 3.3 is indicative of common method bias. With the VIF values falling in a range between 1.098 and 1.851, there appears little concern of significant bias due to common method.

To sum up, both procedural and statistical approaches are performed to minimise and detect common method bias. Taken together, priori procedural remedies are implemented to mitigate any potential method bias and post-hoc statistical remedies further infer that this study is not threatened by common method bias.

5.2.2.5 Data Normality

Data normality refers to the shape of data distribution and its correspondence to the normal distribution (Hair et al. 2006). CB-SEM rest upon the assumption that the data is normally distributed. In contrary, PLS-SEM makes no assumption on the data distribution, hence do not have specific requirement on data normality (Hair et al. 2017c). That is, deviations from normality is not much a concern in PLS-SEM. Despite that, the examination of data normality is conducted to assess the extent to which data is deviated from normality.

To identify the distribution of the collected data, this study tests for the univariate and multivariate normality in Webpower as suggested by Cain, Zhang, and Yuan (2017). The results show that univariate skewness ranged from -0.679 to 0.953, whereas univariate kurtosis ranged from -0.590 to 1.177. Following the guidelines by Hair et al. (2014), absolute skewness or kurtosis values exceeding -1 and +1 is an indication of non-normality in the data. From the results, it can be seen that univariate kurtosis values do not fall within the acceptable range, thereby signifying that the data suffers from univariate non-normality. Furthermore, both Mardia's multivariate skewness (β = 5.990, p < 0.001) and kurtosis (β = 112.054, p < 0.001) are both significant, representing deviation from multivariate normality. With violation in both univariate and multivariate normality, it further provides additional justification for the use of PLS-SEM in this study (Hair et al. 2014). The normality results from Webpower is presented in Appendix G.

Taken together, establishing the data quality in preliminary data analysis lends credibility to the subsequent statistical analysis and the research findings. Upon the completion of these five preliminary tests (on missing values, insufficient effort responding, outliers, common method bias and data normality), these results collectively highlight that the final cleaned data is not threatened by the abovementioned issues. Of the 419 complete observations collected, all problematic cases are eliminated from the dataset, thereby reducing the final sample to 400 respondents (95% usable rate). The final sample size of 400 exceeds the minimum sample requirement based upon confidence level and margin of error (N= 384), PLS-SEM analysis requirement (N= 60), power analysis (N= 103) and past literature in the area of personal finance (N= 200). With that, this study proceeds with the subsequent statistical analysis.

5.3 Descriptive Analysis

This section discusses the descriptive statistics for all variables incorporated in this study, which includes the profile of survey respondents and descriptive analysis for both latent and manifest variables. These descriptive analyses aim to provide a brief summary of the raw data before further inferential statistical evaluations.

5.3.1 Respondent Profile

Table 5.1 displays the basic socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents. As shown in the table, of the 400 respondents, there is an approximately equal balance of gender distribution with 49% male and 51% female. As for age, slightly half of them (48%) are aged between 25 to 35 years old, followed by 23% of respondents in the age group of 18 to 24 years old and 18% aged between 35 to 45 years old. In terms of monthly income, 31% of them earn less than RM2,500, followed by 27% of them have an earning ranging RM2,500 to RM3,999, 11% earning RM4,000 to RM5,499 and the remaining 32% earning RM5,500 and above. The higher income categories constitute lower proportion of respondents, ranging from 5% to 8.3%. Meanwhile, the highest educational level attained by the respondents fall mostly under the tertiary education categories with 64% being Bachelor's degree. Almost 65% of the respondents are

employed, while 18% are self-employed and the remaining 18% are of other employment status. Majority of the respondents have never married (66%) and have no dependents (55%).

	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Gender		
Male	196	49.0
Female	204	51.0
Age		
18 - 24 years old	92	23.0
25 - 34 years old	193	48.3
35 - 44 years old	70	17.5
45 - 54 years old	29	7.3
55 years old and above	16	4.0
Monthly income (RM)		
Less than 2,500	123	30.8
2,500 - 3,999	106	26.5
4,000 - 5,499	45	11.3
5,500 - 6,999	23	5.8
7,000 - 8,499	26	6.5
8,500 - 9,999	20	5.0
10,000 - 12,999	24	6.0
13,000 and above	33	8.3
Highest educational level		
Primary school	0	0.0
Secondary school	26	6.5
STPM	7	1.8
Diploma	50	12.5
Bachelor's degree	256	64.0
Master's degree	41	10.3
Doctorate degree	20	5.0
Employment status		
Employed	258	64.5
Self- employed	70	17.5
Others	72	18.0

Table 5.1 Respondent Profile (n=400)

Marital status			
Married	130	32.5	
Never married	265	66.3	
Others	5	1.3	
Number of Dependents			
No dependents	219	54.8	
1 dependent	52	13.0	
2 dependents	76	19.0	
3 dependents	24	6.0	
4 or more dependents	29	7.3	

As depicted in Table 5.2, the distribution of respondents in the quota sample of this study is relatively comparable, although with mere discrepancies, with the predetermined population distribution in terms of gender, age and income. The national statistics show that the gender ratio in Malaysia is 102 males to 100 females with 51.9% male and 48.1% female (Department of Statistics Malaysia 2018). This is similar to the evenly distributed gender aspect in the sample demographics. Similarly, in regards to age group, the actual population distribution (Department of Statistics Malaysia 2018) is fairly reflected in the sample. Approximately 48% of the respondents in the study sample are reported being in the age group of below 35 years old, followed by 18% aged between 35 to 44 years old, 7% of them aged 45 to 54 years old and the remaining 4% being in the age group of 55 and above. As for income category, the income group of Malaysian population earning a monthly income less than RM4,000 represents 55% of the population, followed by 34.5% of those who earn between RM4,000 to RM9,999, and 10.5% of those who earn RM10,000 or more per month (Department of Statistics Malaysia 2018). In a similar vein, among the sample respondents, 57% of them have their monthly income below RM4,000, 29% are earning between RM4,000 to RM9,999 and 14.3% of them are earning RM10,000 and above. Overall, the sample is reasonably representative of the Malaysian population with respect to gender, age and income.

 Table 5.2 Gender, age and income of sample and population (n=400)

	Population (%)	Sample (%)
Gender		
Male	51.9	49.0

Female	48.1	51.0	
Age			
Below 35 years old	61.7	48.3	
35 - 44 years old	14.5	17.5	
45 - 54 years old	11.6	7.3	
55 years old and above	12.2	4.0	
Monthly income (RM)			
Less than 4,000	55.0	57.3	
4,000 - 9,999	34.5	28.6	
10,000 and above	10.5	14.3	

5.3.2 Descriptive Statistics of Latent Variable

Latent variables are not directly observable but rather assessed using manifest variables which are also known as items or indicators (Hair et al. 2017c). In total, there are three latent variables in the model of this study. The mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum value of each items in the three latent variables are assessed (see Appendix H). Table 5.3 presents the descriptive statistics for all indicators in this study.

Construct	Indicator	Min	Max	Mean	Standard Deviation
Attitude towards Investing	ATT_1	1	5	3.04	0.99
-	ATT_2	1	5	3.14	0.99
	ATT_3	1	5	3.35	0.93
	ATT_4	1	5	3.50	1.00
	ATT_5	1	5	3.30	1.03
	ATT_6	1	5	4.11	0.96
Social Norm	SOC_1	1	5	2.84	1.05
	SOC_2	1	5	2.62	1.03
	SOC_3	1	5	2.76	1.04
	SOC_4	1	5	3.01	1.11
Financial Self-Efficacy	FSE_1	1	5	2.76	1.15
	FSE_2	1	5	2.71	1.13
	FSE_3	1	5	2.77	1.15
	FSE_4	1	5	3.22	1.05

Table 5.3 Descriptive Statistics for Latent Variables

5.3.3 Descriptive Statistics of Manifest Variable

This section presents the descriptive statistics of all five manifest variables used in this study, which include risky assets allocation, financial literacy, advice-seeking and personal values. The mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum value of each variables are assessed (see Appendix H).

5.3.3.1 Risky Assets Allocation

The descriptive statistics of respondents' assets allocation is reported in Table 5.4. The mean for risky assets is recorded at 28.5%, suggesting that on average, respondents are willing to invest 29% of their wealth in risky assets. The standard deviation falls at 18.97. As compared to risky assets, the mean allocation for safe assets is relatively higher at 52% whereas the mean allocation for other assets is relatively lower at 19.6%. Next, the minimum amount of assets allocation for all three assets is 0% whereas the maximum amount of allocation is 100%. This indicates that the receptiveness in stocks and mutual funds investing is rather extreme among the respondents where some are willing to place all their wealth into risky assets, yet some prefer not to hold any risky assets at all.

Assets Allocation	Min	Max	Mean	Standard Deviation
Safe Assets	0	100	51.99	22.90
Risky Assets	0	100	28.47	18.97
Other Assets	0	100	19.55	14.92

 Table 5.4 Descriptive Statistics for Risky Assets Allocation

Table 5.5 documents the frequency and percentage of respondents in each band of the allocated proportion of risky assets. The largest group of respondents (25.5%) fall within the range of 20-29% allocation in risky assets, followed by 21.5% of respondents investing 30-39%. It is also reported that about 25.5% of the respondents invest less than 20% while only 8% of them are willing to invest at least 60% in risky assets.

Risky Assets Allocation (%)	Frequency	Percentage (%)
< 10	38	9.5
10 - 19	64	16.0
20 - 29	102	25.5
30 - 39	86	21.5
40 - 49	31	7.8
50 - 59	47	11.8
60 and above	32	8.0
Total	400	100

Table 5.5 Extent of Risky Assets Allocation

The summary statistics shown in Table 5.6 distinguishes the mean of risky assets allocation across the demographic subgroups. It exhibits a substantial mean difference between gender where male respondents tend to hold a higher proportion of risky assets (33.3%) as compared to female (23.8%). Those who aged between 35 to 54 years old also constitute a higher mean of risky assets proportion than those in other age groups. This trend may occur due to the reason that individuals in these age groups have been working for years and thus are able to start accumulating their wealth in risky assets, whereas younger individuals may still be at the stage of wealth creation and elder individuals may be limiting their risky exposure as they are near retirement age. The proportion of risky assets are the highest among those with doctorate degree and lowest for those with secondary school as highest educational level. Likewise, respondents who are self-employed, neither married nor never married, or have three dependents also hold a higher proportion of risky assets.

	Mean	Standard Deviation
Gender		
Male	33.32	21.01
Female	23.81	15.51
Age		
18 - 24 years old	27.21	16.84
25 - 34 years old	27.49	17.88
35 - 44 years old	30.62	22.34
45 - 54 years old	35.69	21.16
55 years old and above	25.00	22.29

Table 5.6 Descriptive Statistics for Risky Assets Allocation by Demographics

Monthly income (RM)		
Less than 2,500	22.81	14.55
2,500 - 3,999	29.58	17.73
4,000 - 5,499	29.33	19.99
5,500 - 6,999	28.70	17.07
7,000 - 8,499	30.58	17.17
8,500 - 9,999	39.50	25.28
10,000 - 12,999	28.89	20.78
13,000 and above	35.97	26.92
Highest educational level		
Secondary school	21.54	13.40
STPM	22.14	11.07
Diploma	29.70	17.42
Bachelor's degree	27.84	18.63
Master's degree	32.07	21.48
Doctorate degree	37.30	26.26
Employment status		
Employed	28.88	18.37
Self- employed	31.06	22.85
Others	24.47	16.57
Marital status		
Married	30.45	21.25
Never married	27.39	17.61
Others	34.20	26.71
Number of Dependents		
No dependents	27.18	17.74
1 dependent	30.08	16.73
2 dependents	28.95	20.58
3 dependents	35.63	25.55
4 or more dependents	28.10	21.15

5.3.3.2 Financial Literacy

Table 5.7 demonstrates the descriptive statistics relating to financial literacy score. The mean score of financial literacy is 5.9 out of a maximum of 10, which indicates a moderate level of financial literacy. This finding is similar to those reported by past studies in the Malaysian context (Boon, Yee and Ting 2011; Atkinson and Messy

2012; Ali, Rahman and Bakar 2015; Sabri and Zakaria 2015; Janor et al. 2016; Khan, Tan and Gan 2019). This shows the current financial literacy level among the Malaysians has not enhanced over the past decade and still has room for further improvement.

To further explore financial literacy and its influence on risky assets (later in the structural model analysis), the financial literacy measure is decomposed into two: basic financial literacy and advanced financial literacy which respectively defined as the basic and advanced financial knowledge. This is to assess if basic financial knowledge alone is sufficient to encourage participation in the risky financial market and also if individuals who involve in risky assets investment understand the financial products they are investing.

Respondents' basic financial literacy recorded a mean of 2.15 out of 3, which is around 72% out of 100%. On the other hand, advanced financial literacy has a mean score of 3.76 out of 7, making up 54% out of 100%, which is relatively lower than the basic financial literacy. The results suggest that respondents are mostly unfamiliar with advanced financial information.

Score	Min	Max	Mean	Standard Deviation
Financial Literacy	0	10	5.90	2.53
Basic Financial Literacy	0	3	2.15	0.90
Advanced Financial Literacy	0	7	3.76	1.97

 Table 5.7 Descriptive Statistics for Financial Literacy Score

The distribution of responses to each of the ten financial literacy questions is presented in Table 5.8. The respondents' basic financial literacy is assessed through the first three questions. As shown, the respondents are knowledgeable about interest compounding as demonstrated by the highest correct responses with a huge majority of 84% respondents understanding the benefit of compounding interest on their savings. Besides, 70% of them know that they will have a lower purchasing power if the inflation rate outweighs the interest rate. The third question on diversification examines one's understanding on the diversification benefit between a single company stock and stock in mutual funds. With 61% correct responses, it is apparent that respondents are less familiar with the diversification benefit of financial products. Overall, the relatively high correct response rates in these three basic financial literacy questions indicate that most respondents are able to understand the basic economics concepts that is relevant to daily activities.

As for advanced financial literacy questions, respondents generally have a better understanding on risk, such as asset risk (72%), risk diversification (67%) and stock or bond risk (67%), suggesting that respondents are aware of the risk aspect of financial products. Meanwhile, there are significant reduction in the correct responses for questions which are related to more complex and sophisticated aspects of the financial products. For instance, more than half of them cannot state the relationship between bond and interest rate (correct percentage = 28%), do not know the function of stock market (correct percentage = 46%) and are unaware that stocks can give the highest return as compared to bonds and savings account in long term (correct percentage = 46%). Additionally, only half (50%) of the respondents correctly responded on mutual fund's product feature. These reflect that Malaysian respondents are not well informed about the financial products such as bonds, stocks and mutual funds.

Question	Correct percentage (%)
Q1. Interest compounding	83.8
Q2. Inflation	70.3
Q3. Diversification (stocks)	60.5
Q4. Stock market function	46.3
Q5. Mutual fund	50.0
Q6. Bond and interest	28.0
Q7. Stock/bond risk	66.8
Q8. Asset return	45.5
Q9. Asset risk	72.0
Q10. Risk diversification	67.3

Table	5.81	Financial	Literacy	bv (Ouestion

Table 5.9 provides the summary of financial literacy scores by respondents. About

16% respondents manage to provide six correct responses while 7% respondents correctly answer all ten questions and less than 2% respondents answer all ten questions wrongly. The results also indicate that 41% of respondents have scored less than the average score of 5.9. In general, all these findings reveal that many respondents are not fully equipped with adequate financial knowledge, therefore may not be capable of making informed financial decisions related to asset allocation.

Financial Literacy		Percentage
Score	Frequency	(%)
0	7	1.8
1	20	5.0
2	18	4.5
3	29	7.3
4	37	9.3
5	53	13.3
6	62	15.5
7	52	13.0
8	58	14.5
9	35	8.8
10	29	7.3
Total	400	100

 Table 5.9 Distribution of Financial Literacy Score

The mean score of financial literacy by respondents' socio-demographic characteristics are shown in Table 5.10. The statistics show that financial literacy mean score are highest for the age group of 55 years old and above among all the other age groups. In addition, male respondents are more financially informed than female respondents. Higher financial literacy mean score is also captured in individuals with higher income level and higher education attainment. The results are consistent with most major advanced and emerging economies where financial literacy appears higher among male, the higher income earners and the highly educated (S&P). Each group has an average score within the range of 5.2 to 7.79, except for four subgroups with mean score less than 5.2. Not surprisingly, the five subgroups comprise of those who aged between 18 to 24 years old, monthly income less than RM2,500, have secondary school as highest educational level, or neither employed nor self-employed. It is important to acknowledge the literacy gap among these groups as they are financially

vulnerable and more prone to financial challenges, thus deserving more attention.

	Mean	Standard Deviation
Gender		
Male	6.35	2.52
Female	5.48	2.48
Age		
18 - 24 years old	4.62	2.52
25 - 34 years old	5.84	2.41
35 - 44 years old	6.77	2.20
45 - 54 years old	7 28	2.20
55 years old and above	7.75	2.57
Monthly income (RM)		
Less than 2,500	4.42	2.40
2,500 - 3,999	5.87	2.48
4,000 - 5,499	6.22	1.78
5,500 - 6,999	7.04	2.08
7,000 - 8,499	6.92	2.35
8,500 - 9,999	6.85	1.95
10,000 - 12,999	7.46	1.59
13,000 and above	7.79	2.42
Highest educational level		
Secondary school	4.81	2.17
STPM	5.29	3.73
Diploma	5.46	2.35
Bachelor's degree	5.82	2.57
Master's degree	7.00	2.10
Doctorate degree	7.50	2.16
Employment status		
Employed	6.28	2.41
Self- employed	5.81	2.54
Others	4.65	2.59
Marital status		
Married	6.85	2.43
Never married	5.44	2.46
Others	5.60	2.70

 Table 5.10 Descriptive Statistics for Financial Literacy Score by Demographics

Number of Dependents		
No dependents	5.74	2.49
1 dependent	5.48	2.84
2 dependents	6.39	2.53
3 dependents	6.96	2.22
4 or more dependents	5.69	2.25

5.3.3.3 Advice-seeking

Table 5.11 displays respondents' advice-seeking behaviour when making investment decision. It is reported that only 15% of respondents decide completely by themselves and the advisor only execute their decision. These individuals do not seek professional advices that are offered by financial institutions. Rather, they make decision based on their own knowledge and judgement. Majority of them (74%) seek for advice before deciding. Only less than 2% of them fully rely on financial advisors and delegate their investment decision making to the professional.

	Frequency	Percentage (%)
1 = Self decide	63	15.8
2 = Inform advisor on decision and seek		
advisor's advice	146	36.5
3 = Consider advisor's proposal	151	37.8
4 = Rely mainly on advisor's advice	34	8.5
5 = Let advisor decide everything	6	1.5
Total	400	100

Table 5.11 Extent of Advice-seeking

5.3.3.4 Personal Values

The descriptive statistics of respondents' personal values, which includes conservation and self-transcendence are listed in Table 5.12. The conservation score has a mean of 89.89, with a minimum of 66.43 and maximum of 115.27. On the other hand, self-transcendence recorded a mean of 74.9. The minimum score is 38.86 while the maximum is 109.8.

Construct	Min	Max	Mean	Standard Deviation
Conservation	66.43	115.27	89.89	8.03
Self-transcendence	38.86	109.80	74.90	9.08

Table 5.12 Descriptive Statistics for Personal Values

Table 5.13 documents the mean score of conservation and self-transcendence by respondents' demographic. As expected, female have a slightly higher mean score than male in both conservation and self-transcendence. This suggests that female place relatively higher importance of conservation values over openness to change values and also self-transcendence over self-enhancement. The statistics also depict that both conservation and self-transcendence increase monotonically with each age groups. These trends are consistent with prior studies in which both values are higher in female and older individuals (Verkasalo et al. 2009). Higher conservation scores are also found among higher-income group, particularly those who earn RM5,500 and above. As for educational level, doctoral graduates are the most conservative while respondents who are secondary school graduate have the highest self-transcendence score. It is also worth noting that conservation scores show a gradually increasing trend with the number of dependents. Put differently, those who have more dependents tend to act more conservatively in daily life. Besides, respondents who are married or own only one dependent appear to score higher in self-transcendence dimension.

	Conservation		Self-Tr	anscendence
	Mean	Standard Deviation	Mean	Standard Deviation
Gender				
Male	89.36	8.12	74.56	9.09
Female	90.40	7.96	75.23	9.10
Age				
18 - 24 years old	89.32	7.86	73.20	8.61
25 - 34 years old	89.36	8.13	74.92	9.44
35 - 44 years old	90.02	7.08	74.29	7.87
45 - 54 years old	91.83	8.98	78.97	10.11
55 years old and above	95.43	8.54	79.70	7.35

Table 5.13 Conservation and Self-Transcendence Mean Score by Demographics

Monthly income (RM)				
Less than 2,500	89.47	8.46	74.92	9.83
2,500 - 3,999	88.41	7.14	73.62	7.56
4,000 - 5,499	89.79	6.35	74.78	8.82
5,500 - 6,999	90.23	7.26	76.94	9.84
7,000 - 8,499	92.33	8.73	75.71	11.02
8,500 - 9,999	92.59	7.98	76.08	11.00
10,000 - 12,999	92.09	8.39	74.76	9.81
13,000 and above	90.96	10.22	76.44	7.24
Highest educational level				
Secondary school	88.92	8.40	77.16	11.76
STPM	89.84	9.18	71.15	7.63
Diploma	88.80	6.32	76.09	8.73
Bachelor's degree	89.96	8.21	74.41	8.57
Master's degree	89.35	8.20	76.08	11.27
Doctorate degree	94.03	8.09	74.12	7.90
Employment status				
Employed	90.29	7.74	75.21	8.80
Self- employed	89.39	7.72	73.35	9.00
Others	88.93	9.34	75.32	10.12
Marital status				
Married	91.13	7.25	76.79	9.25
Never married	89.27	8.41	74.09	8.90
Others	90.52	4.45	68.69	6.23
Number of Dependents				
No dependents	89.59	8.52	74.24	8.82
1 dependent	89.71	6.79	76.27	9.54
2 dependents	90.07	7.93	75.77	10.72
3 dependents	90.53	7.68	75.33	6.26
4 or more dependents	91.47	7.26	74.81	7.55

5.4 Measurement Model Assessment

This section presents the assessment of measurement model in this study. Table 5.14 outlines all the constructs and its indicators adopted in this study. Of all eight variables, there are three latent variables measured using observed items and the other five variables are manifest variables. All the latent variables in this study are substantiated

as reflective constructs which include attitude towards investing, financial selfefficacy, and social norm. The validity and reliability of the reflective measurement model is evaluated using three criteria, namely internal consistency, convergent validity and discriminant validity.

Constructs	Indicators of constructs	Number of indicators
Attitude towards Investing	ATT_1 to ATT_6	6
Financial Self-Efficacy	FSE_1 to FSE_5	5
Social Norm	SN_1 to SN_4	4
Financial Literacy	Manifest variable	
Advice-seeking	Manifest variable	
Conservation	Manifest variable	
Self-Transcendence	Manifest variable	
Risky Assets	Manifest variable	

Table 5.14 Indicators of All Constructs

5.4.1 Internal Consistency and Convergent Validity

The results of internal consistency and convergent validity of the constructs are displayed in Table 5.15. These evaluation criteria include composite reliability to assess internal consistency, and indicator loadings and AVE for convergent validity assessment.

The construct of attitude towards investing comprise of six items, in which all the indicator loadings surpass the threshold value of 0.708 except for ATT_6 with an outer loading of 0.381. Similarly, the social norm construct reveals one out of the four indicators, SN_4 with a loading of 0.262, which fail to meet the threshold value for outer loading. Although both constructs surpass their satisfactory level of composite reliability greater than 0.7 and AVE greater than 0.5, guidelines suggest that indicator with loading below 0.4 are very low and should always be removed (Bagozzi, Yi and Phillips 1991; Hair, Ringle and Sarstedt 2011). The two indicators, ATT_6 and SN_4 with a loading below 0.4 are therefore eliminated from the constructs. After removing one item each from attitude towards investing and social norm consecutively, the

analysis is reconducted and results are assessed again. Table 5.15 depicts the increased values for composite reliability and AVE in both constructs.

As shown in the table, most of the indicator loadings are above the satisfactory threshold of 0.708, except for FSE_3R, which has a loading of 0.616. As the values fall within 0.4 to 0.7, they should only be considered elimination if the removal of items would increase the composite reliability or AVE above the recommended threshold value (Hair et al. 2017c). The composite reliability of the constructs ranged from 0.849 to 0.9 while the AVE ranged from 0.588 to 0.709. Given that the composite reliability and AVE of all constructs are above their threshold value of 0.7 and 0.5, the indicators FSE_3R is retained in their respective construct and none of the items are required to be removed thereafter. The final results suggest that the requirement of internal consistency and convergent validity are fulfilled in the measurement model (see Appendix I).

Construct	Items	deleted	Loadings	AVE	CR
Attitude towards Investing	ATT_1	ATT_6	0.821	0.669	0.900
	ATT_2		0.849		
	ATT_3		0.842		
	ATT_4		0.788		
	ATT_5		0.788		
Financial Self-Efficacy	FSE_1		0.889	0.614	0.886
	FSE_2		0.885		
	FSE_3R		0.616		
	FSE_4		0.705		
	FSE_5		0.787		
Social Norm	SN_1	SN_4	0.725	0.709	0.879
	SN_2		0.918		
	SN_3		0.871		
Financial Literacy	Manifes	st variable	1.000	1.000	1.000

 Table 5.15 Internal Consistency and Convergent Validity of Constructs

T4

Advice-seeking	Manifest variable	1.000	1.000	1.000
Conservation	Manifest variable	1.000	1.000	1.000
Self-Transcendence	Manifest variable	1.000	1.000	1.000

5.4.2 Discriminant Validity

After substantiating the internal consistency reliability and convergent validity, the subsequent step is to ensure the discriminant validity of the measurement model. By establishing discriminant validity, it implies that a construct is truly different from other constructs and measures phenomena not represented by other constructs (Hair et al. 2017c). Discriminant validity of the construct is examined via three measures, which are the cross-loading test, Fornell-Larcker criterion test and Heterotrait-Monotrait criterion test (HTMT). The discriminant validity output is presented in Appendix I.

5.4.2.1 Cross-loading Test

The cross-loadings of all indicators on the constructs in the proposed model are displayed in Table 5.16, with the bolded figures representing loadings on associated latent variable. As shown, the indicator loadings on its underlying latent variable are substantially greater than its loadings on all other constructs. Besides, the difference of loadings across the constructs have far exceeded the recommended value of 0.1. Hence, the discriminant validity is substantiated in terms of cross-loadings.

5.4.2.2 Fornell-Larcker Criterion Test

After passing the cross-loadings assessment, the succeeding step is to check for discriminant validity using the Fornell-Larcker criterion. The presentation of Fornell-Larcker test results is shown in

Table 5.17. The diagonal elements in bold represent the squared root of AVE values while the nondiagonal elements is the correlations between the latent variables. As can be seen from the table, the squared root of AVE values are greater than the correlations with other constructs on the same columns and rows for all latent variables. Manifest variables, such as conservation, financial literacy, risky assets investment, and self-transcendence, are excluded from the analysis as the AVE value (of 1.00) is not a meaningful criterion for observable or index variables (Hair et al. 2017c). The results suggest that all constructs exhibit satisfactory discriminant validity using the Fornell-Larcker criterion.

5.4.2.3 Heterotrait-Monotrait Criterion Test (HTMT)

Last but not least, the third criterion test, HTMT is utilised to assess discriminant validity. As mentioned earlier in Section, the two means of HTMT analysis are included in this study: (1) using HTMT as criterion; and (2) using HTMT as a statistical test. For assessing the HTMT as a criterion, this study set the cut-off value at the more stringent and conservative value of 0.85, rather than 0.9. This is because the constructs in the model, from a conceptual viewpoint, are distinct with each other (Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015). As shown in Table 5.18, none of the HTMT values exceed the predetermined threshold, indicating that discriminant validity is present at the HTMT criterion of 0.85. Next, for statistical test, bootstrapping is applied to assess if the HTMT value deviates significantly from 1.00 (Henseler, Ringle and Sarstedt 2015), or a lower threshold of 0.85 or 0.90 (Franke and Sarstedt 2019). Similarly, this study chooses to adopt the lower threshold of 0.85 to prevent the mere possibility of falsely rejecting discriminant validity (Franke and Sarstedt 2019). Table 5.19 demonstrates the inferential test results obtained through bootstrapping with a resample size of 5,000, two-tailed test at 95% confidence interval. As can be seen, none of the bootstrap-based confidence intervals of the HTMT contain the value of 0.85, which ascertains the discriminant validity of the constructs.

	Advice-	Attitude towards		Financial	Financial	Risky	Social	Self-
	seeking	Investing	Conservation	Literacy	Self-Efficacy	Assets	Norm	Transcendence
ADV	1.000	0.017	0.136	-0.074	-0.232	-0.152	-0.044	0.077
ATT_1	0.007	0.823	-0.055	0.142	0.262	0.225	0.355	-0.040
ATT_2	-0.008	0.850	-0.080	0.126	0.324	0.253	0.410	-0.069
ATT_3	0.071	0.838	-0.012	0.112	0.208	0.247	0.344	0.041
ATT_4	0.014	0.786	-0.101	0.181	0.192	0.218	0.344	-0.045
ATT_5	-0.001	0.791	-0.099	0.112	0.264	0.256	0.391	-0.043
CONS	0.136	-0.086	1.000	0.055	-0.140	-0.191	-0.118	-0.120
FL	-0.074	0.162	0.055	1.000	0.313	0.349	-0.033	0.080
FSE_1	-0.205	0.250	-0.098	0.277	0.887	0.457	0.239	-0.153
FSE_2	-0.208	0.281	-0.159	0.265	0.885	0.389	0.256	-0.148
FSE_3R	-0.188	0.165	-0.065	0.256	0.612	0.288	0.085	-0.140
FSE_4	-0.136	0.226	-0.143	0.177	0.708	0.325	0.184	-0.123
FSE_5	-0.170	0.289	-0.083	0.249	0.790	0.360	0.223	-0.185
RA	-0.152	0.294	-0.191	0.349	0.470	1.000	0.172	-0.051
SN_1	0.023	0.312	-0.076	-0.045	0.102	0.107	0.761	-0.022
SN_2	-0.051	0.416	-0.100	-0.002	0.270	0.181	0.913	-0.124
SN_3	-0.064	0.412	-0.120	-0.048	0.250	0.136	0.855	-0.106
TRANS	0.077	-0.042	-0.120	0.080	-0.191	-0.051	-0.108	1.000

 Table 5.16 Discriminant Validity using Cross-loadings
	ADV	ATT	CONS	FL	FSE	RA	SN	TRANS
Advice-seeking	1.000							
Attitude towards								
Investing	0.018	0.818						
Conservation	0.099	-0.079	1.000					
Financial Literacy	-0.074	0.162	0.099	1.000				
Financial Self-Efficacy	-0.232	0.311	-0.102	0.313	0.783			
Risky Assets	-0.152	0.294	-0.158	0.349	0.470	1.000		
Social Norm	-0.048	0.456	-0.095	-0.032	0.267	0.174	0.842	
Self-Transcendence	0.029	-0.020	-0.092	0.119	-0.153	-0.020	-0.092	1.000

Table 5.17 Discriminant Validity using Fornell-Larcker Criterion

Table 5.18 Discriminant Validity of Constructs using HTMT Criterion

	ADV	ATT	CONS	FL	FSE	RA	SN	TRANS
Advice-seeking			_					
Attitude towards Investing	0.026							
Conservation	0.099	0.083						
Financial Literacy	0.074	0.176	0.099					
Financial Self-Efficacy	0.255	0.355	0.111	0.344				
Risky Assets	0.152	0.313	0.158	0.349	0.512			
Social Norm	0.061	0.530	0.106	0.042	0.294	0.186		
Self-Transcendence	0.029	0.041	0.092	0.119	0.167	0.020	0.091	

	Confi Inte	dence rval		Confi Inte	dence rval
	95%	95%		95%	95%
	LL	UL		LL	UL
ATT -> ADV	0.005	0.023	SN -> ADV	0.015	0.104
CONS -> ADV	0.016	0.187	SN -> ATT	0.442	0.612
CONS -> ATT	0.034	0.153	SN -> CONS	0.033	0.199
FL -> ADV	0.011	0.151	SN -> FL	0.006	0.072
FL -> ATT	0.082	0.265	SN -> FSE	0.197	0.387
FL -> CONS	0.021	0.182	$SN \rightarrow RA$	0.089	0.285
FSE -> ADV	0.164	0.339	TRANS -> ADV	0.001	0.083
FSE -> ATT	0.253	0.453	TRANS -> ATT	0.011	0.047
FSE -> CONS	0.043	0.195	TRANS -> CONS	0.012	0.190
FSE -> FL	0.261	0.420	TRANS -> FL	0.032	0.207
RA -> ADV	0.049	0.246	TRANS -> FSE	0.072	0.262
RA -> ATT	0.219	0.402	TRANS -> RA	0.000	0.056
RA -> CONS	0.067	0.246	TRANS -> SN	0.024	0.158
$RA \rightarrow FL$	0.253	0.421			
RA -> FSE	0.444	0.576			

Table 5.19 Confidence Intervals for HTMT

5.5 Structural Model Assessment

After the measurement model meets all the prerequisite examination, the PLS-SEM assessment of the structural model is conducted. The following subsections discuss the evaluation of structural model through several tests. Specifically, the structural model assessment includes evaluating the collinearity within the model, followed by the coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2), effect size (f^2) and predictive relevance (\mathbb{Q}^2). Last but not least, the statistical significance and relevance of the relationship in the structural model are assessed as a final step. The structural model output from SmartPLS is presented in Appendix J.

5.5.1 Collinearity

Before evaluating the structural model, it is mandatory to examine collinearity in the predictor constructs within the model. It is done by checking if there exist substantial levels of collinearity between each set of predictor variables. According to the VIF guidelines, a VIF value above three (Hair et al. 2019) or above five (Hair et al. 2017c)

would be a concern, as they are indicative of possible collinearity problems. This study adopts the threshold value of VIF at the more stringent and conservative value of 3 in order to identify any probable collinearity issue.

Table 5.20 depicts the outcome of collinearity test. The VIF values of all combinations of endogenous constructs (financial self-efficacy and risky assets) are shown in the columns and their corresponding predictor variables are shown in the rows. Specifically, this study examines the collinearity between the set of predictors - financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing, conservation, self-transcendence and social norm as predictors of financial self-efficacy. Likewise, the collinearity between the set of predictors for risky assets investment are also examined. As illustrated in table, all the VIF values for the predictor constructs of financial self-efficacy are well below the cut-off value of 3, indicating no critical issue of lateral collinearity in the structural model. The same approach is applied for risky assets investment, with results showing VIF values that range between 1.098 and 1.851. Hence, it can be concluded that multicollinearity issue is not a threat to this study.

Construct	Financial Self- Efficacy (VIF)	Risky Assets (VIF)
Financial Literacy	1.083	1.397
Advice-seeking	1.026	1.098
Attitude towards Investing	1.326	1.417
Conservation	1.049	1.109
Self-Transcendence	1.038	1.121
Social Norm	1.299	1.351
Financial Self-Efficacy		1.425
Age		1.697
Dependents		1.218
Education		1.205
Income		1.851

Table 5.20	Lateral	Collinearity	Assessment
	13400144	Commenter	I RODEDDING CHIE

5.5.2 Coefficient of Determination (R²)

After ensuring the absence of lateral collinearity in the structural model, this study proceeds to assess the predictive ability of the model, which is represented by the coefficient of determination (R^2 value). While the rule of thumb for an acceptable R^2 value differs according to context and discipline, this study adopts the threshold commonly used in consumer behaviour (Hair et al. 2017c), whereby the R^2 values of 0.26, 0.13 and 0.02 describe substantial, moderate and weak levels of predictive accuracy (Cohen 1988).

There are two endogenous variables in the model, which includes financial selfefficacy and risky assets investment. As illustrated in Table 5.21, the seven variables under financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills explained 31% of variance in risky assets investment. Besides, six variables under financial information and investment motivation accounted for 27.6% of variance in financial self-efficacy. Following the rules of thumb by Cohen (1988), the R² values for risky assets investment (0.31) and financial self-efficacy (0.276) can be considered as substantial.

5.5.3 Effect Size (f^2)

Next, this study examines Cohen's f^2 effect size (Cohen 1988), which is referred as the R² change on the endogenous constructs when a particular exogenous construct is removed from the model (Hair et al. 2017c). As mentioned in earlier chapter, the redundancy between f² effect size and size of path coefficients pose a question about the necessary of f² reporting. Despite the similarities of results between the two metrics, reporting f² effect size is deemed crucial and especially essential in this study, wherein the rank order of the constructs' relevance differs in terms of f² and path coefficients (Hair et al. 2019). To classify the effect size, this study adopts the guidelines by Cohen (1988). The f² values of 0.02, 0.15, and 0.35 represent small, medium, and large effects of the exogenous latent variable in explaining the endogenous variable.

Table 5.21 presents the f² values for each of the predictor constructs in explaining the endogenous variables. As shown, financial self-efficacy ($f^2 = 0.102$), financial literacy ($f^2 = 0.054$) displays rather weak effect in explaining the variance in risky assets investment. On the other hand, conservation ($f^2 = 0.019$), attitude towards investing

 $(f^2 = 0.017)$, advice-seeking $(f^2 = 0.002)$, self-transcendence $(f^2 = 0.00)$ and social norm $(f^2 = 0.00)$ have negligible f^2 values that are less than 0.02, whereby their removal will have little to no effect on the R² value of risky assets investment, indicating their lack of significance in explaining risky assets investment.

In terms of explaining financial self-efficacy, the effect size of the predictor constructs includes financial literacy ($f^2 = 0.119$), advice-seeking ($f^2 = 0.049$), self-transcendence ($f^2 = 0.041$), attitude towards investing ($f^2 = 0.034$) and social norm ($f^2 = 0.027$) with small effect, whereas conservation ($f^2 = 0.013$) with very minimal effect.

5.5.4 Predictive Relevance (Q²)

In assessing the predictive relevance of the model, the Q^2 value is calculated using the blindfolding technique. This metric is indicative of the in-sample explanatory power and out-of-sample prediction (Shmueli et al. 2019). Thus, having a higher Q^2 value signify that the structural model has a higher predictive accuracy. According to Hair et al. (2017c), the predictive relevance is established for endogenous constructs with Q^2 values of less than zero. This study further adopts the relative measure of predictive relevance by Hair et al. (2019) to interpret the Q^2 values as small (0.00), medium (0.25) and large (0.50) predictive relevance of the PLS-path model. The omission distance is determined based on the requirement that number of observations divided by *D* must not be an integer, where D should range from five to ten (Hair et al. 2017a). With 400 observations, the omission distance is set at D = 7.

The results of Q^2 assessment are shown in Table 5.21, whereby the Q^2 values for all endogenous latent variables are substantiated as larger than zero. Thus, it suggests that the proposed model does feature sufficient predictive relevance. More precisely, risky assets investment ($Q^2 = 0.267$) has a medium predictive accuracy, whereas financial self-efficacy ($Q^2 = 0.178$) has a small predictive accuracy.

5.6 Hypothesis Testing

As final step of the structural model assessment, the significance and relevance of the path coefficients is evaluated in order to test the hypothesised direct and indirect 206

relationships proposed in this study. First, this section examines the direct relationship between all the variables (13 hypotheses). Following that, the indirect (mediating) effect of FSE is tested (6 hypotheses).

5.6.1 Direct Effects

To assess the direct effects between variables, the three methods adopted in examining the significance of the relationship include *t*-value, *p*-value and bootstrap confidence interval. The path coefficient is regarded as statistically significant if the *t*-value is larger than the critical value of 1.65 at 5% significance level, the *p*-value is below 0.05 and its bias-corrected and accelerated (BCa) confidence interval at 95% does not include the value of zero. One-tailed probabilities are used for the tests of the variables since the associated hypotheses are directional. The bootstrapping procedure is performed with resampling of 5,000. The results for the significance of each proposed direct relationship are presented in Table 5.21. The structural model output from SmartPLS is presented in Appendix J. The findings from *t*-value, *p*-value and confidence interval method are consistent as discussed:

X -> Y (path c'): Information and Motivation on Risky Assets (H1a-H6a):

H1a: Financial literacy positively influences risky assets investment.

The results suggest that there is a statistically significant and positive relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment (H1a, $\beta = 0.229$, p < 0.001). Adding further, the finding is also ascertained by the adoption of bootstrapping confidence interval method. The results indicate that the acquired 95% bootstrap confidence interval (H1a, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.134, UL= 0.316) does not contain the value of zero. Hence, H1a is supported.

H2a: Advice-seeking positively influences risky assets investment.

The results indicate that the relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant (H2a, $\beta = -0.038$, p = 0.227). The 95% confidence interval (H2a, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.123, UL= 0.046) straddles a zero in between, thereby confirming that the relationship is not significant. Hence, H2a is not supported.

H3a: Attitude towards investing positively influences risky assets investment.

As the results suggest, there is a statistically significant and positive relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment (H3a, $\beta = 0.128$, p < 0.05). The 95% confidence interval (H3a, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.034, UL= 0.217) does not include zero. Hence, H3a is supported.

H4a: Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences risky assets investment.

The results reveal that a statistically significant and negative relationship is found between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment (H4a, $\beta = -$ 0.139, p < 0.01). This finding is further validated by the 95% confidence interval (H4a, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.218, UL= -0.062) that does not contain zero, with both the lower and upper bound positioned in the negative zone. Hence, H4a is supported.

H5a: Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences risky assets investment.

The results indicate that the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant (H5a, $\beta = -0.005$, p = 0.460). The 95% confidence interval (H5a, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.083, UL= 0.071) consists of zero in between, thereby further confirming that the relationship is not significant. Hence, H5a is not supported.

H6a: Social norm positively influences risky assets investment.

As shown, the results reveal that the relationship between social norm and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant (H6a, $\beta = 0.021$, p = 0.352). This finding is further validated by the 95% confidence interval (H6a, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.069, UL= 0.117) that contain zero. Hence, H6a is not supported.

In sum, this study hypothesises that financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing, social norm and FSE have a positive relationship with risky assets investment, whereas conservation and self-transcendence have a negative effect on risky assets investment (H1a-H6a). The results are in support of H1a, H3a and H4a, whereby there are statistically significant and positive relationships between risky

assets investment and financial literacy (H1a), attitude towards investing (H3a); and a statistically significant and negative relationship between risky assets investment and conservation (H4a). In contrast, the results show no statistical significance between risky assets investment and advice-seeking (H2a), self-transcendence (H5a) and social norm (H6a).

With this, H1a, H3a and H4a are supported; whereas H2a, H5a and H6a are rejected.

M -> Y (b): Behavioural Skills on Risky Assets (H7):

H7: FSE positively influences risky assets investment.

The results indicate that there is a statistically significant and positive relationship between FSE and risky assets investment (H7, $\beta = 0.316$, p < 0.001). Similarly, as can be seen, zero does not fall within the 95% confidence interval (H7, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.229, UL= 0.398). As such, H7 is supported.

X -> M (a): Information, Motivation on Behavioural Skills (H1b-H6b):

H1b: Financial literacy positively influences FSE.

As the results show, the relationship between financial literacy and FSE is found to be statistically significant and positive (H1b, $\beta = 0.306$, p < 0.001). The 95% confidence interval (H1b, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.231, UL= 0.373) does not contain zero. Hence, H1a is supported.

H2b: Advice-seeking positively influences FSE.

In contrast with the hypothesis, the results reveal that there is a statistically significant yet negative relationship between advice-seeking and FSE (H2b, $\beta = -0.190$, p < 0.001). The confidence interval (H2b, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.264, UL= -0.116) does not include zero yet both the lower and upper bound are positioned in the negative zone. This signifies a significant but negative relationship which is against the hypothesised direction. Therefore, H2b is not supported due to the opposing direction of the significant relationship.

H3b: Attitude towards investing positively influences FSE.

The results indicate that there is a statistically significant and positive relationship

between attitude towards investing and FSE (H3b, $\beta = 0.181$, p < 0.01). As can be seen, zero does not fall within the 95% confidence interval (H3b, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.086, UL= 0.273). As such, H3b is supported.

H4b: Preference for conservation over openness to change values negatively influences FSE.

The results reveal that a statistically significant and negative relationship is found between conservation and FSE (H4b, $\beta = -0.100$, p < 0.05). This finding is further ascertained by the confidence interval (H4b, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.183, UL= -0.013) that does not include zero, with the lower and upper bound straddling in the negative zone. Hence, H4a is supported.

H5b: Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values negatively influences FSE.

The results indicate a statistically significant and negative relationship between selftranscendence and FSE (H5b, $\beta = -0.175$, p < 0.001). In the same vein, the confidence interval (H5b, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.249, UL= -0.099) does not contain zero, and both the lower and upper bound are in the negative zone. Hence, H5b is supported.

H6b: Social norm positively influences FSE.

The results suggest that there is a statistically significant and positive relationship between social norm and FSE (H6b, $\beta = 0.159$, p < 0.01). This finding is validated as the 95% confidence interval does not consist of zero (H6b, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.069, UL= 0.246). Hence, H6b is supported.

In short, it is hypothesised that financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing and social norm are also positively related with FSE, while conservation and self-transcendence are negatively related to FSE (H1b-H6b). The results indicate that FSE has statistically significant path coefficients with all the hypothesised predictors, with advice-seeking showing an opposing direction as hypothesised. Specifically, FSE displays positive significant relationship with financial literacy (H1b), attitude towards investing (H3b) and social norm (H6b). Moreover, negative significant relationship is identified between FSE and advice-seeking (H2b), conservation (H4b) and self-

transcendence (H5b). Therefore, all H1b to H6b are supported, except for H2b where the direction of significant relationship is contrary to predictions.

		Std.	Std.									
Hypothesis	Relationship	Beta	Error	<i>t</i> -val	ue	<i>p</i> -value	95% LL	95% UL	Decision	\mathbf{R}^2	\mathbf{f}^2	\mathbf{Q}^2
	AGE -> RA	-0.065	0.060	1.088		0.138	-0.167	0.029				
	DEP -> RA	0.019	0.046	0.410		0.341	-0.060	0.092	Control variable			
	EDU -> RA	0.018	0.048	0.383		0.351	-0.060	0.099			.010	
	INC -> RA	0.069	0.066	1.041		0.149	-0.037	0.182				
H1a	FL -> RA	0.229	0.055	4.143	***	0.000	0.134	0.316	Supported	0.310	0.054	0.256
H2a	ADV -> RA	-0.038	0.051	0.747		0.227	-0.123	0.046	Not supported		0.002	
H3a	ATT -> RA	0.128	0.056	2.281	*	0.011	0.034	0.217	Supported		0.017	
H4a	CONS -> RA	-0.139	0.047	2.951	**	0.002	-0.218	-0.062	Supported		0.025	
H5a	TRANS -> RA	-0.005	0.047	0.101		0.460	-0.083	0.071	Not supported		0.000	
H6a	$SN \rightarrow RA$	0.021	0.057	0.380		0.352	-0.069	0.117	Not supported		0.000	
H7	FSE -> RA	0.316	0.051	6.214	***	0.000	0.229	0.398	Supported		0.102	
H1b	FL -> FSE	0.306	0.043	7.128	***	0.000	0.231	0.373	Supported	0.276	0.119	0.155
H2b	ADV -> FSE	-0.190	0.045	4.235	***	0.000	-0.264	-0.116	Not supported		0.049	
H3b	ATT -> FSE	0.181	0.056	3.228	**	0.001	0.086	0.273	Supported		0.034	
H4b	CONS -> FSE	-0.100	0.052	1.929	*	0.027	-0.183	-0.013	Supported		0.013	
H5b	TRANS -> FSE	-0.175	0.046	3.840	***	0.000	-0.249	-0.099	Supported		0.041	
H6b	SN -> FSE	0.159	0.054	2.974	**	0.001	0.069	0.246	Supported		0.027	

 Table 5.21 Structural Model Assessment

Notes: **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001

5.6.2 Indirect Effects

Other than the direct relationships between variables, this study also hypothesises several indirect relationships in accordance to the extended IMB model. It is proposed that financial information (financial literacy and advice-seeking) and investment motivation (attitude towards investing, conservation, self-transcendence and social norm) are linked to risky assets investment, indirectly through the mediating construct, FSE. As noted in the previous chapter, the significance and relevance of these hypothesised mediating relationships are examined through the mediation analysis procedure (Zhao, Lynch Jr and Chen 2010) using bootstrapping technique (Preacher and Hayes 2004; Preacher and Hayes 2008) to evaluate the six hypothesised mediating relationships (H8-H13). The indirect effect of X to Y through FSE (path a x b) is examined via a bootstrapping procedure with resample of 5,000 and a significance level of 5%. As the associated mediation hypotheses are non-directional, two-tailed probabilities are used.

The findings from bootstrapping analyses are shown in Table 5.22, with the results revealing that the indirect effects are significant for all six constructs (see Appendix K). As such, the mediating role of FSE between the predictors and risky assets investment is thus validated. Following that, to classify the types of mediation (Zhao, Lynch Jr and Chen 2010), the significance of direct effects from X (financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing, conservation, self-transcendence and social norm) to Y (risky assets investment), as determined earlier in the Section 5.6, are documented in conjunction with the indirect effects and sign of their products in Table 5.23. The results from *t*-value, *p*-value and confidence interval method are consistent as discussed:

X -> M -> Y (a x b): Behavioural Skills as Mediator (H8-H13):

H8: FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment.

As illustrated in Table 5.22, the results indicate that the indirect effect from financial literacy to risky assets investment, through FSE is statistically significant (H8, $\beta = 0.097$, p < 0.001). Moreover, the 95% confidence interval does not straddle a zero in

between the upper and lower bound (H8, $BC_{0.95} LL = 0.065$ and UL = 0.133), thereby confirming the presence of mediation. Hence, H8 is supported.

As for the types of mediation, referring to Table 5.23, financial literacy exerts significant direct effect on risky assets investment. With both indirect and direct effect found significant, it indicates that there is a partial mediation between the relationship. To further classify the types of partial mediation, the sign of the product for indirect and direct effect are assessed. The results show both indirect and direct effect are positive, yielding a positive sign for the product. Thus, it signifies that the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment as mediated by FSE constitutes a case of complementary mediation.

H9: FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment.

The results suggest that the indirect pathway that runs from advice-seeking to risky assets investment, through FSE is statistically significant (H9, $\beta = -0.06$, p < 0.001, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.093 and UL = -0.035). Hence, H9 is supported.

The direct effect between advice-seeking and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant. Since the indirect effects are significant yet the indirect effects are non-significant, it is categorised under indirect-only mediation, whereby it substantiates that FSE fully mediates the relationship.

H10: FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment.

The results reveal that the indirect effect from attitude towards investing to risky assets investment, through FSE is statistically significant (H10, $\beta = 0.057$, p < 0.01, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.028 and UL = 0.095). Hence, H10 is supported.

The direct relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment is statistically significant and positive. A partial mediation is indicated as both indirect and direct effect are found significant. The product of the direct effect and indirect effect is positive, thus providing support for the case of complementary mediation. **H11:** FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment.

The results indicate that the indirect effect from conservation to risky assets investment, through FSE is statistically significant (H11, β = -0.032, *p* < 0.05, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.062 and UL = -0.006). Hence, H11 is supported.

The direct relationship between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment is statistically significant and negative. A partial mediation is indicated as both indirect and direct effect are found significant. The product of the direct effect and indirect effect is positive. Therefore, it is a case of complementary mediation.

H12: FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment.

As shown, the indirect effect from self-transcendence to risky assets investment, through FSE is found to be statistically significant (H12, $\beta = -0.055$, p < 0.01, BC_{0.95} LL = -0.087 and UL = -0.029). Hence, H12 is supported.

The direct relationship from self-transcendence to risky assets investment is statistically non-significant. With significant indirect effect and non-significant direct effect, it can be concluded as a situation of indirect-only mediation, which also referred to as full mediation.

H13: FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between social norm and risky assets investment.

Similarly, for H13, the indirect pathway from social norm to risky assets investment, through FSE is statistically significant (H13, $\beta = 0.05$, p < 0.01, BC_{0.95} LL = 0.021 and UL = 0.086). Hence, H13 is supported.

The direct effect between social norm and risky assets investment is statistically nonsignificant. Given that the indirect effect is significant and direct effect is nonsignificant, a case of indirect-only (full) mediation is identified. In brief, all the indirect effects do not overlap zero in between their 95% confidence intervals, which ascertain that FSE has a mediating effect on the relationship between risky assets investment and financial literacy (H8), advice-seeking (H9), attitude towards investing (H10), conservation (H11), self-transcendence (H12) and social norm (H13) respectively. Additionally, the findings from *t*-values and *p*-values are also consistent with the bootstrap confidence intervals. Hence, it can be concluded that the mediating role of FSE in the model is confirmed, rendering H8 to H13 as supported. Adding further, FSE fully mediates the relationship from advice-seeking, self-transcendence and social norm to risky assets investment (H9, H12 and H13) and partially mediates the relationship from financial literacy, attitude towards investing and conservation to risky assets investment (H8, H10, H11).

 Table 5.22 Mediation Analysis

Hypothesis	Relationship	Std. Beta	Std. Error	<i>t</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	95% LL	95% UL	Decision
H8	FL -> FSE -> RA	0.097	0.021	4.706 ***	0.000	0.065	0.133	Supported
H9	ADV -> FSE -> RA	-0.060	0.018	3.365 ***	0.000	-0.093	-0.035	Supported
H10	ATT -> FSE -> RA	0.057	0.020	2.887 **	0.002	0.028	0.095	Supported
H11	CONS -> FSE -> RA	-0.032	0.017	1.854 *	0.032	-0.062	-0.006	Supported
H12	TRANS -> FSE -> RA	-0.055	0.018	3.102 **	0.001	-0.087	-0.029	Supported
H13	SN -> FSE -> RA	0.050	0.020	2.540 **	0.006	0.021	0.086	Supported

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Table 5.23 Categorisation of Mediation Type

Hypothesis	Relationship	Step 1: Indirect Effect	Step 2: Direct Effect	Step 3: Sign of Product	Mediation Type
		X -> M -> Y (a x b)	X -> Y (c')	(a x b x c')	
H8	FL -> FSE -> RA	Significant	Significant	Positive	Complementary (partial)
H9	ADV -> FSE -> RA	Significant	Non-significant	Not applicable	Indirect only (full)
H10	ATT -> FSE -> RA	Significant	Significant	Positive	Complementary (partial)
H11	CONS -> FSE -> RA	Significant	Significant	Positive	Complementary (partial)
H12	TRANS -> FSE -> RA	Significant	Non-significant	Not applicable	Indirect only (full)
H13	SN -> FSE -> RA	Significant	Non-significant	Not applicable	Indirect only (full)

5.7 Summary of Findings

The proposed conceptual model, which comprises of measurement model and structural model, are assessed using PLS-SEM technique.

The measurement model indicates satisfactory validity and reliability through the assessment on internal consistency, convergent validity and discriminant validity. Two items with loading below 0.4 are eliminated. The composite reliability of the constructs ranged from 0.849 to 0.900 while the AVE ranged from 0.588 to 0.709. With that, all the variables have achieved the acceptable threshold where the composite reliability score are at least 0.70 and AVE are more than 0.50. Furthermore, the cross-loading test, Fornell-Larcker criterion test and Heterotrait-Monotrait criterion test (HTMT) consistently indicate that the variables exhibit satisfactory discriminant validity. Specifically, the indicator loadings on its underlying latent variable are greater than its loadings on all other constructs; the squared root of AVE values at diagonal are larger than the correlations at off-diagonal for all latent variables; none of the HTMT criterion values exceed 0.85 and none of the bootstrap-based HTMT confidence intervals contain the value of 0.85.

The assessment of structural model yields findings with relatively substantial R^2 for risky assets investment ($R^2 = 0.31$) and financial self-efficacy ($R^2 = 0.276$). The effect size calculation (f^2) for each predictor variables document their distinct impact in explaining the endogenous variables, ranging from no effect to medium effect. Meanwhile, the predictive relevance (Q^2) assessment reveals that the proposed model provides sufficient predictive relevance.

Collectively with path coefficients assessment, this study proposes 19 hypotheses in total. The findings are in support with 15 hypotheses while 4 others are not supported. Based on the results, the proportion of risky assets investment is positively influenced by financial literacy, attitude towards investing in risky assets, and FSE; negatively influenced by conservation. The results further demonstrate that FSE is positively influenced by financial literacy, attitude towards investing and social norm; negatively influenced by conservation and self-transcendence. Lastly, the role of FSE as mediator

is validated, as the results indicate that all proposed predictors are related to risky assets investment indirectly through FSE. The discussions and implications on these findings are presented in the subsequent chapter.

5.8 Chapter Summary

In summary, this chapter presents the results of data preparation, descriptive analysis and PLS-SEM analysis. To ensure the quality and validity of the data, issues involving missing values, insufficient effort responding, presence of potential outliers, common method variance and normality are identified and treated during preliminary data screening stage, resulting in 400 valid responses. The distribution of respondents in terms of gender, age and income is relatively comparable to the pre-determined population distribution, indicating a reasonably representative sample. In PLS-SEM analysis, the measurement model is first assessed using criteria including internal consistency, convergent validity and discriminant validity, with results validating the reliability and validity of the measurement models. Following that, structural model assessment and mediation analysis are performed to test the proposed hypotheses. Among 19 proposed hypotheses, 15 hypotheses are supported while 4 others are not supported. A detailed discussion on the findings and the implication of the study are presented in the subsequent chapter.

CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

6.1 Chapter Overview

This chapter presents the discussion of the findings derived in Chapter 5, at the same time to discuss the implication and conclusion of the study. More precisely, this chapter commences with the recapitulation of the study, where the objective and hypotheses elucidated in earlier chapters are summarised. With that, the discussion of the research findings is presented, followed by the implication of the study. The subsequent sections highlight the limitation of the study and further provide recommendations for future research. Lastly, this chapter ends with a brief conclusion for the study.

6.2 Recapitulation of the Study

This section recapitulates the objectives and the main findings of the study.

6.2.1 Research Objective

The low level of risky assets investment has captured the public attention and germinated voluminous scholarly studies. The central target of this study is to examine the determinants of individuals' risky assets investment. As such, this study proposes an integrative model that combines personal value dimensions from theory of basic values with components from information-motivation-behavioural skills (IMB) model to achieve the following research objectives:

1. the influence of financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills on individuals' risky assets investment.

2. the influence of financial information, investment motivation on investment behavioural skills

3. the role of investment behavioural skills as a mediator on the relationship between financial information, investment motivation and risky assets investment.

6.2.2 Research Findings

Based on the research objectives and the research questions of this study, 19 hypotheses are formulated. In this study, the concept of financial information includes the components of financial literacy and advice-seeking; investment motivation is represented by attitude towards investing, personal values (conservation, self-transcendence), and social norm; and investment behavioural skills is conceptualised by FSE. The data are collected from 400 Malaysians who aged 18 years old and above, and later are analysed using PLS-SEM technique. A summary of the hypotheses and their respective results are documented in Table 6.1.

Table 6.1 Summary of Hypotheses Testing

	Hypothesis	Results
RQ 1	: What are the influences of financial information, invest	ment
motiv	ation and investment behavioural skills on individuals' ri	isky assets
inves	tment?	
Finar	ncial Information on Risky Assets	
H1a	Financial literacy positively influences risky assets	Supported
	investment.	
H2a	Advice-seeking positively influences risky assets	Not supported
	investment.	
Inves	tment Motivation on Risky Assets	
H3a	Attitude towards investing positively influences risky	Supported
	assets investment.	
H4a	Preference for conservation over openness to change	Supported
	values negatively influences risky assets investment.	
H5a	Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement	Not supported
	values negatively influences risky assets investment.	
H6a	Social norm positively influences risky assets investment.	Not supported

Investment Behavioural Skills on Risky Assets

H7 Financial self-efficacy positively influences risky assetsSupported investment.

RQ2: What are the influences of financial information and investment motivation on investment behavioural skills?

Financial Information on Investment Behavioural Skills

H1b	Financial literacy positively influences financial self-	Supported
	efficacy.	
H2b	Advice-seeking positively influences financial self-	Not supported
	efficacy.	
Inves	tment Motivation on Investment Behavioural Skills	
1101		

H3D	Attitude towards investing positively influences financial	Supported
	self-efficacy.	
H4b	Preference for conservation over openness to change	Supported
	values negatively influences financial self-efficacy.	
H5b	Preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement	Supported
	values negatively influences financial self-efficacy.	

H6b Social norm positively influences financial self-efficacy. Supported

RQ3: How does investment behavioural skills mediate the relationships between financial information, investment motivation and risky assets investment?

Investment Behavioural Skills as Mediator between Financial Information and Risky Assets Investment

Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the	Supported
relationship between financial literacy and risky assets	
investment.	
Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the	Supported
relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets	
investment.	
tment Behavioural Skills as a Mediator between Investment	t Motivation
Risky Assets Investment	
Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the	Supported
relationship between attitude towards investing and risky	
assets investment.	
Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the	Supported
relationship between preference for conservation values	
and risky assets investment.	
Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the	Supported
relationship between preference for self-transcendence	
values and risky assets investment.	
Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the	Supported
relationship between social norm and risky assets	
investment.	
	Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment. Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment. tment Behavioural Skills as a Mediator between Investment tisky Assets Investment Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment. Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment. Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment. Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment. Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between preference for self-transcendence values and risky assets investment. Financial self-efficacy has a mediating effect on the relationship between social norm and risky assets investment.

6.3 Discussion of the Findings

This section presents the discussion on the research findings. The outcome of each research objectives and the underlying research question are discussed in relation to the hypotheses, where the theoretical justification and empirical evidence are also revisited respectively.

6.3.1 Research Objective 1

Research Objective 1: To examine the influence of financial information, investment motivation and investment behavioural skills on individuals' risky assets investment.

The first research objective of the study involves investigating the direct influence of the constructs in IMB model and theory of basic values on individuals' risky assets investment. As such, 7 hypotheses are formed, whereby two hypotheses (H1a and H2a) are to test the influence of financial information on risky assets investment; four hypotheses (H3a to 6a) are to test the influence of investment motivation on risky assets investment; and one hypothesis (H7) is articulated to test the influence of investment behavioural skills on risky assets investment.

The summary of results with the related research question are depicted in Table 6.1. Among the 7 hypotheses, 4 hypotheses are supported while the other 3 are not supported. The findings reveal that financial literacy, attitude towards investing in risky assets, and FSE have a significant and positive influence on individuals' risky assets investment; whereas conservation exerts a significant and negative influence. The results do not have sufficient evidence to support the hypothesised influence of advice-seeking, self-transcendence and social norm on risky assets investment. The findings of each hypothesis of RQ1 are discussed in the following subsections.

Financial Information and Risky Assets Investment

Hypothesis 1a proposes a positive relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment. Controlling for demographic characteristics, the findings offer support for the hypothesis, whereby a statistically significant and positive relationship is found between the two variables, hence validating the initial postulation. That is, the extent to which one understands and uses personal finance-related information is positively related to the proportion of their risky assets investment. This is an indication that individuals who are equipped with a higher level of financial literacy tend to invest a higher proportion of risky assets.

The result is in agreement with the IMB model. According to the model, information relevant to the participation of a targeted behaviour is influential on the performance of such behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992), which infer that a higher level of financial literacy should result in greater engagement of risky assets investment. Furthermore, the findings of this study is also in line with past studies that document a significant

and positive relationship between financial literacy and the proportion of risky assets investment (Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Liao et al. 2017; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017; Jia et al. 2019).

On the other hand, the results contradict some of the earlier studies highlighting financial literacy as non-significant in affecting risky assets investment (Arrondel, Debbich and Savignac 2015; Grohmann 2018). It also refutes the perspective of "the more wit, the less courage" (Chu et al. 2017) which predicts that individuals who know better about risky assets shy away from investing due to their high awareness of the risk involved. That is to say, people invest because they are unaware of the risk involved. From the findings, however, it appears that those who invest in risky assets do not just invest naively. They understand the financial products that they invest in, and also the risk and return associated with the assets as they invest. It shows that individuals who have difficulty understanding the financial market tend to hold less or even avoid holding complicated, risky financial products. Whereas for those with better understanding on investment-related knowledge such as interest compounding or stock market function, they are well informed about the benefits of investing, thus tend to have higher proportion invested in the stock market. The finding further implies the effectiveness of improving one's financial literacy pertaining to encouraging individuals to invest.

In terms of the role of advice-seeking, professional financial advisors may act as an important information channel whereby individuals without adequate financial knowledge can receive reliable and accurate information. Hypothesis 2a proposes a positive relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment. However, the results reveal that the relationship between advice-seeking and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant, thereby negating the hypothesis. It suggests that acquiring advices from financial advisors upon making investment decision do not influence the proportion one invests in risky assets.

Based on the results, it shows that advice-seeking do not have a direct effect on risky assets investment. This finding diverges from the prior empirical studies (Mullainathan, Noeth and Schoar 2012; Zhang 2014; Bachmann and Hens 2015).

From the theoretical perspective, the IMB model offers conceptual explanation for failure to establish relationship between information and behaviour wherein information is a necessary yet often insufficient condition for promoting actions (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Although the IMB model posits the existence of direct path between information and behaviour, the model also predicts that indirect-only relationship can happen in cases where the behaviour is particularly complex and requires behavioural skills to perform (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Similarly, in this study, financial advice as part of the information component, is insufficient to foster the complex behaviour which is risky assets investment. As presented in the latter section in this chapter, the findings regarding the indirect effect of advice-seeking on risky assets investment through FSE once again validates the above explanation. Hence, it is likely that advice-seeking is an important determinant in explaining risky assets investment, but that the effect of advice-seeking is fully mediated by FSE as the action of investing requires FSE to perform. The findings align with studies that adopted the IMB model and found non-significant direct relationship yet significant indirect relationship, such as recycling information and recycling behaviour (Seacat and Northrup 2010). Similarly, concerns have also been raised regarding the extent to which financial advice is directly influential on portfolio or investment (Abreu and Mendes 2010; Mishra and Kumar 2012; Zhang et al. 2018; Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020) and this study validates those concerns whereby financial advice has negligible direct effect . Apart from the theoretical explanation, some other plausible explanations for documenting such relationship in a developing country may be that individuals have inadequate financial literacy to understand the financial advice provided, trust issue between advisor and investors, financial advice is of low quality or fail to foster preference for asset diversification (Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020).

In this regard, this study adds value to the inconclusive findings on the role of financial literacy in prior literature by providing additional evidence of its significant and positive linkage with risky assets investment. More importantly, it adds new evidence to the relationship between financial literacy and risky assets investment as other key psychological factors such as FSE, attitudes and values are accounted for simultaneously with financial literacy. In light of the outcome, the role of financial literacy as one of the predictors for risky assets investment is reaffirmed, validating

that having financial literacy is essential in promoting investment in stocks and mutual funds.

Additionally, this study also contributes to the inconclusive findings pertaining to the role of financial advisors and its relationship with investment behaviour. Besides, when viewed in combination with the positive significant direct effect of financial literacy, it appears that financial literacy and financial advisors have a different direct effect on risky assets investment. The investment behaviour of individuals who primarily rely on their own financial literacy differs from those who rely on financial advisors. Having that being said, financial advice fails to act as a substitute to financial literacy. As such, it provides support to prior studies which claim that financial advice cannot substitute for one's financial literacy (Bhattacharya et al. 2012; Collins 2012; Hackethal, Haliassos and Jappelli 2012; Bachmann and Hens 2015; Calcagno and Monticone 2015; Chauhan and Dey 2020; Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020).

Investment Motivation and Risky Assets Investment

The third hypothesis, H3a, examines the relationship between attitude towards investing and risky assets investment, whereby a significantly positive relationship is posited. The findings suggest a statistically significant and positive relationship between the two variables. Thus, the hypothesis is supported. It suggests that individuals with positive attitude towards investing in risky assets tend to invest a higher proportion of risky assets. The findings are in consistent with the IMB model. Particularly, attitude towards engaging in the targeted behaviour is influential towards the consistent performance of such behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992), which infer that more positive attitude towards investing in risky assets should result in the engagement of risky assets investment. By definition, attitude towards investing in risky assets refers to the perceptions of the outcome of investing in risky assets and evaluation of these outcome (Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). Thus, it could be that individuals with positive attitude choose to invest as they view investing in risky assets as beneficial and rewarding to their wealth, social status or reputation. As such, these assets appear particularly attractive that they are willing to devote the time, effort and money to invest. In addition, the results align with past studies that similarly substantiate a significant and positive relationship between attitude-related construct and financial behaviour (Muradoglu and Harvey 2012; Arceo-Gomez and Villagomez 2017; Khan, Tan and Chong 2017; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017; Lim et al. 2018). Such similarities to the results of existing studies validate the attitude – behaviour link (Fishbein and Ajzen 2011) even when domain-specific measures are adopted. In essence, upon perceiving the outcome of investing in risky assets as rewarding and beneficial to oneself, individuals would form a positive and favourable attitude which consequently translates into the engagement in risky assets investment.

As for personal values, this study focuses on the two broad bipolar value dimensions, which are Openness to change versus Conservation and Self-enhancement versus Selftranscendence dimension. Two hypotheses (H4a and H5a) are formed to test the influence of these personal values on risky assets investment. Hypothesis 4a proposes a negative relationship between preference for conservation over openness to change values and risky assets investment. As expected, the findings reveal a statistically significant and negative relationship between preference for conservation values and risky assets investment. Hence, H4a is supported. It suggests that those with high conservation values invest lesser in risky assets investment, whereas those who have high openness to change values invest a higher proportion of risky assets investment. With the above findings, it appears that there is a tendency for individuals who invest a higher proportion of risky assets to score higher in conservation values or lower in openness values, as compared to those who invest less. The result is in congruent with the extended IMB model. Being integrated as part of the motivation component, openness to change represents the underlying motivational goals of independent actions, novelty, challenge and pleasure (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). Investing in risky assets signifies a higher risk accompanied by higher potential financial returns, which is opposing to conventional and low-risk financial assets. For individuals with high openness to change, the high risk and high return components may be perceived as a form of challenges or novelty, thereby giving them a sense of pleasure and excitement. As their underlying motivational goals align with risky assets investment, they are more willing to take the financial risk and invest. In contrast, conservative individuals who prioritise tradition, stability and security in life will rather not take the risk to invest. One possible explanation is that individuals who are conservation orientated may view investing in risky assets as a threat to their security and stability.

Hence, they may be reluctant to invest so as to maintain their financial status quo and current standard of living.

On the other hand, hypothesis 5a examines the influence of preference for selftranscendence values on risky assets investment, whereby a negative relationship is postulated. However, the findings report that the relationship between selftranscendence and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant, thereby disconfirming H5a. The findings do not support the notion that self-transcendence individuals tend to invest a higher proportion of risky assets. That is, placing higher importance in either self-transcendence or self-enhancement values do not directly affect the proportion of risky assets one invests in. Similarly, for social norm, hypothesis 6a proposes that social norm has a positive influence on risky assets investment. Nevertheless, the findings indicate that the relationship between social norm and risky assets investment is statistically non-significant. Hence, H6a is also not supported. The non-significant relationship implies that whether or not individual perceive receiving social support do not influence the proportion one invests in risky assets. On this basis, the findings suggest that social norm do not have a direct influence on risky assets investment. Such results are in contrary with empirical studies related to the substantial role of social factors comprising household, workplace, and neighbourhood effects in predicting assets allocation (Duflo and Saez 2002; Hong, Kubik and Stein 2004; Brown et al. 2008; Bursztyn et al. 2014; Li 2014; Pool, Stoffman and Yonker 2015; Brounen, Koedijk and Pownall 2016; Brown and Taylor 2016; Yew et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2018).

Nevertheless, the non-significant direct relationship is justifiable using the IMB model, just as the case of the direct effect of advice-seeking on risky assets alike. As highlighted by Fisher and Fisher (1992), failure to substantiate direct relationship between motivation and behaviour implies that motivation is a necessary yet often inadequate condition for promoting behaviours. In situation where direct path is not significant yet indirect path exists, it indicates that the targeted behaviour is complicated and requires behavioural skills to perform (Fisher and Fisher 1992). The latter section in this chapter once again confirms the above explanation as the findings reveal a significant indirect effect of self-transcendence and social norm on risky assets

investment through FSE. In other words, self-transcendence and social norm are not directly related to risky assets investment because the effect of self-transcendence and social norm is fully mediated by FSE as the action of investing requires FSE to perform. In fact, several prior studies that applied the IMB model also found nonsignificant direct relationship yet significant indirect relationship between motivation and a variety of behaviours (Osborn et al. 2010; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Goodell et al. 2012; Sinley and Albrecht 2016; Limbu 2017). Likewise, these findings are in line with studies that fail to establish a relationship where social norm is directly significant towards investment decision (Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Brown and Taylor 2016; Lieber and Skimmyhorn 2018). In addition to the theoretical explanation, another potential reason for the non-significant direct effect could be attributed to the observability of social group's decisions which is effective only in encouraging individuals to invest but does not provide explicit guidance for individual to act accordingly. Whereas for the non-significant direct effect of self-transcendence, it is possible that the underlying motivational values are irrelevant to the context of investing, therefore the values are not activated (Schwartz 2012). However, these concerns cannot satisfactorily explain the non-significant direct relationship because the findings later reveal a full mediation through FSE.

As such, this study provides new evidence regarding the role of attitude within the risky assets investment context, demonstrating that the hitherto unexplored construct – attitude towards investing in risky assets being one of the direct predictors of such behaviour. Likewise, this study is one of the first to explore the robust and comprehensive value theory – theory of basic value and its direct relationship with financial behaviour. To reiterate, of the four motivational constructs, only attitude towards investing and conservation values are directly influential towards one's risky assets investment. Self-transcendence and social norm do not provide direct motivation to drive individuals' risky assets investment.

Investment Behavioural Skills and Risky Assets

Hypothesis 7 is proposed to examine the positive relationship between FSE and risky assets investment. From the findings, it indicates that there is a statistically significant and positive relationship between FSE and risky assets investment. The initial 230

postulation is confirmed, therefore H7 is supported. The findings set forth that individuals' beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets are positively related to the extent to which they invest in risky assets. That is to say, individuals with a higher level of FSE tend to invest a higher proportion of risky assets.

The finding aligns with the IMB model, whereby behavioural skills relating to the engagement of risky assets investment are one of the critical determinants as to whether well-informed and well-motivated individuals will be capable of investing in risky assets. It is also consistent with the self-efficacy concept (Bandura 1986), which theorised that people are more likely to engage in behaviour that they deem themselves as capable and confident. As previously argued, a possible explanation for the findings is that individuals with higher FSE often focus on potential success rather than failure when they invest in risky assets. They tend to have positive valuation about investing in risky assets, at the same time, are more optimistic about the outcome. Moreover, they are better at managing anxiety and emotions induced by variation in the stock market performance. As a result, they are more receptive about assets with volatile returns and higher risk, and tend to invest a higher proportion of risky assets. The finding is also in agreement with prior literature that suggests a significant and positive relationship between FSE and financial behaviour (Xiao, Chen and Chen 2014; Limbu 2017; Mindra et al. 2017; Topa, Lunceford and Boyatzis 2018; Asebedo and Payne 2019; Shim, Serido and Lee 2019). Taken together, this study adds value to the inconclusive findings on the role of FSE in prior literature by providing additional evidence of its significant and positive linkage with financial behaviour.

Interestingly, upon comparison with the results from hypothesis 1a, the path coefficient from FSE to risky assets investment is stronger (H7, $\beta = 0.316$) than that from financial literacy to risky assets investment (H1a, $\beta = 0.229$). In the same manner, the effect size from FSE to risky assets investment is greater (f² = 0.102), whereas the effect size from financial literacy to risky assets investment is relatively smaller (f² = 0.054). Besides, it is also noteworthy that FSE has the highest path coefficient and effect size among all other exogenous constructs for risky assets investment.

While financial literacy has been regarded as the most significant predictor of a wide

diverse range of financial behaviour including investing (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), the finding elucidates the superior importance of FSE in relation to financial literacy. It signifies that although financial literacy could alleviate low participation in risky assets investment, its effectiveness is weaker as compared to the effect of FSE. That is to say, even if individuals are equipped with sufficient information about risky assets investment, they are likely to withdraw from investing due to low level of FSE in investing. In this regard, the finding provides novel explanation as to why individuals avoid risky assets despite possessing high level of financial literacy. It also reveals the absence of FSE as one of the possibilities to the limited success of existing intervention heavily focused on financial literacy.

To the best of this study's knowledge, discussions on FSE and risky assets investment are largely sparse. To date, there are only three studies that assess the association of the two specific constructs. The significant and positive relationship as shown in the result corroborates those from Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016) for women's FSE and ownership of different financial products; Chatterjee, Finke, and Harness (2011) who find linkage between general self-efficacy and ownership of financial assets; and Montford and Goldsmith (2016) who also similarly establish the relationship between students' FSE and their risky assets investment. By adopting a domain specific selfefficacy among a more representative population, the present study further validates the relationship by providing more accurate estimate in the current context. Despite the dissimilarity between target sample of this study and the three existing studies, these studies consistently yield similar findings, thereby indicates that the relationship persists among different sample group. Hence, this study adds value to the limited literature by drawing relationship between FSE and risky assets investment, which also enriches one's understanding regarding the role of FSE in explaining financial behaviour. It reaffirms the relationship, particularly in view of evidence displaying that the effect of FSE on investment behaviour is similar across varied target sample.

6.3.2 Research Objective 2

Research Objective 2: To examine the influence of financial information and investment motivation on investment behavioural skills.

The second research objective, which is formulated based on the second research question, targets at addressing the direct influence of financial information and investment motivation on one's investment behavioural skills. With that, two hypotheses (H1b and H2b) are developed to test the influence of financial information on FSE; while four other hypotheses (H3b to H6b) are formulated to test the influence of investment motivation on FSE.

Table 6.1 presents the summary of the results with the research question. Of the 6 proposed relationship, five hypotheses are supported and one is not supported. The findings indicate that all the tested relationships are statistically significant. However, the results show a statistically significant relationship between advice-seeking and FSE yet the direction is negative, thereby negating the hypothesis that proposes a positive direction. To answer RQ2, it can be concluded that all the constructs under financial information and investment motivation have a significant influence on investment behavioural skills. Financial literacy, attitude towards investing in risky assets, and social norm have a significant and positive influence on FSE; whereas advice-seeking, conservation, and self-transcendence have a significant and negative influence on FSE. The results of each hypothesis of RQ2 are further discussed in the following subsections.

Financial Information and Investment Behavioural Skills (H1b-H2b)

Hypothesis 1b proposes a positive relationship between financial literacy and FSE. Controlling for demographic characteristics, the findings show that the relationship between financial literacy and FSE is statistically significant and positive, thereby confirming H1b. From the results, it shows that individuals who better understand and use personal finance-related information display a greater sense of self-belief in own capability of investing in risky assets. Such a phenomenon is justifiable using the IMB model. Based upon the IMB model, information relevant to the participation of a targeted behaviour is influential on the behavioural skills of such behaviour. Financial decision-making is inevitably complex and risky in nature (Lim et al. 2018). Coupled with the availability of a wide variety of financial products and volatility of stock market performance, the lack of understanding on risky assets would translate to low FSE associated with investing in risky assets. Without such knowledge, one would perceive themselves as having inadequate ability and skills to invest in risky assets. This finding is also in alignment with Limbu (2017) who reveal that credit card knowledge is significantly and positively associated with credit card self-efficacy.

Upon comparison with the findings obtained from H2b to H6b, it can be seen that the path coefficient of financial literacy to FSE is the strongest (H1b, $\beta = 0.306$), as compared to all other exogenous variables for FSE (ranges from $\beta = -0.100$ to $\beta = -0.190$). Similarly, financial literacy demonstrates the largest effect size (f² = 0.119) on FSE among all other variables. These findings collectively reveal that although all exogenous variables are statistically significantly related to FSE, financial literacy emerges as the single most influential predictor of FSE. As such, it seems that the effectiveness of financial literacy in instilling greater FSE in risky assets investment, is among the highest.

Hypothesis 2b examines the influence of advice-seeking on FSE, whereby a positive relationship is postulated. Surprisingly, the results reveal a statistically significant yet negative relationship between advice-seeking and FSE. With that, H2b is not supported. The results indicate that those who acquire advice from financial advisors tend to display a lower sense of self-belief towards own capability of investing in risky assets.

This finding diverges from the original IMB model. As information is theorised to positively influence behavioural skills, seeking advice from financial advisor in investment-related matters is expected to have a positive influence on FSE. A possible explanation for the negative relationship is that the construct of advice-seeking may not be a good proxy for financial information in the context of risky assets investment.

Generally, financial advisors can offer information on a variety of financial products other than risky assets, including insurance, bonds or fixed income securities (Taylor 2017). It indicates that the information provided by financial advisors may not be specifically related to only risky assets. Other than risky assets, studies also show that financial advice significantly and positively influences the demand of other financial assets such as insurance (Lin, Hsiao and Yeh 2017), fixed income allocation (Mishra and Kumar 2012) and retirement planning (Marsden, Zick and Mayer 2011). Financial advisors can give information based upon his or her interests in these assets (Krausz and Paroush 2002), which eventually influence the types of financial information individuals receive when making an allocation decision between risky and riskless assets. The investment advice can be influenced by the background of the advisor, whether the background is investment, insurance or financial planning (Halstead et al. 2016). Unlike developed countries, where the financial advisory system is mature and advanced, most financial advisors in Malaysia specialise in one asset category and often market for one financial institution. As such, the financial advice provided can be innately biased towards their underwritten products (Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020). If advisors focus on other financial products based on their own preference, expertise or even incentives, individuals who rely heavily on advisor are likely to only receive information regarding that particular assets. For instance, if an advisor recommends insurance endowment plan, the financial information provided is likely to revolve around insurance, which is averse to risky assets. They may have negative valuation about risky assets, might feel less optimistic about the outcome and less receptive regarding the volatility of stock market performance. Given the lack of specificity and relevance in the information provided, one can thus expect that improvement on FSE might not take place. As a result, individuals who rely more on financial advisors for investment advice tend to have lower FSE in investing in risky assets.

From the theoretical point of view, failure to capture consistent relationship between information and behaviour in IMB model may be attributed to methodological reasons where both constructs are not measured on the same level of specificity and with respect to a similar domain (Fisher and Fisher 1992; Fisher, Fisher and Harman 2003). As the information construct of the IMB model refers to highly specific and relevant knowledge regarding the behaviour of interest (Fisher and Fisher 1992), it appears that

the broadness of financial information provided by financial advisors may be too general. Additionally, when considering in combination with the significant and positive relationship of financial literacy on FSE, it further validates that the financial information required for investing in risky assets is indeed highly specific and relevant to risky assets investment. Nevertheless, it is crucial to note that the importance of financial advice should not be underestimated by merely looking at its role in risky assets investment. This is because financial advisors have shown significant and positive influence to individuals' financial decisions in other asset classes or in other countries as indicated by prior studies.

Investment Motivation and Investment Behavioural Skills (H3b-H6b)

Hypotheses 3b, 4b, 5b and 6b are proposed to assess the relationship between the components of investment motivation and investment behavioural skills. Comprising the investment motivation are the four components of personal and social motivation, namely attitude towards investing, two-dimensional personal values (conservation and self-transcendence) and social norm. Overall, the results indicate that all four components have a significant relationship with FSE and are in line with the proposed direction, therefore all four hypotheses are supported.

These findings collectively show that investment motivation is important in explaining behavioural skills for investing in risky assets. A greater amount of personal and social motivation associated with investing in risky assets are related to a greater belief in one's own capability to invest in risky assets. The results are in agreement with the IMB model. Based on the theoretical model, motivation to perform a behaviour is expected to positively influence the behavioural skills of such behaviour (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Moreover, the findings of this study are also in line with past studies which establish a positive linkage between motivation and behavioural skills in different domains of behaviour (Osborn et al. 2010; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Goodell et al. 2012; Sinley and Albrecht 2016; John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017).

In detail, H3b proposes that attitude towards investing has a positive influence on FSE. H3b is supported as the findings show that a statistically significant and positive relationship exists between attitude towards investing and FSE. From the results, it indicates that favourable attitude towards investing in risky assets is positively related to one's FSE in investing in risky assets. This is congruent with prior studies that document a positive relationship between attitude and self-efficacy for other desirable behaviours such as exercise, self-care and cancer screening (Osborn et al. 2010; Kim, Jo and Lee 2015; Chang et al. 2018).

For personal values, two hypotheses (H4b and H5b) are developed to examine the influence of the two personal value dimensions on FSE. Hypothesis 4b proposes a negative relationship between preference for conservation over openness to change values and FSE. The findings offer support for the hypothesis as a statistically significant and negative relationship is found between conservation and FSE. Hence, H4b is supported. Hypothesis 5b examines the influence of preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values on FSE, where a negative relationship is posited. The results suggest that there exists a statistically significant and negative relationship exists a statistically significant and negative relationship is not between the preference for self-transcendence over self-enhancement values on FSE, where a negative relationship is posited. The results suggest that there exists a statistically significant and negative relationship between self-transcendence and FSE. Thus, H5b is also supported.

These results indicate that personal values are important in explaining FSE. Individuals prioritising openness to change and self-enhancement values rather than conservation and self-transcendence values, tend to exhibit a higher degree of selfbelief in their capability of investing in risky assets. Individuals with high conservation score focus on avoiding changes and preserving status quo whereas those with high self-transcendence score recognise the importance of welfare of in-group members, tolerance, and social justice. As expected, these motivational goals collide with those of FSE such as coping with adversity or seeking innovative solutions in investing. Individuals with high openness to change and self-enhancement values are highly motivated to pursue their underlying motivational goals such as challenges, excitement, wealth, and personal success. Given that investing in risky assets aligns with their personal goals, they are more likely to develop relevant skills and competencies to perform well in investing. Hence, they are more confident about their ability to invest and demonstrate a higher level of FSE. These results confirm prior studies which document two-dimensional personal values to be positively related to self-efficacy in other domains (Sousa, Coelho and Guillamon - Saorin 2012; Gorgievski et al. 2018; Barni, Danioni and Benevene 2019; Francescato et al. 2020).
As for social motivation, hypothesis 6a proposes that social norm has a positive influence on FSE. Expectedly, the results provide support for H6a that a statistically significant and positive relationship exists between social norm and FSE. It indicates that individuals who perceive a greater social support to invest in risky assets tend to display a greater sense of self-efficacy in investing in risky assets. The results are in line with prior studies that similarly demonstrate a positive link between social motivation and self-efficacy (Nelson 2001; Limbu 2017). As mentioned earlier, a possible explanation for social motivation to play a significant direct effect may be rooted in the cultural aspect. Considering that the Malaysian culture is high in collectivism (Hofstede Insight 2018), social norm and one's ability to comply with these norms are often highly valued (Ramayah et al. 2009). Also, individuals may feel more confident and receptive as they receive support and learn from their significant others regarding the benefits of investing in these assets. In essence, social environments where risky assets investment is perceived as high in prevalence and approval, are likely to increase one's confidence in his/her ability to invest in risky assets. As such, social support and encouragement play a crucial role in bolstering individuals' FSE.

In prior literature, many studies opt to adopt a combined score whereby motivation is treated as a unidimensional construct. In such case, the distinctive influence of respective aspects of motivation may be disguised. As such, this study adds value to the existing literature by decomposing the motivation constructs and measure the three components separately. That is, all elements are considered independent representations of diverse aspects of the motivation construct. The findings reveal that every aspects of motivation contributes to explaining risky assets investment. These results are in congruent with prior studies (Osborn et al. 2010; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Goodell et al. 2012; Sinley and Albrecht 2016; John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017). Taken together, these findings elucidate the importance of motivation within the domain of risky assets investment as all different aspects of motivation are significant in influencing one's FSE. It requires one to have positive attitude towards investing in risky assets, place relatively higher importance on personal values such as openness to change and self-enhancement, and are surrounded by social environment

that is supportive of investing in risky assets. As such, it could be inferred that having favourable attitude, relevant personal values and social pressure is effective in enhancing one's FSE towards investing in risky assets.

6.3.3 Research Objective 3

Research Objective 3: To examine the role of investment behavioural skills as mediator in the relationship between financial information, investment motivation and risky assets investment.

The final research objective aims to assess the mediating role (indirect effect) of investment behavioural skills, whereby 6 hypotheses are then formulated. Specifically, two hypotheses (H8 and H9) postulate that FSE mediates the relationship between financial information and risky assets investment; whereas four hypotheses (H10 to H13) postulate that FSE mediates the relationship between investment motivation and risky assets investment.

The hypotheses and summary of the findings are depicted in Table 6.1. Based on the findings, all the six hypotheses are supported. Hence, in response to RQ3, it can be concluded that financial literacy, advice-seeking, attitude towards investing, conservation, self-transcendence and social norm have an indirect effect on risky assets investment through FSE, thereby validating the mediating role of FSE. Overall, the findings reveal that all hypotheses associated with RQ3 are supported by the data and are in line with the expected relationship.

Investment Behavioural Skills as a Mediator (H8-H13)

To examine the role of FSE as a mediator, six hypotheses are developed. Hypotheses 8 and 9 propose that FSE mediates the relationship between the two components of financial information and risky assets investment, whereby financial literacy and advice-seeking are indirectly related to risky assets investment via FSE. Likewise, hypotheses 10, 11, 12 and 13 are posited to assess if FSE mediates the relationship between the four components of investment motivation and risky assets investment, whereby attitude towards investing, conservation, self-transcendence and social norm

are indirectly linked to risky assets investment through FSE as mediator. Overall, the results indicate that all six information and motivation components exhibit a significant indirect influence towards risky assets investment through the mediating role of FSE. These findings are in line with the postulation of FSE's mediating effect, therefore all six hypotheses are supported.

These results are in congruent with the IMB model that posits behavioural skills (FSE) mediates the relationship between information (financial literacy, advice-seeking) and behaviour (investing in risky assets); and also, between motivation (attitude, conservation, self-transcendence, social norm) and behaviour (investing in risky assets). Particularly, higher level of financial information and motivation drive and enhance individuals' beliefs in their capability to invest in risky assets, and consequently the high level of FSE is translated into higher proportion of risky assets investment. The findings are also in alignment with empirical studies that also position behavioural skills as a mediator for the influence from information and motivation to different form of behaviour (Osborn et al. 2010; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Goodell et al. 2012; John, Walsh and Weinhardt 2017; Limbu 2017; Chang et al. 2018). Additionally, the results are also in line with financial behaviour studies that also positioned FSE as a mediator (Perry and Morris 2005; Lapp 2010; Rothwell, Khan and Cherney 2016; Mindra and Moya 2017).

The results lend support that FSE is the missing link between financial knowledge and financial behaviour. Although prior studies clearly indicate that the key predictor for investing revolves around financial literacy (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017), intervention heavily-focused on financial literacy alone appears ineffective in stimulating desirable financial behaviour (De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Holzmann 2010; Hira 2012; Remmele and Seeber 2012). The results also echo Lapp (2010)'s opinion that FSE is the missing piece between knowledge and effective action. When individuals possess a reasonable level of financial information about risky assets, they are capable of understanding financial products and the financial market, thereby enhances their financial competency. Such condition is likely to boost individuals confident and self-efficacy in their abilities to

make investment decisions, which ultimately increase their risky assets investment. On a side note, although advice-seeking remains negatively related to risky assets via FSE, the result is expected considering its significant and negative direct relationship with FSE (H2b).

The same applies to motivational constructs. Upon having positive attitude towards investing in risky assets, individuals perceive such behaviour as rewarding and are optimistic about the investment outcome. They focus on the potential success rather than failure in risky assets investment. These positive evaluations are likely to enhance one's belief in their own capability of investing in risky assets and that the outcome of investing will be rewarding to themselves. As such, their FSE is broaden and built on, which in turn translate to increment in risky assets investment. In the same vein, individuals with high conservation score or low openness to change value score prioritise stability and certainty in life, where their motivation revolves around preserving the status quo, traditions and customs (Schwartz 1992; Schwartz 2012). Conservative individuals avoid taking risks and trying new things as they emphasise on safe and predictable outcome. Hence, high conservation individuals are likely to be pessimistic about the investment outcome and easily triggered by the fluctuations of stock market performance, exhibiting the characteristic of low FSE, and ultimately withdraw from investing in risky assets. Similarly, individuals with high selfenhancement score emphasise on gaining wealth, social status, personal success, power and dominance (Schwartz 1992). Such individuals are more motivated to perform highly on their finances in order to achieve their financial goals. These values consistent with investing will motivate the acquisition of investing-related skills, which are reflected in higher confidence and self-efficacy in their investing skills and consequently translating into higher risky assets investment. This study argues that personal value is a form of personal motivation, where the strong motivational function of values (Gorgievski et al. 2018) will build up self-efficacy and ultimately guide behaviour in value-congruent domains.

In addition, these findings corroborate the argument of this study that FSE acts as a mediator for the relationship between social norm and risky assets investment. A possible explanation for this result is that in the presence of high social norm,

individuals perceive that investing in risky assets is well-received in their social groups and may display higher receptiveness towards investing in these assets. This heightened normative level gives rise to their belief in their own ability to act accordingly as they are assured that risky assets investment is likely to yield favourable outcome. Taken together, these findings collectively highlight the importance of FSE as a mediator. In line with Bandura (1997)'s argument, self-efficacy serves as the final common pathway for the effects of various personal and social influences on behaviour.

It is noteworthy that upon comparison with the direct effects of financial information (H1a and H2a) and investment motivation (H3a to H6a) on risky assets investment, three constructs namely advice-seeking (H2a), self-transcendence (H5a) and social norm (H6a) do not have a significant direct relationship with risky assets investment. Yet when FSE is included as a mediator, the significant indirect relationship emerges. This is an indication that advice-seeking, self-transcendence and social norm can only be indirectly related to risky assets investment by going through FSE. In other words, FSE fully mediates the effect of advice-seeking, self-transcendence and social norm on risky assets investment. Such results could be explained using the IMB model, whereby indirect-only relationship (full mediation) happens in cases where the behaviour is particularly complex and requires behavioural skills to perform (Fisher and Fisher 1992). In such cases, information and motivation are necessary yet often inadequate condition for promoting actions (Fisher and Fisher 1992). As investing in risky assets is rather complicated (Lim et al. 2018), the action of investing requires FSE to perform. This is in consistent with prior studies in the IMB literature whereby non-significant direct relationship yet significant indirect relationship emerge between information, motivation and different behaviours (Osborn et al. 2010; Seacat and Northrup 2010; Goodell et al. 2012; Sinley and Albrecht 2016; Limbu 2017).

Meanwhile, another three information and motivation constructs including financial literacy (H1a), attitude towards investing (H3a) and conservation (H4a) are found to significantly influence risky assets investment both directly and indirectly via FSE. This is an indication that changes in financial literacy, attitude and conservation can be directly and indirectly associated with changes in the extent of risky assets

investment. That is, FSE partially mediates the effect of financial literacy, attitude and conservation on risky assets investment. The effect of financial literacy, attitude and conservation on risky assets investment are mediated through FSE, but these predictors still explain a portion of risky assets investment that is independent of FSE (Ramayah et al. 2018).

In light of the above, it is evident that FSE plays a crucial and pervasive role within financial decision-making. Individuals tend to feel greater sense of self-belief and empowerment in investing in risky assets when they have high level of relevant financial information, positive attitude towards investing, prioritise openness to change and self-enhancement values, and perceive receiving social support to invest, which resultantly lead to a higher proportion of risky assets investment. The whole process is stimulated by the level of FSE one has in making investment decision regarding risky assets.

Theoretically, the result also confirms the unique conceptualisation of IMB model through the inclusion of self-efficacy as behavioural skills construct. Additionally, it validates the core and central role of behavioural skills as specified in the IMB model. Once again, the findings collectively confirm the extended IMB model as an appropriate theoretical underpinning for risky assets investment.

6.4 Contributions to Research

From a theoretical point of view, this study contributes significantly to the existing body of knowledge. In precise, this study extends the research on financial decisions related to risky assets investment by assessing the influence of personal values alongside the core constructs of the IMB model. The theoretical and empirical contributions are discussed in this section.

6.4.1 Adoption of Cross-Disciplinary Theories

First, this study provides novel evidence showing that the adoption of theories and perspectives from social psychological field is useful in explaining SMP, thereby offering theoretical framework for future personal finance research. Most prior studies 243

are not guided by a priori theoretical or conceptual grounding in understanding risky assets investment. Particularly in the personal finance literature, studies are largely empirically-based without clear theoretical underpinning (Kliger and Levy 2009; Danes and Yang 2014). Besides, there is a lack of complete and integrated theory of behavioural finance (Fromlet 2001) that focus on individuals rather than the market as an aggregate (Durand et al. 2013).

Nevertheless, empirical analyses should always be built upon theoretical foundation (Hair et al. 2017c; Ramayah et al. 2018) and interventions based on theoretical grounding are also shown to be more effective in promoting behaviours than interventions that are not theoretically-based (Glanz and Bishop 2010; Rothman, Klein and Cameron 2013; Klein et al. 2015; Kelly and Barker 2016; Sheeran, Klein and Rothman 2017; Johnson and Acabchuk 2018; Michie et al. 2018). In view of this, the results of this study validate that the two cross-disciplinary theories from social psychological field, namely the IMB model and theory of basic values, are appropriate and rigor in understanding the limited SMP phenomenon.

As such, the first contribution of this study is rooted in offering fresh understanding on risky assets investment from the social psychological perspective that focuses on individual-level factors. These findings reveal that individuals' financial behaviour can be better understood by deeply assessing the social and psychological predictors at personal level. As highlighted by scholars, such adoption of theories outside disciplines constitutes a theoretical contribution (Crane et al. 2016) and is recommended in cases where phenomena are inexplicable with extant theory in its own field (Shaw et al. 2018). Besides, it also enriches the behavioural finance discourse by importing well-established social psychological theories to develop a theoretical explanation for financial behaviour, thereby overcoming the limited theoretical groundings in the behavioural finance field.

6.4.2 Integration of Theories

Second, this study offers novel theoretical contribution by integrating theory of basic values with the IMB model to holistically explain the low SMP phenomenon. To

recapitulate, the conceptualisation of the motivational construct in the IMB model is adopted from TRA, namely attitude towards behaviour (representing personal motivation) and behaviour-related social norm (representing social motivation). This approach is taken due to the absence of a unified conceptual framework on motivational determinants, wherein the adoption of a well-articulated social psychological conceptualisation from TRA can remedy (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Leveraging on that, this study proposes an additional element to complement for the motivation construct: the unifying theory of human motivation (Schwartz 2012), referred to as theory of basic values, which similarly embraces both social and psychological perspective (Giménez and Tamajón 2019).

The results obtained reveal that personal values succinctly fitted the IMB model as part of the motivational component. Conservation and self-transcendence values behave such as other motivational constructs, where they manifest direct influence on FSE and either direct or indirect influence on risky asset investment. Hence, the findings collectively validate that personal value can play a motivational role in alleviating the issue of low SMP as it displays ability in enhancing FSE and risky assets investment. As such, this study lends credence to the integrated theories and offers new ways of seeing a long-standing investment phenomenon from the combined perspective of these two theories. This study provides evidence that the inclusion of personal values can contribute significantly to the extension of the IMB model. Notably, such integration of theories leverage on multiple theoretical lenses to understand a single phenomenon indeed constitutes a theoretical contribution (Crane et al. 2016; Shaw et al. 2018).

To date, this study serves as one of the first to: (1) apply the IMB model in exploring risky assets investment; (2) examine the previously unexplored relationship between theory of basic values and financial behaviour; and (3) adapt the combined perspective of these two theories. As a result, this study also extends each theory independently of the interactive approach. In respect to the paucity of studies that apply IMB model to investment decision, the findings offer novel evidence that the IMB model developed in health context, can also be extended to predict financial behaviour, thereby validating the IMB model as parsimonious, conceptually based and highly

generalisable (Fisher and Fisher 1992). Similarly, for theory of basic values, the results highlight the importance of personal values in understanding financial behaviour, particularly in the context of risky assets investment. This multi-theory approach enhances the weaknesses of one theory with the strengths of another theory (Mindra and Moya 2017).

6.4.3 Mediating Role of FSE

This study also concretely contributes to the existing body of knowledge by filling in the literature gap identified pertaining to the role of FSE as a mediator and key predictor. In previous studies, the key construct that could affect financial behaviour typically revolves around financial literacy (Cardak and Wilkins 2009; Van Rooij, Lusardi and Alessie 2011; Balloch, Nicolae and Philip 2014; Sivaramakrishnan, Srivastava and Rastogi 2017). However, scholarly research also reveal that intervention targeting at improving financial literacy alone often lead to mediocre outcome in changing financial behaviour (De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Holzmann 2010; Hira 2012; Remmele and Seeber 2012), thereby signifying that financial knowledge is not sufficient to promote financial behaviour. Similarly, the IMB model proposes that information is necessary but insufficient by itself. More importantly, the theoretical model further hints at the mediating effect of behavioural skills being the possible missing piece within the extant financial behaviour literature. Leveraging on prior studies, it allows this study to examine the mediating effect of FSE as being the potential missing piece in risky assets investment decisions.

This is a relatively new study that explores FSE as a mediating variable between various information, motivation constructs and investment decision. As demonstrated in the findings, the mediation analysis confirms that FSE's mediational role. It reveals how an individual can translate financial information and investment motivation into higher proportion of risky assets investment by elevating one's self-efficacy in investing. With that, it unveils the "true" relationship between these constructs that are not explicitly hypothesised previously, and explains the underlying mechanism of the effect of information and motivation on risky assets investment.

Furthermore, the results also indicate that FSE is the single most important predictor for risky assets investment. With that, this study provides novel evidence as to the limited literature by establishing relationship between FSE and risky assets investment. More importantly, this study has challenged the prevalent propositions that financial literacy is the key to foster all form of desirable financial behaviour. The findings imply that FSE not only surpasses financial literacy in promoting risky assets investment directly, it provides evidence to support FSE as the pivotal predictor that bridges all the predictors to the behaviour under investigation. As such, it is revealed that financial literacy is not the silver bullet towards promoting desirable financial behaviour, particularly in the context of risky assets investment. Taken together, this study extends the understanding that financial literacy alone has limited influence on alleviating the issue of low SMP. Additionally, it reveals FSE as the missing link between financial knowledge and financial behaviour. Correspond with Bandura (1997)'s claim, self-efficacy is the final common pathway for the effects of various personal and social influences on behaviour.

For a theoretical point of view, the result validates the unique conceptualisation of IMB model through the inclusion of self-efficacy as behavioural skills construct. Being one of the first studies that jointly explore such mediation model, it sheds light to the mediating mechanisms through which these information and motivation constructs relate to risky assets investment, thereby validating the core and central role of behavioural skills as specified by the IMB model. As such, it confirms the suitability of IMB model as a theoretical grounding in comparison to other theories previously explored. These findings collectively support the pervasive and crucial role of FSE as the determinants of risky assets investment.

6.4.4 Determinants of FSE

Another contribution of this study leverages on the results revealing the determinants of FSE. As shown in the findings, FSE is evidently the core and central variable of the whole model, whereby it acts as the most significant explanatory variable and a mediator that bridges all the predictors to risky assets investment. As studies regarding the determinants of individuals' FSE are largely sparse, this study contributes to the

FSE literature in several ways.

Precisely, there is almost no published literature pertaining to the combined influence of financial literacy and financial advisors in affecting one's FSE. This study is among the first to explore and document statistically significant and positive relationship between financial literacy and FSE. In view of the emerging importance of both financial literacy and FSE in the current literature, revealing the interplay between these variables unveils promising avenues for further exploration in this area. Similarly, studies regarding the role of attitude, personal values and social norm in influencing individuals' FSE are not found especially in the context of financial behaviour. Thus, this study is one of the first to explore and validate the significant direct effect of attitude towards investing, two-dimensional personal values and social norm on FSE in risky assets investment. As the self-efficacy concept is a domainspecific construct, the determinants of self-efficacy in the investing domain would vastly differ from those of other contexts (Bandura 2006). Besides, this study also contributes to the inconclusive findings on the general role of social motivation in influencing self-efficacy as the findings demonstrate evidence of a significant relationship between the two constructs, especially in a collectivist culture.

In view of the above, the findings elucidate through theoretical and statistical evidence that the collaborated efforts of these informational and motivational factors are significant in boosting individuals' FSE. The results subsequently respond to Farrell, Fry, and Risse (2016)'s call for future research to identify the antecedents of FSE and also to differentiate the significance of FSE from that of financial literacy.

6.4.5 Enrich the SMP Literature

Another theoretical contribute revolves around enriching the existing literature of SMP or risky assets investment. Prior studies indicate that psychological predictors are influential on behaviour (Bardi and Schwartz 2003; Borg, Hermann and Bilsky 2017; Lopes, Sela and Shackelford 2017; Sharma and Jha 2017). In the context of this study, scholars collectively echo the need to account for psychological factors alongside knowledge, in order to effectively drive behaviour change (Greenberg 2001; Hira

2012). Some authors even assert the superiority of psychological attributes over informational differences as the key driver for financial behaviour (De Meza, Irlenbusch and Reyniers 2008; Kliger and Levy 2009; Fernandes, Lynch Jr and Netemeyer 2014). Despite the importance of psychological factors, there is a dearth of studies that consider these psychological traits simultaneously with financial literacy.

Through examining the influence of FSE, personal values and attitude towards investing in risky assets, this study helps to understand how these psychological factors is crucial in explaining one's financial behaviour. Evidently, the findings reveal that FSE is indeed the single most important predictor in promoting risky assets investment. Likewise, individuals' investment behaviour is also well explained directly and indirectly by attitudes and personal values. As a result, it provides support for Agyemang and Ansong (2016) where traditional methods focusing merely on wealth-maximisation have neglected the significance of personal values, thus ruling out germane determinants of investment decision. Hence, by assessing these hitherto unexplored constructs as new predictors, this study successfully enriches the SMP literature of solving the stock holding puzzle (Haliassos and Bertaut 1995).

Furthermore, to the best of this study's knowledge, this study is also the first to empirically examine the joint influence of personal values alongside the core constructs of IMB model on individuals' risky assets investment. As such, it contributes to the exploration of the interplay between information, motivation, personal values as part of the motivation constructs and behavioural skills within a single model using the SEM approach. The results demonstrate the combined influence of various behavioural mechanisms on individuals' risky assets investment, thereby provides a more holistic picture of SMP. Resultantly, this study advances the body of knowledge in two ways: (1) offers novel evidence to the personal finance literature on investment behaviour by providing empirical evidence; and (2) contributes in solving the stock holding puzzle.

6.4.6 New Geographical Context

This study extends theories and empirical research in a new geographical region and

different cultural orientation. Particularly, the current study has successfully integrated two theories developed in the western context (IMB model and theory of basic values) to understand the behaviour in a non-western context of Malaysia. Based on the findings, these theories are generalisable and applicable in a non-western or emerging context. Therefore, it offers a new avenue for future research to adopt these theories in the assessing behaviours.

In addition, this study expands the SMP research in a new research context to shed light on what influences individuals to invest in risky assets in emerging countries. As prior studies generally reflect the case of a western countries with well-developed financial system and individualist culture, this study contributes in providing evidence from a non-western context or emerging countries where the culture is characterised as collectivistic and high in power distance (Hofstede Insight 2018).

6.4.7 Financial Literacy versus Financial Advisors

Last but not least, this study provides further theoretical implication in unveiling the varied effects of financial information components. In prior literature, the role of financial advice to act as a substitute of financial literacy in affecting financial decisions remains inconclusive. Some scholarly studies assert that financial literacy and financial advice are substitutes (Hung and Yoong 2010; Chalmers and Reuter 2012; Disney, Gathergood and Weber 2015) whereas others support the strand of a complementarily relationship between the two informational factors (Hackethal, Haliassos and Jappelli 2012; Bachmann and Hens 2015; Calcagno and Monticone 2015; Chauhan and Dey 2020; Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020). Apart from the inconclusive findings, studies linked to the influence of financial advisors remains under-researched in the context of Asian developing countries where the advisory system is less matured.

The current study unravels the two informational factors, financial literacy and financial advisors, as the findings indicate their varied effect not only on risky assets, but also on FSE. In particular, financial literacy is one of the major contributors to FSE and risky assets investment. In contrasts, seeking advice from financial advisors do

not have any direct influence on risky assets investment and is negatively related to FSE. The opposing effects of financial literacy and advice-seeking refutes both the substitutability and complementarity of financial literacy and financial advice as it is found that financial advice adds little to one's investment in the stock market. The findings further highlight the importance of relevant and specific information dissemination as a potentially crucial factor. As financial advisors may have a diverse product focus which deviate individuals away from investment, it seems that the advisory system in Malaysia is not able to alleviate the issue of low financial literacy in risky assets investment. The underperformance of advice-seeking also implies that financial advisors may fail to inculcate a preference for asset diversification in Malaysia. When individuals are unaware of the need for diversification, they tend to concentrate their funds into low risk assets (Pan, Wu and Zhang 2020). Overall, the negative effect of advisory intervention signifies the importance of equipping oneself with financial knowledge. The findings that financial literacy plays a significant role in influencing one's FSE and risky assets investment bears crucial policy implication for intervention efforts targeted at promoting both FSE and investing. While other predictors are also significant in explaining FSE, the findings clearly indicate that financial literacy serves as the key factor to address low FSE issue, and hence it should not be overlooked and must not be substituted with financial advice.

6.5 Implication for Practice

This study focuses on the behavioural dimensions of individuals by assessing their financial behaviour in relation to risky assets investment. Thus, the findings of this study go beyond research contributions and offer valuable implications for practice.

As previously discussed, it is crucial for individuals to invest in risky assets and for the nation to increase retail investors' participation in the stock market. From the practical viewpoint, this study identifies the major contributor that influence individuals' financial decision-making in risky asset investment. Guided by the findings, the extended IMB model of investing behaviour necessitates not merely information that has to be enhanced, but also motivation and behavioural skills as the core components of any initiates targeted to increase retail participation in the stock market. As such, any intervention effort implemented to entice SMP must communicate the behaviour-specific information, motivation and behavioural skills. As such, this study identifies several key areas that could implicate different stakeholders including government agencies, regulatory bodies, financial institutions and the local communities.

At present, there is a great deal of initiatives implemented by the government as detailed in Chapter 2, in order to increase retail participation. A majority of these initiatives are devoted to educate the public including investment seminars, campaigns and digital platforms as an education and information hub. Even so, the findings accentuate existing gaps in the current initiatives which are heavily focused on improving financial knowledge only. As illustrated in this study, financial literacy is important yet inadequate to improve risky assets investment. The findings can inform Bursa Malaysia and SC on other factors that jointly affect individuals' investment decision, which includes FSE, attitudes, personal values and social norm.

One of the key findings of this study is that financial literacy remains a vital cornerstone for boosting retail participation. Hence, it provides solid rationale for all education initiatives that aims to enhance financial literacy. It is imperative to note that the information disseminated must be highly specific to investing in risky assets. Individuals must be able to understand more advanced financial concept involving stocks, mutual funds and the function of stock market rather than just the basic financial knowledge. More importantly, the ultimate goal of these education programmes should not only enhance one's financial literacy, but also to heighten individuals' self-belief in their skills to invest and also instil positive attitude towards investing. Universities or colleges may offer units related to personal finance as part of their diploma or undergraduate degree courses. The Bursa Malaysia and SC may provide practical investing guidance or interactive counselling that offers hands-on learning opportunity and boost one's FSE, thereby bridging the gap between knowledge and application.

In addition, the findings may be useful for financial service providers including banks, brokerage firms, mutual funds companies, financial advisory companies and insurance companies, especially if they have difficulties in selling risky financial products. Marketing materials can also be better designed as a strategy to disseminate pertinent financial information, enhance motivation and build self-efficacy to invest in risky assets. Financial institutions that offer risky assets may also develop favourable attitude among the public via advertising the advantages of investing in risky assets. These benefits may include greater asset diversification, wealth accumulation and financial remuneration in the long-run, as compared to holding low risk assets. Besides, emphasis can be placed on building a culture of investing in the local community through featuring social proofs in social media sponsored stories, testimonials sharing or public forums. By doing so, individuals may perceive stronger normative pressure to also engage in investing. These marketing strategies not only help raise public awareness of risky assets, but also create interest and excitement about the products by communicating how individuals can achieve their financial goals when investing in risky assets. As a result, it may foster individuals' personal initiatives to learn more about investing and encourage members of their social group to also participate in the risky financial market.

Another key practical implication leverages on the results indicating the ineffectiveness of financial advisors in enhancing risky assets investment. The insights suggest financial institutions to identify and tailor appropriate training programme directed at educating the financial advisors with more advanced financial knowledge and increasing their confidence in promoting these financial products. It is also recommended that financial advisors should not focus solely on selling certain financial products but to prioritise educating customers on financial concepts and developing a diversification preference. These initiatives can possibly help convey financial information more effectively and to deliver financial services that can accommodate the local needs. Furthermore, this finding further supports that the Bursa Malaysia and SC should enhance financial literacy through formal education or public seminars, rather than relying on financial advisors.

Last but not least, practitioners can also benefit from the novel evidence that reveal how personal values is related to investment decision in several ways. As demonstrated in the findings, individuals who emphasise conservation or self-transcendence are less likely to invest in risky assets investment, as compared to those who score higher in openness to change or self-enhancement values. Considering the above, Bursa Malaysia and SC may attempt to reframe public perceptions of risky assets investment which could possibly help in addressing the prejudice against these assets. For instance, these government agencies or financial service providers can investigate which perceptions about the adverse consequences of risky assets investment are exaggerated and which advantages are underrated (Vecchione et al. 2012). This could subsequently guide information dissemination pertaining to risky assets investment that reduce beliefs that risky assets investment threatens security or universalism (part of conservation or self-transcendence) values.

Moreover, the findings can inform the authorities that investment decision are not purely based on financial gain. Individuals who place higher priorities on conservative or self-transcendence values are less interested in gaining wealth or power as they are more social-focused rather than personal-focused (Schwartz 2012). In such case, Bursa Malaysia, SC and financial institutions should highlight the availability of a wide range of risky assets that are socially responsible or Shariah-compliant. Socially responsible investment generally incorporates social, ethical and environmental issues (Sparkes 2008) whereas Islamic investment refrains from investing in alcohol, gambling or other harmful activities to human and environment (Ghoul and Karam 2007). Since the underlying investment concept in these stocks and funds place greater emphasis on social concerns while achieving financial gains, they are congruent with the goals of those who are social-focused. As such, these risky assets may appear more attractive to individuals who are conservation or self-transcendence orientated. It also provides greater rationale and motivation for them to invest in risky assets. Resultantly, financial institutions are able to actively attract a large and so far, untapped group of potential investors. Besides, personal value may serve as a good indicator for financial service providers to recommend customers on suitable investment products. Different types of investment products should be made available to cater for individuals with different value priorities.

6.6 Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

Despite the contributions of this study, there are some limitations that need to be considered when interpreting or generalising the findings. These shortcomings offer opportunities for future researchers to extend the topic of study in several ways.

First, this study acknowledges its cross-sectional nature which poses limitation to draw causality among the variables. As the data is collected only at a certain point in time, it is representative only of the respondents' current proportion of risky assets. It does not provide sufficient information to document for variables change over time. Irrespective that this is a common practice within the SMP literature, investing in the stock market is inevitably a dynamic process that fluctuates from time to time. It is believed that current investment does not necessarily lead to continuous participation in the stock market. As highlighted by Bhattacherjee (2001), current behaviour does not mean on-going behaviour. Following that, this study encourages future research to employ longitudinal studies in order to shed light about the cause and effect association between the variables. The panel data that document individuals' investment behaviour over several periods can also provide insights to ascertain if there are changes in these variables and their association with the degree of change in individuals' investment portfolio. It may further reveal information on the stability and change of psychological traits such as personal values, attitudes or self-efficacy over time, especially with the often-dramatic stock market fluctuations.

Second, personal value is measured using the shortened PVQ-21 questionnaire as a two-dimensional structure of personal values. Based on the theory of basic values, the two-dimensional values can be decomposed into 10 different basic values or even further refined into 19 values by using a more detailed questionnaire (Lee et al. 2019). As such, adopting the two-dimensional values signifies a potential loss of information whereby the detailed composition of these values and their influence on financial behaviour are largely ignored. As such, future studies may examine the role of personal values on financial behaviour by further decomposing the two value dimensions from theory of basic values into sub-values. This can be done by selecting a longer version of questionnaire developed by the theorist. In precise, studies can adopt the 40-item PVQ to examine the 10 board, distinct values. Alternatively, studies may consider

assessing the 19 refined values by adopting the PVQ-R consisting of 57 items (Lee et al. 2019). These can facilitate a more in-depth understanding as to why and how these values are related to financial decisions.

Third, the scope of the present study is confined to risky assets investment, which includes stocks and mutual funds only. Therefore, the results from this study cannot be generalised to other financial products such as derivatives or insurance. Thus, this study recommends future explorations on the interplay between personal values and components of IMB model in explaining financial decisions on product categories. Likewise, it is also unclear as to whether the extended IMB model is applicable to different types of financial behaviour. Leveraging on the findings, this study opens a new avenue for future studies to examine the extended IMB model on a wide array of financial behaviour and non-health related behaviours, thereby further confirming its applicability to a broader scope of behaviours. Pursuing these lines of inquiry may generate further insights into the role of personal values and IMB mode in different behaviour domains.

Lastly, this study focuses specifically on individuals from an emerging, Asian economy. Evidently, the financial market sophistication, financial advisory system and pension system vary across countries. These environmental factors may affect how the variables are related to each other. Similarly, some predictors such as social norm may be highly reliant on cultural contexts. Considering the relatively high collectivism and power distance in the Malaysian culture, the way individuals perceive normative pressure or social support may differs from individualist cultures. The influence of psychological attributes on behaviour may be responsive to contextual characteristics too. Therefore, caution should be exercised in generalising the results and implication beyond the context of this study. Researchers may replicate this study across different geographical and cultural context in order to further validate the generalisability of the findings.

6.7 Conclusions

The main objective of this study is to investigate the determinants of individuals' risky

assets investment through integrating the theoretical lens of IMB and theory of basic values. By jointly assessing information, motivation (with personal values as part of the construct) and behavioural skills within a single model, this study addresses all three research questions. In precise, apart from the core constructs of the IMB model, personal value dimensions are also included in the proposed conceptual framework to extend the IMB model.

The findings of this study demonstrate that financial literacy is not the silver bullet towards promoting desirable financial behaviour, especially for risky assets investment. Rather, FSE emerges as the single most crucial predictor for directly influencing one's risky assets investment. This study also successfully answers the second research question by establishing all the components of financial information (financial literacy, advice-seeking) and investment motivation (attitude towards investing, personal values including conservation and self-transcendence, social norm) as the determinants of FSE. Moreover, this study offers novel evidence to the role of FSE as a mediator for the relationship between financial information, investment motivation and risky assets investment. As such, it divulges FSE as the prime predictor that bridges information and motivation components to risky assets investment. Lastly, the results show that personal values succinctly fitted the IMB model as part of the motivational component. As a whole, the results collectively validate the extended IMB model as an appropriate theoretical underpinning for explaining risky assets investment.

Following these findings, the present study underlines the need for various stakeholders such as government agencies or financial institutions to formulate effective strategies based on the extended IMB model. These findings necessitate not only information, but also motivation and behavioural skills as the core components of any initiates targeted to increase retail participation in the stock market. Considering the limitations presented, future research should be sustained to gain more comprehensive knowledge about this area of study.

In conclusion, the importance of individuals' risky assets investment cannot be further emphasised. Individuals' participation in the stock market either directly or indirectly through mutual funds is crucial not only to enhance the financial well-being of individuals, but also to support a country's financial market development. There is a relevant quote by Warren Buffet, "Never depend on single income. Make investment to create a second source" and another from his mentor, Benjamin Graham, "Successful investing is about managing risk, not avoiding it".

REFERENCES

- Abdullah, Mohamad Azmi, and Rosita Chong. 2014. "Financial Literacy: An Exploratory Review of the Literature and Future Research." *Journal of Emerging Economies and Islamic Research* 2 (3): 1-9.
- Abowitz, Deborah A., and T. Michael Toole. 2009. "Mixed Method Research: Fundamental Issues of Design, Validity, and Reliability in Construction Research." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management* 136 (1): 108-116.
- Abreu, Margarida, and Victor Mendes. 2010. "Financial Literacy and Portfolio Diversification." *Quantitative Finance* 10 (5): 515-528.
- Ackert, Lucy F., Bryan K. Church, and Basil Englis. 2002. "The Asset Allocation Decision and Investor Heterogeneity: A Puzzle?" *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 47 (4): 423-433.
- Agarwal, Sumit, Gene Amromin, Itzhak Ben-David, Souphala Chomsisengphet, and Douglas D. Evanoff. 2015. "Financial Literacy and Financial Planning: Evidence from India." *Journal of Housing Economics* 27: 4-21.
- Agnew, Julie R., Hazel Bateman, and Susan Thorp. 2013. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning in Australia." *Numeracy* 6 (2): 7.
- Agnew, Julie R., and Lisa R. Szykman. 2005. "Asset Allocation and Information Overload: The Influence of Information Display, Asset Choice, and Investor Experience." *Journal of Behavioral Finance* 6 (2): 57-70.
- Aguinis, Herman, Jeffrey R. Edwards, and Kyle J. Bradley. 2017. "Improving Our Understanding of Moderation and Mediation in Strategic Management Research." *Organizational Research Methods* 20 (4): 665-685.
- Agyemang, Otuo Serebour, and Abraham Ansong. 2016. "Role of Personal Values in Investment Decisions." *Management Research Review* 39 (8): 940-964.
- Ahola, Salla. 2020. "Are Personal Values Associated with Preferences in Seeking Health Advice or Treatment in Europe?" *Psychology, Health & Medicine* 25 (3): 282-295.
- Ajzen, Icek. 1991. "The Theory of Planned Behavior." Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 50 (2): 179-211.
- Ajzen, Icek. 2015. "Consumer Attitudes and Behavior: The Theory of Planned 259

Behavior Applied to Food Consumption Decisions." *Rivista di Economia Agraria* 70 (2): 121-138.

- Ajzen, Icek, and Martin Fishbein. 1972. "Attitudes and Normative Beliefs as Factors Influencing Behavioral Intentions." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 21 (1): 1-9.
- Akerlof, George A., and Robert J. Shiller. 2010. Animal Spirits: How Human Psychology Drives the Economy, and Why It Matters for Global Capitalism. Princeton Princeton University Press.
- Akhgari, Mehdi, Edward R. Bruning, Jesse Finlay, and Nealia S. Bruning. 2018."Image, Performance, Attitudes, Trust, and Loyalty in Financial Services." *International Journal of Bank Marketing* 36 (4): 744-763.
- Alden, Dana L., James B. Kelley, James B. Youn, and Qimei Chen. 2016.
 "Understanding Consumer Motivations to Interact on Brand Websites in the International Marketplace: Evidence from the Us, China, and South Korea." *Journal of Business Research* 69 (12): 5909-5916.
- Alessie, Rob, Stefan Hochguertel, and Arthur van Soest. 2004. "Ownership of Stocks and Mutual Funds: A Panel Data Analysis." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 86 (3): 783-796.
- Ali, Azwadi, Mohd. Shaari Abd. Rahman, and Alif Bakar. 2015. "Financial Satisfaction and the Influence of Financial Literacy in Malaysia." Social Indicators Research 120 (1): 137-156.
- Ali, Suhaimi. 2013. "Financial Literacy in Malaysia: Issues and Status Update." In *International Seminar on Financial Education and Retirement Savings*, edited by Bank Negara Malaysia.
- Almenberg, Johan, and Anna Dreber. 2015. "Gender, Stock Market Participation and Financial Literacy." *Economics Letters* 137: 140-142.
- Alsemgeest, Liezel. 2015. "Arguments for and against Financial Literacy Education: Where to Go from Here?" *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 39 (2): 155-161.
- Altman, Morris. 2012. "Implications of Behavioural Economics for Financial Literacy and Public Policy." *Journal of Socio-Economics* 41 (5): 677-690.
- Amanah Saham Nasional Berhad. 2020. Fixed Price and Variable Price Funds. http://www.asnb.com.my/asnbv2_0index_EN.php.

- Anderson, James C., and David W. Gerbing. 1988. "Structural Equation Modeling in Practice: A Review and Recommended Two-Step Approach." *Psychological Bulletin* 103 (3): 411-423.
- Angelini, Viola, and Danilo Cavapozzi. 2017. "Dispositional Optimism and Stock Investments." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 59: 113-128.
- Arceo-Gomez, Eva O., and F Alejandro Villagomez. 2017. "Financial Literacy among Mexican High School Teenagers." *International Review of Economics Education* 24: 1-17.
- Armitage, Christopher, and Mark Conner. 2001. "Efficacy of the Theory of Planned Behaviour: A Meta-Analytic Review." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 40: 471-99.
- Arrondel, Luc, Majdi Debbich, and Frédérique Savignac. 2015. "Stockholding in France: The Role of Financial Literacy and Information." *Applied Economics Letters* 22 (16): 1315-1319.
- Aruna, P. 2017. "More Young Investors Entering into Malaysian Market." *The Star*, May 3, 2017. https://www.thestar.com.my/business/businessnews/2017/05/03/young-investors/.
- Asebedo, Sarah, and Patrick Payne. 2019. "Market Volatility and Financial Satisfaction: The Role of Financial Self-Efficacy." *Journal of Behavioral Finance* 20 (1): 42-52.
- Asian Institute of Finance. 2015. *Finance Matters: Understanding Gen Y*. http://www.aif.org.my/clients/aif_d01/assets/multimediaMS/publication/Fina nce_Matters_Understanding_Gen_Y_Bridging_the_Knowledge_Gap_of_Mal aysias_Millennials.pdf.
- Aspara, Jaakko, Amitav Chakravarti, and Arvid OI Hoffmann. 2015. "Focal Versus Background Goals in Consumer Financial Decision-Making." *European Journal of Marketing*.
- Assael, Henry, and John Keon. 1982. "Nonsampling Vs. Sampling Errors in Survey Research." *Journal of Marketing* 46 (2): 114-123.
- Atella, Vincenzo, Marianna Brunetti, and Nicole Maestas. 2012. "Household Portfolio Choices, Health Status and Health Care Systems: A Cross-Country Analysis Based on Share." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 36 (5): 1320-1335.
- Atkinson, Adele, and Flore-Anne Messy. 2012. "Measuring Financial Literacy:

Results of the Oecd/International Network on Financial Education." OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

- Babin, Barry J., Mitch Griffin, and Joseph F. Hair. 2016. "Heresies and Sacred Cows in Scholarly Marketing Publications." Elsevier.
- Babu, Suresh, Shailendra N. Gajanan, and J. Arne Hallam. 2017. *Nutrition Economics: Principles and Policy Applications*: Academic Press.
- Bach, Laurent, Laurent E. Calvet, and Paolo Sodini. 2016. "Rich Pickings? Risk, Return, and Skill in the Portfolios of the Wealthy." CEPR Discussion Papers. Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- Bachmann, Kremena, and Thorsten Hens. 2015. "Investment Competence and Advice Seeking." *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance* 6: 27-41.
- Bagozzi, Richard P., Youjae Yi, and Lynn W. Phillips. 1991. "Assessing Construct Validity in Organizational Research." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 36: 421-458.
- Bahrami, Zahra, and Fariba Zarani. 2015. "Application of the Information-Motivation and Behavioral Skills (Imb) Model in Risky Sexual Behaviors Amongst Male Students." *Journal of Infection and Public Health* 8 (2): 207-213.
- Bakar, Suzaida, and Amelia Ng Chui Yi. 2016. "The Impact of Psychological Factors on Investors' Decision Making in Malaysian Stock Market: A Case of Klang Valley and Pahang." *Procedia Economics and Finance* 35: 319-328.
- Balloch, Adnan, Anamaria Nicolae, and Dennis Philip. 2014. "Stock Market Literacy, Trust, and Participation." *Review of Finance* 19 (5): 1925-1963.
- Bandura, Albert. 1986. "Social Foundation of Thought and Action: A Social-Cognitive View." *Englewood Cliffs*.
- Bandura, Albert. 1990. "Perceived Self-Efficacy in the Exercise of Control over Aids Infection." *Evaluation and Program Planning* 13 (1): 9-17.
- Bandura, Albert. 1997. Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control: Macmillan.
- Bandura, Albert. 2001. "Social Cognitive Theory: An Agentic Perspective." Annual Review of Psychology 52 (1): 1-26.
- Bandura, Albert. 2006. "Guide for Constructing Self-Efficacy Scales." In Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Adolescents. Tim Urdan and Frank Pajares eds, 307-337. Information Age Publishing.

- Bandura, Albert, and Robert Wood. 1989. "Effect of Perceived Controllability and Performance Standards on Self-Regulation of Complex Decision Making." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 56 (5): 805.
- Bank Negara Malaysia. 2005. "Banking Institutions to Offer Basic Savings Account and Basic Current Account." Press release, January 20, 2005. http://www.bnm.gov.my/index.php?ch=en_press&pg=en_press&ac=950&lan g=en.
- Bank Negara Malaysia. 2015. Overview of Financial Inclusion in Malaysia. http://www.bnm.gov.my/index.php?ch=fi&pg=fi_ovr&ac=471&lang=en.
- Bank Negara Malaysia. 2017. *Financial Stability and Payment Systems Report 2016*. http://www.bnm.gov.my/index.php?ch=en_publication&pg=en_fspr&ac=21 &en.
- Bank Negara Malaysia. 2019. *Financial Stability Review Second Half 2019*. https://www.bnm.gov.my/ar2019/files/fsr2019h2_en_ch1a.pdf.
- Bansal, Harvir S., and Shirley F. Taylor. 2002. "Investigating Interactive Effects in the Theory of Planned Behavior in a Service - Provider Switching Context." *Psychology and Marketing* 19 (5): 407-425.
- Barasinska, Nataliya, Dorothea Schäfer, and Andreas Stephan. 2012. "Individual Risk Attitudes and the Composition of Financial Portfolios: Evidence from German Household Portfolios." *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance* 52 (1): 1-14.
- Barber, Brad M., and Terrance Odean. 2002. "Online Investors: Do the Slow Die First?" *Review of Financial Studies* 15 (2): 455-488.
- Barberis, Nicholas, and Richard Thaler. 2003. "A Survey of Behavioral Finance." *Handbook of the Economics of Finance* 1: 1053-1128.
- Bardi, Anat, and Shalom H. Schwartz. 2003. "Values and Behavior: Strength and Structure of Relations." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 29 (10): 1207-1220.
- Barnea, Amir, Henrik Cronqvist, and Stephan Siegel. 2010. "Nature or Nurture: What Determines Investor Behavior?" *Journal of Financial Economics* 98 (3): 583-604.
- Barni, Daniela, Francesca Danioni, and Paula Benevene. 2019. "Teachers' Self-Efficacy: The Role of Personal Values and Motivations for Teaching."

Frontiers in Psychology 10: 1645.

- Baron, Reuben M., and David A. Kenny. 1986. "The Moderator–Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 51 (6): 1173.
- Barrot, Jean-Noel, Ron Kaniel, and David Sraer. 2016. "Are Retail Traders Compensated for Providing Liquidity?" *Journal of Financial Economics* 120 (1): 146-168.
- Barsky, Robert B., F. Thomas Juster, Miles S. Kimball, and Matthew D. Shapiro. 1997.
 "Preference Parameters and Behavioral Heterogeneity: An Experimental Approach in the Health and Retirement Study." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 112 (2): 537-579.
- Bartlett, James E., Joe W. Kotrlik, and Chadwick C. Higgins. 2001. "Organizational Research: Determining Appropriate Sample Size in Survey Research Appropriate Sample Size in Survey Research." *Information Technology, Learning, and Performance Journal* 19 (1): 43-50.
- Batra, Rajeev, and Olli T. Ahtola. 1991. "Measuring the Hedonic and Utilitarian Sources of Consumer Attitudes." *Marketing Letters* 2 (2): 159-170.
- Bay, Charlotta, Bino Catasús, and Gustav Johed. 2014. "Situating Financial Literacy." *Critical Perspectives on Accounting* 25 (1): 36-45.
- Bazargan, Mohsen, Judith A. Stein, Shahrzad Bazargan Hejazi, and David W. Hindman. 2010. "Using the Information - Motivation Behavioral Model to Predict Sexual Behavior among Underserved Minority Youth." *Journal of School Health* 80 (6): 287-295.
- Beaubrun-Diant, Kevin E., and Tristan-Pierre Maury. 2016. "Home Tenure, Stock Market Participation, and Composition of the Household Portfolio." *Journal of Housing Economics* 32: 1-17.
- Becker, Gary S. 1976. "Altruism, Egoism, and Genetic Fitness: Economics and Sociobiology." *Journal of Economic Literature* 14 (3): 817-826.
- Becker, Gideon, and Thomas Dimpfl. 2016. "Labor Income Risk and Households' Risky Asset Holdings." *Studies in Economics and Finance* 33 (2): 262-280.
- Becker, Jan-Michael, Christian M. Ringle, Marko Sarstedt, and Franziska Völckner. 2015. "How Collinearity Affects Mixture Regression Results." *Marketing*

Letters 26 (4): 643-659.

- Beckmann, Elisabeth. 2013. "Financial Literacy and Household Savings in Romania." *Numeracy* 6 (2).
- Behrman, Jere R., Olivia S. Mitchell, Cindy K. Soo, and David Bravo. 2012. "How Financial Literacy Affects Household Wealth Accumulation." *American Economic Review* 102 (3): 300-304.
- Benartzi, Shlomo, and Richard H. Thaler. 2002. "How Much Is Investor Autonomy Worth?" *Journal of Finance* 57 (4): 1593-1616.
- Benjamin, Daniel J., Sebastian A. Brown, and Jesse M. Shapiro. 2013. "Who Is 'Behavioral'? Cognitive Ability and Anomalous Preferences." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 11 (6): 1231-1255.
- Bennett, Derrick A. 2001. "How Can I Deal with Missing Data in My Study?" *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 25 (5): 464-469.
- Bertocchi, Graziella, Marianna Brunetti, and Costanza Torricelli. 2011. "Marriage and Other Risky Assets: A Portfolio Approach." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 35 (11): 2902-2915.
- Beshears, John, James J. Choi, David Laibson, and Brigitte C. Madrian. 2018.
 "Behavioral Household Finance." In *Handbook of Behavioral Economics: Foundations and Applications*. B. Douglas Bernheim, Stefano DellaVigna and David Laibson eds, 177-276. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier.
- Bhattacharjee, R. B., and Samantha Ho. 2017. "Cover Story: The Growing Wealth Gap
 a Fate We Can't Afford." *The Edge*, November 16, 2017. http://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/cover-story-growing-wealth-gap-fate-we-cant-afford.
- Bhattacharya, Utpal, Andreas Hackethal, Simon Kaesler, Benjamin Loos, and Steffen Meyer. 2012. "Is Unbiased Financial Advice to Retail Investors Sufficient? Answers from a Large Field Study." *Review of Financial Studies* 25 (4): 975-1032.
- Bhattacherjee, Anol. 2001. "Understanding Information Systems Continuance: An Expectation-Confirmation Model." *MIS Quarterly* 25 (3): 351-370.
- Bian, Cheng, Shuman Xu, Heng Wang, Niannian Li, Jingya Wu, Yunwu Zhao, PengLi, and Hua Lu. 2015. "A Study on the Application of the Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills (Imb) Model on Rational Drug Use Behavior

among Second-Level Hospital Outpatients in Anhui, China." PloS One 10 (8).

- Bilsky, Wolfgang, and Dieter Hermann. 2016. "Individual Values and Delinquency: On Considering Universals in the Content and Structure of Values." *Psychology, Crime and Law* 22 (10): 921-944.
- Blekesaune, Morten. 2015. "Can Self-Enhancement Values Predict Retirement Behavior? An Analysis Combining Survey and Register Data from Norway." *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development* 80 (2): 101-114.
- Boisclair, David, Annamaria Lusardi, and Pierre-Carl Michaud. 2017. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning in Canada." *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance* 16 (3): 277-296.
- Bonaparte, Yosef, and Alok Kumar. 2013. "Political Activism, Information Costs, and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Financial Economics* 107 (3): 760-786.
- Bönte, Werner, and Ute Filipiak. 2012. "Financial Literacy, Information Flows, and Caste Affiliation: Empirical Evidence from India." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 36 (12): 3399-3414.
- Boon, Tan Hui, Hoe Siew Yee, and Hung Woan Ting. 2011. "Financial Literacy and Personal Financial Planning in Klang Valley, Malaysia." *International Journal of Economics and Management* 5 (1): 149-168.
- Borg, Ingwer, Dieter Hermann, and Wolfgang Bilsky. 2017. "A Closer Look at Personal Values and Delinquency." *Personality and Individual Differences* 116: 171-178.
- Botonaki, Anna, and Konstadinos Mattas. 2010. "Revealing the Values Behind Convenience Food Consumption." *Appetite* 55 (3): 629-638.
- Bricker, Jesse, Lisa J. Dettling, Alice Henriques, Joanne W. Hsu, Lindsay Jacobs, Kevin B. Moore, Sarah Pack, John Sabelhaus, Jeffrey Thompson, and Richard A. Windle. 2017. "Changes in U.S. Family Finances from 2013 to 2016: Evidence from the Survey of Consumer Finances." *Federal Reserve Bulletin* 103 (3): 1 41.
- Bricker, Jesse, A. B. Kennickell, B. Moore, and J. Sabelhaus. 2012. "Changes in Us Family Finances from 2007 to 2010: Evidence from Consumer Finances." *Federal Reserve Bulletin* 98 (2): 1-80.
- Brounen, Dirk, Kees G. Koedijk, and Rachel A. J. Pownall. 2016. "Household

Financial Planning and Savings Behavior." *Journal of International Money and Finance* 69: 95-107.

- Brown, Jeffrey R., Zoran Ivković, Paul A. Smith, and Scott Weisbenner. 2008."Neighbors Matter: Causal Community Effects and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Finance* 63 (3): 1509-1531.
- Brown, Martin, and Roman Graf. 2013. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning in Switzerland." *Numeracy* 6 (2): 6.
- Brown, Sarah, and Daniel Gray. 2016. "Household Finances and Well-Being in Australia: An Empirical Analysis of Comparison Effects." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 53: 17-36.
- Brown, Sarah, and Karl Taylor. 2016. "Early Influences on Saving Behaviour: Analysis of British Panel Data." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 62: 1-14.
- Brunnermeier, Markus K., and Stefan Nagel. 2008. "Do Wealth Fluctuations Generate Time-Varying Risk Aversion? Micro-Evidence on Individuals' Asset Allocation." *American Economic Review* 98 (3): 713-736.
- Bryman, Alan, and Emma Bell. 2015. *Business Research Methods*. 4th ed. United Kingdom: Oxford university press.
- Bucciol, Alessandro, and Luca Zarri. 2017. "Do Personality Traits Influence Investors' Portfolios?" *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* 68: 1-12.
- Bucher-Koenen, Tabea, and Annamaria Lusardi. 2011. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning in Germany " *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance* 10 (4): 565-584.
- Bumcrot, Christopher B., Judy Lin, and Annamaria Lusardi. 2013. "The Geography of Financial Literacy." *Numeracy* 6: 1-16.
- Bursa Malaysia. 2010. "Bursa Malaysia's Market Chat 2010/2011 Reaching out to More Retail Investors." Media release, October 7, 2010. http://bursa.listedcompany.com/newsroom/Media_Release_07Oct2010.pdf.
- Bursa Malaysia. 2018a. Corporate History. http://www.bursamalaysia.com/corporate/about-us/corporate-history/.
- Bursa Malaysia. 2018b. Growing the Marketplace: Creating Future Value. https://www.bursamalaysia.com/sites/5bb54be15f36ca0af339077a/assets/5bb 54c9f5f36ca0c38d988e5/Sustainability_Report_2017.pdf.
- Bursa Malaysia. 2018c. Opening of Cds Account.

https://customer.bursamalaysia.com/Web/Incident/ViewKbArticle.aspx?Id=f dff0054-77e0-e311-80c0-0050569c236c

- Bursa Malaysia. 2018d. "Securities Commission Malaysia and Bursa Malaysia to Implement New Measures to Boost Market Vibrancy." Media release, February 15, 2018. http://www.bursamalaysia.com/corporate/mediacentre/media-releases/5521.
- Bursa Malaysia. 2019. "Don't Get Left Behind, Millennials!" The Sun Daily, November 3, 2019. https://www.thesundaily.my/business/don-t-get-leftbehind-millennials-KC1567927.
- Bursztyn, Leonardo, Florian Ederer, Bruno Ferman, and Noam Yuchtman. 2014.
 "Understanding Mechanisms Underlying Peer Effects: Evidence from a Field Experiment on Financial Decisions." *Econometrica* 82 (4): 1273-1301.
- Busse, Christian, Matthias D. Mahlendorf, and Christoph Bode. 2016. "The Abc for Studying the Too-Much-of-a-Good-Thing Effect: A Competitive Mediation Framework Linking Antecedents, Benefits, and Costs." Organizational Research Methods 19 (1): 131-153.
- Cain, Meghan K., Zhiyong Zhang, and Ke-Hai Yuan. 2017. "Univariate and Multivariate Skewness and Kurtosis for Measuring Nonnormality: Prevalence, Influence and Estimation." *Behavior Research Methods* 49 (5): 1716-1735.
- Calcagno, Riccardo, and Chiara Monticone. 2015. "Financial Literacy and the Demand for Financial Advice." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 50: 363-380.
- Calder, Bobby J., Lynn W. Phillips, and Alice M. Tybout. 1981. "Designing Research for Application." *Journal of Consumer Research* 8 (2): 197-207.

Campbell, John Y. 2006. "Household Finance." Journal of Finance 61 (4): 1553-1604.

- Caprara, Gian Vittorio, Shalom Schwartz, Cristina Capanna, Michele Vecchione, and Claudio Barbaranelli. 2006. "Personality and Politics: Values, Traits, and Political Choice." *Political Psychology* 27 (1): 1-28.
- Cardak, Buly A., and Roger Wilkins. 2009. "The Determinants of Household Risky Asset Holdings: Australian Evidence on Background Risk and Other Factors." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 33 (5): 850-860.
- Carrión, Gabriel Cepeda, Christian Nitzl, and José L. Roldán. 2017. "Mediation Analyses in Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling: Guidelines and Empirical Examples." In *Partial Least Squares Path Modeling*. Hengky

Latan and Richard Noonan eds, 173-195. Springer.

- Catania, Joseph A., Susan M. Kegeles, and Thomas J. Coates. 1990. "Towards an Understanding of Risk Behavior: An Aids Risk Reduction Model (Arrm)." *Health Education Quarterly* 17 (1): 53-72.
- Chalmers, John, and Jonathan Reuter. 2012. "How Do Retirees Value Life Annuities? Evidence from Public Employees." *Review of Financial Studies* 25 (8): 2601-2634.
- Chang, Tian Ying, Yi Lin Zhang, Yan Shan, Sai Sai Liu, Xiao Yue Song, Zheng Yan Li, Li Ping Du, Yan Yan Li, and Douqing Gao. 2018. "A Study on the Information–Motivation–Behavioural Skills Model among Chinese Adults with Peritoneal Dialysis." *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 27 (9-10): 1884-1890.
- Chatterjee, Swarnankur, Michael Finke, and Nathan Harness. 2011. "The Impact of Self-Efficacy on Wealth Accumulation and Portfolio Choice." *Applied Economics Letters* 18 (7): 627-631.
- Chauhan, Yogesh, and Dipanjan Kumar Dey. 2020. "Does Financial Literacy Affect the Value of Financial Advice? A Contingent Valuation Approach." *Journal* of Behavioral and Experimental Finance 25: 100268.
- Chen, Fuzhong, Chien-Lung Hsu, Arthur J. Lin, and Haifeng Li. 2020. "Financial Risky Assets Holding and Subjective Wellbeing: Empirical Evidence from China." North American Journal of Economics and Finance: 101142.
- Chetty, Raj, László Sándor, and Adam Szeidl. 2017. "The Effect of Housing on Portfolio Choice." *Journal of Finance* 72 (3): 1171-1212.
- Chiappori, Pierre-André, and Costas Meghir. 2015. "Intrahousehold Inequality." In Handbook of Income Distribution. Anthony B. Atkinson and François Bourguignon eds, 1369-1418. Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Chin, Wynne W. 1998. "Commentary: Issues and Opinion on Structural Equation Modeling." *MIS Quarterly* 22 (1): vii-xvi.
- Chinese Culture Connection. 1987. "Chinese Values and the Search for Culture-Free Dimensions of Culture." *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 18 (2): 143-164.
- Chiu, Peggy. 2016. Looking Beyond Profit: Small Shareholders and the Values Imperative. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Chow, Emily. 2015. "Bankruptcy among the Young in Malaysia Crimps

Consumption." *Reuters*, September 6, 2015. http://www.reuters.com/article/malaysia-economy-debtidUSL3N10O3QR20150906.

- Christelis, Dimitris, Dimitris Georgarakos, and Michael Haliassos. 2011."Stockholding: Participation, Location, and Spillovers." *Journal of Banking* and Finance 35 (8): 1918-1930.
- Christelis, Dimitris, Tullio Jappelli, and Mario Padula. 2010. "Cognitive Abilities and Portfolio Choice." *European Economic Review* 54 (1): 18-38.
- Christiansen, Charlotte, Juanna Schröter Joensen, and Jesper Rangvid. 2007. "Are Economists More Likely to Hold Stocks?" *Review of Finance* 12 (3): 465-496.
- Chu, Zhong, Zhengwei Wang, Jing Jian Xiao, and Weiqiang Zhang. 2017. "Financial Literacy, Portfolio Choice and Financial Well-Being." Social Indicators Research 132 (2): 799-820.
- Cialdini, Robert B., Linda J. Demaine, Brad J. Sagarin, Daniel W. Barrett, Kelton Rhoads, and Patricia L. Winter. 2006. "Managing Social Norms for Persuasive Impact." *Social Influence* 1 (1): 3-15.
- Cialdini, Robert B., Raymond R. Reno, and Carl A. Kallgren. 1990. "A Focus Theory of Normative Conduct: Recycling the Concept of Norms to Reduce Littering in Public Places." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 58 (6): 1015-1026.
- Cieciuch, J., S. H. Schwartz, and E. Davidov. 2015. "Social Psychology of Values." In *The International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioral Sciences*. 2nd ed., J. D. Wright,ed. Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Cieciuch, Jan, Shalom H. Schwartz, and Michele Vecchione. 2013. "Applying the Refined Values Theory to Past Data." *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 44 (8): 1215-1234.
- Clark, Robert, Annamaria Lusardi, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2017. "Financial Knowledge and 401 (K) Investment Performance: A Case Study." *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance* 16 (3): 324-347.
- Clifton, Judith, Marcos Fernández-Gutiérrez, and Myriam García-Olalla. 2017.
 "Including Vulnerable Groups in Financial Services: Insights from Consumer Satisfaction." *Journal of Economic Policy Reform* 20 (3): 214-237.

Cocco, Joao F., Francisco J. Gomes, and Pascal J. Maenhout. 2005. "Consumption and

Portfolio Choice over the Life Cycle." *Review of Financial Studies* 18 (2): 491-533.

- Cohen, Jacob. 1988. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, Jacob. 1992. "A Power Primer." Psychological Bulletin 112 (1): 155-159.
- Cohen, Jacob. 1994. "The Earth Is Round (P<. 05)." American Psychologist 49 (12): 997-1003.
- Cole, Shawn, Anna Paulson, and Gauri Kartini Shastry. 2016. "High School Curriculum and Financial Outcomes: The Impact of Mandated Personal Finance and Mathematics Courses." *Journal of Human Resources* 51 (3): 656-698.
- Cole, Shawn, Thomas Sampson, and Bilal Zia. 2011. "Prices or Knowledge? What Drives Demand for Financial Services in Emerging Markets?" *Journal of Finance* 66 (6): 1933-1967.
- Collins, J. Michael. 2012. "Financial Advice: A Substitute for Financial Literacy?" *Financial Services Review* 21 (4): 307.
- Conlin, Andrew, Petri Kyröläinen, Marika Kaakinen, Marjo-Riitta Järvelin, Jukka Perttunen, and Rauli Svento. 2015. "Personality Traits and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Empirical Finance* 33: 34-50.
- Conway, James M., and Charles E. Lance. 2010. "What Reviewers Should Expect from Authors Regarding Common Method Bias in Organizational Research." *Journal of Business and Psychology* 25 (3): 325-334.
- Cooke, Mike. 2017. "Is Technological Change Threatening the Very Existence of "Traditional" Survey Research and, If So, What Should We Do About It?" *International Journal of Market Research* 59 (2): 153-155.
- Cooper, Michael J., Huseyin Gulen, and P. Raghavendra Rau. 2005. "Changing Names with Style: Mutual Fund Name Changes and Their Effects on Fund Flows." *Journal of Finance* 60 (6): 2825-2858.
- Coriale, Giovanna, Elena Bilotta, Luigi Leone, Fernando Cosimi, Raffaella Porrari, Francesca De Rosa, and Mauro Ceccanti. 2012. "Avoidance Coping Strategies, Alexithymia and Alcohol Abuse: A Mediation Analysis." *Addictive Behaviors* 37 (11): 1224-1229.
- Cornman, Deborah H., Sarah J. Schmiege, Angela Bryan, T. Joseph Benziger, and

Jeffrey D. Fisher. 2007. "An Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills (Imb) Model-Based Hiv Prevention Intervention for Truck Drivers in India." *Social Science and Medicine* 64 (8): 1572-1584.

- Corry, Margarita, Sam Porter, and Hugh McKenna. 2019. "The Redundancy of Positivism as a Paradigm for Nursing Research." *Nursing Philosophy* 20 (1): e12230.
- Costa, Paul T., and Robert R. McCrae. 2008. "The Revised Neo Personality Inventory (Neo-Pi-R)." In *The Sage Handbook of Personality Theory and Assessment*. G.J. Boyle, G. Matthews and D. H. Saklofske eds, 179-198. London: Sage Publications.
- Couper, Mick P. 2000. "Web Surveys: A Review of Issues and Approaches." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 64 (4): 464-494.
- Coval, Joshua D., and Tobias J. Moskowitz. 2001. "The Geography of Investment: Informed Trading and Asset Prices." *Journal of Political Economy* 109 (4): 811-841.
- Crane, Andrew, Irene Henriques, Bryan W. Husted, and Dirk Matten. 2016. "What Constitutes a Theoretical Contribution in the Business and Society Field?" *Business and Society* 55 (6): 783-791.
- Crawford, Scott D., Mick P. Couper, and Mark J. Lamias. 2001. "Web Surveys: Perceptions of Burden." *Social Science Computer Review* 19 (2): 146-162.
- Creswell, John W. 2014. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. 4th ed. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Cronbach, Lee J. 1971. "Test Validation." In *Educational Measurement*. 2nd ed., R.L. Thorndike, ed., 443-507. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.
- Crossan, Frank. 2003. "Research Philosophy: Towards an Understanding." *Nurse Researcher* 11 (1): 46-55.
- Cruciani, Caterina. 2017. Investor Decision-Making and the Role of the Financial Advisor: A Behavioural Finance Approach: Springer.
- Cupák, Andrej, Pirmin Fessler, Joanne W. Hsu, and Piotr R. Paradowski. 2020.
 "Confidence, Financial Literacy and Investment in Risky Assets: Evidence from the Survey of Consumer Finances." Finance and Economics Discussion Series 2020-004. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

Cynamon, Barry Z., and Steven M. Fazzari. 2016. "Inequality, the Great Recession

and Slow Recovery." Cambridge Journal of Economics 40 (2): 373-399.

- Danes, Sharon M., and Yunxi Yang. 2014. "Assessment of the Use of Theories within the Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning and the Contribution of the Family Financial Socialization Conceptual Model." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning* 25 (1): 53-68.
- Davidov, Eldad, Peter Schmidt, and Shalom H. Schwartz. 2008. "Bringing Values Back In: The Adequacy of the European Social Survey to Measure Values in 20 Countries." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 72 (3): 420-445.
- De Boer, Joop, Carolien T. Hoogland, and Jan J. Boersema. 2007. "Towards More Sustainable Food Choices: Value Priorities and Motivational Orientations." *Food Quality and Preference* 18 (7): 985-996.
- De Bondt, Werner, Rosa M. Mayoral, and Eleuterio Vallelado. 2013. "Behavioral Decision-Making in Finance: An Overview and Assessment of Selected Research." *Spanish Journal of Finance and Accounting* 42 (157): 99-118.
- De Leeuw, Edith D. 2001. "Reducing Missing Data in Surveys: An Overview of Methods." *Quality and Quantity* 35 (2): 147-160.
- De Luna-Martinez, Jose. 2017. Financial Inclusion in Malaysia : Distilling Lessons for Other Countries. World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/703901495196244578/Financialinclusion-in-Malaysia-distilling-lessons-for-other-countries.
- De Meza, David, Bernd Irlenbusch, and Diane Reyniers. 2008. *Financial Capability: A Behavioural Economics Perspective*. London, UK. https://www.fca.org.uk/publication/research/fsa-crpr69.pdf.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. 2017a. "Labour Force in Malaysia (March 2017)." Press release, May 15, 2017. https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=124& bul_id=a2prMDQ3cXVRanJPbFU3cldseVJLQT09&menu_id=U3VPMldoY UxzVzFaYmNkWXZteGduZz09.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. 2017b. "Salaries and Wages Survey Report." Press release, May 5, 2017. https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/pdfPrev&id=U3JoKzFiek E5WFFKK0VMRWQ0a2FDQT09.

Department of Statistics Malaysia. 2018. Demographic Statistics of Malaysia 2017.
https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/ctwoByCat&parent_id=1 15&menu_id=L0pheU43NWJwRWVSZklWdzQ4TlhUUT09.

- DeSimone, Justin A., and P. D. Harms. 2018. "Dirty Data: The Effects of Screening Respondents Who Provide Low-Quality Data in Survey Research." *Journal of Business and Psychology* 33 (5): 559-577.
- Deuflhard, Florian, Dimitris Georgarakos, and Roman Inderst. 2018. "Financial Literacy and Savings Account Returns." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 17 (1): 131-164.
- Dhar, Ravi, and Ning Zhu. 2006. "Up Close and Personal: Investor Sophistication and the Disposition Effect." *Management Science* 52 (5): 726-740.
- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios, and Judy A. Siguaw. 2006. "Formative Versus Reflective Indicators in Organizational Measure Development: A Comparison and Empirical Illustration." *British Journal of Management* 17 (4): 263-282.
- Dietz, Bernadette E., Mark Carrozza, and P. Neal Ritchey. 2003. "Does Financial Self-Efficacy Explain Gender Differences in Retirement Saving Strategies?" *Journal of Women and Aging* 15 (4): 83-96.
- Dillman, Don A., Jolene D. Smyth, and Leah Melani Christian. 2014. Internet, Mail, and Mixed-Mode Surveys: The Tailored Design Method. 3rd ed. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Disney, Richard, John Gathergood, and Jörg Weber. 2015. "Credit Counseling: A Substitute for Consumer Financial Literacy?" *Journal of Pension Economics* & Finance 14 (4): 466-491.
- Dohmen, Thomas, Armin Falk, David Huffman, Uwe Sunde, Jürgen Schupp, and Gert
 G Wagner. 2011. "Individual Risk Attitudes: Measurement, Determinants, and
 Behavioral Consequences." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 9 (3): 522-550.
- Dorn, Daniel, and Gur Huberman. 2005. "Talk and Action: What Individual Investors Say and What They Do." *Review of Finance* 9 (4): 437-481.
- Dorn, Daniel, and Gur Huberman. 2010. "Preferred Risk Habitat of Individual Investors." *Journal of Financial Economics* 97 (1): 155-173.
- Duasa, Jarita, and Selamah Abdullah Yusof. 2013. "Determinants of Risk Tolerance on Financial Asset Ownership: A Case of Malaysia." *International Journal of Business and Society* 14 (1): 1-16.

- Duflo, Esther, and Emmanuel Saez. 2002. "Participation and Investment Decisions in a Retirement Plan: The Influence of Colleagues' Choices." *Journal of Public Economics* 85 (1): 121-148.
- Durand, Robert B., Rick Newby, Leila Peggs, and Michelle Siekierka. 2013. "Personality." *Journal of Behavioral Finance* 14 (2): 116-133.
- Dynan, Karen E., and Dean M. Maki. 2001. "Does Stock Market Wealth Matter for Consumption?" FEDS Discussion Papers. Federal Reserve Board.
- Dzewaltowski, David A., John M. Noble, and Jeff M. Shaw. 1990. "Physical Activity Participation: Social Cognitive Theory Versus the Theories of Reasoned Action and Planned Behavior." *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology* 12 (4): 388-405.
- East, Robert. 1993. "Investment Decisions and the Theory of Planned Behaviour." Journal of Economic Psychology 14 (2): 337-375.
- Egan, Daniel, Christoph Merkle, and Martin Weber. 2014. "Second-Order Beliefs and the Individual Investor." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 107: 652-666.
- Eggers, Sander M., Leif E. Aarø, Arjan E. R. Bos, Catherine Mathews, and Hein de Vries. 2014. "Predicting Condom Use in South Africa: A Test of Two Integrative Models." *AIDS and Behavior* 18 (1): 135-145.
- Ehm, Christian, Christine Kaufmann, and Martin Weber. 2014. "Volatility Inadaptability: Investors Care About Risk, but Cannot Cope with Volatility." *Review of Finance* 18 (4): 1387-1423.
- Elton, Edwin J., Martin J. Gruber, and Jeffrey A. Busse. 2004. "Are Investors Rational? Choices among Index Funds." *Journal of Finance* 59 (1): 261-288.
- Employees' Provident Fund. 2019a. Investments and Dividends. https://www.kwsp.gov.my/member/overview#InvestmentDividends.
- Employees' Provident Fund. 2019b. Members Investment Scheme: Diversify Your Retirement Savings. https://www.kwsp.gov.my/member/investment.
- Erbas, S. Nuri, and Abbas Mirakhor. 2010. "The Equity Premium Puzzle, Ambiguity Aversion, and Institutional Quality: Implications for Islamic Finance." *Journal of Islamic Economics, Banking and Finance* 6 (1): 37-86.
- Fan, Elliott, and Ruoyun Zhao. 2009. "Health Status and Portfolio Choice: Causality or Heterogeneity?" *Journal of Banking and Finance* 33 (6): 1079-1088.

- Fan, Lu, and Chatterjee Swarn. 2020. "The Utilization of Robo-Advisors by Individual Investors: An Analysis Using Diffusion of Innovation and Information Search Frameworks." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*.
- Farooq, Ali, Debora Jeske, and Jouni Isoaho. 2019. "Predicting Students' Security Behavior Using Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model" *IFIP International Conference on ICT Systems Security and Privacy Protection*: Springer.
- Farrell, Andrew M. 2010. "Insufficient Discriminant Validity: A Comment on Bove, Pervan, Beatty, and Shiu (2009)." *Journal of Business Research* 63 (3): 324-327.
- Farrell, Lisa, Tim R. L. Fry, and Leonora Risse. 2016. "The Significance of Financial Self-Efficacy in Explaining Women's Personal Finance Behaviour." *Journal* of Economic Psychology 54: 85-99.
- Faul, F, E Erdfelder, A Buchner, and AG Lang. 2013. "G* Power Version 3.1. 7 [Computer Software]. Uiversität Kiel, Germany."
- Faulkner, Ashley E. 2015. "A Systematic Review of Financial Literacy as a Termed Concept: More Questions Than Answers." *Journal of Business and Finance Librarianship* 20 (1-2): 7-26.
- Fernandes, Daniel, John G. Lynch Jr, and Richard G. Netemeyer. 2014. "Financial Literacy, Financial Education, and Downstream Financial Behaviors." *Management Science* 60 (8): 1861-1883.
- Financial Services Authority. 2006. *Financial Capability in the Uk: Establishing a Baseline*. https://financialhealthexchange.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2015/11/fincap baseline.pdf.
- Financial Times Stock Exchange. 2020. *Ftse Equity Country Classification Process*. https://research.ftserussell.com/products/downloads/FTSE_Equity_Country_ Classification_Paper.pdf?_ga=2.229337625.466944251.1567590763-1322844717.1560784229.
- Fishbein, Martin, and Icek Ajzen. 1975. *Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Fishbein, Martin, and Icek Ajzen. 2011. Predicting and Changing Behavior: The Reasoned Action Approach. New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Fisher, Colleen M. 2011. "Are Information, Motivation, and Behavioral Skills Linked

with Hiv-Related Sexual Risk among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men?" *Journal of Hiv/AIDS & Social Services* 10 (1): 5-21.

- Fisher, Colleen M. 2012. "Adapting the Information–Motivation–Behavioral Skills Model: Predicting Hiv-Related Sexual Risk among Sexual Minority Youth." *Health Education and Behavior* 39 (3): 290-302.
- Fisher, Jeffrey D., and William A. Fisher. 1992. "Changing Aids-Risk Behavior." *Psychological Bulletin* 111 (3): 455.
- Fisher, Jeffrey D., and William A. Fisher. 2000. "Theoretical Approaches to Individual-Level Change in Hiv Risk Behavior." In *Handbook of Hiv Prevention.* J. L. Peterson and R. J. DiClemente eds, 3-55. New York, US: Springer.
- Fisher, Jeffrey D., and William A. Fisher. 2002. "The Information–Motivation– Behavioral Skills Model." In *Emerging Theories in Health Promotion Practice and Research*. DiClemente R. J., Crosby R. A. and Kegler M.C. eds. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Fisher, Jeffrey D., William A. Fisher, K. Rivet Amico, and Jennifer J. Harman. 2006."An Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model of Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy." *Health Psychology* 25 (4): 462.
- Fisher, William A., Jeffrey D. Fisher, and Jennifer Harman. 2003. The Information– Motivation–-Behavioral Skills Model: A General Social Psychological Approach to Understanding and Promoting Health Behavior. Edited by Jerry Suls and Kenneth A. Wallston, Social Psychological Foundations of Health and Illness. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing
- Fleary, Sasha A., Patrece Joseph, and Hong Chang. 2020. "Applying the Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model to Explain Adolescents' Fruits and Vegetables Consumption." *Appetite* 147: 104546.
- Forbes, James, and S. Murat Kara. 2010. "Confidence Mediates How Investment Knowledge Influences Investing Self-Efficacy." Journal of Economic Psychology 31 (3): 435-443.
- Fornell, Claes, and David F. Larcker. 1981. "Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error." *Journal of Marketing Research* 18 (1): 39-50.

Francescato, Donata, Marco Lauriola, Mauro Giacomantonio, and Minou Ella

Mebane. 2020. "Do Personality Traits and Personal Values Predict Career Efficacy and Career Progression of Successful Political Women? An Exploratory Study." *Personality and Individual Differences* 160: 109918.

- Franke, George, and Marko Sarstedt. 2019. "Heuristics Versus Statistics in Discriminant Validity Testing: A Comparison of Four Procedures." *Internet Research* 29 (3): 430-447.
- Fromlet, Hubert. 2001. "Behavioral Finance-Theory and Practical Application: Systematic Analysis of Departures from the Homo Oeconomicus Paradigm Are Essential for Realistic Financial Research and Analysis." *Business Economics* 36 (3): 63-69.
- Fuller, Christie M., Marcia J. Simmering, Guclu Atinc, Yasemin Atinc, and Barry J. Babin. 2016. "Common Methods Variance Detection in Business Research." *Journal of Business Research* 69 (8): 3192-3198.
- Fünfgeld, Brigitte, and Mei Wang. 2009. "Attitudes and Behaviour in Everyday Finance: Evidence from Switzerland." International Journal of Bank Marketing 27 (2): 108-128.
- Garson, G. David. 2015. *Missing Values Analysis and Data Imputation*. Asheboro, NC: Statistical Associates Publishers.
- Garson, G. David 2016. Partial Least Squares: Regression and Structural Equation Models. Asheboro, NC: Statistical Associates Publishers.
- Gefen, David, Edward E. Rigdon, and Detmar Straub. 2011. "Editor's Comments: An Update and Extension to Sem Guidelines for Administrative and Social Science Research." *MIS Quarterly* 35 (2): iii-xiv.
- Georgarakos, Dimitris, and Giacomo Pasini. 2011. "Trust, Sociability, and Stock Market Participation." *Review of Finance* 15 (4): 693-725.
- Ghoul, Wafica, and Paul Karam. 2007. "Mri and Sri Mutual Funds: A Comparison of Christian, Islamic (Morally Responsible Investing), and Socially Responsible Investing (Sri) Mutual Funds." *Journal of Investing* 16 (2): 96-102.
- Gilliam, John, Swarn Chatterjee, and John E. Grable. 2010. "Measuring the Perception of Financial Risk Tolerance: A Tale of Two Measures."
- Giménez, August Corrons, and Lluís Garay Tamajón. 2019. "Analysis of the Third-Order Structuring of Shalom Schwartz's Theory of Basic Human Values." *Heliyon* 5 (6): e01797.

- Glanz, Karen, and Donald B. Bishop. 2010. "The Role of Behavioral Science Theory in Development and Implementation of Public Health Interventions." *Annual Review of Public Health* 31: 399-418.
- Glaser, Markus, Markus Nöth, and Martin Weber. 2004. Behavioral Finance. Edited by D.J. Koehler and N. Harvey, Blackwell Handbook of Judgment and Decision Making. Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Glasford, Demis E. 2008. "Predicting Voting Behavior of Young Adults: The Importance of Information, Motivation, and Behavioral Skills." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 38 (11): 2648-2672.
- Goedde-Menke, Michael, Carsten Erner, and Michael Oberste. 2017. "Towards More Sustainable Debt Attitudes and Behaviors: The Importance of Basic Economic Skills." *Journal of Business Economics* 87 (5): 645-668.
- Gold, Andrew H., Arvind Malhotra, and Albert H. Segars. 2001. "Knowledge Management: An Organizational Capabilities Perspective." Journal of Management Information Systems 18 (1): 185-214.
- Goldstein, Noah J., Robert B. Cialdini, and Vladas Griskevicius. 2008. "A Room with a Viewpoint: Using Social Norms to Motivate Environmental Conservation in Hotels." *Journal of Consumer Research* 35 (3): 472-482.
- Goodell, L. Suzanne, Michelle B. Pierce, K. Rivet Amico, and Ann M. Ferris. 2012.
 "Parental Information, Motivation, and Behavioral Skills Correlate with Child Sweetened Beverage Consumption." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 44 (3): 240-245.
- Goodwin, Neva, Jonathan M. Harris, Julie A. Nelson, Brian Roach, and Mariano Torras. 2014. *Microeconomics in Context*. 3rd ed. London, UK: Taylor and Francis.
- Gorgievski, Marjan J., Ute Stephan, Mariola Laguna, and Juan Antonio Moriano. 2018. "Predicting Entrepreneurial Career Intentions: Values and the Theory of Planned Behavior." *Journal of Career Assessment* 26 (3): 457-475.
- Gouveia, Valdiney V., Taciano L. Milfont, and Valeschka M. Guerra. 2014a. "The Functional Theory of Human Values: From Intentional Overlook to First Acknowledgement—a Reply to Schwartz (2014)." *Personality and Individual Differences* 68: 250-253.
- Gouveia, Valdiney V., Taciano L. Milfont, and Valeschka M. Guerra. 2014b.

"Functional Theory of Human Values: Testing Its Content and Structure Hypotheses." *Personality and Individual Differences* 60: 41-47.

- Government of Malaysia. 2020. Shared Prosperity Vision 2030. https://www.malaysia.gov.my/portal/content/30901.
- Grable, John E., and So-Hyun Joo. 2004. "Environmental and Biophysical Factors Associated with Financial Risk Tolerance." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning* 15 (1): 73-82.
- Graham, John W. 2012. Missing Data: Analysis and Design. New York, NY: Springer.
- Gray, David E. 2004. *Doing Research in the Real World*. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Greenberg, Daphne. 2001. "A Critical Look at Health Literacy." Adult Basic Education 11 (2): 67.
- Grimm, Pamela. 2010. "Social Desirability Bias." In *Wiley International Encyclopedia of Marketing*. J. Sheth and N. Malhotra eds.: John Wiley & Sons.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Matti Keloharju. 2001. "How Distance, Language, and Culture Influence Stockholdings and Trades." *Journal of Finance* 56 (3): 1053-1073.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Matti Keloharju. 2009. "Sensation Seeking, Overconfidence, and Trading Activity." *Journal of Finance* 64 (2): 549-578.
- Grinblatt, Mark, Matti Keloharju, and Juhani Linnainmaa. 2011. "Iq and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Finance* 66 (6): 2121-2164.
- Grohmann, Antonia. 2018. "Financial Literacy and Financial Behavior: Evidence from the Emerging Asian Middle Class." *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal* 48: 129-143.
- Guiso, Luigi, Michael Haliassos, and Tullio Jappelli. 2002. *Household Portfolios*: MIT press.
- Guiso, Luigi, Michael Haliassos, and Tullio Jappelli. 2003. "Household Stockholding in Europe: Where Do We Stand and Where Do We Go?" *Economic Policy* 18 (36): 123-170.
- Guiso, Luigi, and Tullio Jappelli. 2005. "Awareness and Stock Market Participation." *Review of Finance* 9 (4): 537-567.
- Guiso, Luigi, and Tullio Jappelli. 2008. "Financial Literacy and Portfolio Diversification." EUI ECO Working Papers. European University Institute.
- Guiso, Luigi, Paola Sapienza, and Luigi Zingales. 2008. "Trusting the Stock Market."

Journal of Finance 63 (6): 2557-2600.

- Guvenen, Fatih. 2006. "Reconciling Conflicting Evidence on the Elasticity of Intertemporal Substitution: A Macroeconomic Perspective." Journal of Monetary Economics 53 (7): 1451-1472.
- Hackethal, Andreas, Michael Haliassos, and Tullio Jappelli. 2012. "Financial Advisors: A Case of Babysitters?" *Journal of Banking and Finance* 36 (2): 509-524.
- Hadar, Liat, Sanjay Sood, and Craig R. Fox. 2013. "Subjective Knowledge in Consumer Financial Decisions." *Journal of Marketing Research* 50 (3): 303-316.
- Hair, Joseph F., William C. Black, Barry J. Babin, Rolph E. Anderson, and Ronald L.Tatham. 2006. *Multivariate Data Analysis*. 6th ed. New York, NY: Prentice Hall.
- Hair, Joseph F., Carole L. Hollingsworth, Adriane B. Randolph, and Alain Yee Loong Chong. 2017a. "An Updated and Expanded Assessment of Pls-Sem in Information Systems Research." *Industrial Management & Data Systems* 117 (3): 442-458.
- Hair, Joseph F., G. Tomas M. Hult, Christian M. Ringle, Marko Sarstedt, and Kai Oliver Thiele. 2017b. "Mirror, Mirror on the Wall: A Comparative Evaluation of Composite-Based Structural Equation Modeling Methods." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 45 (5): 616-632.
- Hair, Joseph F., G. Tomas M. Hult, Christian Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2017c. A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (Pls-Sem). 2nd ed. London, UK: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Hair, Joseph F., Lucy M. Matthews, Ryan L. Matthews, and Marko Sarstedt. 2017d.
 "Pls-Sem or Cb-Sem: Updated Guidelines on Which Method to Use." *International Journal of Multivariate Data Analysis* 1 (2): 107-123.
- Hair, Joseph F., Christian M. Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2011. "Pls-Sem: Indeed a Silver Bullet." *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice* 19 (2): 139-152.
- Hair, Joseph F., Christian M. Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2013. "Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling: Rigorous Applications, Better Results and Higher Acceptance." *Long Range Planning* 46 (1-2): 1-12.
- Hair, Joseph F., Jeffrey J. Risher, Marko Sarstedt, and Christian M. Ringle. 2019.

"When to Use and How to Report the Results of Pls-Sem." *European Business Review* 31 (1): 2-24.

- Hair, Joseph F., Marko Sarstedt, Lucas Hopkins, and Volker G. Kuppelwieser. 2014.
 "Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (Pls-Sem) an Emerging Tool in Business Research." *European Business Review* 26 (2): 106-121.
- Hair, Joseph F., Marko Sarstedt, and Christian M. Ringle. 2019. "Rethinking Some of the Rethinking of Partial Least Squares." *European Journal of Marketing* 53 (4): 566-584.
- Haliassos, Michael, and Carol C. Bertaut. 1995. "Why Do So Few Hold Stocks?" *The Economic Journal* 105: 1110-1129.
- Halko, Marja-Liisa, Markku Kaustia, and Elias Alanko. 2012. "The Gender Effect in Risky Asset Holdings." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 83 (1): 66-81.
- Halstead, Diane, Michael A. Jones, Vance P. Lesseig, and Thomas I. Smythe. 2016."The Customer Orientation of Financial Advisers." In *Financial Literacy and the Limits of Financial Decision-Making*. Tina Harrison,ed.: Springer.
- Hamada, Mahmoud, Michael Sherris, and John Van der Hoek. 2006. "Dynamic Portfolio Allocation, the Dual Theory of Choice and Probability Distortion Functions." *ASTIN Bulletin: The Journal of the IAA* 36 (1): 187-217.
- Hancock, Adam, Bryce Jorgensen, and Melvin Swanson. 2013. "College Students and Credit Card Use: The Role of Parents, Work Experience, Financial Knowledge, and Credit Card Attitudes." *Journal of Family and Economic Issues* 34 (4): 369-381.
- Hanel, Paul H. P., and Katia C. Vione. 2016. "Do Student Samples Provide an Accurate Estimate of the General Public?" *PloS One* 11 (12).
- Hanna, Sherman D., Michael S. Gutter, and Jessie X. Fan. 2001. "A Measure of Risk Tolerance Based on Economic Theory." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning* 12 (2): 53.
- Hariharan, Govind, Kenneth S. Chapman, and Dale L. Domian. 2000. "Risk Tolerance and Asset Allocation for Investors Nearing Retirement." *Financial Services Review* 9 (2): 159-170.
- Hassan Al-Tamimi, Hussein A., and Al Anood Bin Kalli. 2009. "Financial Literacy and Investment Decisions of Uae Investors." *Journal of Risk Finance* 10 (5):

500-516.

- Hastings, Justine, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2020. "How Financial Literacy and Impatience Shape Retirement Wealth and Investment Behaviors." *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance* 19 (1): 1-20.
- Hastings, Justine S., Brigitte C. Madrian, and William L. Skimmyhorn. 2013."Financial Literacy, Financial Education, and Economic Outcomes." *Annual Review of Economics* 5 (1): 347-373.
- Hau, Harald. 2001. "Location Matters: An Examination of Trading Profits." *Journal* of Finance 56 (5): 1959-1983.
- Hayes, Andrew F. 2009. "Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical Mediation Analysis in the New Millennium." *Communication Monographs* 76 (4): 408-420.
- Heaton, John, and Deborah Lucas. 2000. "Portfolio Choice and Asset Prices: The Importance of Entrepreneurial Risk." *Journal of Finance* 55 (3): 1163-1198.
- Henrich, Joseph, Steven J. Heine, and Ara Norenzayan. 2010. "The Weirdest People in the World?" *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 33 (2-3): 61-83.
- Henseler, Jörg, Geoffrey Hubona, and Pauline Ash Ray. 2016. "Using Pls Path Modeling in New Technology Research: Updated Guidelines." *Industrial Management & Data Systems* 116 (1): 2-20.
- Henseler, Jörg, Christian M. Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2015. "A New Criterion for Assessing Discriminant Validity in Variance-Based Structural Equation Modeling." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 43 (1): 115-135.
- Henseler, Jörg, Christian M. Ringle, and Rudolf R. Sinkovics. 2009. "The Use of Partial Least Squares Path Modeling in International Marketing." In *New Challenges to International Marketing*. R. R. Sinkovics and P. N. Ghauri eds, 277-319. Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Heo, Wookjae, John E. Grable, and Barbara O'Neill. 2017. "Wealth Accumulation Inequality: Does Investment Risk Tolerance and Equity Ownership Drive Wealth Accumulation?" Social Indicators Research 133 (1): 209-225.
- Herzog, A. Regula, and Jerald G. Bachman. 1981. "Effects of Questionnaire Length on Response Quality." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 45 (4): 549-559.
- Hilgert, Marianne A., Jeanne M. Hogarth, and Sondra G. Beverly. 2003. "Household Financial Management: The Connection between Knowledge and Behavior." *Federal Reserve Bulletin* 89: 309.

- Hira, Tahira K. 2012. "Promoting Sustainable Financial Behaviour: Implications for Education and Research." *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 36 (5): 502-507.
- Hochbaum, Godfrey Martin. 1958. Public Participation in Medical Screening Programs: A Socio-Psychological Study. Washington, DC: US: US Government Printing Office.
- Hofstede Insight. 2018. What About Malaysia? https://www.hofstedeinsights.com/country/malaysia/.
- Hollebeek, Linda D., Mark S. Glynn, and Roderick J. Brodie. 2014. "Consumer Brand Engagement in Social Media: Conceptualization, Scale Development and Validation." *Journal of Interactive Marketing* 28 (2): 149-165.
- Holzmann, Robert. 2010. "Bringing Financial Literacy and Education to Low and Middle Income Countries: The Need to Review, Adjust, and Extend Current Wisdom." SP Discussion Papers. World Bank.
- Hong, Harrison, and Leonard Kostovetsky. 2012. "Red and Blue Investing: Values and Finance." *Journal of Financial Economics* 103 (1): 1-19.
- Hong, Harrison, Jeffrey D. Kubik, and Jeremy C. Stein. 2004. "Social Interaction and Stock - Market Participation." *Journal of Finance* 59 (1): 137-163.
- Hough, Leaetta M., Newell K. Eaton, Marvin D. Dunnette, John D. Kamp, and Rodney
 A. McCloy. 1990. "Criterion-Related Validities of Personality Constructs and the Effect of Response Distortion on Those Validities." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 75 (5): 581.
- Hsiao, Yu-Jen, and Wei-Che Tsai. 2018. "Financial Literacy and Participation in the Derivatives Markets." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 88: 15-29.
- Huang, Jason L., Nathan A. Bowling, Mengqiao Liu, and Yuhui Li. 2015. "Detecting Insufficient Effort Responding with an Infrequency Scale: Evaluating Validity and Participant Reactions." *Journal of Business and Psychology* 30 (2): 299-311.
- Huang, Jason L., Paul G. Curran, Jessica Keeney, Elizabeth M. Poposki, and Richard
 P. DeShon. 2012. "Detecting and Deterring Insufficient Effort Responding to Surveys." *Journal of Business and Psychology* 27 (1): 99-114.
- Huang, Jason L., Mengqiao Liu, and Nathan A. Bowling. 2015. "Insufficient Effort Responding: Examining an Insidious Confound in Survey Data." *Journal of*

Applied Psychology 100 (3): 828.

- Huang, Xun Irene, Meng Zhang, Michael K. Hui, and Robert S. Wyer Jr. 2014.
 "Warmth and Conformity: The Effects of Ambient Temperature on Product Preferences and Financial Decisions." *Journal of Consumer Psychology* 24 (2): 241-250.
- Hulland, John. 1999. "Use of Partial Least Squares (Pls) in Strategic Management Research: A Review of Four Recent Studies." *Strategic Management Journal* 20 (2): 195-204.
- Hulland, John, Hans Baumgartner, and Keith Marion Smith. 2018. "Marketing Survey Research Best Practices: Evidence and Recommendations from a Review of Jams Articles." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 46 (1): 92-108.
- Hung, Angela, Andrew M. Parker, and Joanne Yoong. 2009. "Defining and Measuring Financial Literacy." RAND Corporation Working Papers. RAND Corporation.
- Hung, Angela, and Joanne Yoong. 2010. "Asking for Help: Survey and Experimental Evidence on Financial Advice and Behavior Change." RAND Corporation Working Papers. RAND Corporation.
- Huston, Sandra J. 2010. "Measuring Financial Literacy." *Journal of Consumer Affairs* 44 (2): 296-316.
- Ibrahim, Dahlia Ibrahim Dahlia, Rabitah Harun, and Zuraidah Mohamed Isa. 2010. "A Study on Financial Literacy of Malaysian Degree Students." *Cross-Cultural Communication* 5 (4): 51-59.
- Idris, Faoziah Haji, K. Sarojani Devi Krishnan, and Norfiza Azmi. 2013. "Relationship between Financial Literacy and Financial Distress among Youths in Malaysiaan Empirical Study." *Geografia: Malaysian Journal of Society and Space* 9 (4): 106-117.
- Inglehart, Ronald, and Wayne E. Baker. 2001. "Modernization's Challenge to Traditional Values: Who's Afraid of Ronald Mcdonald?" *The Futurist* 35 (2): 16.
- Institute of Labour Market Information and Analysis. 2015. Employment Fact. http://www.ilmia.gov.my/dashboard/view/index.php.
- International Monetary Fund. 2017. World Economic Outlook, April 2017: Gaining Momentum?

http://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2017/04/04/world-

economic-outlook-april-2017.

- International Monetary Fund. 2018. World Economic Outlook (April 2018). http://www.imf.org/external/datamapper/datasets/WEO/1.
- Ismail, Laili. 2018. "Cover Story: Attracting Millennials to the Stock Market." *The Edge*, May 31, 2018. https://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/cover-story-attracting-millennials-stock-market.
- Ismail, Shafinar, Fathin Ahmad Faique, Mohammed Hariri Bakri, Zainab Mohd Zain, Nur Hafidzah Idris, Zarinah Abu Yazid, Shahreena Daud, and Norraeffa Md Taib. 2017. "The Role of Financial Self-Efficacy Scale in Predicting Financial Behavior." *Advanced Science Letters* 23 (5): 4635-4639.
- Jain, Jinesh, Nidhi Walia, and Sanjay Gupta. 2019. "Evaluation of Behavioral Biases Affecting Investment Decision Making of Individual Equity Investors by Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process." *Review of Behavioral Finance*.
- James, Montier. 2002. Behavioral Finance: Insights into Irrational Minds and Markets. West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Janor, Hawati, Rubayah Yakob, Noor Azuan Hashim, and Che Aniza Che Wel. 2016. "Financial Literacy and Investment Decisions in Malaysia and United Kingdom: A Comparative Analysis." *Geografia: Malaysian Journal of Society* and Space 12 (2): 106-118.
- Jappelli, Tullio, and Mario Padula. 2013. "Investment in Financial Literacy and Saving Decisions." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 37 (8): 2779-2792.
- Jia, Dekui, Ruihai Li, Shibo Bian, and Christopher Gan. 2019. "Financial Planning Ability, Risk Perception and Household Portfolio Choice." *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*: 1-23.
- Jianakoplos, Nancy Ammon, and Alexandra Bernasek. 1998. "Are Women More Risk Averse?" *Economic Inquiry* 36 (4): 620-630.
- Jiménez, Fernando R., and Norma A. Mendoza. 2013. "Too Popular to Ignore: The Influence of Online Reviews on Purchase Intentions of Search and Experience Products." *Journal of Interactive Marketing* 27 (3): 226-235.
- Jin, Fangyi. 2011. "Revisiting the Composition Puzzles of the Household Portfolio: New Evidence." *Review of Financial Economics* 20 (2): 63-73.
- John, Steven A., Jennifer L. Walsh, and Lance S. Weinhardt. 2017. "The Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model Revisited: A Network-Perspective

Structural Equation Model within a Public Sexually Transmitted Infection Clinic Sample of Hazardous Alcohol Users." *AIDS and Behavior* 21 (4): 1208-1218.

- Johnson, Blair T., and Rebecca L. Acabchuk. 2018. "What Are the Keys to a Longer, Happier Life? Answers from Five Decades of Health Psychology Research." Social Science and Medicine 196: 218-226.
- Joo, So-hyun, and John E. Grable. 2004. "An Exploratory Framework of the Determinants of Financial Satisfaction." *Journal of Family and Economic Issues* 25 (1): 25-50.
- Jöreskog, Karl G. 1971. "Simultaneous Factor Analysis in Several Populations." *Psychometrika* 36 (4): 409-426.
- Kahneman, Daniel, Stewart Paul Slovic, Paul Slovic, and Amos Tversky. 1982. Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Kahneman, Daniel, and Amos Tversky. 1979. "Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk." *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*: 263-291.
- Kalichman, Seth C., Joseph F. Picciano, and Roger A. Roffman. 2008. "Motivation to Reduce Hiv Risk Behaviors in the Context of the Information, Motivation and Behavioral Skills (Imb) Model of Hiv Prevention." *Journal of Health Psychology* 13 (5): 680-689.
- Kaniel, Ron, Gideon Saar, and Sheridan Titman. 2008. "Individual Investor Trading and Stock Returns." *Journal of Finance* 63 (1): 273-310.
- Karabulut, Yigitcan. 2013. "Financial Advice: An Improvement for Worse?" SSRN 1710634.
- Kaustia, Markku, Eeva Alho, and Vesa Puttonen. 2008. "How Much Does Expertise Reduce Behavioral Biases? The Case of Anchoring Effects in Stock Return Estimates." *Financial Management* 37 (3): 391-412.
- Kaustia, Markku, and Sami Torstila. 2011. "Stock Market Aversion? Political Preferences and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Financial Economics* 100 (1): 98-112.
- Kelly, Michael P., and Mary Barker. 2016. "Why Is Changing Health-Related Behaviour So Difficult?" *Public Health* 136: 109-116.

- Khan, Mohammad Tariqul Islam, Siow-Hooi Tan, and Lee-Lee Chong. 2017. "Perception of Past Portfolio Returns, Optimism and Financial Decisions." *Review of Behavioral Finance* 9 (1): 79-98.
- Khan, Mohammad Tariqul Islam, Siow-Hooi Tan, and Gerald Goh Guan Gan. 2019.
 "Advanced Financial Literacy of Malaysian Gen Y Investors and Its Consequences." *Margin: The Journal of Applied Economic Research* 13 (1): 83-108.
- Khazanah Research Institute. 2016. The State of Households 2. http://www.krinstitute.org/Publications-@-The_State_of_Households_II.aspx.
- Kim, Bong Ki, Heui Sug Jo, and Hey Jean Lee. 2015. "Study on the Factors Related with Intention of Cancer Screening among Korean Residents: Application of Information–Motivation–Behavioral Skills Model." Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health 27 (2): NP2133-NP2143.
- Kim, Yujin, Jennifer Dykema, John Stevenson, Penny Black, and D. Paul Moberg. 2019. "Straightlining: Overview of Measurement, Comparison of Indicators, and Effects in Mail–Web Mixed-Mode Surveys." *Social Science Computer Review* 37 (2): 214-233.
- Kimball, Miles S., Claudia R. Sahm, and Matthew D. Shapiro. 2008. "Imputing Risk Tolerance from Survey Responses." *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 103 (483): 1028-1038.
- Kimiyaghalam, Fatemeh, and Stanley Yap. 2017. "Level of Financial Literacy in Malaysia." *International Journal of Research* 4 (7): 1065-1074.
- Kitsawad, Kamolnate, and Jean-Xavier Guinard. 2014. "Combining Means-End Chain Analysis and the Portrait Value Questionnaire to Research the Influence of Personal Values on Food Choice." *Food Quality and Preference* 35: 48-58.
- Kiymaz, Halil, Belma Öztürkkal, and K. Ali Akkemik. 2016. "Behavioral Biases of Finance Professionals: Turkish Evidence." *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance* 12: 101-111.
- Klapper, Leora, Annamaria Lusardi, and Georgios A. Panos. 2013. "Financial Literacy and Its Consequences: Evidence from Russia During the Financial Crisis." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 37 (10): 3904-3923.

Klapper, Leora, and Georgios A. Panos. 2011. "Financial Literacy and Retirement

Planning: The Russian Case." *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance* 10 (4): 599-618.

- Klein, William M. P., James A. Shepperd, Jerry Suls, Alexander J. Rothman, and Robert T. Croyle. 2015. "Realizing the Promise of Social Psychology in Improving Public Health." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 19 (1): 77-92.
- Kliger, Doron, and Ori Levy. 2009. "Theories of Choice under Risk: Insights from Financial Markets." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 71 (2): 330-346.
- Kline, Rex B. 2016. *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling*. 4th ed. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Kock, Ned. 2015a. "Common Method Bias in Pls-Sem: A Full Collinearity Assessment Approach." *International Journal of e-Collaboration (IJeC)* 11 (4): 1-10.
- Kock, Ned. 2015b. "One-Tailed or Two-Tailed P Values in Pls-Sem?" International Journal of e-Collaboration (IJeC) 11 (2): 1-7.
- Kock, Ned. 2018. "Should Bootstrapping Be Used in Pls-Sem: Toward Stable P-Value Calculation Methods." *Journal of Applied Structural Equation Modeling* 2 (1): 1-12.
- Kock, Ned, and Pierre Hadaya. 2018. "Minimum Sample Size Estimation in Pls Sem: The Inverse Square Root and Gamma Exponential Methods." Information Systems Journal 28 (1): 227-261.
- Kock, Ned, and Gary Lynn. 2012. "Lateral Collinearity and Misleading Results in Variance-Based Sem: An Illustration and Recommendations." *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* 13 (7): 546-580.
- Koesrindartoto, Deddy P., Aurelius Aaron, Inka Yusgiantoro, Wirata A. Dharma, and Abdurrohman Arroisi. 2020. "Who Moves the Stock Market in an Emerging Country–Institutional or Retail Investors?" *Research in International Business* and Finance 51: 101061.
- Koh, Benedict S. K., Olivia S. Mitchell, and Susann Rohwedder. 2018. "Financial Knowledge and Portfolio Complexity in Singapore." *Journal of the Economics* of Ageing: 100179.
- Kok, Cecilia. 2019. "Retail Boost." *The Star*, August 3, 2019. 289

https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2019/08/03/retail-boost.

- Kramer, Marc M. 2012. "Financial Advice and Individual Investor Portfolio Performance." *Financial Management* 41 (2): 395-428.
- Kramer, Marc M. 2016. "Financial Literacy, Confidence and Financial Advice Seeking." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 131: 198-217.
- Krausz, Miriam, and Jacob Paroush. 2002. "Financial Advising in the Presence of Conflict of Interests." *Journal of Economics and Business* 54 (1): 55-71.
- Krejcie, Robert V., and Daryle W. Morgan. 1970. "Determining Sample Size for Research Activities." *Educational and Psychological Measurement* 30 (3): 607-610.
- Kruse, Philipp, Dominika Wach, Sílvia Costa, and Juan Antonio Moriano. 2019.
 "Values Matter, Don't They?–Combining Theory of Planned Behavior and Personal Values as Predictors of Social Entrepreneurial Intention." *Journal of Social Entrepreneurship* 10 (1): 55-83.
- Krystallis, Athanasios, Marco Vassallo, and George Chryssohoidis. 2012. "The Usefulness of Schwartz's 'Values Theory'in Understanding Consumer Behaviour Towards Differentiated Products." *Journal of Marketing Management* 28 (11-12): 1438-1463.
- Kumar, Mukesh, Salim Abdul Talib, and T. Ramayah. 2013. Business Research Methods. Selangor, Malaysia: Oxford University Press.
- Kumar, Rajesh. 2014a. Strategies of Banks and Other Financial Institutions: Theories and Cases: Elsevier.
- Kumar, Ranjit. 2014b. *Research Methodology: A Step-by-Step Guide for Beginners*.4th ed: Sage Publications.
- Labrecque, Lauren I. 2014. "Fostering Consumer–Brand Relationships in Social Media Environments: The Role of Parasocial Interaction." Journal of Interactive Marketing 28 (2): 134-148.
- Lance, Charles E., Bryan Dawson, David Birkelbach, and Brian J. Hoffman. 2010.
 "Method Effects, Measurement Error, and Substantive Conclusions." Organizational Research Methods 13 (3): 435-455.
- Lapp, William M. 2010. "The Missing Link: Financial Self-Efficacy's Critical Role in Financial Capability." EARN White Papers. EARN Research Institute.
- Lee, Hwok-Aun, and Muhammad Abdul Khalid. 2016. "Is Inequality in Malaysia

Really Going Down? A Puzzle Explored." In Development Research Group (DECRG) Kuala Lumpur Seminar Series, Kuala Lumpur. World Bank.

- Lee, Julie A., Joanne N. Sneddon, Timothy M. Daly, Shalom H. Schwartz, Geoffrey N. Soutar, and Jordan J. Louviere. 2019. "Testing and Extending Schwartz Refined Value Theory Using a Best–Worst Scaling Approach." *Assessment* 26 (2): 166-180.
- Lee, Ming-Chi. 2009. "Predicting and Explaining the Adoption of Online Trading: An Empirical Study in Taiwan." *Decision Support Systems* 47 (2): 133-142.
- Lee, Nick, and John W. Cadogan. 2013. "Problems with Formative and Higher-Order Reflective Variables." *Journal of Business Research* 66 (2): 242-247.
- León, Anja Köbrich, and Christian Pfeifer. 2017. "Religious Activity, Risk-Taking Preferences and Financial Behaviour: Empirical Evidence from German Survey Data." *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics* 69 (C): 99-107.
- Lerman, Robert I, and Signe-Mary McKernan. 2008. *The Effects of Holding Assets on Social and Economic Outcomes of Families: A Review of Theory and Evidence*. https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/effects-holding-assets-social-and-economicoutcomes-families-review-theory-and-evidence.
- Letkiewicz, Jodi C., and Jonathan J. Fox. 2014. "Conscientiousness, Financial Literacy, and Asset Accumulation of Young Adults." *Journal of Consumer Affairs* 48 (2): 274-300.
- Leung, Angela Yee Man, Mike Kwun Ting Cheung, and Iris Chi. 2015. "Supplementing Vitamin D through Sunlight: Associating Health Literacy with Sunlight Exposure Behavior." *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 60 (1): 134-141.
- Li, Geng. 2014. "Information Sharing and Stock Market Participation: Evidence from Extended Families." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 96 (1): 151-160.
- Li, Ye, Martine Baldassi, Eric J. Johnson, and Elke U. Weber. 2013. "Complementary Cognitive Capabilities, Economic Decision Making, and Aging." *Psychology and Aging* 28 (3): 595.
- Liao, Li, Jing Jian Xiao, Weiqiang Zhang, and Congyi Zhou. 2017. "Financial Literacy and Risky Asset Holdings: Evidence from China." *Accounting and Finance* 57 (5): 1383-1415.

- Lieber, Ethan M. J., and William Skimmyhorn. 2018. "Peer Effects in Financial Decision-Making." *Journal of Public Economics* 163: 37-59.
- Lim, Thien Sang, Rasid Mail, Mohd Rahimie Abd Karim, Zatul Karamah Ahmad Baharul Ulum, Junainah Jaidi, and Raman Noordin. 2018. "A Serial Mediation Model of Financial Knowledge on the Intention to Invest: The Central Role of Risk Perception and Attitude." *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance* 20: 74-79.
- Limbu, Yam B. 2017. "Credit Card Knowledge, Social Motivation, and Credit Card Misuse among College Students: Examining the Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model." *International Journal of Bank Marketing* 35 (5): 842-856.
- Lin, Chaonan, Yu-Jen Hsiao, and Cheng-Yung Yeh. 2017. "Financial Literacy, Financial Advisors, and Information Sources on Demand for Life Insurance." *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal* 43: 218-237.
- Lin, Mingfeng, Henry C. Lucas Jr., and Galit Shmueli. 2013. "Research Commentary—Too Big to Fail: Large Samples and the P-Value Problem." *Information Systems Research* 24 (4): 906-917.
- Lipsey, Mark W. 1990. Design Sensitivity: Statistical Power for Experimental Research. Vol. 19: Sage.
- Loke, Yiing Jia. 2015. "Financial Knowledge and Behaviour of Working Adults in Malaysia." *Margin: The Journal of Applied Economic Research* 9 (1): 18-38.
- Lönnqvist, Jan-Erik, and Juha V. A. Itkonen. 2016. "Homogeneity of Personal Values and Personality Traits in Facebook Social Networks." *Journal of Research in Personality* 60: 24-35.
- Lönnqvist, Jan-Erik, Sointu Leikas, and Markku Verkasalo. 2018. "Value Change in Men and Women Entering Parenthood: New Mothers' Value Priorities Shift Towards Conservation Values." *Personality and Individual Differences* 120: 47-51.
- Lopes, Guilherme S., Yael Sela, and Todd K. Shackelford. 2017. "Endorsement of Existence Values Predicts Mate Retention Behaviors." *Personality and Individual Differences* 113: 184-186.
- Love, David A. 2009. "The Effects of Marital Status and Children on Savings and Portfolio Choice." *Review of Financial Studies* 23 (1): 385-432.

- Lown, Jean. 2011. "Development and Validation of a Financial Self-Efficacy Scale." Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning 22 (2): 54-63.
- Lowry, Paul Benjamin, and James Gaskin. 2014. "Partial Least Squares (Pls) Structural Equation Modeling (Sem) for Building and Testing Behavioral Causal Theory: When to Choose It and How to Use It." *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication* 57 (2): 123-146.
- Lu, Xiaomeng, Yong Zhang, Yixing Zhang, and Lin Wang. 2020. "Can Investment Advisors Promote Rational Investment? Evidence from Micro-Data in China." *Economic Modelling* 86: 251-263.
- Lusardi, Annamaria. 2015. "Financial Literacy: Do People Know the Abcs of Finance?" *Public Understanding of Science* 24 (3): 260-271.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2007. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning: New Evidence from the Rand American Life Panel." MRRC Research Papers. Michigan Retirement Research Center
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2008. "Planning and Financial Literacy: How Do Women Fare?" *American Economic Review* 98 (2): 413-417.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2011a. *Financial Literacy and Planning: Implications for Retirement Wellbeing*. Cambridge. doi: https://doi.org/10.3386/w17078
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2011b. "Financial Literacy around the World: An Overview." *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance* 10 (4): 497-508.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2014. "The Economic Importance of Financial Literacy: Theory and Evidence." *Journal of Economic Literature* 52 (1): 5-44.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Peter Tufano. 2015. "Debt Literacy, Financial Experiences, and Overindebtedness." *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance* 14 (4): 332-368.
- Mackie, Gerry, Francesca Moneti, Holly Shakya, and Elaine Denny. 2015. "What Are Social Norms? How Are They Measured." University of California-UNICEF Working Papers. University of California & UNICEF.
- MacKinnon, David P., Amanda J. Fairchild, and Matthew S. Fritz. 2007. "Mediation Analysis." *Annual Review of Psychology* 58: 593-614.

- Magendans, J., J. M. Gutteling, and S. Zebel. 2017. "Psychological Determinants of Financial Buffer Saving: The Influence of Financial Risk Tolerance and Regulatory Focus." *Journal of Risk Research* 20 (8): 1076-1093.
- Mahdzan, Nurul Shahnaz, Amrul Asraf Mohd-Any, and Mun-Kit Chan. 2017. "The Influence of Financial Literacy, Risk Aversion and Expectations on Retirement Planning and Portfolio Allocation in Malaysia." *Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business* 19 (3): 267.
- Mahdzan, Nurul Shahnaz, and Saleh Tabiani. 2013. "The Impact of Financial Literacy on Individual Saving: An Exploratory Study in the Malaysian Context." *Transformation in Business and Economics* 12 (1).
- Malaysia Department of Insolvency. 2016. Bankruptcy Statistic December 2016. http://www.mdi.gov.my/index.php/about-

us/resources/statistics/bankruptcy/1167-bankruptcy-statistic-december-2016.

- Mandell, Lewis, and Linda Klein. 2009. "The Impact of Financial Literacy Education on Subsequent Financial Behavior." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning* 20 (1): 15-24+.
- Mankiw, N. Gregory, and Stephen P. Zeldes. 1991. "The Consumption of Stockholders and Nonstockholders." *Journal of Financial Economics* 29 (1): 97-112.
- Mariotti, Francesco, Karen Mumford, and Yolanda Pena Boquete. 2015. "Household Asset - Holding Diversification in Australia." *Australian Economic Review* 48 (1): 43-64.
- Markowitz, Harry. 1952. "Portfolio Selection." Journal of Finance 7 (1): 77-91.
- Marsden, Mitchell, Cathleen D. Zick, and Robert N. Mayer. 2011. "The Value of Seeking Financial Advice." *Journal of Family and Economic Issues* 32 (4): 625-643.
- Mason, Charlotte H., and William D. Perreault Jr. 1991. "Collinearity, Power, and Interpretation of Multiple Regression Analysis." *Journal of Marketing Research* 28 (3): 268-280.
- McDonald, Roderick P. 1996. "Path Analysis with Composite Variables." *Multivariate Behavioral Research* 31 (2): 239-270.
- McGivern, Y. 2009. *The Practice of Market and Social Research: An Introduction*. 3rd ed. Harlow: Pearson Education.

- McKinsey & Company. 2017. *Deepening Capital Markets in Emerging Economies*. https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Industries/Financial%20Servi ces/Our%20Insights/Deepening%20capital%20markets%20in%20emerging %20economies/Deepening-capital-markets-in-emerging-economies.ashx.
- Meade, Adam W., and S. Bartholomew Craig. 2012. "Identifying Careless Responses in Survey Data." *Psychological Methods* 17 (3): 437.
- Mehra, Rajnish. 2003. "The Equity Premium: Why Is It a Puzzle?" *Financial Analysts Journal*: 54–69.
- Memon, Mumtaz A., Jacky Cheah, T. Ramayah, Hiram Ting, and Francis Chuah. 2018. "Mediation Analysis Issues and Recommendations." *Journal of Applied Structural Equation Modeling* 2 (1): 1-9.
- Memon, Mumtaz A., Hiram Ting, T. Ramayah, Francis Chuah, and Jacky Cheah.
 2017. "A Review of the Methodological Misconceptions and Guidelines Related to the Application of Structural Equation Modeling: A Malaysian Scenario." *Journal of Applied Structural Equation Modeling* 1 (1): 1-13.
- Menkhoff, Lukas, Maik Schmeling, and Ulrich Schmidt. 2010. "Are All Professional Investors Sophisticated?" *German Economic Review* 11 (4): 418-440.
- Merton, Robert C. 1969. "Lifetime Portfolio Selection under Uncertainty: The Continuous-Time Case." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 51 (3): 247-257.
- Michaelides, Alexander, and Yuxin Zhang. 2017. "Stock Market Mean Reversion and Portfolio Choice over the Life Cycle." *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 52 (3): 1183-1209.
- Michie, Susan, Rachel N. Carey, Marie Johnston, Alexander J. Rothman, Marijn De Bruin, Michael P. Kelly, and Lauren E. Connell. 2018. "From Theory-Inspired to Theory-Based Interventions: A Protocol for Developing and Testing a Methodology for Linking Behaviour Change Techniques to Theoretical Mechanisms of Action." *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* 52 (6): 501-512.
- Milligan, Kevin. 2005. "Life Cycle Asset Accumulation and Allocation in Canada." *Canadian Journal of Economics* 38 (3): 1057-1106.
- Mimura, Yoko, Joan Koonce, Scott W. Plunkett, and Lindsey Pleskus. 2015. "Financial Information Source, Knowledge, and Practices of College Students from Diverse Backgrounds." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning* 26 (1): 63-78.

- Mindra, Rachel, and Musa Moya. 2017. "Financial Self-Efficacy: A Mediator in Advancing Financial Inclusion." Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal 36 (2): 128-149.
- Mindra, Rachel, Musa Moya, Linda Tia Zuze, and Odongo Kodongo. 2017. "Financial Self-Efficacy: A Determinant of Financial Inclusion." International Journal of Bank Marketing 35 (3): 338-353.
- Ming-Yen Teoh, Wendy, Siong-Choy Chong, and Shi Mid Yong. 2013. "Exploring the Factors Influencing Credit Card Spending Behavior among Malaysians." International Journal of Bank Marketing 31 (6): 481-500.
- Mishra, Sanjay Kr., and Manoj Kumar. 2012. "The Impact of Level of Purchase Decision Involvement on the Investment Behavior of Mutual Fund Investors." *IUP Journal of Behavioral Finance* 9 (1): 27.
- Misovich, Stephen J., Todd Martinez, Jeffrey D. Fisher, Angela Bryan, and Nicole Catapano. 2003. "Predicting Breast Self - Examination: A Test of the Information - Motivation - Behavioral Skills Model 1." Journal of Applied Social Psychology 33 (4): 775-790.
- Mita, Satoko C., Eileena Li, and L. Suzanne Goodell. 2013. "A Qualitative Investigation of Teachers' Information, Motivation, and Behavioral Skills for Increasing Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in Preschoolers." Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior 45 (6): 793-799.
- Mokhtar, Nuradibah, Thinagaran M. Dass, Mohamad F. Sabri, and Catherine S. F. Ho. 2018. "A Preliminary Evaluation of Financial Literacy in Malaysia." Journal of Wealth Management and Financial Planning 5: 3-16.
- Montford, William, and Ronald E. Goldsmith. 2016. "How Gender and Financial Self - Efficacy Influence Investment Risk Taking." International Journal of Consumer Studies 40 (1): 101-106.
- Morse, Adair, and Sophie Shive. 2011. "Patriotism in Your Portfolio." Journal of *Financial Markets* 14 (2): 411-440.
- Mouna, Amari, and Jarboui Anis. 2015. "Financial Literacy and Portfolio Diversification: An Observation from the Tunisian Stock Market." International Journal of Bank Marketing 33 (6): 808-822.
- Mouna, Amari, and Jarboui Anis. 2017. "Financial Literacy in Tunisia: Its Determinants and Its Implications on Investment Behavior." Research in 296

International Business and Finance 39: 568-577.

- Mullainathan, Sendhil, Markus Noeth, and Antoinette Schoar. 2012. "The Market for Financial Advice: An Audit Study." NBER Working Papers. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Muradoglu, Gulnur, and Nigel Harvey. 2012. "Behavioural Finance: The Role of Psychological Factors in Financial Decisions." *Review of Behavioral Finance* 4 (2): 68-80.
- Murendo, Conrad, and Kingstone Mutsonziwa. 2017. "Financial Literacy and Savings Decisions by Adult Financial Consumers in Zimbabwe." *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 41 (1): 95-103.
- Murugiah, Logasvathi. 2016a. "Financial Literacy Determinants in Peninsular Malaysia." *International Academic Research Journal of Business and Technology* 2 (2): 21-28.
- Murugiah, Logasvathi. 2016b. "The Level of Understanding and Strategies to Enhance Financial Literacy among Malaysian." *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues* 6 (3S): 130-139.
- NASDAQ. 2018. Retail Investors: Definition. https://www.nasdaq.com/investing/glossary/r/retail-investors.
- Nelson, J. A. 2001. "Gender and Feminist Studies in Economics." In International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences. Neil J. Smelser and Paul B. Baltes eds.: Elsevier.
- Nelson, Lyndsay A., Kenneth A. Wallston, Sunil Kripalani, Lauren M. LeStourgeon, Sarah E. Williamson, and Lindsay S. Mayberry. 2018. "Assessing Barriers to Diabetes Medication Adherence Using the Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model." *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 142: 374-384.
- New Straits Times. 2017. "Bursa Malaysia to Push Retail Participation to 25%." https://www.nst.com.my/business/2017/11/305714/bursa-malaysia-pushretail-participation-25.
- New Straits Times. 2018. "Speech by Pm Najib at Invest Malaysia 2018." January 23, 2018 https://www.nst.com.my/news/nation/2018/01/327922/full-text-speech-pm-najib-invest-malaysia-2018.
- Newman, Daniel A. 2014. "Missing Data: Five Practical Guidelines." *Organizational Research Methods* 17 (4): 372-411.

- Nisbet, Elizabeth K. L., and Mary L. Gick. 2008. "Can Health Psychology Help the Planet? Applying Theory and Models of Health Behaviour to Environmental Actions." *Canadian Psychology* 49 (4): 296-303.
- Nishishiba, Masami, Matthew Jones, and Mariah Kraner. 2013. *Research Methods and Statistics for Public and Nonprofit Administrators: A Practical Guide*: Sage Publications.
- Nitzl, Christian. 2016. "The Use of Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (Pls-Sem) in Management Accounting Research: Directions for Future Theory Development." *Journal of Accounting Literature* 37: 19-35.
- Nitzl, Christian, Jose L. Roldan, and Gabriel Cepeda. 2016. "Mediation Analysis in Partial Least Squares Path Modeling: Helping Researchers Discuss More Sophisticated Models." *Industrial Management & Data Systems* 116 (9): 1849-1864.
- Niu, Geng, Qi Wang, Han Li, and Yang Zhou. 2020. "Number of Brothers, Risk Sharing, and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 113: 105757.
- Niu, Geng, Yang Zhou, and Hongwu Gan. 2020. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Preparation in China." *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*: 101262.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2017a. Labour Force. https://data.oecd.org/emp/labour-force.htm#indicator-chart.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2017b. *Pisa* 2015 Assessment and Analytical Framework: Science, Reading, Mathematic, Financial Literacy and Collaborative Problem Solving. Paris, France: OECD Publishing.
- Osborn, Chandra Y., and Leonard E. Egede. 2010. "Validation of an Information– Motivation–Behavioral Skills Model of Diabetes Self-Care (Imb-Dsc)." *Patient Education and Counseling* 79 (1): 49-54.
- Osborn, Chandra Y., K. Rivet Amico, William A. Fisher, Leonard E. Egede, and Jeffrey D. Fisher. 2010. "An Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Analysis of Diet and Exercise Behavior in Puerto Ricans with Diabetes." *Journal of Health Psychology* 15 (8): 1201-1213.
- Oswald, Andrew J. 1997. "Happiness and Economic Performance." *The Economic Journal* 107 (445): 1815-1831.

Pallant, Julie. 2013. Spss Survival Manual: McGraw-Hill Education (UK).

Paluck, Elizabeth Levy, and Laurie Ball. 2010. Social Norms Marketing Aimed at Gender Based Violence: A Literature Review and Critical Assessment. New York: International Rescue Committee. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5186d08fe4b065e39b45b91e/t/52d1f24 ce4b07fea759e4446/1389490764065/Paluck+Ball+IRC+Social+Norms+Mar keting+Long.pdf.

- Pan, Xuefeng, Weixing Wu, and Xuyang Zhang. 2020. "Is Financial Advice a Cure-All or the Icing on the Cake for Financial Literacy? Evidence from Financial Market Participation in China." *International Review of Financial Analysis* 69 (101473).
- Pasewark, William R., and Mark E. Riley. 2010. "It's Matter of Principle: The Role of Personal Values in Investment Decisions." *Journal of Business Ethics* 93 (2): 237-253.
- Peng, Chao-Ying Joanne, Michael Harwell, Show-Mann Liou, and Lee H. Ehman. 2006. "Advances in Missing Data Methods and Implications for Educational Research." In *Real Data Analysis*. S. Sawilowsky,ed., 31-78. Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing.
- Perry, Vanessa G., and Marlene D. Morris. 2005. "Who Is in Control? The Role of Self - Perception, Knowledge, and Income in Explaining Consumer Financial Behavior." *Journal of Consumer Affairs* 39 (2): 299-313.
- Phan, Thuy Chung, Marc Oliver Rieger, and Mei Wang. 2019. "Segmentation of Financial Clients by Attitudes and Behavior." *International Journal of Bank Marketing* 37 (1): 44-68.
- Pitpitan, Eileen V., Seth C. Kalichman, Randi L. Garcia, Demetria Cain, Lisa A. Eaton, and Leickness C. Simbayi. 2015. "Mediators of Behavior Change Resulting from a Sexual Risk Reduction Intervention for Sti Patients, Cape Town, South Africa." *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 38 (2): 194-203.
- Plagnol, Anke C. 2011. "Financial Satisfaction over the Life Course: The Influence of Assets and Liabilities." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 32 (1): 45-64.
- Podsakoff, Philip M., Scott B. MacKenzie, Jeong-Yeon Lee, and Nathan P. Podsakoff.
 2003. "Common Method Biases in Behavioral Research: A Critical Review of the Literature and Recommended Remedies." *Journal of Applied Psychology*

88 (5): 879.

- Podsakoff, Philip M., and Dennis W. Organ. 1986. "Self-Reports in Organizational Research: Problems and Prospects." *Journal of Management* 12 (4): 531-544.
- Polit, Denise F., and Cheryl Tatano Beck. 2010. "Generalization in Quantitative and Qualitative Research: Myths and Strategies." *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 47 (11): 1451-1458.
- Pompian, Michael M. 2012. Behavioral Finance and Investor Types: Managing Behavior to Make Better Investment Decisions. New Jersey, US: John Wiley & Sons.
- Ponthieux, Sophie, and Dominique Meurs. 2015. "Gender Inequality." In *Handbook* of Income Distribution. Anthony B. Atkinson and François Bourguignon eds, 981-1146. Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Pool, Veronika K., Noah Stoffman, and Scott E. Yonker. 2015. "The People in Your Neighborhood: Social Interactions and Mutual Fund Portfolios." *Journal of Finance* 70 (6): 2679-2732.
- Poterba, James M. 2018. "The Changing Pattern of Stock Ownership in the Us: 1989–2013." *Eastern Economic Journal* 44 (1): 1-17.
- Preacher, Kristopher J., and Andrew F. Hayes. 2004. "Spss and Sas Procedures for Estimating Indirect Effects in Simple Mediation Models." *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers* 36 (4): 717-731.
- Preacher, Kristopher J., and Andrew F. Hayes. 2008. "Asymptotic and Resampling Strategies for Assessing and Comparing Indirect Effects in Multiple Mediator Models." *Behavior Research Methods* 40 (3): 879-891.
- President's Advisory Council on Financial Literacy (PACFL). 2008. Annual Report to the President. https://www.treasury.gov/about/organizationalstructure/offices/Domestic-Finance/Documents/PACFL_Draft-AR-0109.pdf.
- Prochaska, James O., and Wayne F. Velicer. 1997. "The Transtheoretical Model of Health Behavior Change." *American Journal of Health Promotion* 12 (1): 38-48.
- Puri, Manju, and David T. Robinson. 2007. "Optimism and Economic Choice." Journal of Financial Economics 86 (1): 71-99.
- Rahim, Husniyah Abdul, Zuroni Md. Jusoh, and M. Fazilah Abdul Samad. 2012. "Predictors of Investment in Risky Assets among Malaysian Families."

Malaysian Journal of Economics 46 (1): 27-37.

- Rai, Dipankar, and Chien-Wei Wilson Lin. 2019. "The Influence of Implicit Self-Theories on Consumer Financial Decision Making." *Journal of Business Research* 95: 316-325.
- Ralston, David A., Craig J. Russell, and Carolyn P. Egri. 2018. "Business Values Dimensions: A Cross-Culturally Developed Measure of Workforce Values." *International Business Review*.
- Ramayah, T., Jacky Cheah, Francis Chuah, Hiram Ting, and Mumtaz A. Memon. 2018. Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (Pls-Sem) Using Smartpls 3.0: An Updated and Practical Guide to Statistical Analysis. 2nd ed: Pearson Malaysia.
- Ramayah, Thurasamy, Kamel Rouibah, M. Gopi, and Gary John Rangel. 2009. "A Decomposed Theory of Reasoned Action to Explain Intention to Use Internet Stock Trading among Malaysian Investors." *Computers in Human Behavior* 25 (6): 1222-1230.
- Rao, Yulei, Lixing Mei, and Rui Zhu. 2016. "Happiness and Stock-Market Participation: Empirical Evidence from China." *Journal of Happiness Studies* 17 (1): 271-293.
- Reinartz, Werner, Michael Haenlein, and Jörg Henseler. 2009. "An Empirical Comparison of the Efficacy of Covariance-Based and Variance-Based Sem." *International Journal of Research in Marketing* 26 (4): 332-344.
- Remmele, Bernd, and Günther Seeber. 2012. "Integrative Economic Education to Combine Citizenship Education and Financial Literacy." *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education* 11 (3): 189-201.
- Remund, David L. 2010. "Financial Literacy Explicated: The Case for a Clearer Definition in an Increasingly Complex Economy." *Journal of Consumer Affairs* 44 (2): 276-295.
- Rigdon, Edward E. 2012. "Rethinking Partial Least Squares Path Modeling: In Praise of Simple Methods." *Long Range Planning* 45 (5/6): 341-358.
- Rigdon, Edward E. 2014. "Rethinking Partial Least Squares Path Modeling: Breaking Chains and Forging Ahead." *Long Range Planning* 47 (3): 161-167.
- Rigdon, Edward E. 2016. "Choosing Pls Path Modeling as Analytical Method in European Management Research: A Realist Perspective." *European*

Management Journal 34 (6): 598-605.

- Rigdon, Edward E., Marko Sarstedt, and Christian M. Ringle. 2017. "On Comparing Results from Cb-Sem and Pls-Sem: Five Perspectives and Five Recommendations." *Marketing: ZFP – Journal of Research and Management* 39 (3): 4-16.
- Riley Jr, William B., and K. Victor Chow. 1992. "Asset Allocation and Individual Risk Aversion." *Financial Analysts Journal*: 32-37.
- Ringle, Christian M., Marko Sarstedt, Rebecca Mitchell, and Siegfried P. Gudergan.
 2018. "Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling in Hrm Research." *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*: 1-27.
- Ringle, Christian M., Sven Wende, and Jan-Michael Becker. 2015. Smartpls 3.
- Roccato, Michele, Daniela Barni, Silvia Russo, and Alessio Vieno. 2017. "Criminal and Economic Threats, Personal Values, and Psychological Reactions to Crime." *Psicologia Sociale* 12 (3): 307-316.
- Roets, Arne, Ilse Cornelis, and Alain Van Hiel. 2014. "Openness as a Predictor of Political Orientation and Conventional and Unconventional Political Activism in Western and Eastern Europe." *Journal of Personality Assessment* 96 (1): 53-63.
- Rokeach, Milton. 1973. The Nature of Human Values. New York, NY: Free press.
- Rosen, Harvey S., and Stephen Wu. 2004. "Portfolio Choice and Health Status." Journal of Financial Economics 72 (3): 457-484.
- Rosique-Blasco, Mario, Antonia Madrid-Guijarro, and Domingo García-Pérez-de-Lema. 2018. "The Effects of Personal Abilities and Self-Efficacy on Entrepreneurial Intentions." *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal* 14 (4): 1025-1052.
- Rosli, Lidiana. 2018. "Malaysian Capital Market Recorded 12.6 Pct Growth in 2017, Says Sc." New Straits Times, March 15, 2018. https://www.nst.com.my/business/2018/03/345392/malaysian-capital-marketrecorded-126-pct-growth-2017-says-sc.
- Rothman, Alexander J., William M. P. Klein, and Linda D. Cameron. 2013. "Advancing Innovations in Social/Personality Psychology and Health: Opportunities and Challenges."
- Rothwell, David W., Mohammad N. Khan, and Katrina Cherney. 2016. "Building

Financial Knowledge Is Not Enough: Financial Self-Efficacy as a Mediator in the Financial Capability of Low-Income Families." *Journal of Community Practice* 24 (4): 368-388.

- Rowley, Jenny. 2014. "Designing and Using Research Questionnaires." *Management Research Review* 37 (3): 308-330.
- Rungtusanatham, M., Jason W. Miller, and Kenneth K. Boyer. 2014. "Theorizing, Testing, and Concluding for Mediation in Scm Research: Tutorial and Procedural Recommendations." *Journal of Operations Management* 32 (3): 99-113.
- Sabri, Mohamad Fazli Fazli. 2011. "Pathways to Financial Success: Determinants of Financial Literacy and Financial Well-Being among Young Adults." PhD diss, Iowa State University. https://search-proquestcom.dbgw.lis.curtin.edu.au/docview/876180733?accountid=10382. .
- Sabri, Mohamad Fazli, and Teo Tze Juen. 2014. "The Influence of Financial Literacy, Saving Behaviour, and Financial Management on Retirement Confidence among Women Working in the Malaysian Public Sector." *Asian Social Science* 10 (14): 40.
- Sabri, Mohamad Fazli, and Maurice MacDonald. 2010. "Savings Behavior and Financial Problems among College Students: The Role of Financial Literacy in Malaysia." *Cross-Cultural Communication* 6 (3): 103.
- Sabri, Mohamad Fazli, and Nurul Farhana Zakaria. 2015. "Financial Well-Being among Young Employees in Malaysia." In *Handbook of Research on Behavioral Finance and Investment Strategies: Decision Making in the Financial Industry*. Zeynep Copur,ed., 221-235. IGI Global.
- Sabri, Nurul Afiqah Ahmad. 2016. "The Relationship between the Level of Financial Literacy and Investment Decision-Making Millennials in Malaysia." *Taylor's Business Review* 6: 39-47.
- Sahi, Shalini Kalra, Ashok Pratap Arora, and Nand Dhameja. 2013. "An Exploratory Inquiry into the Psychological Biases in Financial Investment Behavior." *Journal of Behavioral Finance* 14 (2): 94-103.
- Samuelson, Paul A. 1956. "Social Indifference Curves." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 70 (1): 1-22.
- Sarstedt, Marko, Paul Bengart, Abdel Monim Shaltoni, and Sebastian Lehmann. 2017.

"The Use of Sampling Methods in Advertising Research: A Gap between Theory and Practice." *International Journal of Advertising* 37 (4): 650-663.

- Sarstedt, Marko, Joseph F. Hair, Christian M. Ringle, Kai O. Thiele, and Siegfried P. Gudergan. 2016. "Estimation Issues with Pls and Cbsem: Where the Bias Lies!" *Journal of Business Research* 69 (10): 3998-4010.
- Sarstedt, Marko, and Erik Mooi. 2014. A Concise Guide to Market Research: The Process, Data, and Methods Using Ibm Spss Statistics. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer.
- Sarstedt, Marko, Christian M. Ringle, and Joseph F. Hair. 2014. "Pls-Sem: Looking Back and Moving Forward." *Long Range Planning* 47: 132-137.
- Saunders, Mark N. K., Philip Lewis, and Adrian Thornhill. 2019. *Research Methods* for Business Students. 8th ed. New York: Pearson Education.
- Schafer, Joseph L. 1999. "Multiple Imputation: A Primer." Statistical Methods in Medical Research 8 (1): 3-15.
- Schafer, Joseph L., and John W. Graham. 2002. "Missing Data: Our View of the State of the Art." *Psychological Methods* 7 (2): 147.
- Schlomer, Gabriel L., Sheri Bauman, and Noel A. Card. 2010. "Best Practices for Missing Data Management in Counseling Psychology." *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 57 (1): 1.
- Schmitt, Neal, and Daniel M. Stuits. 1985. "Factors Defined by Negatively Keyed Items: The Result of Careless Respondents?" Applied Psychological Measurement 9 (4): 367-373.
- Schooley, Diane K, and Debra Worden. 1996. "Risk Aversion Measures: Comparing Attitudes and Asset Allocation." *Financial Services Review* 5 (2): 87-99.
- Schumacker, Randall E., and Richard G. Lomax. 2016. A Beginner's Guide to Structural Equation Modeling. 4th ed. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Schwartz, Shalom H. 1992. "Universals in the Content and Structure of Values: Theoretical Advances and Empirical Tests in 20 Countries." In Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 1-65. Elsevier.
- Schwartz, Shalom H. 1994. "Are There Universal Aspects in the Structure and Contents of Human Values?" *Journal of Social Issues* 50 (4): 19-45.
- Schwartz, Shalom H. 2003. A Proposal for Measuring Value Orientations across Nations. European Union.https://www.europeansocialsurvey.org.

- Schwartz, Shalom H. 2007. "Basic Human Values: Theory, Measurement, and Applications." *Revue Française de Sociologie* 47 (4): 929.
- Schwartz, Shalom H. 2012. "An Overview of the Schwartz Theory of Basic Values." Online readings in Psychology and Culture 2 (1): 11.
- Schwartz, Shalom H., and Wolfgang Bilsky. 1987. "Toward a Universal Psychological Structure of Human Values." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 53 (3): 550.
- Schwartz, Shalom H., and Tania Butenko. 2014. "Values and Behavior: Validating the Refined Value Theory in Russia." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 44 (7): 799-813.
- Schwartz, Shalom H., Jan Cieciuch, Michele Vecchione, Eldad Davidov, Ronald Fischer, Constanze Beierlein, Alice Ramos et al. 2012. "Refining the Theory of Basic Individual Values." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 103 (4): 663-688.
- Schwartz, Shalom H., Lilach Sagiv, and Klaus Boehnke. 2000. "Worries and Values." *Journal of Personality* 68 (2): 309-346.
- Seacat, Jason D., and Denine Northrup. 2010. "An Information–Motivation– Behavioral Skills Assessment of Curbside Recycling Behavior." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 30 (4): 393-401.
- Sears, David O. 1986. "College Sophomores in the Laboratory: Influences of a Narrow Data Base on Social Psychology's View of Human Nature." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 51 (3): 515.
- Securities Commission. 2001. Capital Market Masterplan. https://www.sc.com.my/wp-content/uploads/eng/html/cmp/EXECUTIV.PDF.
- Securities Commission. 2011. Capital Market Masterplan 2. https://www.sc.com.my/wp-content/uploads/eng/html/cmp2/cmp2_final.pdf.
- Securities Commission. 2015. Capital Markets Malaysia: Financing the Future (Facts and Figures).
- Securities Commission. 2016. "Securities Commission Malaysia (Sc) Commends the Government Initiatives in Budget 2017 Aimed at Further Developing the Capital Market." Media release, October 25, 2016. https://www.sc.com.my/resources/media-releases-and-

announcements/securities-commission-malaysia-sc-commends-the-

government-initiatives-in-budget-2017-aimed-at-further-developing-the-capital-market.

- Securities Commission. 2017. "Sc Continues to Lead Digital Innovation in Malaysia's Capital Market." Media release, November 6, 2017. https://www.sc.com.my/news-inactive/news/sc-continues-to-lead-digitalinnovation-in-malaysias-capital-market.
- Securities Commission. 2018a. Annual Report 2017. https://www.sc.com.my/wpcontent/uploads/eng/html/resources/annual/ar2017_eng/scar2017_eng.pdf.
- Securities Commission. 2018b. "Malaysian Capital Market Grew 12.6% to Rm3.2 Trillion with Strong Growth across All Segments." https://www.sc.com.my/post_archive/malaysian-capital-market-grew-12-6to-rm3-2-trillion-with-strong-growth-across-all-segments/.
- Securities Commission. 2018c. Securities Commission Malaysia and Bursa Malaysia to Implement New Measures to Boost Market Vibrancy. https://www.sc.com.my/post_archive/securities-commission-malaysia-andbursa-malaysia-to-implement-new-measures-to-boost-market-vibrancy/.
- Securities Commission. 2018d. Unit Trust Funds in Malaysia Summary of Statistics. https://www.sc.com.my/wp-

content/uploads/eng/html/resources/stats/stat_2017.pdf.

- Securities Commission. 2019. Summary of Statistics Unit Trust Funds. https://www.sc.com.my/api/documentms/download.ashx?id=b4d8e6f5-f670-4aa1-a741-0a46114d34e7.
- Securities Commission. 2020a. Annual Report 2019. https://www.sc.com.my/api/documentms/download.ashx?id=a0099ceb-8908-44d3-9399-950e83d86f53.
- Securities Commission. 2020b. Unit Trust Fund Summary of Statistics. https://www.sc.com.my/api/documentms/download.ashx?id=4ee325c4-41b0-4085-bc94-8a068c648a8a.
- Seddig, Daniel, and Eldad Davidov. 2018. "Values, Attitudes toward Interpersonal Violence, and Interpersonal Violent Behavior." *Frontiers in Psychology* 9: 604.
- Sekaran, Uma. 2003. *Research Methods for Business: A Skill Building Approach*. 4th ed. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.

- Sekita, Shizuka. 2011. "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning in Japan." *Journal* of Pension Economics and Finance 10 (4): 637-656.
- Sekścińska, Katarzyna, Joanna Rudzinska-Wojciechowska, and Dominika Maison. 2018. "Individual Differences in Time Perspectives and Risky Financial Choices." *Personality and Individual Differences* 120: 118-126.
- Senn, Theresa E., Michael P. Carey, Peter A. Vanable, and Patricia Coury-Doniger. 2010. "Partner Dependence and Sexual Risk Behavior among Sti Clinic Patients." *American Journal of Health Behavior* 34 (3): 257-266.
- Sevdalis, Nick, and Nigel Harvey. 2007. ""Investing" Versus "Investing for a Reason": Context Effects in Investment Decisions." Journal of Behavioral Finance 8 (3): 172-176.
- Shapira, Zur, and Itzhak Venezia. 2001. "Patterns of Behavior of Professionally Managed and Independent Investors." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 25 (8): 1573-1587.
- Sharma, Rajat, and Mithileshwar Jha. 2017. "Values Influencing Sustainable Consumption Behaviour: Exploring the Contextual Relationship." *Journal of Business Research* 76: 77-88.
- Shaw, Jason D., Subrahmaniam Tangirala, Balagopal Vissa, and Jessica B. Rodell. 2018. "New Ways of Seeing: Theory Integration across Disciplines." Academy of Management Journal 61 (1): 1-4.
- Sheeran, Paschal, William M. P. Klein, and Alexander J. Rothman. 2017. "Health Behavior Change: Moving from Observation to Intervention." *Annual Review* of Psychology 68: 573-600.
- Shim, Soyeon, Joyce Serido, and Sun Kyung Lee. 2019. "Problem Solving Orientations, Financial Self - Efficacy, and Student - Loan Repayment Stress." *Journal of Consumer Affairs* 53 (3): 1273-1296.
- Shim, Soyeon, Jing J. Xiao, Bonnie L. Barber, and Angela C. Lyons. 2009. "Pathways to Life Success: A Conceptual Model of Financial Well-Being for Young Adults." *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology* 30 (6): 708-723.
- Shmueli, Galit, and Otto R. Koppius. 2011. "Predictive Analytics in Information Systems Research." *MIS Quarterly* 35 (3): 553-572.
- Shmueli, Galit, Marko Sarstedt, Joseph F. Hair, Jun-Hwa Cheah, Hiram Ting, Santha Vaithilingam, and Christian M. Ringle. 2019. "Predictive Model Assessment

in Pls-Sem: Guidelines for Using Plspredict." *European Journal of Marketing* (Pending).

- Shrout, Patrick E., and Niall Bolger. 2002. "Mediation in Experimental and Nonexperimental Studies: New Procedures and Recommendations." *Psychological Methods* 7 (4): 422.
- Shum, Pauline, and Miquel Faig. 2006. "What Explains Household Stock Holdings?" *Journal of Banking and Finance* 30 (9): 2579-2597.
- Simón, Jordi, Carles Pérez-Testor, Elizabeth Alomar Kurz, Francesca Danioni, Leire Iriarte, Susana Cormenzana, and Ana Martínez. 2017. "The Portrait Values Questionnaire: A Bibliographic and Bibliometric Review of the Instrument." *Aloma: revista de psicologia, ciències de l'educació i de l'esport Blanquerna* 35 (1): 39-50.
- Singh, Yogesh Kumar. 2006. Fundamental of Research Methodology and Statistics. New Delhi, India: New Age International.
- Sinley, Rachel C., and Julie A. Albrecht. 2016. "Understanding Fruit and Vegetable Intake of Native American Children: A Mixed Methods Study." *Appetite* 101: 62-70.
- Sivaramakrishnan, Sreeram, Mala Srivastava, and Anupam Rastogi. 2017. "Attitudinal Factors, Financial Literacy, and Stock Market Participation." *International Journal of Bank Marketing* 35 (5): 818-841.
- Sjöberg, Lennart, and Elisabeth Engelberg. 2009. "Attitudes to Economic Risk Taking, Sensation Seeking and Values of Business Students Specializing in Finance." *Journal of Behavioral Finance* 10 (1): 33-43.
- Sobel, Michael E. 1982. "Asymptotic Confidence Intervals for Indirect Effects in Structural Equation Models." *Sociological Methodology* 13: 290-312.
- Sohn, Sang-Hee, So-Hyun Joo, John E. Grable, Seonglim Lee, and Minjeung Kim.
 2012. "Adolescents' Financial Literacy: The Role of Financial Socialization Agents, Financial Experiences, and Money Attitudes in Shaping Financial Literacy among South Korean Youth." *Journal of Adolescence* 35 (4): 969-980.
- Sousa, Carlos M. P., Filipe Coelho, and Encarna Guillamon Saorin. 2012. "Personal Values, Autonomy, and Self - Efficacy: Evidence from Frontline Service Employees." *International Journal of Selection and Assessment* 20 (2): 159-

170.

- Sparkes, Russell. 2008. "Socially Responsible Investment." In *Handbook of Finance*. Frank J. Fabozzi,ed.: John Wiley & Sons.
- Stolper, Oscar. 2018. "It Takes Two to Tango: Households' Response to Financial Advice and the Role of Financial Literacy." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 92: 295-310.
- Stolper, Oscar A., and Andreas Walter. 2017. "Financial Literacy, Financial Advice, and Financial Behavior." *Journal of Business Economics* 87 (5): 581–643.
- Stone, Arthur A., and Saul Shiffman. 2002. "Capturing Momentary, Self-Report Data: A Proposal for Reporting Guidelines." Annals of Behavioral Medicine 24 (3): 236-243.
- Stone, Mervyn. 1974. "Cross Validatory Choice and Assessment of Statistical Predictions." Journal of the Royal Statistical Society 36 (2): 111-147.
- Streukens, Sandra, and Sara Leroi-Werelds. 2016. "Bootstrapping and Pls-Sem: A Step-by-Step Guide to Get More out of Your Bootstrap Results." *European Management Journal* 34 (6): 618-632.
- Sudman, Seymour, and Norman M. Bradburn. 1983. "Asking Questions: A Practical Guide to Questionnaire Design."
- Sunden, Annika E., and Brian J. Surette. 1998. "Gender Differences in the Allocation of Assets in Retirement Savings Plans." *American Economic Review* 88 (2): 207-211.
- Surendran, Supriya, and Kathy Fong. 2018. "Cover Story: Bringing Retailers Back to Bursa Malaysia." *The Edge*, February 22, 2018. http://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/cover-story-bringing-retailers-backbursa-malaysia.
- Sustainable Stock Exchanges Initiative. 2017. Bursa Malaysia (Malaysian Exchange). http://www.sseinitiative.org/fact-sheet/bursa/.
- Tabachnick, Barbara G., and Linda S. Fidell. 2013. *Using Multivariate Statistics*. 6th ed. Boston: Pearson Education.
- Tan, Royce. 2019a. "Spv 2030 to Close the Wealth Gap." *The Star*, October 2, 2019. https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2019/10/02/spv-2030-to-close-thewealth-gap.
- Tan, Shirley, and Kuppusamy Singaravelloo. 2019. "Financial Literacy and
Retirement Planning among Government Officers in Malaysia." *International Journal of Public Administration*: 1-13.

- Tan, Zhai Yun. 2019b. "Investing: Learning How to Trade by Mirroring Experts." *The Edge*, December 22, 2019. https://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/investing-learning-how-trade-mirroring-experts.
- Tang, Ning, and Andrew Baker. 2016. "Self-Esteem, Financial Knowledge and Financial Behavior." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 54: 164-176.
- Tang, Ning, and Paula C. Peter. 2015. "Financial Knowledge Acquisition among the Young: The Role of Financial Education, Financial Experience, and Parents' Financial Experience." *Financial Services Review* 24 (2): 119.
- Tang, Song, Shimin Huang, Jia Zhu, Rui Huang, Zilong Tang, and Jianping Hu. 2019.
 "Financial Self-Efficacy and Disposition Effect in Investors: The Mediating Role of Versatile Cognitive Style." *Frontiers in Psychology* 9.
- Task Force on Financial Literacy. 2011. *Canadians and Their Money: Building Brighter Futures*. Ottawa, Canada. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/fcac-acfc/documents/programs/financial-literacy/canadians-and-their-money.pdf.
- Taylor, Sharon 2017. *Financial Planning in Australia*. Essentials ed. Chatswood, NSW: LexisNexis Butterworths.
- Thaler, Richard. 1980. "Toward a Positive Theory of Consumer Choice." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 1 (1): 39-60.
- Thaler, Richard H. 2016. "Behavioral Economics: Past, Present, and Future." *American Economic Review* 106 (7): 1577-1600.
- The Edge. 2014. "Bursa Malaysia Seeks to Boost Retail Participation with Marketplace." April 29, 2014. https://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/bursamalaysia-seeks-boost-retail-participation-marketplace.
- The Star. 2017a. *Malaysia's capital market grew 9% to RM3.1tril in first half of 2017* https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2017/07/25/malaysiacapital-market-grew-9pct-in-first-6-months/.
- The Star. 2017b. "Akpk Helps 14,688 Individuals Settle Debts Totalling Rm593mil." October 11, 2017. https://www.thestar.com.my/business/businessnews/2017/10/11/akpk-helps-14688-individuals-settle-debts-of-rm593mil/.
- Thøgersen, John, and Folke Ölander. 2002. "Human Values and the Emergence of a Sustainable Consumption Pattern: A Panel Study." *Journal of Economic*

Psychology 23 (5): 605-630.

- Thomas, Ashok, and Luca Spataro. 2018. "Financial Literacy, Human Capital and Stock Market Participation in Europe." *Journal of Family and Economic Issues* 39 (4): 532-550.
- Toepoel, Vera, Marcel Das, and Arthur Van Soest. 2009. "Design of Web Questionnaires: The Effects of the Number of Items Per Screen." *Field Methods* 21 (2): 200-213.
- Topa, Gabriela, Gregg Lunceford, and Richard E. Boyatzis. 2018. "Financial Planning for Retirement: A Psychosocial Perspective." *Frontiers in Psychology* 8: 2338.
- Tourangeau, Roger, Lance J. Rips, and Kenneth Rasinski. 2000. *The Psychology of Survey Response*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Tourangeau, Roger, and Ting Yan. 2007. "Sensitive Questions in Surveys." *Psychological Bulletin* 133 (5): 859.
- Tsai, Kuen-Hung, Hui-Chen Chang, and Chen-Yi Peng. 2016. "Extending the Link between Entrepreneurial Self-Efficacy and Intention: A Moderated Mediation Model." *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal* 12 (2): 445-463.
- Tsoukas, Haridimos, and Christian Knudsen. 2003. *The Oxford Handbook of Organization Theory: Meta-Theoretical Perspectives*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Tulviste, Tiia, Kairit Kall, and Andu Rämmer. 2017. "Value Priorities of Younger and Older Adults in Seven European Countries." *Social Indicators Research* 133 (3): 931-942.
- Turrentine, Cathryn G. 2001. "A Comparison of Self-Assessment and Peer Assessment of Leadership Skills." *NASPA Journal* 38 (3): 361-371.
- Urbach, Nils, and Frederik Ahlemann. 2010. "Structural Equation Modeling in Information Systems Research Using Partial Least Squares." *Journal of Information Technology Theory and Application* 11 (2): 5-40.
- Vaarmets, Tarvo, Kristjan Liivamägi, and Tõnn Talpsepp. 2019. "From Academic Abilities to Occupation: What Drives Stock Market Participation?" *Emerging Markets Review* 39: 83-100.
- Valois, Pierre, and Gaston Godin. 1991. "The Importance of Selecting Appropriate Adjective Pairs for Measuring Attitude Based on the Semantic Differential

Method." Quality and Quantity 25 (1): 57-68.

- Van Rooij, Maarten, Annamaria Lusardi, and Rob Alessie. 2011. "Financial Literacy and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Financial Economics* 101 (2): 449-472.
- Van Teijlingen, Edwin R., and Vanora Hundley. 2001. "The Importance of Pilot Studies." *Nursing Standard* 16 (40): 33-36.
- Vecchione, Michele, Gianvittorio Caprara, Harald Schoen, Josè Luis Gonzàlez Castro, and Shalom H. Schwartz. 2012. "The Role of Personal Values and Basic Traits in Perceptions of the Consequences of Immigration: A Three - Nation Study." *British Journal of Psychology* 103 (3): 359-377.
- Verkasalo, Markku, Jan Erik Lönnqvist, Jari Lipsanen, and Klaus Helkama. 2009.
 "European Norms and Equations for a Two Dimensional Presentation of Values as Measured with Schwartz's 21 Item Portrait Values Questionnaire." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 39 (5): 780-792.
- Vestman, Roine. 2019. "Limited Stock Market Participation among Renters and Homeowners." *Review of Financial Studies* 32 (4): 1494-1535.
- Von Gaudecker, Hans-Martin. 2015. "How Does Household Portfolio Diversification Vary with Financial Literacy and Financial Advice?" *Journal of Finance* 70 (2): 489-507.
- Von Neumann, John, and Oskar Morgenstern. 1947. *Theory of Games and Economic Behavior, 2nd Rev.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Voorhees, Clay M., Michael K. Brady, Roger Calantone, and Edward Ramirez. 2016.
 "Discriminant Validity Testing in Marketing: An Analysis, Causes for Concern, and Proposed Remedies." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 44 (1): 119-134.
- Wang, Guangping, and Richard G. Netemeyer. 2002. "The Effects of Job Autonomy, Customer Demandingness, and Trait Competitiveness on Salesperson Learning, Self-Efficacy, and Performance." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 30 (3): 217-228.
- Ward, Adrian F., and John G. Lynch Jr. 2019. "On a Need-to-Know Basis: How the Distribution of Responsibility between Couples Shapes Financial Literacy and Financial Outcomes." *Journal of Consumer Research* 45 (5): 1013-1036.

Wärneryd, Karl-Erik. 2001. Stock-Market Psychology. Cheltenham, UK: Edward 312

Elgar Publishing.

- Warsame, Mohammed Hersi, and Edward Mugambi Ireri. 2016. "Does the Theory of Planned Behaviour (Tpb) Matter in Sukuk Investment Decisions?" *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance* 12: 93-100.
- Watson, John J. 2003. "The Relationship of Materialism to Spending Tendencies, Saving, and Debt." *Journal of Economic Psychology* 24 (6): 723-739.
- Weber, Ron. 2004. "Editor's Comments: The Rhetoric of Positivism Versus Interpretivism: A Personal View." *MIS Quarterly* 28 (1): iii-xii.
- Werts, Charles E., Robert L. Linn, and Karl G. Jöreskog. 1974. "Intraclass Reliability Estimates: Testing Structural Assumptions." *Educational and Psychological Measurement* 34 (1): 25-33.
- West, Jason. 2012. "Financial Literacy Education and Behaviour Unhinged: Combating Bias and Poor Product Design." *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 36 (5): 523-530.
- Wickens, Michael R. 1972. "A Note on the Use of Proxy Variables." *Econometrica* 40 (4): 759.
- Willis, Lauren E. 2011. "The Financial Education Fallacy." American Economic Review 101 (3): 429-34.
- Wold, H. O. 1985. "Partial Least Squares." In *Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences*. S.Kotz and N. L. Johnson eds, 581-591. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Wolff, Edward N. 2017. "Household Wealth Trends in the United States, 1962 to 2016: Has Middle Class Wealth Recovered?" NBER Working Papers. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Wood, Michael. 2005. "Bootstrapped Confidence Intervals as an Approach to Statistical Inference." *Organizational Research Methods* 8 (4): 454-470.
- Woods, Carol M. 2006. "Careless Responding to Reverse-Worded Items: Implications for Confirmatory Factor Analysis." *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment* 28 (3): 186.
- Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. 2009. "On Estimating Firm-Level Production Functions Using Proxy Variables to Control for Unobservables." *Economics Letters* 104 (3): 112-114.
- World Bank. 2020. The World Bank in Malaysia. https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/malaysia/overview.

- World Economic Forum. 2016. Accelerating Capital Markets Development in Emerging Economies: Country Case Studies. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_accelerating-capital-marketsdevelopment-in-emerging-economies.pdf.
- World Economic Forum. 2018. *The Inclusive Development Index 2018*. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Forum_IncGrwth_2018.pdf.
- World Federation of Exchanges. 2017. Enhancing Retail Participation in Emerging Markets. https://www.world-exchanges.org/home/index.php/files/18/Studies---Reports/461/WFE-Enhancing-Emerging-Market-Retail-Trading-Report---3-August-2017.pdf.
- Wyman, Oliver, and World Federation of Exchanges. 2016. Enchancing Liquidity in Emerging Market Exchanges. http://www.oliverwyman.com/ourexpertise/insights/2016/oct/enhancing-liquidity-in-emerging-marketexchanges.html.
- Xia, Tian, Zhengwei Wang, and Kunpeng Li. 2014. "Financial Literacy Overconfidence and Stock Market Participation." Social Indicators Research 119 (3): 1233-1245.
- Xiao, Jing Jian. 2008. "Applying Behavior Theories to Financial Behavior." In Handbook of Consumer Finance Research. Jing Jian Xiao,ed., 69-81. New York: Springer.
- Xiao, Jing Jian. 2015. Consumer Economic Wellbeing. New York, US: Springer.
- Xiao, Jing Jian, Cheng Chen, and Fuzhong Chen. 2014. "Consumer Financial Capability and Financial Satisfaction." Social Indicators Research 118 (1): 415-432.
- Xiao, Jing Jian, and Barbara O'Neill. 2016. "Consumer Financial Education and Financial Capability." *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 40 (6): 712-721.
- Xiao, Jing Jian, and Nilton Porto. 2017. "Financial Education and Financial Satisfaction: Financial Literacy, Behavior, and Capability as Mediators." *International Journal of Bank Marketing* 35 (5): 805-817.
- Xiao, Jing Jian, Chuanyi Tang, Joyce Serido, and Soyeon Shim. 2011. "Antecedents and Consequences of Risky Credit Behavior among College Students: Application and Extension of the Theory of Planned Behavior." *Journal of*

Public Policy and Marketing 30 (2): 239-245.

- Xiao, Jing Jian, and Gavin Jiayun Wu. 2008. "Completing Debt Management Plans in Credit Counseling: An Application of the Theory of Planned Behavior." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning* 19 (2): 29-45.
- Xue, Rui, Adrian Gepp, Terry J. O'Neill, Steven Stern, and Bruce J. Vanstone. 2019.
 "Financial Well Being Amongst Elderly Australians: The Role of Consumption Patterns and Financial Literacy." *Accounting and Finance*.
- Yamashita, Takashi. 2003. "Owner-Occupied Housing and Investment in Stocks: An Empirical Test." *Journal of Urban Economics* 53 (2): 220-237.
- Yan, T. 2008. "Nondifferentiation." In Encyclopedia of Survey Research Methodology. P. J. Lavrakas,ed., 520-521. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yap, Justin. 2010. "Bursa Malaysia Woos More Retail Investors." *Borneo Post Online*, December 13, 2010. http://www.theborneopost.com/2010/12/13/bursamalaysia-woos-more-retail-investors/.
- Yew, Siew-Yong, Chen-Chen Yong, Kee-Cheok Cheong, and Nai-Peng Tey. 2017."Does Financial Education Matter? Education Literacy among Undergraduates in Malaysia." *Institutions and Economies* 9 (1).
- Yoong, Folk Jee, Beh Loo See, and Diana-Lea Baronovich. 2012. "Financial Literacy Key to Retirement Planning in Malaysia." *Journal of Management and Sustainability* 2 (1): 75.
- Yusof, Ayisy. 2018. "Bursa Malaysia Provides Growth Opportunity in a Regulated Environment." New Straits Times, September 6, 2018. https://www.nst.com.my/business/2018/09/408893/bursa-malaysia-providesgrowth-opportunity-regulated-environment.
- Yuzhanin, Sergey, and David Fisher. 2016. "The Efficacy of the Theory of Planned Behavior for Predicting Intentions to Choose a Travel Destination: A Review." *Tourism Review* 71 (2): 135-147.
- Zenker, Sebastian, Tobias Gollan, and Niels Van Quaquebeke. 2014. "Using Polynomial Regression Analysis and Response Surface Methodology to Make a Stronger Case for Value Congruence in Place Marketing." *Psychology and Marketing* 31 (3): 184-202.
- Zhang, Annie C., Jiali Fang, Ben Jacobsen, and Ben R. Marshall. 2018. "Peer Effects,

Personal Characteristics and Asset Allocation." *Journal of Banking and Finance* 90: 76-95.

- Zhang, Annie Claire. 2014. "Financial Advice and Asset Allocation of Individual Investors." *Pacific Accounting Review* 26 (3): 226-247.
- Zhang, Hua, Meizhen Liao, Xijuan Nie, Rongjian Pan, Chuangxin Wang, Shiman Ruan, Changqing Zhang, Xiaorun Tao, Dianmin Kang, and Baofa Jiang. 2011.
 "Predictors of Consistent Condom Use Based on the Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills (Imb) Model among Female Sex Workers in Jinan, China." BMC Public Health 11 (1): 113.
- Zhao, Xinshu, John G. Lynch Jr, and Qimei Chen. 2010. "Reconsidering Baron and Kenny: Myths and Truths About Mediation Analysis." *Journal of Consumer Research* 37 (2): 197-206.
- Zikmund, William G., Barry Babin, Jon C. Carr, and Mitch Griffin. 2009. *Business Research Methods*. 8th ed. New York, NY: Cengage Learning.

"Every reasonable effort has been made to acknowledge the owners of copyright material. I would be pleased to hear from any copyright owner who has been omitted or incorrectly acknowledged."

APPENDIX A: Quota Tracking for Survey



APPENDIX B:

Item	Conservation	Self-transcendence
Constant	90.5531	67.3577
1	-1.1031	0.4871
2	0.5736	-2.0283
3	-0.3955	1.6101
4	0.3430	-1.5345
5	1.8516	0.0781
6	-1.3589	0.1803
7	1.4490	-0.0952
8	-0.9353	2.1805
9	0.8867	0.8088
10	-0.9702	-0.3864
11	-0.9665	0.6436
12	-0.3883	2.2422
13	0.3336	-1.8321
14	1.4640	0.2620
15	-1.3850	-0.8482
16	2.3203	0.1396
17	1.0024	-1.1128
18	-0.4133	1.9057
19	-0.3065	2.1328
20	1.1249	0.3330
21	-0.7511	-0.3541

Weights for Computing Two Value Dimension from PVQ-21

APPENDIX C: Questionnaire Survey

	Curtin University
A STUD	Y ON RISKY ASSETS INVESTMENT
This sur assets i	vey is part of a doctoral study at Curtin University Malaysia to assess the determinants of individuals' risky nvestment in Malaysia.
You are	invited to participate in this survey because you are:
• 18	years old and above
This sur kept cor name ar will be r approve Stateme	vey will take approximately 15-20 minutes. Your participation in this survey is voluntary. Your responses will be fidential. All information will remain anonymous and non-identifiable. Identifying information such as your id email address will not be collected. The results of the survey will only be used for academic purposes and eleased in aggregate form where responses from individuals cannot be identified. This project has been d by Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee and will be carried out in line with the National nt on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007).
Please r <u>Particip</u>	ead the attached Participant Information Statement before you proceed: ant Information Statement
lf you ha	we any questions about this research study, kindly contact lvy Hii at ivy.hii@postgrad.curtin.edu.my.
By select I h I b I v I h Be V Be V Be	ting "I agree", I am consenting to the conditions that: ave read the Participant Information Statement and I understand its content. elieve I understand the purpose, extent and possible risks of my involvement in this project. oluntarily consent to take part in this research project. ave had an opportunity to ask questions and I am satisfied with the answers I have received. Inderstand that this project has been approved by Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee and will carried out in line with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007). m a <u>Malaysian</u> aged <u>18 years old and above.</u>
O Yes, I	agree
No, I	lisagree
	0% 100%
	>
NOTE:	This is a study on risky assets investment.
In this	study, risky assets refer to <u>ONLY:</u>
• st	ocks/shares; and

100%

Mutual funds EXCLUDE money market funds and fixed-price funds such as A SB/A SW2020/A SM/A S1M/A SB2.

0%

 $\ll \gg$

Please rate the statements below on your attitude towards investing. Neither agree nor Strongly disagree Somewhat disagree Somewhat agree Strongly agree disagree Investing in risky assets is WISE. 0 0 0 0 \odot 0 Investing in risky assets is good. 0 0 0 0 Investing in risky assets is beneficial. 0 0 \odot 0 \odot Investing in risky assets is rewarding. 0 0 Investing in risky assets would Improve my wealth. 0 0 0 0 0 Wealth accumulation is Important to 0 0 0 0 0 ne.

Please rate the statements below on your social motivation to invest.

	Strongly disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Strongly agree
Most people who are important to me (e.g. friends/family) invest in risky assets.	0	0	0	0	0
Most people who are important to me think I should invest in risky assets.	0	0	0	0	0
Most people who are important to me would support my investment in risky assets.	0	0	0	0	0
When it comes to risky assets investment, I want to do what most people who are important to me think I should do.	0	0	0	0	0
	0%		100%		
					<< >>



Which of these statements best describes your behaviour in consulting financial advisors when deciding how to invest in risky assets?

100%

0%

- I decide completely by myself, and the advisors simply execute my decisions.
- I tell the advisors how I intend to invest and ask their opinion before deciding.
- I consider advisors' proposals before deciding.
- I rely mainly on advisors for my investment decisions.
- I let my advisors decide everything.

<< >>

ASSET ALLOCATION Assume you have RM 100,000 to invest into different types of financial assets. How would you allocate this money between sele assets, risky assets and other assets? Please allocate the RM 100,000 in percentage (%), the total must be 10%. See asset (e.g. sovings or current account Fleed depoil etc.) Risky assets (stocks/ mutual funds) Comments of the savets (e.g. bondy' derivatives etc.) Total Comments of the savets (e.g. bondy' derivatives etc.) FINANCIAL LITERACY Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? Nor han RM102 Comments of the RM102 Comments of the savets (e.g. bondy' derivatives etc.) Comments of the RM102 Comments of the savets of the savet of the savets of the savets of the savets of the savet of the savets of the savet of the			
Assume you have RM 100,000 to invest into different types of financial assets. How would you allocate this money forces as a save assets, risky assets and other assets? Please allocate the RM 100,000 in percentage (%), the total must be 100%. Sale asset (e.g. savings or current account Pixed deposite (c.) 0 Rely assets (stocks mutual funds) 0 Other assets (e.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.) 0 Total 0	ASSET A	ALLOCATION	
Safe assets (e.g. savings or current account Fixed deposit etc.) Insky assets (e.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.)	Assume between 100%.	e you have RM 100,000 to invest into different types of financial assets. H n safe assets, risky assets and other assets? Please allocate the RM 100,	ow would you allocate this money 000 in percentage (%), the total must be
Risky assets (stocks/ mutual funds) Other assets (s.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.) Other assets (s.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.) Total O Total O Total O Total O Tota Tota Tota Tota Trinancial LITERACY Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? More than RM102 Exactly RM102 Exactly RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy C Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True Fulse Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market heps to predix took somings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market heps to predix took somings The stock market heps to predix took somings The stock market press people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks The st	Safe asset	ts (e.g. savings or current account/ Fixed deposit etc.)	0
Other assets (e.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.) Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? More than RM102 Eastly RM102 Least than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy	Risky asse	ets (stocks/ mutual funds)	0
Total To	Other asse	ets (e.g. bonds/ derivatives etc.)	
	Total		
			•
		0% 100%	
FINANCIAL LITERACY Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? More than RM102 Less than RM102 Less than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy			<< >>
FINANCIAL LITERACY Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? More than RM102 Exactly RM102 Less than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy			
Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? More than RM102 Exactly RM102 Less than RM102 Do not know More than today Kategories and the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy	FINANCI	IAL LITERACY	
Suppose you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow? More than RM102 Exactly RM102 Less than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy			
 More than RM102 Exactly RM102 Less than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy More than today Exactly the same Less than today Exactly the same Less than today Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market helps to predict stock stogether with those who want to sell stocks Nore of the above Do not know 	Suppos think yo	se you had RM100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per ou would have in the account if you left the money to grow?	r year. After 5 years, how much do you
 Exactly RM102 Less than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy More than today Exactly the same Less than today Do not know Do not know Do not know Do not know True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market helps to predict stock stogether with those who want to sell stocks Nore of the above Do not know 	More	than RM102	
 Less than RM102 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy	 Exact 	tly RM102	
 Do not know Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy More than today Exactly the same Less than today Do not know Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks Nore of the above Do not know 	C Less	than RM102	
Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy More than today Exactly the same Less than today Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know	O Do no	ot know	
Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you would be able to buy			
 More than today Exactly the same Less than today Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	Imagine would b	e that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inf be able to buy	flation was 2% per year. After 1 year, you
 Exactly the same Less than today Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	O More	than today	
 Less than today Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	Exact	tly the same	
 Do not know Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	C Less	than today	
Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know	O Do no	ot know	
Do you think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund? True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know			
 True False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	Do you than a s	think the following statement is true or false: Buying a single company stock mutual fund?	stock usually provides a safer return
 False Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	True		
 Do not know Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	False False	2	
Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know	O Do no	ot know	
Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock market? Image: The stock market helps to predict stock earnings Image: The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks Image: The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks Image: None of the above Image: Do not know			
 The stock market helps to predict stock earnings The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	Which o	of the following statements describes the main function of the stock ma	arket?
 The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	O The s	stock market helps to predict stock earnings	
 The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stocks None of the above Do not know 	O The s	stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks	
None of the above Do not know	O The s	stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who want to sell stoc	ks
Do not know	None	e of the above	
	O Do no	ot know	

W	hich of the following statements is correct?
0	Once one invests in a mutual fund, one cannot withdraw the money in the first year
0	Mutual funds can invest in several assets, for example invest in both stocks and bonds
0	Mutual funds pay a guaranteed rate of return which depends on their past performance
0	None of the above
0	Do not know
Ift	the interest rate falls, what should hannen to hond prices?
0	Rise
	Fall
	Slav the same
	None of the showe
0	Lo nu niuw
Tru	ue or false? Stocks are normally riskier than bonds.
0	True
0	False
0	Do not know
Co	onsidering a long time period (for example 10 or 20 years), which asset normally gives the highest return?
0	Savings accounts
0	Bands
0	Stocks
0	Do not know
No	smally which access displays the bickest fluctuations over time?
	Savings accounts
	Bands
	Sinde
	Do not know
0	DUTIENDW
1A/b	on an investor spreads his money among different assets, does the risk of losing money:
0	Increase
0	Decrease
0	Stay the same
0	Do not know
	0% 100%

<< >>

PERSONAL VALUES

Please read each description and think about how much each person is like you. Choose the responses that show how much the person in the description is like you.

	Very much like me	Like me	Somewhat like me	A little like me	Not like me	Not like me at all
Thinking up new ideas and being creative is important to him. He likes to do things in his own original way.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to be rich. He wants to have a lot of money and expensive things.	0	0	0	0	0	0
He thinks it is important that every person in the world should be treated equally. He believes everyone should have equal opportunities in life.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It's important to him to show his abilities. He wants people to admire what he does.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to live in secure surroundings. He avoids anything that might endanger his safety.	0	0	0	0	0	0
He likes surprises and is always looking for new things to do. He thinks it is important to do lots of different things in life.	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Very much like me	Like me	Somewhat like me	A little like me	Not like me	Not like me at all
He believes that people should do what they are told. He thinks people should follow rules at all times, even when no one is watching.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to listen to people who are different from him. Even when he disagrees with them, he still wants to understand them.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to be humble and modest. He tries not to draw attention to himself.	0	0	0	0	0	0
Having a good time is important to him. He likes to "spoil" himself.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to make his own decisions about what he does. He likes to be free and not depend on others.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It's very important to him to help the people around him. He wants to care for their well-being.	0	0	0	0	0	0

	Very much like		Somewhat like			
	me	Like me	me	A little like me	Not like me	Not like me at all
Being very successful is important to him. He hopes people will recognise his achievements.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him that the government ensures his safety against all threats. He wants the country to be strong so it can defend its citizens.	0	0	0	0	0	0
He looks for adventures and likes to take risks. He wants to have an exciting life.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him always to behave properly. He wants to avoid doing anything people would say is wrong.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to get respect from others. He wants people to do what he says.	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is important to him to be loyal to his friends. He wants to devote himself to people close to him.	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Very much like me	Like me	Somewhat like me	A little like me	Not like me	Not like me at all
He strongly believes that people should care for nature. Looking after the environment is important to him.	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tradition is important to him. He tries to follow the customs handed down by his religion or his family.	0	0	0	0	0	0
He seeks every chance he can to have fun. It is important to him to do things that give him pleasure.	0	0	0	0	0	0
		2%	100%			<< >>

0504	
PERS	ONAL INFORMATION (LAST SECTION)
Age	
0 18	- 24
0 25	- 34
0 35	- 44
0 45	- 54
0 55	and above
Gend	er
○ M:	de
○ Fe	male
Mont	hlv income
© Le	s than RM2,500
0 R!	A2,500- 3,999
0 R!	M4,000- 5,499
0 RI	A5,500- 6,999
0 R!	//7,000- 8,499
0 R!	A8,500- 9,999
0 R!	A10,000- 12,999
0 RI	/13,000 & above
Empl	nyment status
O En	nployed
O Se	if- employed
0 00	hers:
Marit	tal status
0 M	arried
0 V	fidowed
0 D	ivorced
0 S	eparated
0 N	ever married
Num	her of dependents
O N	
0.1	
0 2	
0 3	
0 4	& above
High	est educational level
0 P	nmary school and below
05	TD4
U S	informa
00	proma
08	auraar e aagraa
0.0	asieri s uegree
00	annuare neftue.

Curtin University	
We thank you for your time spent taking this survey. Your response has been recorded.	

APPENDIX D: Ethical Clearance Documents

(i) Participant Information Statement



Determinants of Individuals' Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION STATEMENT

HREC Project Number:	HRE2017-0631
Project Title:	Determinants of Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information- Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model
Principal Investigator:	Dr. Yap Ching Seng
Student researcher:	Ivy Hii Siaw Hung
Version Number:	2
Version Date:	01/11/2018

What is the Project About?

The background to the research project

The rapid development of financial market and the innovative financial products have given households ample choices in allocating varied portions of their income into different financial assets to enhance their wealth. This is in line with Malaysia's vision of improving well-being of an individual and transforming the country into a high-income nation with inclusive economy. However, the low level of awareness on the advantages of investment amongst Malaysians is of major concern.

Aspects of project

The purpose of this study is to empirically examine the determinants that affect individuals' risky assets investment in Malaysia.

Aims

The research will seek to investigate the determinants of individuals' risky assets investment in Malaysia.

Contributions

This study is expected to have theoretical contribution in shedding light on the two theories combined to explain individuals' financial behaviour. As for practical contribution, the research findings should be of significant interest to the policy makers, particularly the Ministry of Finance to allow for evaluation and innovation of the public policies; as well as financial intermediaries to convey financial information more effectively and to deliver financial services that can accommodate the local needs.

Participants

Participants must be a Malaysian who aged 18 years old and above.

Who is doing the Research?

- The project is being conducted by Associate Professor Dr. Yap Ching Seng, Associate Professor Dr. Pauline Ho Poh-Ling, Dr. Abey P. Philip and Ivy Hii Siaw Hung.
- The results of this research project will be used by Ivy Hii Siaw Hung to obtain a Doctor of Philosophy at Curtin University and is funded by the Curtin Malaysia Postgraduate Research Scholarship.

CRICOS Provider Code 00301J (WA)

Participant Information Form Version 1, 01/NOV/2018 Page 1

Curtin University is a trademark of Curtin University of Technology.



Determinants of Individuals' Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model

· There will be no costs to you and you will not be paid for participating in this project.

Why am I being asked to take part and what will I have to do?

You have been asked to take part because you have the condition we are researching, which are: (1) a Malaysian; (2) aged 18 and above. This survey contains 12 sections: (1) attitude towards investing; (2) objective skills; (3) financial self-efficacy; (4) social influence; (5) sources of financial information; (6) financial advice; (7) asset allocation; (8) financial literacy; (9) financial satisfaction; (10) risky assets investment; (11) personal values; and (12) personal information. It takes about 15-20 minutes to complete. There will be no cost to you for taking part in this research and you will not be paid for taking part.

Are there any benefits' to being in the research project?

There may be no direct benefit to you from participating in this research. We hope the results of this
research will allow us to develop financial education programs, promote and improve financial wellbeing.

Are there any risks, side-effects, discomforts or inconveniences from being in the research project?

Apart from giving up your time, we do not expect that there will be any risks or inconveniences
associated with taking part in this study.

Who will have access to my information?

The information collected in this research will be non-identifiable. The information is anonymous and will not include a code number or name. No one, not even the research team will be able to identify your information. Any information we collect and use during this research will be treated as confidential. The following people will have access to the information we collect in this research: the research team and the Curtin University Ethics Committee. The information we collect in this study will be kept under secure conditions at Curtin University for 7 years after the research has ended. The results of this research may be presented at conferences or published in professional journals. You will not be identified in any results that are published or presented.

Will you tell me the results of the research?

We are not able to send you any results from this research, as we do not collect any personal
information to be able to contact you. The results of this research may be presented at conferences
or published in professional journals.

Do I have to take part in the research project?

 Taking part in this research project is voluntary. You can also decide to withdraw your participation in this research as and when you want to.

What happens next and who can I contact about the research?

If you decide to take part in this research we will ask you to sign the consent form. By signing it is
telling us that you understand what you have read and what has been discussed. Signing the consent
indicates that you agree to be in the research project and have your information used as described.
As for electronic survey, at the start of the questionnaire, there is a checkbox to indicate you have
understood the information provided here in the information sheet.

Participant Information Form Version 1, 01/NOV/2018 Page 2

Curtin University is a trademark of Curtin University of Technology.

CRICOS Provider Code 00301J (WA)



Determinants of Individuals' Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model

 For further information about this search, please contact either: Associate Professor Dr. Yap Ching Seng (<u>yapchingseng@curtin.edu.my</u>) or Ms. Ivy Hii Siaw Hung (<u>ivy.hii@postgrad.curtin.edu.my</u>)

The following statement must be included in every information sheet:

Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) has approved this study (HREC number HRE2017-0631). Should you wish to discuss the study with someone not directly involved, in particular, any matters concerning the conduct of the study or your rights as a participant, or you wish to make a confidential complaint, you may contact the Ethics Officer on (08) 9266 9223 or the Manager, Research Integrity on (08) 9266 7093 or email hrec@curtin.edu.au.

Participant Information Form Version 1, 01/NOV/2018 Page 3

Curtin University is a trademark of Curtin University of Technology.

CRICOS Provider Code 00301J (/VA)

(ii) Consent Form



Determinants of Individuals' Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model

CONSENT FORM

HREC Project Number:	HRE2017-0631
Project Title:	Determinants of Individuals' Risky Assets Investment: An Extended Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model
Chief Investigator:	Dr. Yap Ching Seng
Student researcher:	Ivy Hii Siaw Hung
Version Number:	2
Version Date:	01/11/2018

- · I have read, the information statement version listed above and I understand its contents.
- · I believe I understand the purpose, extent and possible risks of my involvement in this project.
- · I voluntarily consent to take part in this research project.
- · I have had an opportunity to ask questions and I am satisfied with the answers I have received.
- I understand that this project has been approved by Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee and will be carried out in line with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007).
- I understand I will receive a copy of this Information Statement and Consent Form.

Participant Name	
Participant Signature	
Date	

For Researcher Use Only

Declaration by researcher: I have supplied an Information Letter and Consent Form to the participant who has signed above, and believe that they understand the purpose, extent and possible risks of their involvement in this project.

Researcher Name	
Researcher Signature	
Date	

Note: All parties signing the Consent Form must date their own signature.

Participant Consent Form Version 2, 01/NOV/2018 Page 1

Curtin University is a trademark of Curtin University.

CRICOS Provider Code 00301J

(iii) Ethics Clearance Approval Letter



Personnel authorised to work on this project: Role Name Ho, Pauline CI Hii, Ivy Siaw Hung Student

Approved documents: Document

Standard conditions of approval

 Research must be conducted according to the approved proposal
 Report in a timely manner anything that might warrant review of ethical approval of the project including: · proposed changes to the approved proposal or conduct of the study

- · unanticipated problems that might affect continued ethical acceptability of the project
- · major deviations from the approved proposal and/or regulatory guideling
- serious adverse events
- 3. Amendments to the proposal must be approved by the Human Research Ethics Office before they are implemented (except where an amendment is undertaken to eliminate an immediate risk to participants)
- 4. An annual progress report must be submitted to the Human Research Ethics Office on or before the anniversary of approval and a completion report submitted on completion of the project
- 5. Personnel working on this project must be adequately qualified by education, training and experience for their role, or supervised
- 6. Personnel must disclose any actual or potential conflicts of interest, including any financial or other interest or affiliation, that bears on this project 7. Changes to personnel working on this project must be reported to the Human Research Ethics Office
- Data and primary materials must be retained and stored in accordance with the Western Australian University Sector Disposal Authority (WAUSDA) and the Curtin University Research Data and Primary Materials policy
- 9. Where practicable, results of the research should be made available to the research participants in a timely and clear manner
- 10. Unless prohibited by contractual obligations, results of the research should be disseminated in a manner that will allow public scrutiny; the Human Research Ethics Office must be informed of any constraints on publication
- 11. Approval is dependent upon ongoing compliance of the research with the Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research, the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research, applicable legal requirements, and with Curtin University policies, procedures and governance requirements
- The Human Research Ethics Office may conduct audits on a portion of approved projects.

Special Conditions of Approval

None

This letter constitutes low risk/negligible risk approval only. This project may not proceed until you have met all of the Curtin University research governance requirements.

Should you have any queries regarding consideration of your project, please contact the Ethics Support Officer for your faculty or the Ethics Office at hrec@curtin.edu.au or on 9266 2784.

Yours sincerely



Acting Manager, Research Integrity

(iv) Ethics Clearance Extension Approval Letter



and governance requirements 12. The Human Research Ethics Office may conduct audits on a portion of approved projects.

Should you have any queries regarding consideration of your project, please contact the Ethics Support Officer for your faculty or the Ethics Office at https://www.hethics.org/licenses/by-new_away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-consideration-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-constant-style="text-align: center;">https://www.away-baseling-center;"/www.away-baseling-center;"//wwway-baseling-center;"///wwway-baseling-center;"////wwway-baseling-center;"////wwway-baseling-center;"////wwway-baseling-cente;

Yours sincerely



APPENDIX E: Mahanalobis distance (D²) from SPSS

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Predicted Value	79.45	330.38	208.98	44.695	400
Std. Predicted Value	-2.898	2.716	.000	1.000	400
Standard Error of Predicted Value	10.908	50.422	25.367	6.068	400
Adjusted Predicted Value	69.39	354.92	208.94	45.412	400
Residual	-263.917	299.132	.000	110.936	400
Std. Residual	-2.319	2.628	.000	.975	400
Stud. Residual	-2.372	2.699	.000	1.001	400
Deleted Residual	-276.166	315.615	.038	117.045	400
Stud. Deleted Residual	-2.386	2.722	.000	1.002	400
Mahal. Distance	2.667	77.298	19.950	10.386	400
Cook's Distance	.000	.041	.003	.004	400
Centered Leverage Value	.007	.194	.050	.026	400

Residuals Statistics^a

a. Dependent Variable: Respondent

Note: Largest D^2 is 77.298; df = 20 (number of variables). Hence, $D^2/df = 3.86$, which is below 4.

APPENDIX F: Harman's one-factor Test Results from SPSS

Compo		Initial Eigenvalu	es	Extractio	on Sums of Square	ed Loadings
nent	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	6.390	24.576	24.576	6.390	24.576	24.576
2	3.051	11.734	36.310			
3	1.707	6.567	42.877			
4	1.448	5.570	48.447			
5	1.193	4.589	53.036			
6	1.171	4.502	57.538			
7	1.110	4.269	61.807			
8	.945	3.636	65.444			
9	.881	3.388	68.832			
10	.840	3.229	72.061			
11	.775	2.980	75.041			
12	.696	2.675	77.716			
13	.659	2.533	80.249			
14	.574	2.207	82.456			
15	.541	2.083	84.539			
16	.502	1.931	86.469			
17	.486	1.871	88.340			
18	.456	1.755	90.095			
19	.426	1.640	91.735			
20	.412	1.586	93.321			
21	.358	1.375	94.696			
22	.340	1.306	96.002			
23	.317	1.219	97.221			
24	.280	1.079	98.299			
25	.270	1.038	99.337			
26	.172	.663	100.000			

Total Variance Explained

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

APPENDIX G: Skewness and Kurtosis Results from Webpower

Output of skewness and kurtosis calculation

```
Sample size: 400
Number of variables: 9
Univariate skewness and kurtosis
        Skewness SE skew Kurtosis SE kurt
     0.20390163 0.1220185 -0.1998708 0.2434399
ADV
     -0.67882094 0.1220185 0.7609773 0.2434399
ATT
CONS -0.11379855 0.1220185 0.5115928 0.2434399
FL
     -0.34550955 0.1220185 -0.5903957 0.2434399
     -0.12699567 0.1220185 -0.5096601 0.2434399
FSE
     0.95268983 0.1220185 1.1770252 0.2434399
RA
     -0.48356580 0.1220185 0.1389757 0.2434399
SAT
     0.03919489 0.1220185 -0.5895794 0.2434399
SN
TRANS 0.40308562 0.1220185 1.1060464 0.2434399
Mardia's multivariate skewness and kurtosis
               b
                      z p-value
Skewness 5.990118 399.341187
                                  0
Kurtosis 112.054388 9.277349
                                  0
```

APPENDIX H: Descriptive Statistics Results from SPSS and SmartPLS

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation							
FL	400	0	10	5.90	2.534							
ADV	400	1	5	2.44	.907							
CONS	400	65.841300	114.672782	91.21798577	8.042470674							
TRANS	400	24.919680	95.852244	59.81472857	9.088443639							
RA	400	0	100	28.47	18.993							

Descriptive Statistics

Indicator	Data	(Original)
-----------	------	------------

Matrix	MV Descriptives						board: Excel For	mat R Format
	Mean	Median	Min	Max	Standard Devia	Excess Kurtosis	Skewness	Number of Ob
ATT_1	3.042	3.000	1.000	5.000	0.990	-0.420	-0.364	400.000
ATT_2	3.138	3.000	1.000	5.000	0.994	-0.413	-0.508	400.000
ATT_3	3.345	4.000	1.000	5.000	0.928	0.298	-0.719	400.000
ATT_4	3.500	4.000	1.000	5.000	1.000	0.094	-0.647	400.000
ATT_5	3.300	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.034	-0.222	-0.463	400.000
CONS	99.265	99.858	74.344	124.766	7.685	0.676	-0.080	400.000
FL_score	5.902	6.000		10.000	2.530	-0.590	-0.345	400.000
FSE_1	2.757	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.153	-0.958	0.071	400.000
FSE_2	2.708	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.130	-1.009	0.103	400.000
FSE_3R	2.772	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.151	-0.865	0.276	400.000
FSE_4	3.223	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.050	-0.421	-0.520	400.000
FSE_5	3.047	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.160	-0.830	-0.334	400.000
RA_risky	28.468	25.000		100.000	18.970	1.177	0.953	400.000
SOC_1	2.840	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.051	-0.906	-0.001	400.000
SOC_2	2.620	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.027	-0.745	0.105	400.000
SOC_3	2.760	3.000	1.000	5.000	1.043	Actional	te Windcoors	400.000
TRNSD	93.665	93.564	60.614	128.563	9.677	Go 6.646 e	ttings to a ctin a	te Wind 4005000

APPENDIX I: Measurement Model Results from SmartPLS

(i) Measurement Model with Loadings and Composite Reliability



(ii) Composite Reliability and AVE

🔟 Matrix 👫	Cronbach's Alpha	👫 rho_A 👫	Composite Reliabilit	ty 👫 Average Va
	Cronbach's Al	rho_A	Composite Rel A	Average Varian
ADV	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
ATT	0.877	0.885	0.910	0.669
CONS		1.000		
FL	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
FSE	0.837	0.858	0.886	0.614
RA	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
SN	0.802	0.884	0.879	0.709
TRANS	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000

Construct Reliability and Validity

(iii) Cross-loading test

Discriminant Validity

Fornell-Larcke	er Criterion		Cross Loadings	Heterotrait-Mor	notrait Ratio (HTMT)	👫 Heterotrai	t-Monotrait Ratio (H	TMT)	Copy to Clip
		ADV	ATT	CONS	FL	FSE	RA	SN	TRANS
ADV	1	L.000	0.018	0.099	-0.074	-0.232	-0.152	-0.048	0.029
ATT_1	0).007	0.821	-0.056	0.142	0.261	0.225	0.355	-0.028
ATT_2	-0	0.008	0.849	-0.076	0.126	0.324	0.253	0.413	-0.061
ATT_3	0	0.071	0.842	-0.007	0.112	0.207	0.247	0.345	0.042
ATT_4	0	0.014	0.788	-0.092	0.181	0.191	0.218	0.346	-0.021
ATT_5	-0	0.001	0.788	-0.086	0.112	0.263	0.256	0.393	-0.003
CONS	0	0.099	-0.079	1.000	0.099	-0.102	-0.158	-0.095	-0.092
FL_score	-0	0.074	0.162	0.099	1.000	0.313	0.349	-0.032	0.119
FSE_1	-0	0.205	0.249	-0.076	0.277	0.889	0.457	0.246	-0.135
FSE_2	-0	0.208	0.281	-0.110	0.265	0.885	0.389	0.263	-0.118
FSE_3R	-0	0.188	0.164	-0.014	0.256	0.616	0.288	0.091	-0.098
FSE_4	-0	0.136	0.225	-0.134	0.177	0.705	0.325	0.190	-0.093
FSE_5	-0	0.170	0.288	-0.061	0.249	0.787	0.360	0.227	-0.149
RA_risky	-0	0.152	0.294	-0.158	0.349	0.470	1.000	0.174	-0.020
SOC_1	0	0.023	0.311	-0.069	-0.045	0.102	0.107	0.725	-0.022

(iv) Fornell-Larcker criterion test

Discriminant Validity

Fornell-Larck	er Criterion		Cross Loadings	Heterotrait-Mor	notrait Ratio (HTMT) 👫 Heterotrai	t-Monotrait Ratio (ł	HTMT)	Copy to Clip
		ADV	ATT	CONS	FL	FSE	RA	SN	TRANS
ADV	:	1.000							
ATT	(0.018	0.818						
CONS	(0.099	-0.079						
FL	-(0.074	0.162	0.099	1.000				
FSE	-(0.232	0.311	-0.102	0.313	0.783			
RA	-(0.152	0.294	-0.158	0.349	0.470	1.000		
SN	-(0.048	0.456	-0.095	-0.032	0.267	0.174	0.842	
TRANS	(0.029	-0.020	-0.092	0.119	-0.153	-0.020	-0.092	1.000

(v) HTMT test

.	
Discriminant	Validity

Fornell-Larcker Criterion		Cross Loadings	Heterotrait-Mon	otrait Ratio (HTMT)	📑 Heterotrait-M	i Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio (HTMT)		Copy to Clipb	ooard: Excel Format	R Forr
	AD	AGE	ATT	CONS	DEP	EDU	FL	FSE	INC	F
ADV										
AGE	0.001									
ATT	0.026	0.090								
CONS	0.099	0.142	0.083							
DEP	0.085	0.341	0.050	0.085						
EDU	0.066	0.162	0.110	0.097	0.078					
FL	0.074	0.337	0.176	0.099	0.081	0.216				
FSE	0.255	0.134	0.355	0.111	0.122	0.184	0.344			
INC	0.107	0.574	0.042	0.170	0.275	0.329	0.415	0.244		
RA	0.152	0.066	0.313	0.158	0.065	0.137	0.349	0.512	0.191	
SN	0.061	0.080	0.530	0.106	0.048	0.086	0.042	0.294	0.093	0.1
TRANS	0.029	0.170	0.041	0.092	0.061	0.036	0.119	0.167	0.131	0.0

(i) Structural Model with Path Coefficients and P-value



(ii) Lateral Collinearity (VIF)

Collinearity Statistics (VIF)

🔲 Outer VIF Value	s 🔲 Inner VIF Values							Copy to	Clipboard:	Excel Format
	ADV	AGE	ATT	CONS	DEP	EDU	FL	FSE	INC	RA
ADV								1.026		1.098
AGE										1.697
ATT								1.326		1.417
CONS								1.049		1.109
DEP										1.218
EDU										1.205
FL								1.083		1.397
FSE										1.425
INC										1.851
RA										
SN								1.299		1.351
TRANS								1.038		1.121

(iii) Coefficient of Determination (R²)

R Square

	Matrix	ŧ.	R Square	👫 R Square Adjusted				
			R	Square	R Square Adjus			
FSE				0.276	0.265			
RA				0.310	0.291			

APPENDIX K: Mediation Analysis Results from SmartPLS

Specific Indirect Effects

🔲 Mean, STDEV, T-Valu	es, P-Val 🔳 Co	onfidence Intervals	Confidence Intervals Bias Cor		🔲 Samples Cc
	Original Sampl	Sample Mean (Standard Devia	T Statistics (O	P Values
ADV -> FSE -> RA	-0.060	-0.060	0.018	3.410	0.000
ATT -> FSE -> RA	0.057	0.058	0.020	2.916	0.002
CONS -> FSE -> RA	-0.032	-0.031	0.017	1.855	0.032
FL -> FSE -> RA	0.097	0.097	0.021	4.658	0.000
SN -> FSE -> RA	0.050	0.052	0.019	2.596	0.005
TRANS -> FSE -> RA	-0.055	-0.055	0.018	3.120	0.001